PCSK9 INHIBITION AND CORONARY ARTERY DISEASE IN MICE

INVERSTIGATING THE EFFECTS OF PCSK9 INHIBITION ON CORONARY ARTERY ATHEROSCLEROSIS AND MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION IN MICE

By TING XIONG, B.Sc.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University © Copyright by Ting Xiong, 2023

McMaster University DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (2023) Hamilton, Ontario (Medical Sciences)

TITLE: Investigating the Effects of PCSK9 Inhibition on Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis and Myocardial Infarction in Mice AUTHOR: Ting Xiong, B.Sc. (China Agricultural University) SUPERVISOR: Dr. Bernardo Trigatti NUMBER OF PAGES: xxvii, 332

Abstract

The underlying pathological process of coronary artery disease (CAD) is the development of coronary artery atherosclerotic occlusions and associated myocardial infarction. Both increased chronic inflammation and plasma low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol levels promote atherosclerosis. Inhibiting proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) is widely known for its role in enhancing LDL receptor (LDLR)-mediated cholesterol lowering when the LDLR-apolipoprotein E (APOE) axis is intact and protecting against atherosclerosis progression by reducing plasma cholesterol levels. In this thesis, we sought to test the effects of PCSK9 inhibition mediated cholesterol independent effects of PCSK9 inhibition on CAD by utilizing different mouse models.

One year old scavenger receptor class B type I (*Sr-b1*) *knockout* (*KO*) mice which have an intact LDLR-APOE axis, develop coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis induced by a high fat, high cholesterol and cholate containing (HFCC) diet. Weekly anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment initiated one week before switching to an HFCC diet increased hepatic LDLR protein levels, and reduced plasma cholesterol levels and the progression of atherosclerosis in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries in one year old *Sr-b1 KO* mice (maintained on an HFCC diet for 7 weeks). Weekly anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment initiated 7 weeks after switching to an HFCC diet also increased hepatic LDLR protein levels and reduced plasma cholesterol levels in one year old *Sr-b1 KO* mice (maintained on an HFCC diet for 12 weeks). More importantly, anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment during the last 5 weeks of the 12-week HFCC diet feeding period also slowed down the growth of pre-existing atherosclerosis in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries and reduced myocardial fibrosis and damage.

Mice deficient in both *Sr-b1* and *ApoE* (*Sr-b1/ApoE double KO* (*dKO*) mice) spontaneously and rapidly develop features reminiscent of human CAD. Whole body *Pcsk9* genetic KO in both female and male *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice did not affect plasma cholesterol levels despite increased hepatic LDLR protein levels, presumably due to the lack of APOE. However, genetic Pcsk9 inactivation significantly attenuated atherosclerosis in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries, myocardial fibrosis and damage, left ventricle (LV) dysfunction and cardiac enlargement in both female and male Sr-b1/ApoE dKO mice. Restoring circulating PCSK9 by a recombinant adeno associated virus 8 (AAV8)-mediated hepatic expression of a Pcsk9 cDNA in Pcsk9/Sr-b1/ApoE triple KO mice reversed the plasma cholesterol independent protective effects of genetic PCSK9 KO on aortic sinus and coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis and damage in both females and males. Treatment of Sr-b1/ApoE dKO mice with an anti-PCSK9 antibody which disrupts the interaction between the LDLR and PCSK9 protected against aortic sinus and coronary artery atherosclerosis in males but not in females and did not protect either males or females against myocardial fibrosis and damage, LV dysfunction or cardiac enlargement.

My thesis demonstrates that anti-PCSK9 antibody mediated plasma cholesterol lowering delays the continued development of pre-existing CAD. My thesis also demonstrates that liver-derived, circulating PCSK9 promotes CAD in a plasma

iv

cholesterol independent manner in *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice and these effects appear to be largely independent of the PCSK9-LDLR interaction, particularly in females.

Acknowledgement

It is a touching moment to write the acknowledgement and rememorize the scientific journey that I have travelled through during the last 7 years. Foremost, I would like to express my gratitude from the bottom of my heart to Dr. Bernardo (Dino) Trigatti for giving me a chance to learn and conduct research in his lab. Dino has always been a supportive supervisor. His knowledge, passion for science and scientific rigor have tremendous positive influence on me and my future career choice. I have also learned a lot from his exceptional scientific writing and communication skills. Thank you Dino for your constant guidance and constructive suggestions for the last 7 years. Without you, I would have not transitioned from a person who knows little about research and science to where I am now. I would like to extend my gratitude to my committee members, Dr. Richard Austin and Dr. Colin Kretz. Thank you for your constructive feedback on my projects and your encouragement. Moreover, I would also like to thank my collaborators, Dr. Richard Austin, Dr. Nabil Seidah and Dr. Annik Prat, for their contributions and inputs for the projects. This thesis would have not been possible without the support from all of you.

To all current and past lab members at Trigatti's lab (too many to name), thank you for your help for my research, your support during my personal difficult times and the joy you have brought to me. The friendship we have built has made my life in Canada more colorful and will be continued.

vi

To my boyfriend and life partner, Hector, thank you for making the past few years as the best time in my life. I would have not been able to reach to my current stage without your love, sacrifice and support. To our 4 parents, thank you for your unconditional love to us. Your support is the reason that we are able to pursue what we are passionate about.

To everyone who has been a part of my journey, I feel very lucky to be surrounded by you. I am looking forward to the next chapter of my life.

- Ting

Table of Contents

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of Contents	viii
List of Figures and Tables	. . XV
List of Abbreviations	. XX
Prefacex	xvii
Chapter 1: General Introduction	1
Preface	1
1.1 Cardiovascular Disease Overview	2
1.2 Atherosclerosis	3
1.2.1 Atherosclerosis Initiation	3
1.2.2 Atherosclerosis Progression and Disruption	4
1.2.3 The Stabilization and Regression of Established Atherosclerotic Plaques	9
1.3 Myocardial Infarction and Cardiac Remodeling	11
1.3.1 Cardiomyocyte Death during Myocardial Infarction	11
1.3.2 Cardiac Remodeling Overview	13
1.3.3 Inflammatory Phase during Cardiac Remodeling	15
1.3.4 Proliferative Phase during Cardiac Remodeling	17
1.3.5 Maturation Phase during Cardiac Remodeling	18
1.4 Lipids and Lipoproteins	19

1.4.1 Lipids-Cholesterol and Triglycerides	19
1.4.2 Chylomicron Formation and Metabolism	21
1.4.3 VLDL and LDL Formation and Metabolism	22
1.4.4 HDL Formation and Metabolism	23
1.5 Conventional Mouse Models of Atherosclerosis	28
1.5.1 <i>ApoE KO</i> Mice	29
1.5.2 <i>Ldlr KO</i> Mice	30
1.5.3 APOE*3Leiden.CETP Mice	31
1.6 Scavenger Receptor Class B Type 1 (SR-B1)	32
1.6.1 The Role of SR-B1 in Reverse Cholesterol Transport	33
1.6.2 The Role of SR-B1 beyond Reverse Cholesterol Transport	34
1.7 Mouse Models of Coronary Artery Disease	35
1.7.1 <i>Sr-b1/ApoE Double KO</i> Mice	36
1.7.2 Sr-b1 Single KO Mice	37
1.8 Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9 (PCSK9)	38
1.8.1 PCSK9 in Lipid Metabolism	38
1.8.2 PCSK9 Inhibition in Plasma Cholesterol Lowering and Atherosclerosis	42
1.8.3 The Effects of PCSK9 on CVD: beyond LDL Cholesterol Lowering	43
1.8.3.1 VSMCs and ECs in the Vascular Wall	46
1.8.3.2 Monocytes/Macrophages	51
1.8.3.3 Dendritic Cells and T cells	57
1.8.3.4 Platelets	58

1.8.3.5 Cardiomyocytes	
1.8.3.6 Conclusions	65
1.9 Overall Context and Objective	68
1.10 Hypothesis	69
1.11 Specific Aims	69
1.12 References	70

Chapter 2: Anti-PCSK9 Antibody Intervention Reduces Plasma	Cholesterol Levels
and Protects against Established Coronary Artery Disease in Sr-i	<i>b1 KO</i> Mice111
Preface	111
2.1 Abstract	112
2.2 Introduction	114
2.3 Materials and Methods	117
2.3.1 Mice	117
2.3.2 Antibody Treatment	118
2.3.3 ECG	119
2.3.4 Euthanasia and Tissue and Blood Collection	119
2.3.5 Liver Total Membrane Preparation	
2.3.6 SDS-PAGE and Immunoblotting	
2.3.7 Plasma Protein Analysis	121
2.3.8 Plasma Lipid Analysis	121
2.3.9 Atherosclerosis and Myocardial Fibrosis	

2.3.10 Statistical Analysis
2.4 Results
2.4.1 Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment increases hepatic LDLR protein levels and
lowers plasma cholesterol levels in Sr-b1 KO mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks
2.4.2 Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment reduces new atherosclerotic plaque
development in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries of Sr-b1 KO mice fed the
HFCC diet for 7 weeks
2.4.3 Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment reduces the growth of pre-existing
atherosclerotic plaques in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries and myocardial
fibrosis in 1 year old Sr-b1 KO mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks125
2.5 Discussion
2.6 Figure Legends
2.7 Supplementary Figure legends143
2.8 References

Chapter 3: Circulating PCSK9 Promotes Coronary Artery Athe	rosclerosis and
Myocardial Fibrosis Independently of Plasma Cholesterol Level	s in a Mouse Model
of Coronary Artery Disease	
Preface	
3.1 Abstract	
3.2 Introduction	

3.3 Materials and Methods	
3.3.1 Mice	193
3.3.2 Generation of <i>Pcsk9^{ko/ko}Sr-b1^{ko/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}</i> (PSEKO) Mice	193
3.3.3 Recombinant Adeno Associated Virus Serotype 8 (rAAV8) Med	liated Pcsk9
Expression	194
3.3.4 Antibody Treatment	195
3.3.5 ECG	195
3.3.6 PV Loop Analysis of Left Ventricular Cardiac Function	195
3.3.7 Euthanasia and Tissue and Blood Collection	196
3.3.8 Preparation of Peritoneal Macrophages	197
3.3.9 Liver Total Membrane Preparation	197
3.3.10 SDS-PAGE and Immunoblotting	
3.3.11 Real Time Quantitative - PCR	199
3.3.12 Plasma Protein Analysis	199
3.3.13 Plasma Lipid Analysis	
3.3.14 Atherosclerosis and Myocardial Fibrosis	200
3.3.15 Lipid Accumulation in the Heart	201
3.3.16 Immunofluorescence Staining	201
3.3.17 Statistical Analysis	202
3.4 Results	203
3.4.1 <i>Pcsk9</i> gene deletion in SEKO mice does not alter plasma cholest	terol levels,
despite increased hepatic LDLR protein levels	203

3.8 References
3.7 Supplementary Figure Legends261
3.6 Figure Legends231
3.5 Discussion
SEKO mice
artery atherosclerosis development but does not protect against myocardial fibrosis in
3.4.5 PCSK9 antibody treatment protects males but not females against coronary
PSEKO mice
3.4.4 Restoring circulating PCSK9 by AAV8-PCSK9 treatment reverses CAD in
fibrosis and left ventricular (LV) dysfunction
3.4.3 Pcsk9 gene deletion in SEKO mice reduces cardiac enlargement, myocardial
atherosclerosis in SEKO mice
3.4.2 Pcsk9 gene deletion reduces both aortic sinus and coronary artery

Chapter 4: Discussion	511
4.1 Summary of Results in Chapters 2-33	511
4.2 Implications from the Studies Detailed in Chapters 2-3	514
4.2.1 Role of PCSK9 Inhibition on Pre-existing Atherosclerosis	14
4.2.2 Role of Circulating PCSK9 on Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis Independent	of
its Plasma Cholesterol Lowering Effects3	16
4.2.3 Direct Role of Circulating PCSK9 on Myocardial Fibrosis and Cardiac	
Function	19

4.3.4 Importance of Analyzing Atherosclerosis in Both Sexes	
4.3 Limitations and Future Directions	
4.4 Conclusions	
4.5 References	

List of Figures and Tables

Chapter 1
Figure 1: Atherosclerosis progression
Figure 2: Cardiac remodeling post myocardial infarction14
Figure 3: Lipoprotein structure and composition
Figure 4: Lipoprotein metabolism
Figure 5: PCSK9 mediates LDLR degradation in hepatocytes
Figure 6: Potential mechanisms by which PCSK9 inhibition protects against CVD
independently of plasma LDL cholesterol lowering45
Figure 7: PCSK9 dependent effects on receptors
Chapter 2
Figure 1: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment increases hepatic LDLR protein levels and
lowers plasma cholesterol levels in Sr-b1 KO mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks133
Figure 2: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment decreases the newly developing atherosclerosis
in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries of Sr-b1 KO mice fed the HFCC diet for 7
weeks
Figure 3: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment over the last 5 weeks of the 12 week HFCC
diet feeding period increases hepatic LDLR protein levels and reduces plasma cholesterol
levels in <i>Sr-b1 KO</i> mice

Figure 4: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment reduces the growth of pre-existing
atherosclerotic plaques in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries and myocardial fibrosis in
1 year old <i>Sr-b1 KO</i> mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks
Supplementary Figure 1: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment does not affect body weights in
<i>Sr-b1 KO</i> mice fed the HFCC diet
Supplementary Figure 2: Neither HFCC diet feeding for 7 or 12 weeks, nor anti-PCSK9
antibody treatment affects heart weights in 1 year old male Sr-b1 KO mice
Chapter 3
Figure 1: <i>Pcsk9</i> gene deletion in SEKO mice does not alter plasma cholesterol levels,
despite increased hepatic LDLR protein levels
Figure 2: <i>Pcsk9</i> gene deletion in SEKO mice reduces atherosclerosis development both in
the aortic sinus and coronary arteries
Figure 3: Pcsk9 gene deletion protects against cardiac enlargement, myocardial fibrosis
and LV dysfunction in SEKO mice
Figure 4: AAV8-PCSK9 treatment increases circulating PCSK9 levels without changing
plasma total cholesterol levels in PSEKO mice
Figure 5: AAV8-PCSK9 treatment reverses coronary artery disease compared to AAV8-
eGFP treatment in PSEKO mice
Figure 6: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment increases circulating PCSK9 and hepatic
LDLR protein levels without affecting plasma cholesterol levels in both female and male
SEKO mice

Figure 7: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment reduces aortic sinus and coronary artery
atherosclerosis development in male but not female SEKO mice
Figure 8: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment does not protect against cardiac enlargement,
myocardial fibrosis and cardiac dysfunction in SEKO mice
Supplementary Figure 1: Plasma lipoproteins levels in SEKO and EKO mice239
Supplementary Figure 2: Effects of genetic Pcsk9 inactivation on the survival of SEKO
mice
Supplementary Figure 3: Levels of plasma cytokines and chemokines from female EKO,
SEKO and PSEKO mice
Supplementary Figure 4: Plasma levels of IL-6 and MIP-1β242
Supplementary Figure 5: Pcsk9 gene deletion does not change macrophage accumulation
in atherosclerotic plaques both in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries243
Supplementary Figure 6: Pcsk9 gene deletion in SEKO mice does not change platelet
accumulation in coronary artery atherosclerotic plaques
Supplementary Figure 7: Pcsk9 gene deletion in SEKO mice does not change the body
weight in SEKO mice
Supplementary Figure 8: Pcsk9 gene deletion decreases lipid accumulation in the heart of
SEKO mice
Supplementary Figure 9: Lipid accumulation is co-localized with macrophage in the heart
of SEKO mice

Supplementary Figure 10: Pcsk9 gene deletion decreases the ratio of ECG abnormalities
in SEKO mice
Supplementary Figure 11: Pcsk9 gene deletion attenuates left ventricular dysfunction in
SEKO mice
Supplementary Figure 12: Pcsk9 gene deletion increases CD36 levels in the heart of
SEKO mice
Supplementary Figure 13: AAV8-PCSK9 treatment increases lipid accumulation in the
heart of PSEKO mice compared to AAV8-eGFP treatment253
Supplementary Figure 14: Restoring circulating PCSK9 by AAV8-PCSK9 treatment does
not reduce CD36 levels in the heart of PSEKO mice
Supplementary Figure 15: AAV8-PCSK9 treatment increases the ratio of ECG
abnormalities in PSEKO mice compared to AAV8-eGFP treatment
Supplementary Figure 16: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment does not change the body
weight in SEKO mice compared to control antibody treatment
Supplementary Figure 17: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment does not change lipid
accumulation in the heart of male SEKO mice compared to control antibody treatment
Supplementary Figure 18: Increased circulating PCSK9 levels by anti-PCSK9 ab
treatment does not change CD36 levels in the heart of SEKO mice
Supplementary Figure 19: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment does not ameliorate left
ventricular dysfunction in SEKO mice compared to control antibody259

|--|

List of Abbreviations

aa	Amino acids
AAV8	Adeno associated virus 8
ABCA-1	ATP-binding cassette subfamily A member 1
ABCG-1	ATP-binding cassette subfamily G member 1
ACAT	Acyl-CoA cholesterol acyltransferase
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
АМРК	AMP-activated protein kinase
ANGPTL3	Angiopoietin-like protein 3
APOA-I	Apolipoprotein A-I
APOB	Apolipoprotein B
APOB48	Apolipoprotein B48
APOB100	Apolipoprotein B100
APOBEC-1	APOB mRNA editing catalytic polypeptide-1
APOC-II	Apolipoprotein C-II
APOE	Apolipoprotein E
ApoER2	Apolipoprotein E receptor 2

ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BAX	Bcl2 associated X
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
CETP	Cholesteryl ester transfer protein
CAD	Coronary artery disease
CCL2	C-C motif chemokine ligand 2
CCR7	C-C chemokine receptor 7
CD36	Cluster determinant 36
CE	Cholesterol ester
CK-MB	Creatine-kinase myocardial band
COX-1	Cyclo-oxygenase 1
CVE	Cardiovascular event
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DC	Dendritic cell
11-dh-TxB2	11-Dehydro-thromboxane B2
dKO	Double knockout
EC	Endothelial cell

ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
eNOS	Endothelial NO synthase
ER	Endoplasm reticulum
ERK5	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase 5
NO	Nitric oxide
FFA	Free fatty acid
FH	Familial hypercholesterolemia
GP IIb/IIIa	Glycoprotein IIb/IIIa
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HFCC	High fat, high cholesterol and cholate containing
HIF-1a	Hypoxia inducible factor-1 α
HMG-CoA	3-Hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A
H/R	Hypoxia/reoxygenation
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HUVEC	Human umbilical vein endothelial cell
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule 1

IDL	Intermediate-density lipoprotein
IFN	Interferon
IHD	Ischemic heart disease
IL-1β	Interleukin 1 beta
IL-10	Interleukin 10
I/R	Ischemia/reperfusion
JNK	Jun N-terminal kinase
KO	Knockout
LCAL	Left coronary artery ligation
LCAT	Lecithin cholesterol acyl transferase
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
LDLR	LDL receptor
LIMP-2	Lysosomal integral membrane protein 2
LOX-1	Lectin-like ox-LDL receptor-1
LPL	Lipoprotein lipase
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LRP-1	LDLR related protein 1

LRP-5	LDLR-related protein 5
LV	Left ventricle
LXR	Liver X receptor
Ly6C	Lymphocyte antigen 6C
mAb	Monoclonal antibody
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1
MHC-I	Major histocompatibility complex class-I
MI	Myocardial infarction
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
mtDNA	Mitochondrial DNA
mtROS	Mitochondrial ROS
MTTP	Microsomal triacylglycerol transfer protein
mPTP	Mitochondrial permeability transition pore
NPC1L1	Niemann-Pick C1-like 1
Ox-LDL	Oxidized LDL
RCT	Reverse cholesterol transport

ROS	Reactive oxygen species
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-beta
PCSK9	Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
SDS-PAGE	SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
SMC	Smooth muscle cell
SR-A	Scavenger receptor class A
SR-B1	Scavenger receptor class B type 1
SREBP-2	Sterol regulatory element-binding protein 2
STAT6	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 6
TBS	Tris-buffered saline
TC	Total cholesterol
TG	Triglyceride
Th17	T helper-17
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
$T_X A_2$	Thromboxane A2

VACM-1	Vascular cell adhesion protein 1
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VLDL	Very low-density lipoprotein receptor
VSMC	Vascular smooth muscle cell

PREFACE

This is a sandwich thesis. Figures in each chapter are numbered starting from figure 1. Figures within the same chapter are referred to only by their sequence number within the chapter. Figures with the same sequence number in different chapters are not distinguished by numbering different chapters, for example, both chapters 1 and 2 have "Figure 2", however, when in chapter 1, "Figure 2" is used to indicate Chapter 1, figure 2, while when in chapter 2, "Figure 2" is used to indicated Chapter 2, figure 2.

Chapter 1: General Introduction

PREFACE

The whole section 1.8.3 of this chapter is adapted from a published review paper entitled "The local effects of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) on the inflammatory atheroma: beyond LDL cholesterol lowering". Ting Xiong contributed to the draft of the following sections of the review paper: Abstract, Introduction, VSMCs and ECs in the vascular wall, Platelets, Cardiomyocytes and Conclusions. Alex Qian contributed to the draft of the following sections of the review paper: Monocytes/Macrophages, Dendritic cells and T cells. Ting Xiong, Alex Qian and Bernardo L. Trigatti all contributed to the editing and finalizing of the review paper. The complete reference of the review paper is: Xiong, T., Qian, A. S. & Trigatti, B. L. The local effects of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) on the inflammatory atheroma: beyond LDL cholesterol lowering. Vessel Plus 5, (2021).

1.1 Cardiovascular Disease Overview

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality globally (G. A. Roth et al., 2018). Ischemic heart disease (IHD) is the primary contributor to the CVD burden, and it accounts for 9 million annual deaths worldwide (G. A. Roth et al., 2018). With the increased longevity, urbanization, lifestyle changes and expanding population in developing countries, it is projected that the burden of IHD would be even higher in the future (Yusuf et al., 2001). The major mechanism of IHD is atherosclerotic plaque development in coronary arteries. Epidemiologic studies have identified multiple modifiable risk factors for atherosclerotic coronary artery disease (CAD), including elevated low-density lipoproteins (LDL), reduced high-density lipoproteins (HDL), smoking, high blood pressure, elevated glucose, stress, physical inactivity, obesity and poor diet (Hajar, 2017; Joseph et al., 2017; Yusuf et al., 2001). Large clinical studies have also demonstrated that lowering LDL cholesterol levels by treatment with statins (3hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors) reduced cardiovascular events (CVEs) (Bybee et al., 2008; Downs et al., 1998; Long-Term Intervention with Pravastatin in Ischaemic Disease (LIPID) Study Group, 1998; Ridker et al., 2008; Sacks et al., 1996; Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study Group, 1994). Despite the wide statin utilisation in developed countries, significant residual risk remains for CAD (Guadamuz et al., 2022; Wong et al., 2017), suggesting that further research and new treatments are needed for reducing the burden of CAD.

2

1.2 Atherosclerosis

1.2.1 Atherosclerosis Initiation

Atherosclerosis is the combinational outcome of long-lasting hypercholesterolemia and low-grade chronic inflammation. It is initiated by the retention of LDLs in the intima of the artery wall at preferred sites, such as artery curvature and bifurcations, where blood flow is non-laminar and disturbed and therefore with lower shear stress (Malek et al., 1999; Moore et al., 2013; Schwenke & Carew, 1989). The hemodynamic properties at these susceptible regions induce the activation and dysfunction of endothelial cells (ECs) that are lining the vessel wall (Malek et al., 1999). Dysfunctional ECs exhibit pro-inflammatory and pro-thrombotic phenotypes and have a disrupted barrier function (Gimbrone & García-Cardeña, 2016). Conventionally, it is thought that LDLs passively enter the subendothelial layer due to the impaired barrier function of ECs. However, recent studies have demonstrated that LDLs cross the endothelium at the lesion-prone sites by transcytosis, a transcellular process where macromolecules were transported through the cytoplasm of individual cells (Armstrong et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2019). LDL particles that have infiltrated into the intima of the artery wall undergo modifications, such as oxidation, aggregation, glycation and enzymatic cleavage (Gleissner et al., 2007). Modified LDLs, mainly oxidized LDLs (Ox-LDLs), stimulate the expression of adhesion molecules in the overlying endothelium, including P-selectin, vascular cell adhesion protein 1 (VCAM-1) and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) (Gebuhrer et al., 1995; Iiyama et al., 1999a; Ley et al.,

2007; Tabas et al., 2015). Those adhesion molecules assist the rolling and firm adhesion of monocytes to the endothelium (Gebuhrer et al., 1995; Iiyama et al., 1999a; Ley et al., 2007; Tabas et al., 2015). Ox-LDLs also stimulate the release of the monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1, also known as C-C motif chemokine ligand 2, CCL2) in ECs and plaque macrophages (Moore et al., 2013). MCP-1 then promotes the transmigration of monocytes from the blood across the endothelial layer and into the artery wall (Moore et al., 2013). Furthermore, the adhesion of platelets to the endothelium also facilitates the recruitment of monocytes to the lesion site through diverse mechanisms (Lievens & von Hundelshausen, 2011). Those mechanisms involve the induction of chemokine production and secretion by both platelets and ECs, the expression of immune receptors in platelets that enhance the crosstalk between monocytes and ECs, and the induction of adhesion molecule expression in ECs (Lievens & von Hundelshausen, 2011). The continued retention of LDLs, dysfunctional ECs and chemokine production collectively drive monocyte infiltration into the subendothelial layer (Moore et al., 2013). There, those monocytes proliferate and differentiate into macrophages stimulated by macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF). Macrophages take up native and modified LDLs, and become cholesterol-laden foam cells, which is the hallmark of early-stage atherosclerosis (Moore et al., 2013).

1.2.2 Atherosclerosis Progression and Disruption

Plaque macrophages secrete both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines. Plaque macrophages exhibit different phenotypes in vivo, spanning extremes referred to as M1 and M2. M1 macrophages secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines and

macrophages exhibiting M1 phenotypic markers dominate plaques during atherosclerosis progression, while M2 macrophages secrete anti-inflammatory cytokines and promote tissue repair and macrophages exhibiting M2 phenotypic markers are enriched in plaques during atherosclerosis regression (Moore et al., 2013). Recent studies have revealed the transcriptional and phenotypic heterogeneity of aortic macrophages in both human and murine atherosclerosis (Cochain et al., 2018; Depuydt et al., 2020; Fernandez et al., 2019; Zernecke et al., 2020). Five major macrophage subsets have been identified in murine atherosclerotic plaques, including resident macrophages, inflammatory macrophages, interferon (IFN) inducible macrophages, foamy macrophages and cavity macrophages (Zernecke et al., 2020). The exact functions of those macrophage subsets in atherosclerosis are not clear. However, it is known that the inflammatory macrophages are characterized by increased inflammatory gene expression, including CCL2, interleukin 1 beta (IL-1 β) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), and the foamy macrophages express high levels of Trem2 (triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-2) (Zernecke et al., 2020). Studies have demonstrated that foamy macrophages are not proinflammatory (K. Kim et al., 2018; Zernecke et al., 2020). Furthermore, it has been shown that foam cells in the atherosclerotic plaques were not only derived from macrophages but also vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) (Shankman et al., 2015; Y. Wang et al., 2019). VSMCs in the medial layer of the artery wall are differentiated and at a mature contractile state (Gomez & Owens, 2012). However, mature contractile VSMCs remain remarkably plastic (Gomez & Owens, 2012). They can de-differentiate, proliferate, and migrate to the intimal layer of the artery wall. There, they can acquire a

macrophage-like phenotype and express macrophage markers, such as cluster of differentiation 68 (CD68) and galectin 3 (Lgals3), and therefore are referred to as macrophage-like SMCs (Allahverdian et al., 2014a; K. Kim et al., 2018; Zernecke et al., 2020). De-differentiated and macrophages-like SMCs can also take up modified LDLs and become cholesterol-laden foam cells (Pryma et al., 2019).

As the disease progresses, the overload of free cholesterol in foam cells results in endoplasm reticulum (ER) stress. The unresolved ER stress activates the prolonged unfolded protein response and ultimately triggers foam cell apoptosis (Tabas & Ron, 2011). Apoptosis is a form of programmed cell death that normally occurs without eliciting a pro-inflammatory response. Apoptosis is characterized by membrane blebbing, chromatin and nuclear condensation and cell shrinkage. At early stages of atherosclerosis, apoptotic bodies are cleared efficiently by surrounding macrophages by a process called efferocytosis. Effective efferocytosis requires the interaction of "eat me" signals on the apoptotic cells, receptors on macrophages and sometimes bridging molecules (Gonzalez et al., 2017; Hochreiter-Hufford & Ravichandran, 2013). However, in the advanced atherosclerotic plaque, more macrophages have dysregulated lipid metabolism and are unable to process the ingested lipid from the apoptotic cells, which might impair efferocytosis (Moore et al., 2013). Moreover, studies have shown that the reduced expression of "eat me" signals and the increased abundance of "don't eat me" signals on apoptotic cells and the deficiency of macrophage receptors and bridging molecules in advanced lesions may all contribute to the impaired efferocytosis (Yurdagul et al., 2018). The defective efferocytosis leads to secondary necrosis and the exposure of cellular lipids

6

and pro-inflammatory and thrombogenic contents. Other pro-inflammatory forms of cell death have also been demonstrated to occur in atherosclerosis plaques, including programmed necroptosis and pyroptosis (Gonzalez et al., 2017; Karunakaran et al., 2016; Kluck et al., 2023; Rayner, 2017). Ultimately, the accumulation of cell debris, cholesterol crystals, extracellular lipids and inflammatory cytokines form a necrotic core.

Stimulated by growth factors and inflammatory microenvironment, VSMCs migrate to the surface of atherosclerotic plaque and acquire the synthetic phenotype (Basatemur et al., 2019; Tabas et al., 2015). The synthetic SMCs secret collagen rich extracellular matrix (ECM) (Alexander & Owens, 2012). ECM along with SMCs form a thick fibrous cap, which stabilizes the plaque against rupture (Alexander & Owens, 2012). However, at late stages of disease, reduced SMC numbers and collagen synthesis in the fibrous cap and the degradation of ECM by matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) derived from SMCs and macrophages, lead to the thinning of the fibrous cap (Alexander & Owens, 2012). Plaques with a large necrotic core and a thin fibrous cap are prone to rupture, exposing the contents of the plaque to the blood. This activates platelets and the coagulation cascade and results in thrombus generation. So-called atherothrombosis in coronary arteries reduces or even blocks the supply of blood to the myocardium, therefore leading to myocardial infarction (MI) (Figure 1). Alternatively, plaques with a fibrous cap containing abundant SMCs and ECM without a lipid-rich necrotic core may undergo superficial plaque erosion (Virmani et al., 2000). The eroded plaque typically has a disrupted endothelial layer (Libby, 2013). The underlying mechanism of plaque erosion is

7

not clear. However, plaque erosion also leads to thrombotic complications, and it accounts for approximately 20 to 25 % of acute MI cases (Arbab-Zadeh et al., 2012; Libby, 2013).



Figure 1: Atherosclerosis progression. Plasma LDL particles infiltrate into the intima of artery wall, triggering the recruitment of circulating monocytes. Monocytes in the subendothelial layer differentiate into macrophages that engulf retained LDL particles and become macrophage foam cells. SMCs de-differentiate and acquire either a synthetic or macrophage-like phenotype. Macrophage-like SMCs can also take up LDL particles and become cholesterol-laden foam cells. Both macrophage and SMCs derived foam cells undergo apoptosis and are cleared by phagocytes through efferocytosis. In advanced stages, efferocytosis is defective, leading to secondary necrosis. Cell debris, cholesterol crystals, extracellular lipids and inflammatory cytokines form a necrotic core. The
synthetic SMCs migrate to the surface of atherosclerotic plaque and secrete ECMs. ECM and SMCs form a thick fibrous cap which stabilizes the plaque. However, a large necrotic core and a thin fibrous cap ultimately result in the rupture of plaques, exposing the plaque thrombogenic contents. This activates platelets and the coagulation cascade and causes thrombus generation. So-called atherothrombosis in coronary arteries blocks the supply of blood to the myocardium, therefore leading to myocardial infarction. Figure created with BioRender.com.

1.2.3 The Stabilization and Regression of Established Atherosclerotic Plaques

Atherosclerosis develops starting from childhood (McGill et al., 2000) and nearly all people have established atherosclerotic plaques when reaching their 40s. To prevent catastrophic clinical sequela, it is critical to both limit the further growth of plaque sizes and increase plaque stability. The conventional view considers atherosclerotic plaque development beyond an early stage to be irreversible. However, recent studies have indicated that stabilization and even regression of established atherosclerotic plaques can be achieved (Barrett, 2020a). The Fisher lab has developed several mouse models of atherosclerotic plaque regression by normalizing hyperlipidemia (Feig et al., 2011; Peled et al., 2017; Reis et al., 2001). One model involves transplanting an aortic segment containing hyperlipidemia induced atherosclerosis into a normolipidemic recipient mouse (Reis et al., 2001). Reduction in plaque sizes in different regression models is accompanied by increased plaque stability indicated by reduced plaque macrophage content and increased collagen levels (Feig et al., 2011; Peled et al., 2017; Rahman et al., 2017). On the other hand, infusion of HDL or overexpression of apolipoprotein A-I

(APOA-I) which is the major component of HDL, also mediates atherosclerotic plaque regression in mouse models (Shah et al., 2001; Tangirala et al., 1999). The murine regression models suggest that extensive cholesterol lowering in atherogenic lipoproteins (VLDL + LDL) combined with raising HDL particle levels could provide beneficial outcomes on established atherosclerosis.

However, large clinical studies have shown that robust LDL cholesterol lowering led to only modest decreases in the volume of pre-existing plaques (typically less than 1.5%) (Nicholls et al., 2016; Nissen et al., 2004, 2006), while CVEs were significantly reduced. The discrepancy between the changes in plaque volume and CVEs suggests that plaque stabilization and changes in plaque composition might predominate in reducing coronary atherothrombotic events by lipid lowering interventions (Rahman & Fisher, 2018). Nevertheless, two thirds of patients on statin treatment still experienced CVEs and the residual risk remains after effective cholesterol lowering (Libby, 2005). This suggests only targeting LDL cholesterol levels does not lead to the optimal clinical benefits for patients with established atherosclerosis. The CANTOS trial which targets IL-1 β has highlighted the importance of managing residual inflammatory risk in addition to cholesterol lowering in cardiovascular patients (Ridker, Everett, et al., 2017).

Importantly, the development and utilisation of murine atherosclerotic plaque regression models has provided valuable insights into the pathways involved in plaque regression (Barrett, 2020b; Rahman & Fisher, 2018). Understanding of macrophage polarization, macrophage emigration and cholesterol efflux during plaque regression might help resolve the residual risk and plaque inflammation. *In vitro*, macrophages can

be polarized toward the M2 subset by interleukin 4 (IL-4) or interleukin 13 (IL-13) via the signal transducer and activator of transcription 6 (STAT6) (Rahman & Fisher, 2018). A study using the transplanting regression model has shown that the recruitment of circulating lymphocyte antigen 6C (Ly6C)^{high} monocytes into the plaque and their conversion into the M2 macrophages via STAT6 is essential for the plaque regression (Rahman et al., 2017). This suggests promoting a healthier microenvironment that favors macrophage polarization toward M2 subset might be important for plaque regression. Macrophage emigration via the lymphatics is a characteristic of plaque regression in the transplanting regression model (Llodrá et al., 2004). C-C chemokine receptor 7 (CCR7) is important for dendritic cells (DCs) emigration from the peripheral tissues to the draining lymph nodes. During plaque regression, macrophages gain the expression of CCR7 and it is essential for macrophage emigration and plaque regression (Trogan et al., 2006).

In summary, beyond extensive plasma cholesterol lowering, directions aimed at promoting anti-inflammatory macrophage polarization, macrophage emigration, cholesterol efflux in macrophage and SMC derived foam cells and synthetic ECMsecreting SMC phenotype in the atherosclerotic plaque might help identify novel targets for therapeutic interventions against CVD.

1.3 Myocardial Infarction and Cardiac Remodeling

1.3.1 Cardiomyocyte Death during Myocardial Infarction

The occlusive atherothrombosis in coronary arteries leads to the blockage of blood supply to the nearby myocardium and causes ischemic cardiomyocyte death. This acute event is defined as myocardial infarction. Studies have suggested that necrosis, apoptosis and autophagy are all involved in the death of cardiomyocytes in the infarcted heart (Frangogiannis, 2015).

Cardiomyocyte necrosis is characterized by cellular and organellar swelling and rupture of the plasma membrane, leading to the release of pro-inflammatory cellular contents. Cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} levels are increased in cardiomyocytes during ischemia. The entry of Ca^{2+} into the mitochondria via the mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uniporter triggers the opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) (Frangogiannis, 2015). Although mPTP has been proposed to be associated with early apoptosis, recent evidence has suggested the opening of the mPTP is central to necrosis (Kinnally et al., 2011). The opening of the mPTP results in the influx of water into the mitochondrial matrix, which causes mitochondrial swelling. Increased Ca^{2+} levels also cause the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential, reducing adenosine triphosphate (ATP) generation. The depletion of ATP and mitochondrial swelling ultimately lead to cardiomyocyte necrosis.

Apoptosis of cardiomyocytes is executed through both the intrinsic and extrinsic pathways (Chiong et al., 2011; Frangogiannis, 2015). The intrinsic pathway involves the activation of proapoptotic signaling molecules of the B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) family in the mitochondria, which mediates the release of mitochondrial cytochrome C and the following activation of caspase 9 (Frangogiannis, 2015). The extrinsic pathway involves the activation of death receptors on the cardiomyocyte cell surface, including TNF- α and Fas receptors and the subsequent activation of caspase 8 (Chiong et al., 2011;

Frangogiannis, 2015). Both intrinsic and extrinsic pathways convergently activate the caspase 3 mediated apoptosis of cardiomyocytes.

Autophagy is a process where dysfunctional or unnecessary cell parts are degraded in the lysosome. Under normal conditions, it is an adaptive response to promote cell survival and energy hemostasis. In the normal heart, autophagy is observed at a baseline level (D. L. Li et al., 2016) and it is critical for maintaining myocardial structure and function. Autophagy levels are upregulated in cardiomyocytes by ischemia, which is dependent on the AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) pathway (Matsui et al., 2007a). It has been reported that autophagy during ischemia protects against cardiomyocyte death (Kanamori et al., 2011; Matsui et al., 2007a). On the other hand, autophagy levels during reperfusion are further upregulated via the beclin 1–dependent pathway, which might be maladaptive and detrimental (Matsui et al., 2007a). Whether autophagy is protective or detrimental for the infarcted heart is controversial at this stage (Gustafsson & Gottlieb, 2008; Lavandero et al., 2013).

1.3.2 Cardiac Remodeling Overview

The death of significant numbers of cardiomyocytes triggers cardiac repair with the development of myocardial fibrosis, leading to a fibrotic scar mainly containing collagen. The reparative healing process is critical for maintaining structural integrity and preventing cardiac rupture. However, the adverse remodeling which replaces the lost cardiomyocytes with excessive myocardial fibrosis, reduces the contractile function of the heart and even leads to ventricle dilation or ultimately heart failure. The infarct healing

process is divided into three phases, including the inflammatory, proliferative and maturation phases. During the inflammatory phase, monocytes and neutrophils are recruited to clear the dead bodies and ECM debris. The activation of the inflammatory cascade is necessary for a transition to the proliferative phase, which is characterized by the inflammatory resolution and myofibroblast mediated ECM deposition. A delicate balance between the inflammatory and proliferative phases is required for proper wound healing. At the maturation phase, myofibroblasts are removed or become quiescent and ECM is cross-linked to form a mature scar (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Cardiac remodeling post myocardial infarction. Cardiac remodeling can be divided into inflammatory, proliferative and maturation phases. The ischemia induced by

myocardial infarction results in the death of cardiomyocytes in the forms of necrosis, apoptosis and autophagy. During the inflammatory phase, cardiomyocytes undergoing necrosis release cardiomyocyte proteins, such as troponin I and CK-MB, as well as DMAPs, such as HMCGB1, nucleotides, ATP and IL-1a. DAMPs in the infarct zone attract the infiltration of circulating neutrophils and monocytes. Neutrophils and macrophages then clear the dead cardiomyocytes and matrix debris, which leads to the inflammatory resolution. During the proliferative phase, fibroblasts differentiate into myofibroblasts which secrete and deposit ECMs, mainly collagen. Collagen-based fibrotic scar prevents cardiac rupture. Myocardial angiogenesis also happens at the proliferative phase to supply the reparative infarct with nutrients and oxygen. During the maturation phase, myofibroblasts undergo apoptosis or become quiescent and ECM are cross-linked. Myocardial angiogenesis is inhibited. Figure is adapted from Wen, Z. J. et al. Emerging roles of circRNAs in the pathological process of myocardial infarction. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 26, 828–848 (2021) with the permission pending from the publisher and created with BioRender.com.

1.3.3 Inflammatory Phase during Cardiac Remodeling

Following the myocardial ischemia, the acute inflammatory response is initiated which involves the heart itself (including cardiomyocytes, fibroblasts, ECs, and the interstitium) and the infiltrated immune cells (including neutrophils, monocytes and lymphocytes). Ischemic cardiomyocytes undergoing necrosis release cardiomyocyte proteins, such as creatine-kinase myocardial band (CK-MB) and Troponin I, as well as damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), such as ATP, mitochondrial (mt)DNA,

extracellular RNA, interleukin 1 alpha (IL-1 α) and high mobility group box 1 (HMCGB1) (Ong et al., 2018). Those DAMPs induce leukocyte infiltration, serve as danger signals and activate the innate immune system by binding to the pattern recognition receptors (Frangogiannis, 2015).

The complement system is activated in response to DAMPs in the infarcted heart demonstrated by the C3 fragments and other complement cascade proteins in the myocardial infarcts (Hill & Ward, 1971; Yasojima et al., 1998). Complement components, DAMPs, inflammatory cytokines and chemokines all attract the infiltration of circulating neutrophils and inflammatory Ly6C^{high} monocytes (Ong et al., 2018; Prabhu & Frangogiannis, 2016). Neutrophils are the first immune cells that arrive at the infarct area, predominately at the border zone. Inflammatory monocytes are recruited to the injury site following the infiltration of neutrophils. The ligand and receptor pairs between circulating leukocytes and activated ECs, including selectin ligand-selectin, chemokine receptorchemokine and integrin-integrin ligand are critical for neutrophils and inflammatory monocytes transmigrating through the activated endothelial layer (Frangogiannis, 2008; Prabhu & Frangogiannis, 2016). Infiltrated neutrophils and inflammatory monocytes release MMPs to mediate ECM degradation and phagocytize the dead cells and matrix debris (Frangogiannis, 2015). Neutrophils also generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) and secret factors that attract circulating monocytes (Ong et al., 2018). Inflammatory monocytes phagocytize apoptotic neutrophils (Frangogiannis, 2015). They also secret cytokines, chemokines and growth factors that may either exacerbate the inflammatory

response or assist the transition to the reparative phase depending on the microenvironment (Ong et al., 2018).

1.3.4 Proliferative Phase during Cardiac Remodeling

As dead cells and matrix debris are cleared, the major proinflammatory stimuli are eliminated. The proliferative phase is then initiated when the inflammation gets resolved and myofibroblasts deposit ECMs such as collagen and mediate the reparative response. The resolution of inflammation starts with neutrophil apoptosis and its subsequent clearance by phagocytotic macrophages, which then induces an anti-inflammatory phenotype in macrophages (Frangogiannis, 2015). Neutrophils secret pro-resolving lipid mediators that inhibit neutrophil transmigration and infiltration (Serhan et al., 2008). Neutrophils also secret factors that induce macrophage polarization towards a reparative phenotype (Horckmans et al., 2017). During the reparative phase, proinflammatory circulating Ly6C^{high} monocytes are recruited at the infarct site and switch their phenotype to anti-inflammatory and reparative Ly6C^{low} macrophages (Courties et al., 2014; Hilgendorf et al., 2014), which secret anti-inflammatory, profibrotic, and angiogenic factors, such as interleukin 10 (IL-10), transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-β) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Prabhu & Frangogiannis, 2016). Tissue neovascularization is required to supply the reparative infarct with nutrients and oxygen at the proliferative phase. Angiogenic pathway is activated indicated by the upregulation of VEGF in the border zone cardiomyocytes and VEGF receptors in new vessels (J. Li et al., 1996). At later stages, newly developed vessels mature by acquiring a coat of

pericytes and SMCs, which is dependent on the platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-PDGF receptor β signaling (Zymek et al., 2006).

As the microenvironment becomes less inflammatory, fibroblasts are activated and acquire the synthetic myofibroblast phenotype, which has increased levels of proliferation. Studies have suggested that there are a variety of origins of myofibroblasts, including resident fibroblasts, bone marrow progenitors, endothelial cells, epicardial cells, cardiac pericytes, interstitial cells and SMCs (Frangogiannis, 2015). However, the major source of myofibroblasts might be resident fibroblasts (Yano et al., 2005). The myofibroblast transdifferentiation involves TGF- β and angiotensin-II signaling pathways. TGF- β and angiotensin-II also trigger the matrix-preserving program that induces ECM synthesis in myofibroblasts (Frangogiannis, 2015; Prabhu & Frangogiannis, 2016). Fibrin and fibronectin derived from plasma form the initial provisional scaffold during the inflammatory and proliferative phases (Frangogiannis, 2021). Activated myofibroblasts at the proliferative stage also produce fibronectin initially and later collagen type I and type II which are assembled to form a fibrotic scar and maintain the structural integrity (Weber et al., 2012).

1.3.5 Maturation Phase during Cardiac Remodeling

The transition from the proliferative phase to the maturation phase is marked by the cross-linking of collagen, the reduced number of myofibroblasts and suppressed angiogenesis. Apoptosis might contribute to the significantly reduced myofibroblast numbers in the infarct. The remaining myofibroblasts become quiescent or have reduced

capacity for ECM synthesis. The signaling pathways that are involved in the quiescence and suppressed proliferation of myofibroblasts in the infarct at the maturation phase are unclear. However, the clearance of fibrogenic growth factors and matricellular proteins and the activation of STOP signals for TGF- β and angiotensin-II might all be involved.

1.4 Lipids and Lipoproteins

1.4.1 Lipids - Cholesterol and Triglycerides

Lipids are the essential structural components and energy sources of cells. There are three main categories of lipids, including cholesterol, triglycerides (TGs), and phospholipids. Cholesterol is a component of cell membranes. The structure of cholesterol contains a tetracyclic ring which is responsible for the cell membrane's fluidity. Cholesterol also plays a number of other biological roles, including as the precursor for the synthesis of steroid hormones, bile acids and vitamin D and as signaling molecules (Hegele, 2009). The majority of circulating cholesterol is produced from endogenous synthesis in the ER of hepatic cells. HMG-CoA reductase is the rate-limiting enzyme in the cholesterol synthesis pathway, and it is the target of statins which is the most commonly prescribed class of drugs for CAD. TGs are the most energy-dense molecules. They are composed of a glycerol backbone ester-linked to three free fatty acids (FFA) molecules. TGs are synthesized in intestinal enterocytes and hepatocytes and hydrolyzed into FFAs to provide energy through β -oxidation in muscle cells or store energy as resynthesized to TG in adipocytes.

Cholesterol and TGs are insoluble in plasma, therefore, the transportation of them throughout the body is carried out by macromolecules called lipoproteins, which have a spherical shape and are compatible with the aqueous plasma. Lipoproteins have a hydrophobic core containing TGs and cholesterol esters (CEs), and a hydrophilic surface monolayer consisting of phospholipids, free cholesterol and associated protein called apolipoprotein (Figure 3). Based on the density of lipoproteins, they are broadly classified as chylomicrons, very-low density lipoproteins (VLDL), LDL and HDL. The density order is chylomicron < VLDL < LDL < HDL.



Figure 3: Lipoprotein structure. Lipoproteins are spherical particles with a hydrophobic core containing triglycerides and cholesterol esters and surrounded by a hydrophilic surface monolayer consisting of phospholipids, free cholesterol and apolipoprotein.

1.4.2 Chylomicron Formation and Metabolism

Chylomicron formation in intestine starts with the entry of FFAs and cholesterol into intestinal enterocytes from the intestinal lumen. FFAs in the intestinal lumen mainly come from the diet and enter enterocytes via passive diffusion or via a fatty acid transporter (Feingold, 2022). FFAs and monoacylglycerols in enterocytes are synthesized into TGs. Cholesterol in the intestinal lumen enters enterocytes via the Niemann-Pick C1like 1 (NPC1L1) transporter (Betters & Yu, 2010). Ezetimibe, as a cholesterol lowering drug, inhibits NPC1L1 and the absorption of cholesterol (Betters & Yu, 2010). Cholesterol in enterocytes is converted to CE by acyl-CoA cholesterol acyltransferase (ACAT) (Hai & Smith, 2021). In the ER of enterocytes, TGs, CEs, and a single apolipoprotein B48 (APOB48) are packaged together to form one chylomicron particle. The microsomal triacylglycerol transfer protein (MTTP) plays an essential role in adding TGs to nascent APOB48 (Hussain et al., 2012). Both APOB48 and apolipoprotein B100 (APOB100) are encoded by the APOB gene, however, APOB48 is formed by an RNA editing enzyme - APOB mRNA editing catalytic polypeptide-1 (APOBEC-1) that creates an early stop codon in the APOB100 mRNA. APOB48 protein constitutes the first 48% of the amino acid sequences for APOB100 protein and lacks the C-terminal LDLR binding region in APOB100 protein.

Once released into the circulation, chylomicrons acquire apolipoprotein E (APOE) and apolipoprotein C-II (APOC-II) from HDL, donate APOA-I to HDL and become mature chylomicrons. TGs in mature chylomicrons are hydrolyzed by lipoprotein lipase (LPL) on the capillary endothelial cell surface (Olivecrona, 2016). APOC-II is an

essential cofactor for the activity of LPL(Kumari et al., 2021; Wolska et al., 2017). The hydrolysis of chylomicron TGs results in the release of FFAs for either energy production or storage and the formation of chylomicron remnants. Chylomicron remnants return APOC-II to HDL, acquire more APOE from HDL and become CE-rich, APOE-containing lipoproteins. The APOE-containing chylomicron remnants are removed from the circulation by the liver via the LDL receptor (LDLR) or the LDLR related protein 1 (LRP-1) (Daniels et al., 2009) (Figure 4).

1.4.3 VLDL and LDL Formation and Metabolism

De novo fatty acid synthesis, breakdown of TG-containing lipoproteins and circulating fatty acids are the sources of fatty acids for TG synthesis in the liver (Feingold, 2022). Each VLDL particle is formed by the packaging of TGs, cholesterol, and a single APOB100 together in the ER of hepatocytes. MTTP is involved in the transfer of TGs to APOB100 (Hussain et al., 2012). Newly synthesized VLDL is secreted into the circulation. Similar to chylomicrons, VLDL receives APOE and APOC-II from HDL and then undergoes hydrolysis of associated TGs mediated by LPL to release FFAs and form VLDL remnants (Olivecrona, 2016). VLDL remnants are also called intermediate-density lipoproteins (IDL). IDL is either removed from the circulation by the hepatic LDLR or LRP-1, or converted to LDL by hepatic lipase mediated hydrolysis which removes excess TGs and phospholipids (Daniels et al., 2009; Kobayashi et al., 2015). The resulting LDLs are enriched in CE and the only apolipoprotein in each LDL particle is one APOB100. Angiopoietin-like protein 3 (ANGPTL3) is a glycoprotein secreted from the liver and inhibits the activity of LPL and other lipases (Kersten, 2021; Tikka & Jauhiainen, 2020). ANGPTL3 inhibition is a target for lowering plasma LDL cholesterol and TGs levels (Adam et al., 2020; Kersten, 2021; Tikka & Jauhiainen, 2020).

LDL particles deliver cholesterol to extrahepatic tissues for utilization. However, high levels of plasma LDL cause the accumulation of LDL cholesterol in the artery wall and initiate atherogenesis. LDLR in the liver is the major pathway that mediates the clearance of circulating LDL cholesterol. LDLR on the cell surface binds to APOB100 of the LDL particle and mediates the endocytosis of the LDLR:LDL particle complex via a clathrin-coated pit (Goldstein & Brown, 2009). Once the LDLR-LDL complex is being internalized, LDLR disassociates from the LDL particle in the endosome at the late stage with a low pH. The released LDL particle further travels to the lysosome and gets degraded and the LDLR recycles back to the cell surface for reuse. Mutations in the LDLR and APOB100 genes that result in the reduction of LDLR mediated endocytosis of LDL particles, are two of the causes of familial hypercholesterolemia (FH), characterized by significantly increased plasma LDL cholesterol levels (Santos et al., 2016) (Figure 4).

1.4.4 HDL Formation and Metabolism

HDL plays a central role in reverse cholesterol transport (RCT), a process where HDL particles transport cholesterol from peripheral tissues (including macrophages in the artery wall) to the liver for reuse or excretion (B. L. Trigatti et al., 2000; Von Eckardstein et al., 2001). HDL formation starts with APOA-I secretion from the liver and intestine. This monomolecular lipid-free APOA-1 acquires free cholesterol and phospholipids via ATP-binding cassette subfamily A member 1 (ABCA-1) from those tissues (Kathiresan et al., 2008; Rye & Barter, 2004). They later are converted to discoidal HDL which has at least two molecules of APOA-I that wrap around the phospholipid bilayer (Z. Wu et al., 2007). The discoidal HDL acquires more free cholesterol and phospholipids via ABCA-1 and becomes lipid-rich HDL (Daniels et al., 2009; Fielding et al., 2000). The free cholesterol on lipid-rich HDL undergoes esterification mediated by the lecithin cholesterol acyl transferase (LCAT). LCAT is secreted from the liver, located on the surface of discoidal HDL particles and activated by APOA-I (Pavanello & Calabresi, 2020). The esterified cholesterol moves from the surface to the core of HDL particles, resulting in the HDL morphological change from a discoidal to a spherical shape (M. Wang & Briggs, 2004). The mature, spherical, CE-rich HDL can also acquire more free cholesterol from macrophage foam cells via ATP-binding cassette subfamily G member 1 (ABCG-1) or passive diffusion facilitated by the scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-B1) (Kardassis et al., 2014).

Spherical mature HDL particles exchange CE for TG with VLDL and LDL particles. This process removes cholesterol from HDL particles and is mediated by the cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) (Barter et al., 2003). The other major pathway to remove HDL cholesterol is through SR-B1 mediated selective uptake of cholesterol in the liver, a key step in RCT (B. L. Trigatti et al., 2003). Hepatic SR-B1 depletes cholesterol from the bound HDL particle, which is then released back into the circulation and serves another round for extracting excess cholesterol from peripheral tissues (Krieger, 1999). Alternatively, lipid-poor HDL particles can be degraded in the kidney (Hammad et al., 1999) (Figure 4).

Epidemiological studies have shown that low HDL levels are associated with an increased risk of CVD (Gordon et al., 1989; Pekkanen et al., 1990; Wilson et al., 1988). However, elevating HDL cholesterol levels by different interventions did not reduce CVEs in large clinical trials (Barter et al., 2007; Kastelein et al., 2007; MJ et al., 2014; Nissen et al., 2007). These results have prompted the field to consider that it is the function of HDL particles instead of the HDL cholesterol level that protects against CVD. HDL cholesterol levels do not necessarily reflect the abundance of HDL particles or RCT capacity as each HDL particle may carry different amounts of cholesterol. During RCT, HDL mediates cholesterol efflux from macrophage foam cells through the transporters ABCA1 and ABCG-1 (Yvan-Charvet et al., 2010). ABCA1 and ABCG1 expressions are upregulated by the liver X receptors (LXRs) which are activated in response to increased intracellular cholesterol levels (Beyea et al., 2007). In vivo studies have shown that raising functional HDL particle levels or enhancing ABCA1 and LXR expression promoted plaque regression in murine models (Designed Research; J & Performed Research; J, 2011; Feig et al., 2010; Rayner et al., 2011; Shah et al., 2001). It has also been shown that ABCA1 expression was reduced in SMC-derived foam cell, contributing to the excess lipid accumulation in the plaque (Allahverdian et al., 2014b). These studies suggest that stimulating cholesterol efflux from macrophage and SMC foam cells might be a potential strategy to promote plaque regression.

Lipoprotein metabolism and regulation are slightly different between humans and mice. Humans express APOBEC-1 exclusively in the intestine and therefore, produce APOB48 in the intestine and APOB100 in the liver, respectively. However, mice express APOBEC-1 in both the liver and intestine, and mice produce predominantly APOB48 in the intestine and produce both APOB48 and APOB100 in the liver (Nakamuta et al., 1996). Furthermore, humans express CETP whereas mice lack CETP, leading to the absence of exchange of cholesterol for TG between VLDL and HDL in mice. Therefore, humans carry plasma cholesterol mainly in LDL particles, while mice carry plasma cholesterol predominantly in HDL particles. This phenomenon may contribute to the inherent resistance of atherosclerosis development in mice. The differences in lipoprotein metabolism between humans and mice must be taken into account when using mice to model human lipoprotein metabolism and associated disease.



Figure 4: Lipoprotein metabolism. Chylomicrons are secreted from the intestine into the lymph and delivered to the circulation. Triglycerides in chylomicrons are hydrolyzed by the LPL to provide free fatty acids to muscle cells for energy production or adipose tissue for energy storage. The hydrolysis of chylomicrons results in the formation of chylomicron remnants which are cleared by the liver. Liver secrets VLDL particles which are hydrolyzed by the LPL, resulting in the formation of IDL particles and free fatty acids used by muscle cells and adipose tissue. IDL particles are either cleared by the liver through the LDLR and LRP-1 or are further converted into LDL particles by the hepatic

lipase. Circulating LDL is cleared by the liver through the LDLR. Circulating LDL enters the artery wall and is modified by oxidation. Oxidized LDL can be taken up by macrophages in the artery wall mediated by the cell surface CD36, SR-AI and SR-AII, leading to foam cell formation. ApoA-I obtains lipids from the intestine and liver mediated by the ABCA-1 and becomes lipid-poor HDL. Lipid-poor HDL acquires more cholesterol from peripheral tissues (e.g. macrophages in the artery wall) via ABCA-1 and becomes lipid-rich HDL. Free cholesterol on lipid-rich HDL undergoes esterification mediated by the LCAT which leads to the formation of mature HDL. Mature HDL can acquire more cholesterol from peripheral tissues via ABCG-1 or SR-B1. Mature HDL can also exchange cholesterol for triglycerides with VLDL and LDL mediated by the CETP. SR-B1 on hepatocytes mediates selective cholesterol uptake from HDL and the cholesterol-depleted HDL is released into circulation and reused to extract cholesterol from peripheral tissues. The movement of cholesterol from peripheral tissues to the liver carried by HDL and mediated by SR-B1 is called reverse cholesterol transport. Figure is adapted from Kathiresan, S. et al. Translating molecular discoveries into new therapies for atherosclerosis. Nature 451, 904–914 (2008) with the permission pending from the publisher and created with BioRender.com.

1.5 Conventional Mouse Models of Atherosclerosis

Efforts have been made to induce atherosclerosis development in mice by manipulating genes involved in lipoprotein metabolism such as the LDLR and APOE. This section will discuss genetically modified mouse models for atherosclerosis studies, including *ApoE knockout (ApoE KO)* and *Ldlr KO* mice which are the two most frequently used mouse models and *APOE*3Leiden.CETP* mice that have an intact endogenous expression of both the LDLR and APOE.

1.5.1 ApoE KO Mice

APOE presents on the surface of chylomicrons, VLDL, and HDL particles. It mediates the clearance of plasma chylomicron remnants and VLDL remnants by binding to the LDLR and LRP-1 in the liver. In 1992, two separate groups generated ApoE KO mice where the ApoE gene was inactivated by homologous recombination in mouse embryonic stem (ES) cells (Piedrahita et al., 1992; Plump et al., 1992a). ApoE KO mice have markedly increased plasma cholesterol levels (~10-15 mM) compared to the wild type littermates (~2 mM) on a normal chow diet (4.5% fat and 0.02% cholesterol) (Breslow, 1996; Piedrahita et al., 1992; Plump et al., 1992a). The majority of cholesterol carried by HDL particles in wild type mice is shifted to the VLDL sized lipoproteins in ApoE KO mice (Plump et al., 1992a; S. H. Zhang et al., 1992a). On a normal chow diet, ApoE KO mice develop fatty streak consisting of foam cells in mice as young as 2 months of age (Nakashima et al., 1994). Those fatty streak lesions progress to more advanced atherosclerosis containing necrotic cores and a fibrous cap by the 8-10 months of age (Reddick et al., 1994). A Western-type diet (21% fat, 0.15% cholesterol) feeding further drastically increases plasma cholesterol levels and accelerates atherosclerosis development in ApoE KO mice (Nakashima et al., 1994; S. H. Zhang et al., 1994). Atherosclerotic lesions in *ApoE KO* mice first develop at the aortic sinus and later spread throughout the aorta and its principal branches (Nakashima et al., 1994). However, ApoE

KO mice do not frequently develop atherosclerosis in coronary arteries and the associated myocardial infarction, which are the fundamental characteristics of CAD (Braun et al., 2002; Gonzalez L et al., 2016).

1.5.2 Ldlr KO Mice

Mutations in the LDLR gene are the most common causes of FH. Human patients with homozygous loss of function mutations in the LDLR gene have very high levels of plasma LDL cholesterol and often die from myocardial infarction before age of 15 years old (Goldstein & Brown, 1979). LDLR is a cell membrane glycoprotein containing a cytoplasmic domain, a transmembrane anchor and extracellular domains (Go & Mani, 2012). The extracellular domains of LDLR consist of LDLR type A repeats (ligand binding domain), an epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like domain, a β-propeller domain and an O-linked sugar domain (Go & Mani, 2012). The type A repeats of the LDLR recognize and bind to APOE and APOB100 and mediates the clearance of APOEcontaining and APOB100-containing lipoproteins from the circulation. Unlike ApoE KO mice, Ldlr KO mice fed a normal chow diet only develop mild hypercholesterolemia (~6 mM) associated with increased amounts of LDL sized lipoproteins in blood (Ishibashi et al., 1993) and minimal atherosclerosis (Palinski et al., 1995; Whitman, 2004). However, feeding them Western-type and other high fat/high cholesterol diets leads to severe hypercholesterolemia (>25 mM) and extensive aortic atherosclerosis in Ldlr KO mice (Lichtman et al., 1999; Palinski et al., 1995). Nevertheless, similar to ApoE KO mice, Ldlr KO mice rarely develop coronary artery atherosclerosis and they do not exhibit substantial myocardial fibrosis (Gonzalez L et al., 2016).

Both *ApoE KO* and *Ldlr KO* mice lack the intact APOE-LDLR axis, which is required for certain cholesterol lowering agents such as statins. One mechanism of statin mediated cholesterol lowering is the upregulation of hepatic LDLR levels (Oesterle et al., 2017). Statins reduce intracellular cholesterol levels which activates sterol regulatory element-binding protein 2 (SREBP2), therefore increasing the transcription of SREBP2 target genes, including the *LDLR*. Studies have shown that statin treatment in some cases did not reduce plasma cholesterol levels in mice lacking either *Ldlr* or *ApoE*(Z. Chen et al., 2002; Enomoto et al., 2009; Monetti et al., 2007; Schroeter et al., 2009; Zadelaar et al., 2007).

1.5.3 APOE*3Leiden.CETP Mice

There are three major isoforms of APOE, including APOE2, APOE3 and APOE4, encoded by three alleles (*APOE*2, APOE*3* and *APOE*4*) of the *APOE* gene (Zannis & Breslow, 1981). APOE2, APOE3 and APOE4 have different mobilities upon isoelectic focusing by one charge unit. While APOE4 is the most basic isoform, APOE2 is the most acidic isoform. The *APOE*3Leiden* mutant form of the human *APOE* gene is identical to the *APOE*4* allele but has an in-frame repeat of 21 nucleotides in exon 4 (van den Maagdenberg et al., 1989; Wardell et al., 1989). This *APOE*3Leiden* mutation leads to an insertion of 7 amino acids containing one extra negatively charged glutamyl residue when compared to the APOE4 and results in the protein focusing in the APOE3 position (Wardell et al., 1989). The *APOE*3Leiden* mutation is associated with familial dysbetalipoproteinemia, characterized by the impaired clearance of APOE-containing chylomicron and VLDL remnants (De Knijff et al., 1991). *APOE*3Leiden* transgenic

mice were generated by introducing a construct containing the human APOE*3Leiden gene and APOCI gene into C57 Bl/6 mice (Van den Maagdenberg et al., 1993). APOE*3Leiden transgenic mice express endogenous APOE, however, the clearance of APOE-containing lipoproteins is impaired by the dominant role of the APOE*3Leiden mutant (Van den Maagdenberg et al., 1993). APOE*3Leiden transgenic mice on a normal chow diet have increased plasma cholesterol and TG levels carried by VLDL/LDL sized lipoproteins (Van den Maagdenberg et al., 1993). APOE*3Leiden. CETP mice were developed by crossing APOE*3Leiden mice with human CETP transgenic mice (Westerterp et al., 2006). Human CETP expression in APOE*3Leiden mice increases plasma cholesterol levels and shifts cholesterol associated with HDL to VLDL/LDL (Westerterp et al., 2006). APOE*3Leiden. CETP mice develop more severe atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus compared to APOE*3Leiden mice when fed with a Western-type diet (15% fat and 0.25% cholesterol) (Westerterp et al., 2006). APOE*3Leiden. CETP mice represent a useful atherosclerosis model for testing potential therapeutics for cholesterol lowering that require the intact expression of both LDLR and APOE or target CETP. However, like ApoE KO and Ldlr KO mice, characteristics of CAD including substantial coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis have not been reported in APOE*3Leiden.CETP mice.

1.6 Scavenger Receptor Class B Type I (SR-B1)

SR-B1, encoded by the *SCARB1* gene, is a member of the scavenger receptor class B family along with other class B members, which includes cluster determinant 36

(CD36) and lysosomal integral membrane protein 2 (LIMP-2) (Shen et al., 2018). SR-B1 is abundantly expressed in the liver and steroidogenic tissues (adrenal glands and ovaries), and expressed at low levels in other cell types, such as macrophages, ECs and SMCs (Acton et al., 1996; Krieger, 1999; Shen et al., 2018). SR-B1 protein concentrates in cholesterol- and glycolipid-rich microdomains on the plasma membrane called caveolae (Babitt et al., 1997). As a multiligand membrane-spanning receptor, SR-B1 contains a large extracellular domain, two transmembrane domains and short N and C terminal cytoplasmic domains (B. L. Trigatti, 2017). Based on the LIMP-2 structure and the homology remodeling of SR-B1, it is proposed that the extracellular domain of SR-B1 comprises an antiparallel β -barrel core with many short α -helical segments (Neculai et al., 2013).

1.6.1 The Role of SR-B1 in Reverse Cholesterol Transport

SR-B1 is a high-affinity receptor for HDL and plays an important role in RCT (Acton et al., 1996). SR-B1 facilitates free cholesterol efflux from macrophage foam cells to mature HDL (Phillips, 2014). HDL particles transport cholesterol in the form of CE through the circulation to the liver. Hepatic SR-B1 then mediates selective CE uptake from HDL (Rigotti et al., 1997a) (Figure 4). HDL-derived cholesterol taken up by the liver is secreted into the bile or used for the repackaging of new lipoproteins. Selective cholesterol uptake has been described as a two-step process, which involves the binding of HDL to SR-B1 followed by cholesterol movement from HDL to the plasma membrane (Gu et al., 1998). The α -helix bundle at the apex of the SR-B1 extracellular domain creates a cluster of basic residues, which facilitates the binding of SR-B1 to the

amphipathic α -helix domain of apoA-I on the surface of HDL (Neculai et al., 2013; Phillips, 2014). The extracellular domain of SR-B1 is predicted to contain a hydrophobic channel that allows for the movement of CE down a concentration gradient from HDL to the plasma membrane (Neculai et al., 2013; Phillips, 2014; B. Trigatti et al., 2000). The lipid-depleted HDL particle is then thought to dissociate from SR-B1 and re-enters the circulation. Consistent with the critical role of SR-B1 in RCT, *Sr-b1 knockout* in mice results in increased plasma cholesterol levels associated with enlarged HDL particles due to impaired selective cholesterol uptake (Rigotti et al., 1997a). The enlarged HDL particles have abnormally high free cholesterol to total cholesterol ratios accompanied by reduced LCAT activities (Braun et al., 2003; Ma et al., 2005). SR-B1 also regulates biliary cholesterol levels (the last step of RCT) where deficiency of *Sr-b1* reduces and overexpression of hepatic *Sr-b1* increases biliary cholesterol concentrations (Kozarsky et al., 1997; B. Trigatti et al., 1999).

1.6.2 The Role of SR-B1 beyond Reverse Cholesterol Transport

SR-B1 expression in the steroidogenic tissues also mediates selective cholesterol uptake from HDL for storage or steroid hormone production. Deficiency of *Sr-b1* leads to the reduction of cholesterol in adrenal glands and ovaries and infertility in female mice (Rigotti et al., 1997a; B. Trigatti et al., 1999). *Sr-b1 KO* mice develop thrombocytopenia characterized by reduced platelet counts and active circulating platelets, and their platelets are abnormally large (Dole et al., 2008; Korporaal et al., 2011). The abnormalities of platelets in *Sr-b1 KO* mice were proposed to be induced by the abnormal lipid

environment with a high free cholesterol to total cholesterol ratio (Dole et al., 2008; Korporaal et al., 2011).

SR-B1 is expressed at low levels in macrophages and ECs, however, it plays an important role in these cells in atherosclerosis development. SR-B1 in macrophages mediates HDL stimulated cell migration which has been hypothesized to play a potential role in atherosclerotic plaque regression (Al-Jarallah et al., 2014a). It also plays an antiinflammatory role in macrophages. Sr-b1 deficiency in bone marrow derived macrophages increased IL-6 and TNF- α production stimulated by lipopolysaccharides (LPS) (Cai et al., 2012). Furthermore, the absence of Sr-b1 expression in bone marrow derived cells promotes atherosclerosis development in multiple mouse models without altering plasma cholesterol levels (Covey et al., 2003; Pei et al., 2013; Tao et al., 2015; W. Zhang et al., 2003). SR-B1 in ECs plays a dual role in atherosclerosis development. As mentioned in atherosclerosis initiation, SR-B1 on ECs mediates LDL transcytosis through the endothelium layer and promotes atherosclerosis (Armstrong et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2019). However, SR-B1 is also required for HDL signaling mediated atheroprotective effects in ECs, such as activation of endothelial nitric oxide (NO) synthase (eNOS) and promoting migration and proliferation and suppressing activation of ECs (B. L. Trigatti & Fuller, 2016a).

1.7 Mouse Models of Coronary Artery Disease

SR-B1 is expressed in a variety of tissues and cells and its roles in RCT and beyond RCT are crucial to atherosclerosis development. Traditional genetically modified mouse models of atherosclerosis that do not develop substantial coronary artery occlusions obtain characteristics of human CAD when in combination with *Sr-b1* deficiency, such as *Sr-b1/ApoE double knockout (dKO)* and *Sr-b1/Ldlr dKO* mice. Furthermore, it has been recently demonstrated that inactivation of *Sr-b1* alone in mice promotes an atherogenic diet induced coronary artery atherosclerosis (M. T. Fuller et al., 2023). Here, I describe two mouse models that develop coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis used in my thesis, including *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* and *Sr-b1 KO* mice.

1.7.1 Sr-b1/ApoE Double KO Mice

In 2002, Monty Krieger's lab described the CAD phenotype of *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice(Braun et al., 2002). *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice have significantly increased plasma cholesterol levels associated with VLDL sized lipoproteins and abnormally high free cholesterol to total cholesterol ratios compared to *ApoE KO* mice (Braun et al., 2002, 2003). On a normal chow diet, these *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice develop accelerated atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus by 5 weeks of age (Braun et al., 2002). Importantly, they also rapidly develop substantial coronary artery atherosclerotic occlusions and myocardial fibrosis (Braun et al., 2002). Fibrin and platelet accumulation were detected in coronary artery atherosclerotic plaques, suggesting atherothrombosis in coronary arteries (Braun et al., 2002; Yu et al., 2018). Moreover, they exhibit cardiac enlargement and dysfunction and abnormalities of cardiac conduction system associated with a significantly reduced lifespan (50% mortality around 6 weeks of age) (Braun et al., 2002). Myocardial lipid and macrophage accumulation was also reported in these *dKO* mice

(Braun et al., 2002). Together, *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice exhibit multiple characteristics of human CAD, making it an attractive mouse model to test potential therapeutics or study mechanisms of CAD. Various interventions have been tested in *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice to date(Al-Jarallah et al., 2013a; Braun et al., 2003, 2008; Yu et al., 2018). In 2018, we reported that rosuvastatin treatment protected *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice against atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries, myocardial fibrosis and cardiac enlargement despite in the absence of cholesterol lowering (Yu et al., 2018). Interestingly, these protective effects of rosuvastatin type (PCSK9) (Yu et al., 2018), which plays an important role in cholesterol metabolism and atherosclerosis development and will be discussed in more detail in Chapter 1.8.

1.7.2 Sr-b1 Single KO Mice

Sr-b1 single KO mice only develop minimal atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus induced by a high fat (15% fat and 0.25% cholesterol) or a high fat/high cholesterol (7.5% fat and 1.25% cholesterol) diet despite more than 20 weeks of feeding with those atherogenic diets (Harder et al., 2007; Hildebrand et al., 2010; Van Eck et al., 2003). On the other hand, when *Sr-b1 KO* mice were fed a high fat, high cholesterol and cholate containing (20% fat, 1.25% cholesterol and 0.5% cholate) diet for 11 weeks, extensive aortic sinus atherosclerosis was observed (Huby et al., 2006). Nevertheless, those studies did not examine atherosclerosis in coronary arteries of *Sr-b1 KO* mice. Recently, our lab reported that female *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed a high fat, high cholesterol and cholate containing (15.8% fat, 1.25% cholesterol and 0.5% cholate, HFCC) diet for 20 weeks developed widespread atherosclerosis in multiple artery sites, including the aortic sinus, aorta and importantly coronary arteries (M. T. Fuller et al., 2023). Coronary artery atherosclerosis development in HFCC diet fed *Sr-b1 KO* mice was associated with increased leukocytosis and VCAM-1 expression in the endothelium of coronary arteries (M. T. Fuller et al., 2023). Furthermore, unpublished data from our lab (S. Lee *at al., manuscript in preparation*) found that aging (one year old) exacerbated an HFCC diet (12 weeks) induced coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis in female *Sr-b1 KO* mice accompanied by a reduced survival. Platelet accumulation was also observed in coronary artery atherosclerotic plaques in an HFCC diet (12 weeks) fed *Sr-b1 KO* mice, suggesting the existence of coronary artery atherothrombosis. Therefore, *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed an HFCC diet represents a mouse model of age-induced coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis. This mouse model allows for testing the effects of potential therapeutics on CAD that requires an intact LDLR-APOE axis.

1.8 Proprotein Convertase Subtilisn/Kexin Type 9 (PCSK9)

1.8.1 PCSK9 in Lipid Metabolism

PCSK9 is a secreted serine protease and the ninth member of the kexin-like proprotein convertase subtilisin family (Seidah et al., 2003a). *PCSK9* was initially discovered as a mRNA that is upregulated during apoptosis in neuronal cells (Seidah et al., 2003a). Soon after, *PCSK9* was identified as the third gene linked to autosomal dominant FH (Abifadel et al., 2003a). Gain of function mutations in the *PCSK9* gene are associated with hypercholesterolemia, while loss of function mutations in the *PCSK9*

gene are associated with hypocholesterolemia (Abifadel et al., 2003a; Cohen et al., 2005). PCSK9 gene is located on the short arm of chromosome 1p32.3. PCSK9 is mainly expressed in the liver, intestine and kidney (Seidah et al., 2003b). However, it is also expressed in a variety of other tissues, such as VSMCs, ECs, macrophages and cardiomyocytes (although to a much lesser extent) (Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Sun, et al., 2015; Ding, Wang, et al., 2018; Ferri et al., 2012a; J. Li et al., 2017; L.-S. Liu et al., 2009a; TANG et al., 2012). PCSK9 protein is synthesized as an inactive zymogen consisting of a signal sequence (amino acids (aa): 1-30), a prodomain (aa: 31-152), a catalytic domain (aa: 153-451) and a C-terminal region (aa: 452-692) that are rich in cysteines and histidines. The precursor of PCSK9 undergoes autocatalytic cleavage between the prodomain and the catalytic domain in the ER and then becomes mature PCSK9 (Seidah et al., 2003a). This autocatalytic processing is the only protease activity of PCSK9 and no other substrate beyond itself has been reported (Seidah & Prat, 2022). Different from other proprotein convertase members, the prodomain of PCSK9 always remains noncovalently attached to its catalytic domain, presumably inhibiting its catalytic activity (Seidah et al., 2003a; Seidah & Prat, 2022). It was suggested that the prodomain attachment is required for the secretion of mature PCSK9 through the trans-Golgi network. The catalytic domain of secreted circulating PCSK9 binds to the EGF-A domain of LDLR on the cell surface (D. W. Zhang et al., 2007). The PCSK9-LDLR complex undergoes autosomal recessive hypercholesterolemia (ARH) adaptor protein-dependent, clathrin-mediated endocytosis (Lagace et al., 2006; Qian et al., 2007). After the PCSK9-LDLR complex is internalized, PCSK9 diverts LDLR to the lysosome for degradation,

preventing LDLR recycling back to the cell surface. Besides the extracellular pathway, PCSK9 also mediates LDLR degradation through an intracellular pathway where intracellular PCSK9 binds to LDLR and directs it from the trans-Golgi network to lysosome for degradation (Poirier et al., 2009). However, the extracellular/circulating PCSK9 plays a dominant role in LDLR degradation in the liver (Lagace et al., 2006) and the majority of circulating PCSK9 derives from the liver (Zaid et al., 2008a). The consequence of circulating PCSK9 mediated hepatic LDLR degradation is the substantially reduced clearance of plasma LDL, resulting in the accumulation of LDL cholesterol in the bloodstream (Figure 5). Studies have suggested that PCSK9 also regulates plasma TG levels, however, this effect is relatively modest when compared to its effects on cholesterol metabolism (Dijk et al., 2018). Beyond LDLR, PCSK9 has also been implicated in mediating the degradation of other receptors, including LRP1, CD36, the very low-density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR), apolipoprotein E receptor-2 (apoER2) and major histocompatibility complex class-I (MHC-I) in different tissues (Byun, Lebeau, Platko, Carlisle, Faiyaz, Chen, Macdonald, et al., 2022; Canuel et al., 2013; Da Dalt et al., 2021; Demers, Samami, Lauzier, Des Rosiers, Sock, et al., 2015; X. Liu et al., 2020; Poirier et al., 2008; Roubtsova et al., 2011a), which will be discussed in more detail in 1.8.3.



Figure 5: PCSK9 mediates LDLR degradation in hepatocytes. LDLR on the cell surface of hepatocytes binds to the LDL particle and mediates the endocytosis of the LDLR:LDL particle complex via a clathrin-coated pit. LDLR disassociates from the LDL particle in the endosome. LDL particle further travels to the lysosome and gets degraded and the LDLR recycles back to the cell surface for reuse. Pre-PCSK9 undergoes autocleavage between the prodomain and the catalytic domain in the ER and becomes mature PCSK9. Mature PCSK9 travels through the trans-Golgi network and is secreted

from hepatocytes into circulation. Circulating PCSK9 binds to the LDLR on the cell surface of hepatocytes and the LDLR-PCSK9 complex is internalized and diverted to the lysosome for degradation. Therefore, PCSK9 reduces the levels of cell surface LDLR in the liver. Figure is adapted from Horton, J. D. et al. Molecular biology of PCSK9: its role in LDL metabolism. Trends Biochem Sci 32, 71–77 (2007) with the permission pending from the publisher and created with BioRender.com.

1.8.2 PCSK9 Inhibition in Plasma Cholesterol Lowering and Atherosclerosis

PCSK9 diverts the LDLR from the cell surface to the lysosome for degradation in liver cells (Benjannet et al., 2004; Sahng et al., 2004). It is an attractive target for lowering LDL cholesterol in the blood (Sabatine et al., 2017; Schwartz et al., 2018). Inhibiting PCSK9 provides a chance to decrease cholesterol levels for people who are intolerant to or have major side effects from statin treatment. Indeed, two monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) against PCSK9 (evolocumab and alirocumab), have shown potent cholesterol lowering effects and reduced CVEs in large clinical studies (Sabatine et al., 2017; Schwartz et al., 2018). The LDL cholesterol lowering response to statin therapy has considerable variability (Taylor & Thompson, 2016). One potential reason might be that statin also increases PCSK9 levels by activating SREBP-2, which is a transcription factor and induces the expression of its downstream target genes, including the *LDLR* and *PCSK9* (Taylor & Thompson, 2016). Therefore, the combination of PCSK9 inhibition and statin treatment provides greater beneficial outcomes on reducing CVEs compared to the statin treatment alone (Sabatine et al., 2017; Schwartz et al., 2018).

Studies in model organisms have suggested that similar to statins, PCSK9 inhibition mediated cholesterol lowering also requires both LDLR and APOE (Ason, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014; Denis et al., 2012; Z.-H. Tang et al., 2017). By using Westerntype diet fed APOE*3Leiden. CETP mice that have the intact expression of both LDLR and APOE, PCSK9 inhibition mediated by mAbs or a nanoliposome-based vaccine, successfully reduced plasma cholesterol levels and significantly reduced aortic sinus atherosclerosis (Ason, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014; Kühnast, Van Der Hoorn, et al., 2014; Landlinger et al., 2017; Schuster et al., 2019). While all studies reported PCSK9 inhibition did not affect plasma cholesterol levels in ApoE KO mice, conflicting results have been reported about atherosclerosis development (Ason, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014; Z.-H. Tang et al., 2017). One study reported that neither genetic KO nor mAb mediated PCSK9 inhibition affected aortic sinus atherosclerosis levels in *ApoE KO* mice (Ason, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014). Other studies, however, reported that PCSK9 inhibition reduced aortic atherosclerosis despite the absence of cholesterol lowering (Denis et al., 2012; Z.-H. Tang et al., 2017), suggesting PCSK9 might affect atherosclerosis development independent of plasma cholesterol levels.

1.8.3 The Effects of PCSK9 on CVD: beyond LDL Cholesterol Lowering

PCSK9 has gained extensive attention since the discovery of its role in mediating hepatic LDLR degradation, and therefore regulating plasma LDL cholesterol clearance. However, emerging studies have indicated that PCSK9 may have pleiotropic effects on the development of atherosclerosis and eventually cardiac dysfunction by mechanisms independent of the regulation of LDL cholesterol. A meta-analysis revealed that by

achieving the same levels of LDL cholesterol lowering, the relative risk reduction for CVEs tended to be greater with PCSK9 inhibitors compared with statins, although the apparent lower risk was not statistically significant (Silverman et al., 2016). More importantly, it has been shown that circulating PCSK9 levels predicted future CVEs, independently of established risk factors, including LDL cholesterol (Leander et al., 2016). This suggests that in addition to exerting cardioprotective effects through lowering LDL cholesterol, inhibition of PCSK9 may have cardioprotective effects that are independent of LDL cholesterol lowering. Accumulating research has suggested that PCSK9 may exert effects on atherogenesis within the artery wall beyond its influences on LDL cholesterol levels (Denis et al., 2012; Ferri et al., 2016; Giunzioni et al., 2016a; Karagiannis et al., 2018; Z.-H. Tang et al., 2017; Tavori et al., 2016). Studies in model organisms have shown that overexpressing *PCSK9* elevated the plaque size at the aortic sinus and root in ApoE KO mice, without altering plasma cholesterol levels (Denis et al., 2012; Tavori et al., 2016). On the other hand, silencing Pcsk9 through lentivirus-mediated shRNA mediated *Pcsk9* knockdown, decreased atherosclerosis development in the aortic sinus in ApoE KO mice, independently of plasma cholesterol levels (Z.-H. Tang et al., 2017). Atherothrombosis development in coronary arteries involves a variety of different cell types, including but not limited to VSMCs, ECs, macrophages, T cells, dendritic cells (DCs) (Zernecke et al., 2020), and platelets. In this section (adapted from a published review paper: Xiong et al. 2021), I will discuss evidence related to how PCSK9 modulates cellular responses and the pro-inflammatory microenvironment in the artery wall, and how those processes may affect atherothrombosis progression locally (Figure
6). I will also discuss the potential direct role of PCSK9 on the myocardium, which is critical for heart function after ischemia and post-myocardial infarction remodeling (Figure 6). These pathways may be critical for understanding the mechanisms of PCSK9's cardioprotective effects beyond LDL cholesterol lowering.



Figure 6: Potential mechanisms by which PCSK9 inhibition protects against CVD independently of plasma LDL cholesterol lowering. Inhibition of PCSK9 affects

cellular responses in bone marrow derived cells (monocytes/macrophages, DCs, T cells and platelets), ECs and VSMCs in the artery wall, and cardiomyocytes, which might all contribute to cardioprotective effects mediated by inhibition of PCSK9. Figure is previously published in Xiong, T. et al. The local effects of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) on the inflammatory atheroma: beyond LDL cholesterol lowering. Vessel Plus 5, (2021) and reproduced with permission.

1.8.3.1 VSMCs and ECs in the vascular wall

Although circulating PCSK9 is mainly derived from hepatocytes, PCSK9 is also found to be expressed in a variety of tissues (Zaid et al., 2008b). Interestingly, it was reported to be expressed in VSMCs, and, to a lesser extent, in ECs and macrophages, and PCSK9 protein has been detected in human atherosclerotic plaques (Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Sun, et al., 2015; Ferri et al., 2012b). This raises the possibility that PCSK9 derived locally from the artery wall might have an involvement in plaque development. In vitro studies have shown that PCSK9 secreted by cultured VSMCs can decrease LDLR protein levels in macrophages (Ferri et al., 2012b; Grune et al., 2017) (Figure 7). Several studies suggested that different factors regulate PCSK9 expression levels in VSMCs and ECs, including shear stress, ROS, and pro-inflammatory stimuli, such as Ox-LDL, TLR4 ligands such as LPS, and pro-inflammatory cytokines (Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Shahanawaz, et al., 2015a; Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Sun, et al., 2015; Grune et al., 2017; S. Liu et al., 2020). Ding et al. found that in mouse aortas, at arterial branching points and at the bifurcation of the iliac arteries, expression levels of PCSK9 were elevated along with expression levels of VCAM-1, known to be elevated at sites of EC

activation (Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Sun, et al., 2015; Iiyama et al., 1999b) (Figure 6). Inhibition of PCSK9 by alirocumab treatment reduced levels of EC expression of ICAM-1, another marker of EC activation (Iiyama et al., 1999b; Kühnast, Van Der Hoorn, et al., 2014). The transcriptional regulator, NF-kB, is known to be a key mediator of EC activation in regions of the mouse aorta exposed to hemodynamic factors that predispose to atherosclerotic plaque development (Hajra et al., 2000). Hemodynamic forces appear to regulate PCSK9 expression along the mouse aorta partly through a TLR4-myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MyD88)-NF-kB pathway (S. Liu et al., 2020). Moreover, VSMCs and ECs exposed to low shear stress in culture exhibit increased PCSK9 expression compared to that in cells exposed to high shear stress (Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Sun, et al., 2015). This pattern of PCSK9 expression parallels patterns of oxidative stress and EC activation (Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Sun, et al., 2015) (Figure 6). There appears to be a positive feedback relationship between PCSK9 expression and ROS levels (Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Sun, et al., 2015). ROS at moderate levels generated by normal physiological processes appear to serve as signaling molecules (Mittler et al., 2011); however, excessive ROS generation in the vascular wall is pathological and promotes atherosclerosis, by contributing to lipoprotein oxidation, endothelial dysfunction, leukocyte migration and activation, VSMC proliferation, DNA damage, and MMPs-induced collagen degradation (Goncharov et al., 2015; H. Li et al., 2014). Ox-LDLs, generated by ROS mediated oxidation of LDLs, lead to further ROS production via a pathway mediated by the lectin-like Ox-LDL receptor-1 (LOX-1) (Cominacini et al., 2000; Xu et al., 2013). Ding et al. also found that there is a

bidirectional interplay between PCSK9 and LOX-1 expression in VSMCs and ECs (Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Shahanawaz, et al., 2015a; Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Sun, et al., 2015). Small interfering (si)RNA mediated LOX-1 knockdown reduced LPS-induced PCSK9 expression in VSMCs and ECs (Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Shahanawaz, et al., 2015a; Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Sun, et al., 2015). On the other hand, recombinant human PCSK9 (hPCSK9) was reported to increase LOX-1 protein levels, and siRNA mediated PCSK9 knockdown decreased LPS-induced LOX-1 levels in VSMCs and ECs (Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Shahanawaz, et al., 2015a; Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Sun, et al., 2015). Conversely, Sun et al. reported that PCSK9 associated with LDL particles, but not either PCSK9 or LDL alone, increased gene expression of LOX-1 and ICAM-1 along with CCL2, C-C motif chemokine ligand 6 (CCL6), IL-1β and IL-6 in cultured ECs, suggesting that PCSK9 affects EC gene expression by modulating the properties of LDL particles (Sun et al., 2018). The reciprocal regulation between PCSK9 and LOX-1 expression may be mediated through mitochondrial ROS (mtROS), as it affected both PCSK9 and LOX-1 expression levels (Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Shahanawaz, et al., 2015a). Excessive mtROS production leads to mtDNA damage, which can induce autophagy, inflammation, or apoptosis (Ding et al., 2013; Quan et al., 2020; Ricci et al., 2008). It is reported that induced mtROS production by antimycin A, rotenone and thenoyltrifluoroacetone, increased PCSK9 expression and mtDNA damage in VSMCs (Ding et al., 2016). It has also been shown that there is a positive feedback interaction between PCSK9 expression levels and mtDNA damage in VSMCs, partially mediated by mtROS (Ding et al., 2016). Enhancement of mtDNA damage induced by

autophagy inhibitors increased and inhibition of mtDNA damage via an autophagy inducer (rapamycin) decreased PCSK9 expression in VSMCs (Ding et al., 2016). The effect of antimycin induced mtDNA damage on PCSK9 protein levels was mediated by the activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) (Ding et al., 2016), which has been shown to respond to environmental stress, cytokines and DNA damage (Wood et al., 2009; Zarubin & Han, 2005). Conversely, recombinant hPCSK9 increased and siRNA mediated *PCSK9* knockdown decreased phosphorylation of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and LPS-induced mtDNA damage in VSMCs (Ding et al., 2016). This result suggests that PCSK9 might regulate mtDNA damage via mTOR activation, as mTOR inhibition by rapamycin decreased mtDNA damage (Ding et al., 2016). However, the importance of PCSK9, ROS, and LOX-1 interaction in VSMCs and ECs on atherosclerosis development in vivo has not been elucidated yet.

Apoptosis is a significant feature of atherosclerotic plaque development. EC apoptosis compromises the barrier function of the EC layer, contributing to increased lipid deposition and plaque vulnerability (Y. Zhang, Qin, et al., 2015). Apoptosis in SMCs may result in reduced collagen production and decreased plaque stability (Clarke et al., 2006). In vitro studies have shown that PCSK9 inhibition reduced apoptosis levels in both in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) and VSMCs (Ding et al., 2016; J. Li et al., 2017; C.-Y. Wu et al., 2012) (Figure 6). The Bcl2/ Bcl2 associated X (Bax)– caspase9–caspase3 pathway is involved in the protective effects of PCSK9 inhibition on EC and VSMC apoptosis (Ding et al., 2016; J. Li et al., 2017; C.-Y. Wu et al., 2012). However, the link between PCSK9 and the Bcl2/Bax pathway is unclear. Studies have shown that c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK) and p38 MAPK mediated the phosphorylation and mitochondrial translocation of Bax, led to apoptosis in human hepatoma HepG2 cells (B. J. Kim et al., 2006). It was also shown that JNK and p38 MAPK mediated the phosphorylation of Bcl-2, which can enhance Bcl-2 degradation (Breitschopf et al., 2000; De Chiara et al., 2006). Interestingly, knockdown of *PCSK9* by shRNA decreased phosphorylation of JNK and p38 MAPK in HUVECs (J. Li et al., 2017), suggesting PCSK9 might trigger apoptosis through the JNK/p38 MAPK – Bcl-2/Bax signaling pathway. Yet interventional studies should be conducted to test if PCSK9 mediated apoptosis is affected by inhibiting JNK/p38 MAPK activation. Whether PCSK9 induces apoptosis of ECs and VSMCs during atherosclerotic plaque development also needs to be investigated in vivo.

The dramatically increased proliferation capability of neo-intimal compared to medial VSMCs contributes to both neo-intimal hyperplasia and atherosclerosis progression. Importantly, Ferri *et al.* have shown that knocking out the *Pcsk9* gene mitigated neo-intimal formation and VSMC accumulation within the neo-intima in mice subjected to a non-occlusive collar placement around carotid arteries (Ferri et al., 2016). Furthermore, aortic VSMCs isolated from *Pcsk9* deficient mice have been shown to exhibit reduced proliferation rates and migration levels when compared to those from *Pcsk9* expressing mice (Ferri et al., 2016) (Figure 6). *Pcsk9* deficient VSMCs reportedly exhibited a more spindle and elongated shape and increased expression of smooth muscle (SM) α -actin and major histocompatibility complex class-II (MHC-II) compared to VSMCs from *Pcsk9* expressing mice, suggesting that inactivation of the *Pcsk9* gene might modulate VSMC phenotypes (Ferri et al., 2016) (Figure 6). Knock out of the *Pcsk9* gene in mice has been reported to increase CD36 protein levels in VSMC (Ferri et al., 2016) and CD36 is considered as an important Ox-LDL receptor involved in macrophage foam cell formation and activation in atherosclerotic plaques (Febbraio et al., 2000, 2004; Mäkinen et al., 2010; Podrez et al., 2000) (Figure 7). VSMCs in the neo-intima are thought to adopt a macrophage-like phenotype including the ability to take up Ox-LDL and accumulate lipid droplets and a foam cell-like morphology in atherosclerotic plaques (Allahverdian et al., 2014a). However, whether PCSK9 inhibition affects the ability of VSMC to adopt a macrophage-like phenotype has not yet been reported.

1.8.3.2 Monocytes/Macrophages

Monocytes are recruited to the vessel wall at sites of atherosclerotic lesion development and infiltrate through the EC layer into the tunica intima layer of the artery where they mature into macrophages that can take up modified lipoproteins (Moore et al., 2013). PCSK9 may promote monocyte recruitment into atherosclerotic plaques at multiple steps including, as indicated above, through activation of ECs (VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 expression) (Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Sun, et al., 2015; Kühnast, Van Der Hoorn, et al., 2014; Schuster et al., 2019). Once in the artery wall, macrophages become foam cells as they accumulate lipids through scavenger receptor-mediated uptake of Ox-LDL particles. Recent studies suggest that PCSK9 may play an important role in foam cell formation by increasing lipid accumulation and limiting lipid efflux in macrophages (Adorni et al., 2017; Ding, Liu, et al., 2018). Macrophage CD36 has been reported to play important roles in atherosclerosis development by virtue of its involvement in Ox-LDL uptake, pro-inflammatory responses, engulfment of apoptotic cells, and macrophage emigration (Silverstein & Febbraio, 2009). In culture, the exposure of TNF-α primed mouse peritoneal macrophages to exogenous PCSK9 resulted in increased Ox-LDL uptake and this correlated with an upregulation of gene expression and protein levels of scavenger receptors CD36, scavenger receptor class A (SR-A) and LOX-1 (Ding, Liu, et al., 2018) (Figure 7). Furthermore, Pcsk9 gene deletion or siRNA-mediated silencing in macrophages has been reported to reduce SR-A, LOX-1, and CD36 expression (Ding, Liu, et al., 2018). However, another study has shown that conditioned media containing PCSK9 did not change CD36 protein levels in phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA)induced THP-1 macrophages compared with control media which is deficient in PCSK9 (Demers, Samami, Lauzier, Des Rosiers, Sock, et al., 2015). On the other hand, PCSK9 plays a well-known role in receptor internalization and degradation. In addition to PCSK9 directed degradation of LDLR and its close family members VLDLR and ApoER2 (Poirier et al., 2008), PCSK9 has also been reported to mediate internalization and degradation of CD36 in cultured adipocytes and hepatocytes, limiting fatty acid uptake and triglyceride accumulation (Demers, Samami, Lauzier, Des Rosiers, Sock, et al., 2015). Therefore, the reports that *Pcsk9* inactivation in macrophages reduces CD36 expression is unexpected. However, the reported effects of PCSK9 on macrophage CD36 levels await confirmation from in vivo pre-clinical or clinical studies.

In human macrophages derived from monocytes isolated from healthy blood donors, PCSK9 and LDLR-related protein 5 (LRP5) have been reported to interact to control lipid uptake from aggregated LDL (Badimon et al., 2020) (Figure 7). LRP5 appears to mediate macrophage uptake of aggregated LDL and PCSK9 has been reported to form an intracellular complex with LRP5 and assist in its trafficking to the cell surface (Badimon et al., 2020). Silencing of either *LRP5* or *PCSK9* results in reduced uptake of aggregated LDL by macrophages (Badimon et al., 2020). On the other hand, the treatment of mouse peritoneal macrophages with purified hPCSK9 has been reported to result in reduced gene expression and protein levels of ABCA1 (Adorni et al., 2017). Consequently, PCSK9 treatment of macrophages reduced ABCA1 dependent cholesterol efflux to APOA-I (Adorni et al., 2017) (Figure 6). ABCA1 mediated cholesterol efflux from macrophages to APOA-I is believed to play a critical atheroprotective role in the removal of excess cholesterol from macrophages via a process called reverse cholesterol transport (Mireille et al., 2019). Taken together, it appears that PCSK9 derived from both macrophages themselves or extracellular PCSK9 encountered by macrophages influence macrophage cholesterol homeostasis to promote macrophage foam cell formation, a process generally considered to contribute to atherosclerotic plaque formation.

Studies have reported that LDL levels appear to regulate the level of CCR2 expression on monocytes (Bernelot Moens et al., 2017; Grune et al., 2017). CCR2 on monocytes appears to play a critical role in regulating circulating monocyte counts and monocyte migration across the intact EC barrier of arteries in response to its ligand CCL2, a key step in monocyte accumulation in the atherosclerotic artery wall (Maik et al., 2015). One study reported that monocyte CCR2 expression correlated with LDLcholesterol levels in patients with familial hypercholesterolemia, who display elevated LDL cholesterol due to impaired LDLR mediated LDL clearance (Bernelot Moens et al.,

2017). Administration of anti-PCSK9 mAb treatment to familial hypercholesterolemia patients, which reduced LDL cholesterol, coordinately reduced lipid accumulation and CCR2 expression in circulating monocytes, as well as the capacity of those monocytes to migrate through cultured EC monolayers in response to added CCL2 (Bernelot Moens et al., 2017). In contrast, another study reported that LDL dependent upregulation of monocyte CCR2 expression was dependent on LDLR expression in monocytes (Grune et al., 2017). In that study, PCSK9 secreted from VSMCs reduced CCR2 expression on monocytes by virtue of reducing monocyte LDLR levels and LDLR mediated LDL uptake by monocytes (Grune et al., 2017). This study suggests that PCSK9, secreted locally in the environment of the atherosclerotic plaque, may actually limit monocyte or macrophage chemotaxis within the plaque itself. Whether this also impacts monocyte recruitment to the plaque has not been tested. It is also unclear whether the effects of PCSK9 on LDL-cholesterol levels or on monocyte LDL- cholesterol uptake predominates in regulating monocyte CCR2 levels.

Emerging research reveals the potential role of PCSK9 in modulating monocyte and macrophage inflammation in the progression of atherosclerosis. The global overexpression of mouse or human PCSK9 in *ApoE KO* or *Ldlr KO* mice did not alter plasma cholesterol levels due to the absence of the key components of the APOE-LDLR axis for LDL clearance targeted by PCSK9 (Denis et al., 2012; Tavori et al., 2016). However, despite the lack of changes in plasma lipids, *PCSK9* overexpression increased aortic lesion size and the abundance of pro-inflammatory Ly6C^{high} monocytes in atherosclerotic plaques (Denis et al., 2012; Tavori et al., 2016). (Figure 6). Human *PCSK9*

overexpression in *ApoE KO* mice was also accompanied by increased levels of PCSK9 protein in atherosclerotic plaques (Tavori et al., 2016). Interestingly, the increase in Ly6C^{high} monocytes and PCSK9 expression in plaque were not evident in *Ldlr KO* mice, suggesting that PCSK9 exerts pro-inflammatory effects in an LDLR dependent manner. The silencing of *Pcsk9* in *ApoE KO* mice by lentivirus-mediated shRNA reduced atherosclerosis development and reduced the abundance of macrophages and expression of inflammatory markers within atherosclerotic plaques (Z.-H. Tang et al., 2017). Exogenous PCSK9 can induce a pro-inflammatory response in human macrophages by upregulating the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF-α, IL-1β, and IL-6) and chemokines (CCL2, C-X-C motif ligand 2 (CXCL2)) (Ricci et al., 2018a) (Figure 6). The release of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF-α and IL-1β by PCSK9 seems to involve TLR4-NF-κB signaling in a manner similar to that described for EC activation (Badimon et al., 2020; Ding et al., 2020; Giunzioni et al., 2016a; S. Liu et al., 2020; Schuster et al., 2019; Z. Tang et al., 2012; Z.-H. Tang et al., 2017).

Human and murine primary monocytes and macrophages express intracellular and secreted PCSK9 in culture (Badimon et al., 2020; Z. Tang et al., 2012). Although a majority of circulating PCSK9 is derived from the liver, endogenous expression of PCSK9 in monocytes and macrophages may affect local environments such as within the atherosclerotic lesion. When human *PCSK9* was overexpressed selectively in bone marrow-derived cells transplanted into *ApoE KO* mice, atherosclerotic lesion sizes were not increased compared to *ApoE KO* mice transplanted with bone marrow from non-transgenic controls (Giunzioni et al., 2016b). However, selective *PCSK9* overexpression

in bone marrow-derived cells was sufficient to result in increased levels of Ly6Chigh monocytes in atherosclerotic plaques of ApoE KO mice but not in those of Ldlr KO mice (Giunzioni et al., 2016b). This suggests that PCSK9 expression in bone marrow-derived cells, such as monocytes, may play a role in altering monocyte inflammatory profiles and circulating monocyte counts independently of PCSK9 expression from other sources, such as the liver. In support of this, Giunzioni et al reported that overexpression of human PCSK9 in macrophages increased LPS stimulated induction of mRNA levels of the proinflammatory markers TNF- α and IL-1 β and suppression of the anti-inflammatory markers IL-10 and arginase (Arg1) (Giunzioni et al., 2016b) (Figure 6). Conversely, others have reported that PCSK9 expression is upregulated in cultured mouse peritoneal macrophages exposed to LPS, TNF-α, or Ox-LDL (Ding, Liu, et al., 2018). Similar findings have been reported in the liver in vivo and in cultured VSMCs (Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Shahanawaz, et al., 2015a; Feingold et al., 2008). It has also been recently demonstrated that activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome upregulated intracellular PCSK9 expression and PCSK9 secretion from murine peritoneal macrophages, suggesting the possibility of a positive feedback loop of PCSK9 expression and macrophage activation (Ding et al., 2020). The secretion of PCSK9 was dependent on IL-1ß and MAPK pathway signalling and IL-1ß deficient mice fed a high-fat diet had reduced serum PCSK9 levels (Ding et al., 2020). Determining the mechanistic link between PCSK9, TLR4/NF-KB signalling, and NLRP3 inflammasome activation represents an interesting area of future research.

Macrophage cell death is a key driver in atherosclerosis progression and the formation of necrotic cores within lesions. As described earlier, PCSK9 seems to influence apoptosis of ECs and VSMCs (Ding et al., 2016; J. Li et al., 2017; C.-Y. Wu et al., 2012). Similarly, several lines of evidence suggest it may also influence apoptosis of macrophages. Partial knockdown of PCSK9 by siRNA in THP-1 macrophages seems to reduce cell death induced by Ox-LDL (L.-S. Liu et al., 2009b) (Figure 6). The mechanism of this effect will need to be explored further, however some studies suggest PCSK9 may influence cell death by mediating the degradation of ApoER2, a LDLR family member which binds to APOE and exerts anti-inflammatory and anti-apoptotic effects (Bai et al., 2018). In neurons, PCSK9 was shown to increase apoptosis by the degradation of ApoER2 (Kysenius et al., 2012). ApoER2 is also expressed in macrophages(Waltmann et al., 2014a). The knockdown of ApoER2 in RAW 264.7 macrophages increased Ox-LDL induced cell death, inhibited pro-survival Akt signalling, and increased peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ) expression (Waltmann et al., 2014a). This deficiency of ApoER2 in Ldlr KO mice translated to larger and more advanced atherosclerotic lesions with large necrotic cores and plaque apoptosis (Waltmann et al., 2014b). Of course, whether PCSK9 controls macrophage apoptosis in a manner similar to neurons, ECs, or VSMCs remains to be determined.

1.8.3.3 Dendritic Cells and T Cells

Along with monocytes and macrophages, activated T cells (Saigusa et al., 2020a) and antigen-presenting DCs (Gil-Pulido & Zernecke, 2017) are commonly found in atherosclerotic lesions. Kuhnast *et al.* observed that inhibition of PCSK9 with alirocumab reduced T cell abundance within aortic lesions (Kühnast, Van Der Hoorn, et al., 2014). However, it is not clear if this was a consequence of the inactivation of circulating PCSK9, derived largely from the liver, or of PCSK9 locally in the atherosclerotic plaque. More recently, it has been discovered that PCSK9 is involved in DC maturation and T cell activation and polarization to T helper-1 (Th1) and T helper-17 (Th17) subsets (A. Liu & Frostegård, 2018) (Figure 6). PCSK9 inhibition in DCs prevented T-cell activation induced by Ox-LDL and promoted T regulatory cell populations through increased DC secretion of TGF-β and IL-10 (A. Liu & Frostegård, 2018) (Figure 6). Furthermore, *Pcsk9* gene inactivation in mice deficient in both *Ldlr* and *Apobec1* resulted in a reduction of levels of IL-17 in the plasma and Th17 cells in atherosclerotic plaques (Y. U. Kim et al., 2019) (Figure 6). These results may suggest that PCSK9 is associated with T cell programming within atherosclerotic lesions. However, there remains debate over whether IL-17 and Th17 cells protect against or promote atherosclerosis development (Soraya et al., 2015).

1.8.3.4 Platelets

Platelets contribute to atherothrombosis by accelerating both atherosclerosis progression (Huo et al., 2003) and thrombus generation. Activated platelets facilitate the binding of leukocytes to ECs on the atherosclerotic lesion sites and release proinflammatory cytokines, therefore promoting atherosclerosis (Huo et al., 2003; Lievens & von Hundelshausen, 2011). Exposure of subendothelial collagen to circulating platelets when the plaque ruptures initiates primary hemostasis, which leads to thrombus generation. Platelet adhesion, activation and aggregation are important steps during the

primary hemostasis. Multiple factors can activate platelets, including collagen, adenosine diphosphate (ADP), thrombin and thromboxane A2 (T_X A₂). T_X A₂, generated from arachidonic acid through cyclo-oxygenase -1 (COX-1)/thromboxane synthase pathway in activated platelets, is unstable and rapidly hydrolyzed into thromboxane B2 ($T_X B_2$) (Gurbel et al., 2017). T_X B₂ is further converted in the liver into 11-dehydro-thromboxane B2 (11-dh-TxB2), which is excreted in the urine (Gurbel et al., 2017). An observational study has shown plasma PCSK9 levels are correlated with urinary levels of 11-dh-TxB2 in patients with atrial fibrillation (Pastori et al., 2017). However, T_X A₂ derives not only from the COX-1/thromboxane synthase pathway in activated platelets but also from the COX-2/thromboxane synthase pathway in leukocytes and endothelial cells exposed to inflammatory stimuli (Gurbel et al., 2017; Tantry et al., 2009). Therefore, the association between plasma PCSK9 levels and urinary 11-dh-TxB2 levels may alternatively reflect effects on inflammatory pathways. Plasma PCSK9 levels have also been observed to be correlated with levels of ADP-induced ex vivo platelet aggregation in patients with acute coronary syndrome (Navarese et al., 2017), directly suggesting an association between plasma PCSK9 levels and platelet activation. Interestingly, anti-PCSK9 mAb treatment in patients with hypercholesterolemia was associated with reduced levels of ex vivo ADPinduced platelet aggregation and reduced plasma markers of platelet activation, including soluble CD40 ligand, platelet factor-4, and soluble P-selectin (Barale et al., 2020). In mice subjected to FeCl₃-induced carotid artery injury, Pcsk9 deficiency was associated with reduced levels of activated glycoprotein IIb/IIIa (GP IIb/IIIa), P-selectin and platelet–leukocyte aggregates, and thrombus formation at the injury site (Camera et al.,

2018). A factor which complicates the interpretation of the effects of PCSK9 inhibition on platelet activation and thrombus formation is the reduced LDL cholesterol levels resulting from anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment or *Pcsk9* gene inactivation, since LDL cholesterol levels have been reported to affect platelet activation (N. Wang & Tall, 2016). Therefore, direct measurements of the effect of PCSK9 on platelet activation including studies in model organisms should be conducted. LDL cholesterol levels are not altered by plasma PCSK9 inhibition or overexpression in *Ldlr KO* mice (Ason, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014; Denis et al., 2012; Tavori et al., 2016), which becomes an advantage for investigating the direct role of PCSK9 on platelets in vivo. In one such study in *Ldlr KO* mice, evolocumab treatment reduced FeCl₃-induced thrombus formation in mesenteric arterioles (Qi et al., 2021a) (Figure 6). Moreover, evolocumab treatment also reduced ex vivo ADP-induced aggregation of platelets from LDLR KO mice (Qi et al., 2021a) (Figure 6). These results suggest that PCSK9 plays a direct role in platelet activation and thrombus generation.

CD36 on platelets can bind to Ox-LDL, which has been shown to promote platelet activation (Magwenzi et al., 2015; Podrez et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2017). CD36 is also a major platelet receptor for thrombospondin-1, a platelet α-granule protein that is released upon platelet activation and promotes platelet mediated thrombus formation via interactions with CD36 (Kuijpers et al., 2014). Multiple downstream signaling pathways initiated by CD36, including Src kinase, extracellular signal-regulated kinase 5 (ERK5), JNK, and p38MAPK pathways have been shown to be involved in platelet activation (K. Chen et al., 2008; Hackeng et al., 1999; Magwenzi et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2017). In vitro studies have shown that co-incubating platelets with PCSK9 increased collagen, thrombin

and ADP stimulated platelet aggregation and oxidative stress (Cammisotto et al., 2020; Qi et al., 2021a). Such an effect on collagen-induced platelet aggregation was further amplified by the presence of LDL, which could be oxidized by PCSK9-induced oxidative stress (Cammisotto et al., 2020). Interestingly, inhibition of CD36 significantly decreased PCSK9 induced platelet aggregation with or without the presence of LDL (Cammisotto et al., 2020; Qi et al., 2021a), suggesting PCSK9 induced platelet aggregation was dependent on CD36 signaling. PCSK9 appeared able to activate several signaling pathways via CD36, including Src kinase, ERK5, JNK, and p38MAPK pathways (Qi et al., 2021a). As indicated earlier, in some cell types (e.g. hepatocytes and adipocytes) but not others (such as macrophages), PCSK9 has been shown to target CD36 for degradation (Demers, Samami, Lauzier, Des Rosiers, Sock, et al., 2015; Ding, Liu, et al., 2018). It was reported that PCSK9 did not affect CD36 protein levels in human megakaryocytic cells (Oi et al., 2021a), suggesting that PCSK9 affects platelet activation via CD36 signaling, rather than by affecting CD36 protein levels. To examine the in vivo consequences of PCSK9 mediated platelet activation via CD36, Qi et al. carried out studies in which mice were depleted of endogenous platelets and then reconstituted with platelets pretreated with PCSK9 before left coronary artery ligation (LCAL) surgery to induce experimental MI (Oi et al., 2021a). They reported that reconstituting mice with PCSK9-pretreated platelets significantly increased levels of microthrombi and development of MI compared with platelets that were not pretreated. They also demonstrated that this effect was reduced when platelets were from CD36 deficient donor mice (Qi et al., 2021a). These

results suggest that PCSK9 mediated platelet activation via CD36 has an influence on the expansion of MI.

1.8.3.5 Cardiomyocytes

Acute cardiac ischemia resulting from occlusive coronary artery atherothrombosis triggers MI. Early responses in the myocardium after MI include cardiomyocyte death and inflammation in the infarct border zone (Van Der Laan et al., 2014). Macrophages and neutrophils are recruited to and accumulate in the infarct zone where they play major roles in the clearance of apoptotic cells (Prabhu & Frangogiannis, 2016). However, the resolution of the inflammatory response is a prerequisite for the transition from the inflammatory to the reparative phase (Prabhu & Frangogiannis, 2016). Persistent accumulation of macrophages and pro-inflammatory cytokines, however, ultimately acts to impair cardiac remodelling and left ventricle (LV) function (Prabhu & Frangogiannis, 2016). An observational study has reported that circulating PCSK9 levels were associated with reduced LV ejection fraction 6 months after a first ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) (Miñana et al., 2020), and that this association was independent of serum LDL cholesterol levels and statin use. This study suggested that PCSK9 might contribute to adverse outcomes of cardiac remodelling post-MI.

Schulz *et al.* first reported that PCSK9 is expressed by terminally differentiated cardiomyocytes (Schlüter et al., 2017). Ox-LDL not only impaired the load-free cell shortening (an indicator of cardiomyocyte contractile function) but also increased PCSK9 expression in cardiomyocytes (Schlüter et al., 2017). Inhibiting *PCSK9* by siRNA

reversed the effects of Ox-LDL on cell shortening of cardiomyocytes (Schlüter et al., 2017) (Figure 6). Exposure of cultured cardiomyocytes to hypoxia, followed by reoxygenation (H/R), culture conditions that are meant to mimic ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) in vivo, also induced PCSK9 expression in murine primary cardiomyocytes (CL et al., 2020). Inhibiting hypoxia inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α) attenuated hypoxia induced PCSK9 expression and autophagy in primary cardiomyocytes (Ding, Wang, et al., 2018). AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is an energy sensor and maintains energy homeostasis. It promotes autophagy when phosphorylated/activated under many conditions, including ischemia, hypoxia, and glucose starvation (Gui et al., 2017; J. Kim et al., 2011; Matsui et al., 2007b). Ding et al. have reported that PCSK9 is involved in hypoxia induced autophagy in cardiomyocytes by bridging ROS generation and activating AMPK signalling (Ding, Wang, et al., 2018) (Figure 6). Whether PCSK9 induced autophagy of cardiomyocytes is cardio-protective or deleterious during I/R remains unclear. Nevertheless, PCSK9 expression enhanced inflammatory cytokine release in a co-culture system of cardiomyocytes and macrophages under H/R conditions (CL et al., 2020). Furthermore, the media from the co-culture system reduced the viability and increased the apoptosis of cardiomyocytes in a manner that was reversed by siRNA mediated knockdown of PCSK9 (Figure 6) or chemical inhibition of NF-κB (CL et al., 2020). These in vitro studies suggest a direct role for PCSK9 in the viability and function of cardiomyocytes. However, the effects of PCSK9 mediated inflammatory cytokine release on cardiac remodelling still needs to be elucidated in vivo.

Ding et al. extended their findings in the in vivo preclinical mouse LCAL surgical model of MI (Ding, Wang, et al., 2018). They reported a dramatic increase in PCSK9 protein levels and autophagy makers in the infarct border zone (Ding, Wang, et al., 2018). Importantly, they reported that inhibiting *Pcsk9* gene expression (*Pcsk9 knockout*) or function, using peptide based inhibitors, reduced cardiomyocyte autophagy and infarct sizes, and improved LV fractional shortening in mice that had undergone LCAL, without altering plasma LDL cholesterol levels (Ding, Wang, et al., 2018). These results suggest that PCSK9 may exert direct effects on cardiomyocyte survival and cardiac function, although the contribution of altered PCSK9 mediated platelet activation described above, cannot be ruled out. One potential mechanism of the PCSK9 inhibition mediated protection on cardiac dysfunction is via modulating CD36 levels. CD36 mediates fatty acid uptake in cardiomyocytes (Silverstein & Febbraio, 2009). It has been suggested that inhibition of CD36 in cardiomyocytes reduced lipid accumulation and contractile dysfunction (Angin et al., 2012). However, in vivo studies have reported controversial results regarding the role of cardiomyocyte CD36 in cardiac function. On the one hand, cardiomyocyte-specific inhibition of CD36 improved functional recovery after I/R (Nagendran et al., 2013) and high fat diet induced cardiac hypertrophy and dysfunction (Y. Zhang, Bao, et al., 2015). On the other hand, inactivation of CD36 selectively in cardiomyocytes accelerated the progression from cardiac hypertrophy to heart failure, which was associated with energetic stress, as indicated by AMPK activation (Y. Zhang, Bao, et al., 2015). As described earlier, PCSK9 has been shown to exert different effects on CD36 levels in different cell types (Demers, Samami, Lauzier, Des Rosiers, Sock, et

al., 2015; Ding, Liu, et al., 2018). It would be interesting to investigate if PCSK9 mediates CD36 degradation or alters CD36 gene expression in cardiomyocytes. One study, however, has actually found that PCSK9 did not change CD36 protein levels in both HL-1 cardiomyocytes and heart tissues (Demers, Samami, Lauzier, Des Rosiers, Sock, et al., 2015), suggesting the protection against cardiac dysfunction in LCAL mouse model by inhibition of PCSK9 may occur independently of alterations in CD36 levels in cardiomyocytes.

1.8.3.6 Conclusions

The PCSK9 era started in 2003 when Seidah and Boileau *et al.* discovered that mutations in the *PCSK9* gene are associated with autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia (Abifadel et al., 2003b). Since then, this field has moved forward rapidly. Two FDA approved mAbs against PCSK9 are available for clinical use (Robinson et al., 2015; Sabatine et al., 2015, 2017; Schwartz et al., 2018). While most of the focus on the role of PCSK9 inhibition in CVD has been on LDL cholesterol lowering, emerging basic studies utilizing either mouse models or cell lines have increasingly suggested that PCSK9 may also act via mechanisms that are independent of LDL cholesterol lowering. These mechanisms include influences on a variety of cell types and cellular pathways relevant to CVD. Whether these effects are the result of actions of PCSK9 derived locally in the cell types/tissues affected or due to circulating PCSK9 derived from the liver are not entirely clear, and further research will be needed to clarify this. Nevertheless, they raise the possibility that targeting PCSK9 may be beneficial even in individuals with low Ph.D. Thesis – T. Xiong; McMaster University – Medical Sciences.

LDL cholesterol or who have already achieved LDL cholesterol lowering targets by other means.

LDLR	 Hepatocytes PCSK9 mediates cell surface LDLR degradation (<i>zhang et al., 2007; Lagace et al., 2006; Qian et al., 2007</i>). Monocyte/Macrophages PCSK9 reduces LDLR protein levels and LDLR mediated LDL uptake, affecting expression of CCR2 (Grune <i>et al., 2017</i>).
LRP-1	B16F1 melanoma cells • PCSK9 mediates LRP-1 degradation (Canuel <i>et al.</i> , 2013).
VLDLR	Adipose tissue • PCSK9 mediates VLDLR degradation (Roubtsova <i>et al.</i> , 2011). Multiple cell lines • PCSK9 mediates VLDLR degradation in HEK293, NIH 3T3, CHO-A7, CHO-K1, Neuro2A, and HuH7 cells (Poirier <i>et al.</i> , 2008).
ApoER2	Neurons • PCSK9 mediates ApoER2 degradation (Kysenius <i>et al.</i> , 2012). Multiple cell lines • PCSK9 mediates ApoER2 degradation in HEK293, NIH 3T3, CHO-A7, CHO-K1, Neuro2A, and HuH7 cells (Poirier <i>et al.</i> , 2008).
MHC-I	Tumor cells • PCSK9 mediates MHC-I degradation and enhances intratumoral CD8 ⁺ T cells infiltration (Liu <i>et al.</i> , 2020).
LOX-1	 VSMCs, ECs, and Activated Macrophages PCSK9 promotes LOX-1 expression (Ding et al., 2015; Ding et al., 2018).
LRP-5	Monocyte/Macrophages PCSK9 and LRP-5 interact to facilitate lipid uptake (Badimon <i>et al.</i>, 2020).
CD36	VSMCs •PCSK9 reduces CD36 protein levels (Ferri <i>et al.</i> , 2016). Monocytes/Macrophages •PCSK9 promotes CD36 mRNA and protein levels (Ding <i>et al.</i> , 2018). Platelets •PCSK9 binds CD36 triggering platelet activation (Qi <i>et al.</i> , 2021). Cardiomyocytes •PCSK9 either does not affect (Demers <i>et al.</i> , 2015) or reduce (Da Dalt <i>et al.</i> , 2021) CD36 protein levels in the heart. Hepatocytes and Adipocytes •PCSK9 mediates cell surface CD36 degradation (Demers <i>et al.</i> , 2015). Renal cells •PCSK9 reduces cell surface CD36 levels (Byun <i>et al.</i> , 2022).

Figure 7: PCSK9-dependent effects on receptors. PCSK9's interactions with or effects on the LDLR, LRP-1, VLDLR, ApoER2, MHC-I, LOX-1, LRP-5 and CD36 in a variety of tissues, cells and cultured cell lines are summarized.

1.9 Overall Context and Objective

PCSK9 inhibition has been extensively studied for its role in lowering plasma LDL cholesterol levels and therefore protecting against atherosclerosis and CVD. However, the effects of PCSK9 inhibition have not been examined in a mouse model of pre-existing coronary artery atherosclerosis leading to myocardial infarction. Furthermore, the effects of PCSK9 that are independent of plasma cholesterol lowering, on coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial infarction have not been examined.

One year old *Sr-b1 KO* mice develop substantial coronary artery atherosclerosis induced by an HFCC diet. They also develop myocardial fibrosis and cardiac damage. Since *Sr-b1 KO* mice have an intact LDLR-APOE axis, they may be useful models to study the cholesterol lowering effects of therapeutic interventions on pre-existing CAD, such as PCSK9 inhibitors.

Sr-b1/ApoE dKO mice develop multiple characteristics of human CAD, including extensive coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis, cardiac enlargement and dysfunction, cardiac conduction abnormalities, myocardial lipid and macrophage accumulation and early death (Braun et al., 2002). Since *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice lack APOE, a ligand of LDLR, we hypothesize that PCSK9 inhibition does not change plasma

cholesterol levels in *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice, making it an ideal mouse model to study the role of PCSK9 inhibition on CAD in a cholesterol independent manner.

Overall, the objective of this thesis is to study the effects of PCSK9 inhibition mediated cholesterol lowering on pre-existing CAD as well as the role of PCSK9 inhibition on CAD in a plasma cholesterol independent manner in different mouse models.

1.10 Hypothesis

We hypothesize that anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment will lower plasma cholesterol levels and reduce the continued growth of pre-existing coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis induced by an HFCC diet in *Sr-b1 KO* mice and that genetic *Pcsk9 knockout* will protect against CAD in *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice in a plasma cholesterol lowering independent manner.

1.11 Specific Aims

Aim of Chapter 2

To evaluate the effects of anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment on plasma cholesterol levels, the newly developing aortic sinus and coronary artery atherosclerosis and preexisting atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries and myocardial fibrosis in *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed an HFCC diet, a model of age induced coronary atherosclerosis.

Aim of Chapter 3

To evaluate whether genetic Pcsk9 KO protects against CAD in Sr-b1/ApoE dKO

mice in a plasma cholesterol independent manner and whether the plasma cholesterol

independent protective effects of Pcsk9 KO on CAD (if there are) are coming from the

absence of liver-derived, circulating PCSK9 and dependent on the LDLR-PCSK9

interaction.

1.12 References:

- Abifadel, M., Varret, M., Rabès, J. P., Allard, D., Ouguerram, K., Devillers, M., Cruaud, C., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Erlich, D., Derré, A., Villéger, L., Farnier, M., Beucler, I., Bruckert, E., Chambaz, J., Chanu, B., Lecerf, J. M., Luc, G., ... Boileau, C. (2003a). Mutations in PCSK9 cause autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. *Nature Genetics*, *34*(2), 154–156. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1161
- Abifadel, M., Varret, M., Rabès, J.-P., Allard, D., Ouguerram, K., Devillers, M., Cruaud, C., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Erlich, D., Derré, A., Villéger, L., Farnier, M., Beucler, I., Bruckert, E., Chambaz, J., Chanu, B., Lecerf, J.-M., Luc, G., ... Boileau, C. (2003b). Mutations in PCSK9 cause autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. *Nature Genetics*, *34*(2), 154–156. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1161
- Acton, S., Rigotti, A., Landschulz, K. T., Xu, S., Hobbs, H. H., & Krieger, M. (1996). Identification of scavenger receptor SR-BI as a high density lipoprotein receptor. *Science*, 271(5248), 518–521. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.271.5248.518
- Adam, R. C., Mintah, I. J., Alexa-Braun, C. A., Shihanian, L. M., Lee, J. S., Banerjee, P., Hamon, S. C., Kim, H. I., Cohen, J. C., Hobbs, H. H., Van Hout, C., Gromada, J., Murphy, A. J., Yancopoulos, G. D., Sleeman, M. W., & Gusarova, V. (2020).
 Angiopoietin-like protein 3 governs LDL-cholesterol levels through endothelial lipase-dependent VLDL clearance. *Journal of Lipid Research*, *61*(9), 1271. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.RA120000888
- Adorni, M. P., Cipollari, E., Favari, E., Zanotti, I., Zimetti, F., Corsini, A., Ricci, C., Bernini, F., & Ferri, N. (2017). Inhibitory effect of PCSK9 on Abca1 protein expression and cholesterol efflux in macrophages. *Atherosclerosis*, 256, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.11.019

- Alexander, M. R., & Owens, G. K. (2012). Epigenetic Control of Smooth Muscle Cell Differentiation and Phenotypic Switching in Vascular Development and Disease. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.*, 74, 13–40. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-PHYSIOL-012110-142315
- Al-Jarallah, A., Chen, X., González, L., & Trigatti, B. L. (2014a). High Density Lipoprotein Stimulated Migration of Macrophages Depends on the Scavenger Receptor Class B, Type I, PDZK1 and Akt1 and Is Blocked by Sphingosine 1 Phosphate Receptor Antagonists. *PLOS ONE*, 9(9), e106487. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0106487
- Al-Jarallah, A., Chen, X., González, L., & Trigatti, B. L. (2014b). High Density Lipoprotein Stimulated Migration of Macrophages Depends on the Scavenger Receptor Class B, Type I, PDZK1 and Akt1 and Is Blocked by Sphingosine 1 Phosphate Receptor Antagonists. *PLOS ONE*, 9(9), e106487. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0106487
- Al-Jarallah, A., Igdoura, F., Zhang, Y., Tenedero, C. B., White, E. J., MacDonald, M. E., Igdoura, S. A., & Trigatti, B. L. (2013a). The effect of pomegranate extract on coronary artery atherosclerosis in SR-BI/APOE double knockout mice. *Atherosclerosis*, 228(1), 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2013.02.025
- Al-Jarallah, A., Igdoura, F., Zhang, Y., Tenedero, C. B., White, E. J., MacDonald, M. E., Igdoura, S. A., & Trigatti, B. L. (2013b). The effect of pomegranate extract on coronary artery atherosclerosis in SR-BI/APOE double knockout mice. *Atherosclerosis*, 228(1), 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2013.02.025
- Allahverdian, S., Chehroudi, A. C., McManus, B. M., Abraham, T., & Francis, G. A. (2014a). Contribution of intimal smooth muscle cells to cholesterol accumulation and macrophage-like cells in human atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, 129(15), 1551– 1559. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.005015
- Allahverdian, S., Chehroudi, A. C., McManus, B. M., Abraham, T., & Francis, G. A. (2014b). Contribution of intimal smooth muscle cells to cholesterol accumulation and macrophage-like cells in human atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, 129(15), 1551– 1559. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.005015/FORMAT/EPUB
- Angin, Y., Steinbusch, L. K. M., Simons, P. J., Greulich, S., Hoebers, N. T. H., Douma, K., Van Zandvoort, M. A. M. J., Coumans, W. A., Wijnen, W., Diamant, M., Ouwens, D. M., Glatz, J. F. C., & Luiken, J. J. F. P. (2012). CD36 inhibition prevents lipid accumulation and contractile dysfunction in rat cardiomyocytes. *Biochemical Journal*, 448(1), 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20120060
- Arbab-Zadeh, A., Nakano, M., Virmani, R., & Fuster, V. (2012). Acute Coronary Events. *Circulation*, 125(9), 1147. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.047431
- Armstrong, S. M., Sugiyama, M. G., Fung, K. Y. Y., Gao, Y., Wang, C., Levy, A. S., Azizi, P., Roufaiel, M., Zhu, S. N., Neculai, D., Yin, C., Bolz, S. S., Seidah, N. G.,

Cybulsky, M. I., Heit, B., & Lee, W. L. (2015). A novel assay uncovers an unexpected role for SR-BI in LDL transcytosis. *Cardiovascular Research*, *108*(2), 268–277. https://doi.org/10.1093/CVR/CVV218

- Ason, B., Van Der Hoorn, J. W. A., Chan, J., Lee, E., Pieterman, E. J., Nguyen, K. K., Di, M., Shetterly, S., Tang, J., Yeh, W. C., Schwarz, M., Jukema, J. W., Scott, R., Wasserman, S. M., Princen, H. M. G., & Jackson, S. (2014). PCSK9 inhibition fails to alter hepatic LDLR, circulating cholesterol, and atherosclerosis in the absence of ApoE. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 55(11), 2370–2379. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.M053207
- Ason, B., van der Hoorn, J. W. A., Chan, J., Lee, E., Pieterman, E. J., Nguyen, K. K., Di, M., Shetterly, S., Tang, J., Yeh, W.-C., Schwarz, M., Jukema, J. W., Scott, R., Wasserman, S. M., Princen, H. M. G., & Jackson, S. (2014). PCSK9 inhibition fails to alter hepatic LDLR, circulating cholesterol, and atherosclerosis in the absence of ApoE. *Journal of Lipid Research*, *55*(11), 2370–2379. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M053207
- Babitt, J., Trigatti, B., Rigotti, A., Smart, E. J., Anderson, R. G. W., Xu, S., & Krieger, M. (1997). Murine SR-BI, a High Density Lipoprotein Receptor That Mediates
 Selective Lipid Uptake, Is N-Glycosylated and Fatty Acylated and Colocalizes with Plasma Membrane Caveolae. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(20), 13242–13249. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.272.20.13242
- Badimon, L., Luquero, A., Crespo, J., Peña, E., & Borrell-Pages, M. (2020). PCSK9 and LRP5 in macrophage lipid internalization and inflammation. *Cardiovascular Research*, 117(19), 2054–2068.
- Bai, X. qin, Peng, J., Wang, M. mei, Xiao, J., Xiang, Q., Ren, Z., Wen, H. yan, Jiang, Z. sheng, Tang, Z. han, & Liu, L. shan. (2018). PCSK9: A potential regulator of apoE/apoER2 against inflammation in atherosclerosis? *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 483(April), 192–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2018.04.040
- Barale, C., Bonomo, K., Frascaroli, C., Morotti, A., Guerrasio, A., Cavalot, F., & Russo, I. (2020). Platelet function and activation markers in primary hypercholesterolemia treated with anti-PCSK9 monoclonal antibody: A 12-month follow-up. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 30(2), 282–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2019.09.012
- Barrett, T. J. (2020a). Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology ATVB IN FOCUS: The Science of ATVB Early Career Committee Macrophages in Atherosclerosis Regression. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 40, 20–33. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.312802
- Barrett, T. J. (2020b). Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology ATVB IN FOCUS: The Science of ATVB Early Career Committee Macrophages in

Atherosclerosis Regression. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 40, 20–33. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.312802

- Barter, P. J., Brewer, H. B., Chapman, M. J., Hennekens, C. H., Rader, D. J., & Tall, A. R. (2003). Cholesteryl ester transfer protein: A novel target for raising HDL and inhibiting atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 23(2), 160–167. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000054658.91146.64
- Barter, P. J., Caulfield, M., Eriksson, M., Grundy, S. M., Kastelein, J. J. P., Komajda, M., Lopez-Sendon, J., Mosca, L., Tardif, J.-C., Waters, D. D., Shear, C. L., Revkin, J. H., Buhr, K. A., Fisher, M. R., Tall, A. R., & Brewer, B. (2007). Effects of Torcetrapib in Patients at High Risk for Coronary Events. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 357(21), 2109–2122. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa0706628
- Basatemur, G. L., Jørgensen, H. F., Clarke, M. C. H., Bennett, M. R., & Mallat, Z. (2019). Vascular smooth muscle cells in atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 16(12), 727–745. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41569-019-0227-9
- Benjannet, S., Rhainds, D., Essalmani, R., Mayne, J., Wickham, L., Jin, W., Asselin, M. C., Hamelin, J., Varret, M., Allard, D., Trillard, M., Abifadel, M., Tebon, A., Attie, A. D., Rader, D. J., Boileau, C., Brissette, L., Chrétien, M., Prat, A., & Seidah, N. G. (2004). NARC-1/PCSK9 and its natural mutants: Zymogen cleavage and effects on the low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor and LDL cholesterol. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(47), 48865–48875. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M409699200
- Bernelot Moens, S. J., Neele, A. E., Kroon, J., van der Valk, F. M., Van den Bossche, J., Hoeksema, M. A., Hoogeveen, R. M., Schnitzler, J. G., Baccara-Dinet, M. T., Manvelian, G., de Winther, M. P. J., & Stroes, E. S. G. (2017). PCSK9 monoclonal antibodies reverse the pro-inflammatory profile of monocytes in familial hypercholesterolaemia. *European Heart Journal*, 38(20), 1584–1593. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehx002
- Betters, J. L., & Yu, L. (2010). NPC1L1 and cholesterol transport. *FEBS Letters*, 584(13), 2740–2747. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FEBSLET.2010.03.030
- Beyea, M. M., Heslop, C. L., Sawyez, C. G., Edwards, J. Y., Markle, J. G., Hegele, R. A., & Huff, M. W. (2007). Selective up-regulation of LXR-regulated genes ABCA1, ABCG1, and APOE in macrophages through increased endogenous synthesis of 24(S),25-epoxycholesterol. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(8), 5207–5216. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M611063200
- Braun, A., Trigatti, B. L., Post, M. J., Sato, K., Simons, M., Edelberg, J. M., Rosenberg, R. D., Schrenzel, M., & Krieger, M. (2002). Loss of SR-BI expression leads to the early onset of occlusive atherosclerotic coronary artery disease, spontaneous myocardial infarctions, severe cardiac dysfunction, and premature death in

apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *Circulation Research*, 90(3), 270–276. https://doi.org/10.1161/hh0302.104462

- Braun, A., Yesilaltay, A., Acton, S., Broschat, K. O., Krul, E. S., Napawan, N., Stagliano, N., & Krieger, M. (2008). Inhibition of intestinal absorption of cholesterol by ezetimibe or bile acids by SC-435 alters lipoprotein metabolism and extends the lifespan of SR-BI/apoE double knockout mice. *Atherosclerosis*, 198(1), 77–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.10.012
- Braun, A., Zhang, S., Miettinen, H. E., Ebrahim, S., Holm, T. M., Vasile, E., Post, M. J., Yoerger, D. M., Picard, M. H., Krieger, J. L., Andrews, N. C., Simons, M., & Krieger, M. (2003). Probucol prevents early coronary heart disease and death in the high-density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI/apolipoprotein E double knockout mouse. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(12), 7283–7288. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1237725100
- Breitschopf, K., Haendeler, J., Malchow, P., Zeiher, A. M., & Dimmeler, S. (2000).
 Posttranslational Modification of Bcl-2 Facilitates Its Proteasome-Dependent Degradation: Molecular Characterization of the Involved Signaling Pathway.
 Molecular and Cellular Biology, 20(5), 1886–1896.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.20.5.1886-1896.2000
- Breslow, J. L. (1996). Mouse models of atherosclerosis. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 272(5262), 685–688. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.272.5262.685
- Bybee, K. A., Lee, J. H., & O'Keefe, J. H. (2008). Cumulative clinical trial data on atorvastatin for reducing cardiovascular events: The clinical impact of atorvastatin. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 24(4), 1217–1229. https://doi.org/10.1185/030079908X292001
- Byun, J. H., Lebeau, P. F., Platko, K., Carlisle, R. E., Faiyaz, M., Chen, J., Macdonald, M. E., Makda, Y., Yousof, T., Lynn, E. G., Dickhout, J. G., Krepinsky, J. C., Weaver, F., Igdoura, S. A., Seidah, N. G., & Austin, R. C. (2022). Inhibitory Antibodies against PCSK9 Reduce Surface CD36 and Mitigate Diet-Induced Renal Lipotoxicity. *KIDNEY360*, *3*, 1394–1410. https://doi.org/10.34067/KID.0007022021
- Byun, J. H., Lebeau, P. F., Platko, K., Carlisle, R. E., Faiyaz, M., Chen, J., MacDonald, M. E., Makda, Y., Yousof, T., Lynn, E. G., Dickhout, J. G., Krepinsky, J. C., Weaver, F., Igdoura, S. A., Seidah, N. G., & Austin, R. C. (2022). Inhibitory Antibodies against PCSK9 Reduce Surface CD36 and Mitigate Diet-Induced Renal Lipotoxicity. *Kidney360*, *3*(8), 1394–1410. https://doi.org/10.34067/KID.0007022021
- Cai, L., Wang, Z., Meyer, J. M., Ji, A., & Van Der Westhuyzen, D. R. (2012). Macrophage SR-BI regulates LPS-induced pro-inflammatory signaling in mice and isolated macrophages. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 53(8), 1472–1481. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.M023234

- Camera, M., Rossetti, L., Barbieri, S. S., Zanotti, I., Canciani, B., Trabattoni, D., Ruscica, M., Tremoli, E., & Ferri, N. (2018). PCSK9 as a Positive Modulator of Platelet Activation. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 71(8), 952–954. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.11.069
- Cammisotto, V., Pastori, D., Nocella, C., Bartimoccia, S., Castellani, V., Marchese, C., Scavalli, A. S., Ettorre, E., Viceconte, N., Violi, F., Pignatelli, P., & Carnevale, R. (2020). PCSK9 regulates Nox2-mediated platelet activation via CD36 receptor in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Antioxidants*, 9(4), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox9040296
- Canuel, M., Sun, X., Asselin, M. C., Paramithiotis, E., Prat, A., & Seidah, N. G. (2013). Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9 (PCSK9) Can Mediate Degradation of the Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Related Protein 1 (LRP-1). *PLOS ONE*, 8(5), e64145. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0064145
- Chan, J. C. Y., Piper, D. E., Cao, Q., Liu, D., King, C., Wang, W., Tang, J., Liu, Q., Higbee, J., Xia, Z., Di, Y., Shetterly, S., Arimura, Z., Salomonis, H., Romanow, W. G., Thibault, S. T., Zhang, R., Cao, P., Yang, X. P., ... Jackson, S. M. (2009). A proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 neutralizing antibody reduces serum cholesterol in mice and nonhuman primates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(24), 9820–9825. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0903849106
- Chen, K., Febbraio, M., Li, W., & Silverstein, R. L. (2008). A specific cd36-dependent signaling pathway is required for platelet activation by oxidized low-density lipoprotein. *Circulation Research*, 102(12), 1512–1519. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.172064
- Chen, Z., Fukutomi, T., Zago, A. C., Ehlers, R., Detmers, P. A., Wright, S. D., Rogers, C., & Simon, D. I. (2002). Simvastatin reduces neointimal thickening in low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice after experimental angioplasty without changing plasma lipids. *Circulation*, 106(1), 20–23. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000022843.76104.01
- Chiong, M., Wang, Z. V., Pedrozo, Z., Cao, D. J., Troncoso, R., Ibacache, M., Criollo, A., Nemchenko, A., Hill, J. A., & Lavandero, S. (2011). Cardiomyocyte death: mechanisms and translational implications. *Cell Death & Disease 2011 2:12*, 2(12), e244–e244. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2011.130
- CL, Y., YD, Z., ZX, H., & H, L. (2020). PCSK9 promotes the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines by macrophages to aggravate H/R-induced cardiomyocyte injury via activating NF-κB signalling. *General Physiology and Biophysics*, 39(2), 123–134. https://doi.org/10.4149/GPB-2019057
- Clarke, M. C. H., Figg, N., Maguire, J. J., Davenport, A. P., Goddard, M., Littlewood, T. D., & Bennett, M. R. (2006). Apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells induces

features of plaque vulnerability in atherosclerosis. *Nature Medicine*, *12*(9), 1075–1080. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1459

- Cochain, C., Vafadarnejad, E., Arampatzi, P., Pelisek, J., Winkels, H., Ley, K., Wolf, D., Saliba, A. E., & Zernecke, A. (2018). Single-cell RNA-seq reveals the transcriptional landscape and heterogeneity of aortic macrophages in murine atherosclerosis. *Circulation Research*, 122(12), 1661–1674. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.312509/FORMAT/EPUB
- Cohen, J., Pertsemlidis, A., Kotowski, I. K., Graham, R., Garcia, C. K., & Hobbs, H. H. (2005). Low LDL cholesterol in individuals of African descent resulting from frequent nonsense mutations in PCSK9. *Nature Genetics*, 37(2), 161–165. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1509
- Cominacini, L., Fratta Pasini, A., Garbin, U., Davoli, A., Tosetti, M. L., Campagnola, M., Rigoni, A., Pastorino, A. M., Lo Cascio, V., & Sawamura, T. (2000). Oxidized low density lipoprotein (ox-LDL) binding to ox-LDL receptor-1 in endothelial cells induces the activation of NF-κB through an increased production of intracellular reactive oxygen species. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(17), 12633–12638. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.275.17.12633
- Courties, G., Heidt, T., Sebas, M., Iwamoto, Y., Jeon, D., Truelove, J., Tricot, B., Wojtkiewicz, G., Dutta, P., Sager, H. B., Borodovsky, A., Novobrantseva, T., Klebanov, B., Fitzgerald, K., Anderson, D. G., Libby, P., Swirski, F. K., Weissleder, R., & Nahrendorf, M. (2014). In vivo silencing of the transcription factor IRF5 reprograms the macrophage phenotype and improves infarct healing. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *63*(15), 1556–1566. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACC.2013.11.023
- Covey, S. D., Krieger, M., Wang, W., Penman, M., & Trigatti, B. L. (2003). Scavenger Receptor Class B Type I–Mediated Protection Against Atherosclerosis in LDL Receptor–Negative Mice Involves Its Expression in Bone Marrow–Derived Cells. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 23(9), 1589–1594. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000083343.19940.A0
- Da Dalt, L., Castiglioni, L., Baragetti, A., Audano, M., Svecla, M., Bonacina, F., Pedretti, S., Uboldi, P., Benzoni, P., Giannetti, F., Barbuti, A., Pellegatta, F., Indino, S., Donetti, E., Sironi, L., Mitro, N., Catapano, A. L., & Norata, G. D. (2021). PCSK9 deficiency rewires heart metabolism and drives heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *European Heart Journal*, 42(32), 3078. https://doi.org/10.1093/EURHEARTJ/EHAB431
- Daniels, T. F., Killinger, K. M., Michal, J. J., Wright, R. W., & Jiang, Z. (2009). Lipoproteins, cholesterol homeostasis and cardiac health. *Int. J. Biol. Sci*, 5(5), 474– 488. http://www.biolsci.org474

- De Chiara, G., Marcocci, M. E., Torcia, M., Lucibello, M., Rosini, P., Bonini, P.,
 Higashimoto, Y., Damonte, G., Armirotti, A., Amodei, S., Palamara, A. T., Russo, T.,
 Garaci, E., & Cozzolino, F. (2006). Bcl-2 phosphorylation by p38 MAPK:
 Identification of target sites and biologic consequences. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(30), 21353–21361. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M511052200
- De Knijff, P., Van den Maagdenberg, A. M. J. M., Stalenhoef, A. F. H., Leuven, J. A. G., Demacker, P. N. M., Kuyt, L. P., Frants, R. R., & Havekes, L. M. (1991). Familial dysbetalipoproteinemia associated with apolipoprotein E3-Leiden in an extended multigeneration pedigree. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 88(2), 643. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI115349
- Demers, A., Samami, S., Lauzier, B., Des Rosiers, C., Ngo Sock, E. T., Ong, H., & Mayer, G. (2015). PCSK9 Induces CD36 Degradation and Affects Long-Chain Fatty Acid Uptake and Triglyceride Metabolism in Adipocytes and in Mouse Liver. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 35(12), 2517–2525. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.306032
- Demers, A., Samami, S., Lauzier, B., Des Rosiers, C., Sock, E. T. N., Ong, H., & Mayer, G. (2015). PCSK9 Induces CD36 Degradation and Affects Long-Chain Fatty Acid Uptake and Triglyceride Metabolism in Adipocytes and in Mouse Liver. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 35(12), 2517–2525. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.306032
- Denis, M., Marcinkiewicz, J., Zaid, A., Gauthier, D., Poirier, S., Lazure, C., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2012). Gene Inactivation of Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9 Reduces Atherosclerosis in Mice. *Circulation*, 125(7), 894–901. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.057406
- Depuydt, M. A. C., Prange, K. H. M., Slenders, L., Örd, T., Elbersen, D., Boltjes, A., De Jager, S. C. A., Asselbergs, F. W., De Borst, G. J., Aavik, E., Lönnberg, T., Lutgens, E., Glass, C. K., Den Ruijter, H. M., Kaikkonen, M. U., Bot, I., Slütter, B., Van Der Laan, S. W., Yla-Herttuala, S., ... Pasterkamp, G. (2020). Microanatomy of the Human Atherosclerotic Plaque by Single-Cell Transcriptomics. *Circulation Research*, *127*(11), 1437–1455. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.316770/FORMAT/EPUB
- Designed Research; J, E. A. F. E. F., & Performed Research; J, K. R. E. F. (2011). HDL promotes rapid atherosclerosis regression in mice and alters inflammatory properties of plaque monocyte-derived cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(17), 7166–7171. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1016086108
- Dijk, W., Le May, C., & Cariou, B. (2018). Beyond LDL: What Role for PCSK9 in Triglyceride-Rich Lipoprotein Metabolism? *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 29(6), 420–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TEM.2018.03.013

Ph.D. Thesis – T. Xiong; McMaster University – Medical Sciences.

- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Deng, X., Fan, Y., Shahanawaz, J., Shmookler Reis, R. J., Varughese, K. I., Sawamura, T., & Mehta, J. L. (2015a). Cross-talk between LOX-1 and PCSK9 in vascular tissues. *Cardiovascular Research*, 107(4), 556–567. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvv178
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Deng, X., Fan, Y., Shahanawaz, J., Shmookler Reis, R. J., Varughese, K. I., Sawamura, T., & Mehta, J. L. (2015b). Cross-talk between LOX-1 and PCSK9 in vascular tissues. *Cardiovascular Research*, 107(4), 556–567. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvv178
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Deng, X., Fan, Y., Sun, C., Wang, Y., & Mehta, J. L. (2015). Hemodynamic Shear Stress via ROS Modulates PCSK9 Expression in Human Vascular Endothelial and Smooth Muscle Cells and Along the Mouse Aorta. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling, 22(9), 760–771. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2014.6054
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Khaidakov, M., Dai, Y., & Mehta, J. L. (2013). Oxidant stress in mitochondrial DNA damage, autophagy and inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Scientific Reports*, 3(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep01077
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Mathur, P., Dai, Y., Theus, S., Deng, X., Fan, Y., & Mehta, J. L. (2016). Cross-Talk Between PCSK9 and Damaged mtDNA in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells: Role in Apoptosis. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*, 25(18), 997– 1008. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2016.6631
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Theus, S., Deng, X., Fan, Y., Zhou, S., & Mehta, J. L. (2018). PCSK9 regulates expression of scavenger receptors and ox-LDL uptake in macrophages. *Cardiovascular Research*, 114(8), 1145–1153. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvy079
- Ding, Z., Wang, X., Liu, S., Shahanawaz, J., Theus, S., Fan, Y., Deng, X., Zhou, S., & Mehta, J. L. (2018). PCSK9 expression in the ischaemic heart and its relationship to infarct size, cardiac function, and development of autophagy. *Cardiovascular Research*, 114(13), 1738–1751. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvy128
- Ding, Z., Wang, X., Liu, S., Zhou, S., Kore, R. A., Mu, S., Deng, X., Fan, Y., & Mehta, J. L. (2020). NLRP3 inflammasome via IL-1β regulates PCSK9 secretion. *Theranostics*, 10(16), 7100. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.45939
- Dole, V. S., Matuskova, J., Vasile, E., Yesilaltay, A., Bergmeier, W., Bernimoulin, M., Wagner, D. D., & Krieger, M. (2008). Thrombocytopenia and platelet abnormalities in high-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 28(6), 1111–1116. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.162347
- Downs, J. R., Clearfield, M., Weis, S., Whitney, E., Shapiro, D. R., Beere, P. A., Langendorfer, A., Stein, E. A., Kruyer, W., & Gotto, A. M. (1998). Primary Prevention of Acute Coronary Events With Lovastatin in Men and Women With

Average Cholesterol Levels: Results of AFCAPS/TexCAPS. *JAMA*, 279(20), 1615–1622. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.279.20.1615

- Durham, K. K., Chathely, K. M., Mak, K. C., Momen, A., Thomas, C. T., Zhao, Y.-Y., MacDonald, M. E., Curtis, J. M., Husain, M., & Trigatti, B. L. (2018). HDL protects against doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity in a scavenger receptor class B type 1-, PI3K-, and Akt-dependent manner. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 314(1), H31–H44. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00521.2016
- Durham, K. K., Chathely, K. M., & Trigatti, B. L. (2018). High-density lipoprotein protects cardiomyocytes against necrosis induced by oxygen and glucose deprivation through SR-B1, PI3K, and AKT1 and 2. *Biochemical Journal*, 475(7), 1253–1265. https://doi.org/10.1042/BCJ20170703
- Durham, K. K., Kluck, G., Mak, K. C., Deng, Y. D., & Trigatti, B. L. (2019). Treatment with apolipoprotein A1 protects mice against doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity in a scavenger receptor class B, type I-dependent manner. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 316(6), H1447–H1457. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00432.2018
- Enomoto, S., Sata, M., Fukuda, D., Nakamura, K., & Nagai, R. (2009). Rosuvastatin prevents endothelial cell death and reduces atherosclerotic lesion formation in ApoEdeficient mice. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 63(1), 19–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPHA.2007.11.002
- Febbraio, M., Guy, E., & Silverstein, R. L. (2004). Stem Cell transplantation reveals that absence of macrophage CD36 is protective against atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 24(12), 2333–2338. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000148007.06370.68
- Febbraio, M., Podrez, E. A., Smith, J. D., Hajjar, D. P., Hazen, S. L., Hoff, H. F., Sharma, K., & Silverstein, R. L. (2000). Targeted disruption of the class B, scavenger receptor CD36 protects against atherosclerotic lesion development in mice. *Journal* of *Clinical Investigation*, 105(8), 1049–1056. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI9259
- Feig, J. E., Parathath, S., Rong, J. X., Mick, S. L., Vengrenyuk, Y., Grauer, L., Young, S. G., & Fisher, E. A. (2011). Reversal of hyperlipidemia with a genetic switch favorably affects the content and inflammatory state of macrophages in atherosclerotic plaques. *Circulation*, *123*(9), 989–998. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.984146/FORMAT/EPUB
- Feig, J. E., Pineda-Torra, I., Sanson, M., Bradley, M. N., Vengrenyuk, Y., Bogunovic, D., Gautier, E. L., Rubinstein, D., Hong, C., Liu, J., Wu, C., Van Rooijen, N., Bhardwaj, N., Garabedian, M. J., Tontonoz, P., & Fisher, E. A. (2010). LXR promotes the maximal egress of monocyte-derived cells from mouse aortic plaques during

atherosclerosis regression. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *120*(12), 4415–4424. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI38911

- Feingold, K. R. (2022). Lipid and Lipoprotein Metabolism. Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America, 51(3), 437–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECL.2022.02.008
- Feingold, K. R., Moser, A. H., Shigenaga, J. K., Patzek, S. M., & Grunfeld, C. (2008). Inflammation stimulates the expression of PCSK9. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 374(2), 341–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBRC.2008.07.023
- Fernandez, D. M., Rahman, A. H., Fernandez, N. F., Chudnovskiy, A., Amir, E. ad D., Amadori, L., Khan, N. S., Wong, C. K., Shamailova, R., Hill, C. A., Wang, Z., Remark, R., Li, J. R., Pina, C., Faries, C., Awad, A. J., Moss, N., Bjorkegren, J. L. M., Kim-Schulze, S., ... Giannarelli, C. (2019). Single-cell immune landscape of human atherosclerotic plaques. *Nature Medicine*, *25*(10), 1576–1589. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41591-019-0590-4
- Ferri, N., Marchianò, S., Tibolla, G., Baetta, R., Dhyani, A., Ruscica, M., Uboldi, P., Catapano, A. L., & Corsini, A. (2016). PCSK9 knock-out mice are protected from neointimal formation in response to perivascular carotid collar placement. *Atherosclerosis*, 253, 214–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.07.910
- Ferri, N., Tibolla, G., Pirillo, A., Cipollone, F., Mezzetti, A., Pacia, S., Corsini, A., & Catapano, A. L. (2012a). Proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin type 9 (PCSK9) secreted by cultured smooth muscle cells reduces macrophages LDLR levels. *Atherosclerosis*, 220(2), 381–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2011.11.026
- Ferri, N., Tibolla, G., Pirillo, A., Cipollone, F., Mezzetti, A., Pacia, S., Corsini, A., & Catapano, A. L. (2012b). Proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin type 9 (PCSK9) secreted by cultured smooth muscle cells reduces macrophages LDLR levels. *Atherosclerosis*, 220(2), 381–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ATHEROSCLEROSIS.2011.11.026
- Fielding, P. E., Nagao, K., Hakamata, H., Chimini, G., & Fielding, C. J. (2000). A Two-Step Mechanism for Free Cholesterol and Phospholipid Efflux from Human Vascular Cells to Apolipoprotein A-1[†]. *Biochemistry*, 39(46), 14113–14120. https://doi.org/10.1021/BI0004192
- Frangogiannis, N. G. (2008). The immune system and cardiac repair. *Pharmacological Research*, 58, 88–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2008.06.007
- Frangogiannis, N. G. (2015). Pathophysiology of myocardial infarction. *Comprehensive Physiology*, *5*(4), 1841–1875. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c150006
- Frangogiannis, N. G. (2021). Cardiac fibrosis. *Cardiovascular Research*, 117(6), 1450–1488. https://doi.org/10.1093/CVR/CVAA324
- Fuller, M., Dadoo, O., Serkis, V., Abutouk, D., MacDonald, M., Dhingani, N., Macri, J., Igdoura, S. A., & Trigatti, B. L. (2014). The Effects of Diet on Occlusive Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis and Myocardial Infarction in Scavenger Receptor Class B, Type 1/Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor Double Knockout Mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 34*(11), 2394–2403. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304200
- Fuller, M. T., Dadoo, O., Xiong, T., Chivukula, P., MacDonald, M. E., Lee, S. K., Austin, R. C., Igdoura, S. A., & Trigatti, B. L. (2023). Extensive diet-induced atherosclerosis in scavenger receptor class B type 1-deficient mice is associated with substantial leukocytosis and elevated vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 expression in coronary artery endothelium. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 13, 2747. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPHYS.2022.1023397/BIBTEX
- Gebuhrer, V., Murphy, J. F., Bordet, J. C., Reck, M. P., & McGregor, J. L. (1995). Oxidized low-density lipoprotein induces the expression of P-selectin (GMP140/PADGEM/CD62) on human endothelial cells. *Biochemical Journal*, 306(1), 293–298. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ3060293
- Gil-Pulido, J., & Zernecke, A. (2017). Antigen-presenting dendritic cells in atherosclerosis. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 816, 25–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2017.08.016
- Gimbrone, M. A., & García-Cardeña, G. (2016). Endothelial Cell Dysfunction and the Pathobiology of Atherosclerosis. *Circulation Research*, 118(4), 620–636. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.306301
- Giunzioni, I., Tavori, H., Covarrubias, R., Major, A. S., Ding, L., Zhang, Y., DeVay, R. M., Hong, L., Fan, D., Predazzi, I. M., Rashid, S., Linton, M. F., & Fazio, S. (2016a). Local effects of human PCSK9 on the atherosclerotic lesion. *The Journal of Pathology*, 238(1), 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4630
- Giunzioni, I., Tavori, H., Covarrubias, R., Major, A. S., Ding, L., Zhang, Y., DeVay, R. M., Hong, L., Fan, D., Predazzi, I. M., Rashid, S., Linton, M. F., & Fazio, S. (2016b). Local effects of human PCSK9 on the atherosclerotic lesion. *The Journal of Pathology*, 238(1), 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4630
- Giunzioni, I., Tavori, H., Covarrubias, R., Major, A. S., Ding, L., Zhang, Y., DeVay, R. M., Hong, L., Fan, D., Predazzi, I. M., Rashid, S., Linton, M. F., & Fazio, S. (2016c). Local effects of human PCSK9 on the atherosclerotic lesion. *The Journal of Pathology*, 238(1), 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4630
- Gleissner, C. A., Leitinger, N., & Ley, K. (2007). Effects of native and modified lowdensity lipoproteins on monocyte recruitment in atherosclerosis. *Hypertension*,

50(2), 276–283.

https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.089854/FORMAT/EPUB

- Go, G. W., & Mani, A. (2012). Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor (LDLR) Family Orchestrates Cholesterol Homeostasis. *The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*, 85(1), 19. /pmc/articles/PMC3313535/
- Goldfarb, J. W., Roth, M., & Han, J. (2009). Myocardial fat deposition after left ventricular myocardial infarction: Assessment by using MR water-fat separation imaging. *Radiology*, 253(1), 65–73. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2532082290
- Goldstein, J. L., & Brown, M. S. (1979). The LDL receptor locus and the genetics of familial hypercholesterolemia. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 13, 259–289. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.GE.13.120179.001355
- Goldstein, J. L., & Brown, M. S. (2009). The LDL Receptor. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 29(4), 431–438. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.179564
- Gomez, D., & Owens, G. K. (2012). Smooth muscle cell phenotypic switching in atherosclerosis. *Cardiovascular Research*, 95(2), 156–164. https://doi.org/10.1093/CVR/CVS115
- Goncharov, N. V, Avdonin, P. V, Nadeev, A. D., Zharkikh, I. L., & Jenkins, R. O. (2015). Reactive oxygen species in pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 21(9), 1134–1146. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612820666141014142557
- Gonzalez, L., Trigatti, B. L., Bernardo, D., & Trigatti, L. (2017). Macrophage Apoptosis and Necrotic Core Development in Atherosclerosis: A Rapidly Advancing Field with Clinical Relevance to Imaging and Therapy. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology*, 33, 303–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjca.2016.12.010
- Gonzalez, L., Yu, P., & Bl, T. (2016). Mouse Models of Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis. *J Cardiovasc Disord*, 3(1), 1021.
- Gonzalez L, Yu P, & Trigatti BL. (2016). Mouse Models of Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis. *Journal of Cardiovascular Disorders*, 3(1). www.austinpublishinggroup.com
- Gordon, D. J., Probstfield, J. L., Garrison, R. J., Neaton, J. D., Castelli, W. P., Knoke, J. D., Jacobs, D. R., Bangdiwala, S., & Tyroler, H. A. (1989). High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease. Four prospective American studies. *Circulation*, 79(1), 8–15. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.79.1.8
- Grune, J., Meyborg, H., Bezhaeva, T., Kappert, K., Hillmeister, P., Kintscher, U., Pieske, B., & Stawowy, P. (2017). PCSK9 regulates the chemokine receptor CCR2 on monocytes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 485(2), 312– 318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.02.085

- Gu, X., Trigatti, B., Xu, S., Acton, S., Babitt, J., & Krieger, M. (1998). The Efficient Cellular Uptake of High Density Lipoprotein Lipids via Scavenger Receptor Class B Type I Requires Not Only Receptor-mediated Surface Binding but Also Receptorspecific Lipid Transfer Mediated by Its Extracellular Domain. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(41), 26338–26348. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.273.41.26338
- Guadamuz, J. S., Shooshtari, A., Qato, D. M., Dima, D., & Qato, M. (2022). Open access Global, regional and national trends in statin utilisation in high-income and low/middle-income countries, 2015-2020. *BMJ Open*, 12, 61350. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2022-061350
- Gui, D., Cui, Z., Zhang, L., Yu, C., Yao, D., Xu, M., Chen, M., Wu, P., Li, G., Wang, L., & Huang, X. (2017). Salidroside attenuates hypoxia-induced pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cell proliferation and apoptosis resistance by upregulating autophagy through the AMPK-mTOR-ULK1 pathway. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine*, 17(1), 191. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12890-017-0477-4
- Gurbel, P. A., Navarese, E. P., & Tantry, U. S. (2017). Exploration of PCSK9 as a Cardiovascular Risk Factor: Is There a Link to the Platelet? *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 70(12), 1463–1466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.07.779
- Gustafsson, Å. B., & Gottlieb, R. A. (2008). Eat your heart out: Role of autophagy in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion. *Autophagy*, *4*(4), 416–421. https://doi.org/10.4161/AUTO.5655
- Hackeng, C. M., Relou, I. A. M., Pladet, M. W., Gorter, G., Van Rijn, H. J. M., & Akkerman, J. W. N. (1999). Early platelet activation by low density lipoprotein via p38(MAP) kinase. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 82(6), 1749–1756. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0037-1614909
- Hai, Q., & Smith, J. D. (2021). Acyl-coenzyme a: Cholesterol acyltransferase (acat) in cholesterol metabolism: From its discovery to clinical trials and the genomics era. *Metabolites*, 11(8), 543. https://doi.org/10.3390/METABO11080543
- Hajar, R. (2017). Risk Factors for Coronary Artery Disease: Historical Perspectives. *Heart Views : The Official Journal of the Gulf Heart Association*, 18(3), 109. https://doi.org/10.4103/HEARTVIEWS.HEARTVIEWS 106 17
- Hajra, L., Evans, A. I., Chen, M., Hyduk, S. J., Collins, T., & Cybulsky, M. I. (2000). The NF-κB signal transduction pathway in aortic endothelial cells is primed for activation in regions predisposed to atherosclerotic lesion formation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(16), 9052–9057. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.16.9052
- Hammad, S. M., Stefansson, S., Twal, W. O., Drake, C. J., Fleming, P., Remaley, A., Brewer, H. B., & Argraves, W. S. (1999). Cubilin, the endocytic receptor for intrinsic factor-vitamin B12 complex, mediates high-density lipoprotein holoparticle

endocytosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(18), 10158. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.96.18.10158

- Harder, C., Lau, P., Meng, A., Whitman, S. C., & McPherson, R. (2007). Cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) expression protects against diet induced atherosclerosis in SR-BI deficient mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 27(4), 858–864. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000259357.42089.dc
- Harris, J. D., Graham, I. R., Schepelmann, S., Stannard, A. K., Roberts, M. L., Hodges, B. L., Hill, V. J., Amalfitano, A., Hassall, D. G., Owen, J. S., & Dickson, G. (2002). Acute regression of advanced and retardation of early aortic atheroma in immunocompetent apolipoprotein-E (apoE) deficient mice by administration of a second generation [E1–, E3–, polymerase–] adenovirus vector expressing human apoE. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *11*(1), 43–58. https://doi.org/10.1093/HMG/11.1.43
- Hegele, R. A. (2009). Plasma lipoproteins: genetic influences and clinical implications. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 10(2), 109–122. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRG2481
- Hildebrand, R. B., Lammers, B., Meurs, I., Korporaal, S. J. A., De Haan, W., Zhao, Y., Kruijt, J. K., Praticò, D., Schimmel, A. W. M., Holleboom, A. G., Hoekstra, M., Kuivenhoven, J. A., Van Berkel, T. J. C., Rensen, P. C. N., & Van Eck, M. (2010). Restoration of high-density lipoprotein levels by cholesteryl ester transfer protein expression in scavenger receptor class B Type i (SR-BI) knockout mice does not normalize pathologies associated with SR-BI deficiency. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *30*(7), 1439–1445. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.205153
- Hilgendorf, I., Gerhardt, L. M. S., Tan, T. C., Winter, C., Holderried, T. A. W., Chousterman, B. G., Iwamoto, Y., Liao, R., Zirlik, A., Scherer-Crosbie, M., Hedrick, C. C., Libby, P., Nahrendorf, M., Weissleder, R., & Swirski, F. K. (2014). Ly-6 chigh monocytes depend on nr4a1 to balance both inflammatory and reparative phases in the infarcted myocardium. *Circulation Research*, *114*(10), 1611–1622. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.303204/-/DC1
- Hill, J., & Ward, P. (1971). The phlogistic role of C3 leukotactic fragments in myocardial infarcts of rats. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *133*(4), 885–900. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2138969/
- Hochreiter-Hufford, A., & Ravichandran, K. S. (2013). Clearing the Dead: Apoptotic Cell Sensing, Recognition, Engulfment, and Digestion. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1101/CSHPERSPECT.A008748
- Horckmans, M., Ring, L., Duchene, J., Santovito, D., Schloss, M. J., Drechsler, M., Weber, C., Soehnlein, O., & Steffens, S. (2017). Neutrophils orchestrate postmyocardial infarction healing by polarizing macrophages towards a reparative

phenotype. *European Heart Journal*, *38*(3), 187–197. https://doi.org/10.1093/EURHEARTJ/EHW002

- Huang, L., Chambliss, K. L., Gao, X., Yuhanna, I. S., Behling-Kelly, E., Bergaya, S., Ahmed, M., Michaely, P., Luby-Phelps, K., Darehshouri, A., Xu, L., Fisher, E. A., Ge, W. P., Mineo, C., & Shaul, P. W. (2019). SR-B1 drives endothelial cell LDL transcytosis via DOCK4 to promote atherosclerosis. *Nature*, 569(7757), 565–569. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1140-4
- Huby, T., Doucet, C., Dachet, C., Ouzilleau, B., Ueda, Y., Afzal, V., Rubin, E., Chapman, M. J., & Lesnik, P. (2006). Knockdown expression and hepatic deficiency reveal an atheroprotective role for SR-BI in liver and peripheral tissues. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *116*(10), 2767. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI26893
- Huo, Y., Schober, A., Forlow, S. B., Smith, D. F., Hyman, M. C., Jung, S., Littman, D. R., Weber, C., & Ley, K. (2003). Circulating activated platelets exacerbate atherosclerosis in mice deficient in apolipoprotein E. *Nature Medicine*, 9(1), 61–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/NM810
- Hussain, M. M., Rava, P., Walsh, M., Rana, M., & Iqbal, J. (2012). Multiple functions of microsomal triglyceride transfer protein. *Nutrition and Metabolism*, 9, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-7075-9-14
- Iiyama, K., Hajra, L., Iiyama, M., Li, H., DiChiara, M., Medoff, B. D., & Cybulsky, M. I. (1999a). Patterns of Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 and Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 Expression in Rabbit and Mouse Atherosclerotic Lesions and at Sites Predisposed to Lesion Formation. *Circulation Research*, 85(2), 199–207. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.85.2.199
- Iiyama, K., Hajra, L., Iiyama, M., Li, H., DiChiara, M., Medoff, B. D., & Cybulsky, M. I. (1999b). Patterns of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression in rabbit and mouse atherosclerotic lesions and at sites predisposed to lesion formation. *Circulation Research*, 85(2), 199–207. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.85.2.199
- Ishibashi, S., Brown, M. S., Goldstein, J. L., Gerard, R. D., Hammer, R. E., & Herz, J. (1993). Hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice and its reversal by adenovirus-mediated gene delivery. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 92(2), 883–893. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI116663
- Ji, Y., Jian, B., Wang, N., Sun, Y., Moya, M. L., Phillips, M. C., Rothblat, G. H., Swaney, J. B., & Tall, A. R. (1997). Scavenger receptor BI promotes high density lipoproteinmediated cellular cholesterol efflux. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(34), 20982–20985.
- Jian, B., de la Llera-Moya, M., Ji, Y., Wang, N., Phillips, M. C., Swaney, J. B., Tall, A. R., & Rothblat, G. H. (1998). Scavenger receptor class B type I as a mediator of cellular

cholesterol efflux to lipoproteins and phospholipid acceptors. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(10), 5599–5606.

- Joseph, P., Leong, D., McKee, M., Anand, S. S., Schwalm, J. D., Teo, K., Mente, A., & Yusuf, S. (2017). Reducing the global burden of cardiovascular disease, part 1: The epidemiology and risk factors. *Circulation Research*, 121(6), 677–694. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.308903/FORMAT/EPUB
- Kanamori, H., Takemura, G., Goto, K., Maruyama, R., Ono, K., Nagao, K., Tsujimoto, A., Ogino, A., Takeyama, T., Kawaguchi, T., Watanabe, T., Kawasaki, M., Fujiwara, T., Fujiwara, H., Seishima, M., & Minatoguchi, S. (2011). Autophagy limits acute myocardial infarction induced by permanent coronary artery occlusion. *American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 300(6), 2261–2271. https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPHEART.01056.2010/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/ZH4006 1198870008.JPEG
- Karackattu, S. L., Trigatti, B., & Krieger, M. (2006). Hepatic lipase deficiency delays atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, and cardiac dysfunction and extends lifespan in SR-BI/apolipoprotein E double knockout mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 26(3), 548–554. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000202662.63876.02
- Karagiannis, A. D., Liu, M., Toth, P. P., Zhao, S., Agrawal, D. K., Libby, P., & Chatzizisis, Y. S. (2018). Pleiotropic Anti-atherosclerotic Effects of PCSK9 Inhibitors From Molecular Biology to Clinical Translation. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports*, 20(4), 20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11883-018-0718-x
- Kardassis, D., Mosialou, I., Kanaki, M., Tiniakou, I., & Thymiakou, E. (2014). Metabolism of HDL and its Regulation. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 21, 2864–2880.
- Karunakaran, D., Geoffrion, M., Wei, L., Gan, W., Richards, L., Shangari, P., DeKemp, E. M., Beanlands, R. A., Perisic, L., Maegdefessel, L., Hedin, U., Sad, S., Guo, L., Kolodgie, F. D., Virmani, R., Ruddy, T., & Rayner, K. J. (2016). Targeting macrophage necroptosis for therapeutic and diagnostic interventions in atherosclerosis. *Science Advances*, 2(7). https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIADV.1600224/SUPPL_FILE/1600224_SM.PDF
- Kastelein, J. J. P., van Leuven, S. I., Burgess, L., Evans, G. W., Kuivenhoven, J. A., Barter, P. J., Revkin, J. H., Grobbee, D. E., Riley, W. A., Shear, C. L., Duggan, W. T., & Bots, M. L. (2007). Effect of torcetrapib on carotid atherosclerosis in familial hypercholesterolemia. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *356*(16), 1620–1630. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA071359
- Kathiresan, S., Melander, O., Guiducci, C., Surti, A., Burtt, N. P., Rieder, M. J., Cooper,G. M., Roos, C., Voight, B. F., Havulinna, A. S., Wahlstrand, B., Hedner, T., Corella,D., Tai, E. S., Ordovas, J. M., Berglund, G., Vartiainen, E., Jousilahti, P., Hedblad,

B., ... Orho-Melander, M. (2008). Translating molecular discoveries into new therapies for atherosclerosis. *Nature*, *451*(7181), 904–914. https://doi.org/10.1038/NG.75

- Katsuki, S., Jha, P. K., Lupieri, A., Nakano, T., Passos, L. S. A., Rogers, M. A., Becker-Greene, D., Le, T. D., Decano, J. L., Ho Lee, L., Guimaraes, G. C., Abdelhamid, I., Halu, A., Muscoloni, A., Cannistraci, C. V., Higashi, H., Zhang, H., Vromman, A., Libby, P., ... Aikawa, M. (2022). Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin 9 (PCSK9) Promotes Macrophage Activation via LDL Receptor-Independent Mechanisms. *Circulation Research*, *131*(11), 873–889. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.320056
- Kersten, S. (2021). ANGPTL3 as therapeutic target. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 3(6), 335–341. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.00000000000789
- Kim, B. J., Ryu, S. W., & Song, B. J. (2006). JNK- and p38 Kinase-mediated Phosphorylation of Bax Leads to Its Activation and Mitochondrial Translocation and to Apoptosis of Human Hepatoma HepG2 Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(30), 21256–21265. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M510644200
- Kim, J., Kundu, M., Viollet, B., & Guan, K. L. (2011). AMPK and mTOR regulate autophagy through direct phosphorylation of Ulk1. *Nature Cell Biology*, 13(2), 132– 141. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2152
- Kim, K., Shim, D., Lee, J. S., Zaitsev, K., Williams, J. W., Kim, K. W., Jang, M. Y., Jang, H. S., Yun, T. J., Lee, S. H., Yoon, W. K., Prat, A., Seidah, N. G., Choi, J., Lee, S. P., Yoon, S. H., Nam, J. W., Seong, J. K., Oh, G. T., ... Choi, J. H. (2018). Transcriptome analysis reveals nonfoamy rather than foamy plaque macrophages are proinflammatory in atherosclerotic murine models. *Circulation Research*, *123*(10), 1127–1142. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.312804/FORMAT/EPUB
- Kim, Y. U., Kee, P., Danila, D., & Teng, B. B. (2019). A critical role of PCSK9 in mediating il-17-producing T cell responses in hyperlipidemia. *Immune Network*, 19(6), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.4110/in.2019.19.e41
- Kinnally, K. W., Peixoto, P. M., Ryu, S. Y., & Dejean, L. M. (2011). Is mPTP the gatekeeper for necrosis, apoptosis, or both? *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1813(4), 616. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBAMCR.2010.09.013
- Kluck, G. E. G., Qian, A. S., Sakarya, E. H., Quach, H., Deng, Y. D., & Trigatti, B. L. (2023). Apolipoprotein A1 Protects Against Necrotic Core Development in Atherosclerotic Plaques: PDZK1-Dependent High-Density Lipoprotein Suppression of Necroptosis in Macrophages. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 43(1), 45–63. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.122.318062
- Kobayashi, J., Miyashita, K., Nakajima, K., & Mabuchi, H. (2015). Hepatic lipase: a comprehensive view of its role on plasma lipid and lipoprotein metabolism. *Journal*

of Atherosclerosis and Thrombosis, 22, 1001–1011. https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/article/jat/22/10/22_31617/_article/-char/ja/

- Koenig, S. N., Sucharski, H. C., Jose, E. M., Dudley, E. K., Madiai, F., Cavus, O., Argall, A. D., Williams, J. L., Murphy, N. P., Keith, C. B. R., Refaey, M. El, Gumina, R. J., Boudoulas, K. D., Milks, M. W., Sofowora, G., Smith, S. A., Hund, T. J., Wright, N. T., Bradley, E. A., ... Mohler, P. J. (2021). Inherited Variants in SCARB1 Cause Severe Early-Onset Coronary Artery Disease. *Circulation Research*, *129*, 296–307. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.318793
- Koren, M. J., Roth, E. M., McKenney, J. M., Gipe, D., Hanotin, C., Ferrand, A. C., Wu, R., & Dufour, R. (2015). Safety and efficacy of alirocumab 150 mg every 2 weeks, a fully human proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 monoclonal antibody: A phase II pooled analysis. *Postgraduate Medicine*, 127(2), 125–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/00325481.2015.998987
- Korporaal, S. J. A., Meurs, I., Hauer, A. D., Hildebrand, R. B., Hoekstra, M., Ten Cate, H., Praticò, D., Akkerman, J. W. N., Van Berkel, T. J. C., Kuiper, J., & Van Eck, M. (2011). Deletion of the high-density lipoprotein receptor scavenger receptor BI in mice modulates thrombosis susceptibility and indirectly affects platelet function by elevation of plasma free cholesterol. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *31*(1), 34–42. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.210252/FORMAT/EPUB
- Kozarsky, K. F., Donahee•, M. H., Rlgottlt, A., Iqbal+, S. N., Edelman+, E. R., & Kriegert, M. (1997). Overexpression of the HDL receptor SR-BI alters plasma HDL and bile cholesterol levels. *Nature.Com*, 387. https://idp.nature.com/authorize/casa?redirect_uri=https://www.nature.com/articles/3 87414a0&casa_token=3I9Qz0URVnkAAAAA:C_IHg_GDjhmU7oY5yLSsLhJwZa RtwtfnQiACeCIjIfzNvmNcqTbbGifmLoR-BzWO9HKJW8iT8kmscYWD
- Krieger, M. (1999). Charting the fate of the 'good cholesterol': Identification and characterization of the high-density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 68, 523–558. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.BIOCHEM.68.1.523
- Kühnast, S., Van Der Hoorn, J. W. A., Pieterman, E. J., Van Den Hoek, A. M., Sasiela, W. J., Gusarova, V., Peyman, A., Schäfer, H. L., Schwahn, U., Jukema, J. W., & Princen, H. M. G. (2014). Alirocumab inhibits atherosclerosis, improves the plaque morphology, and enhances the effects of a statin. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 55(10), 2103–2112. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M051326
- Kühnast, S., van der Hoorn, J. W. A., Pieterman, E. J., van den Hoek, A. M., Sasiela, W. J., Gusarova, V., Peyman, A., Schäfer, H.-L., Schwahn, U., Jukema, J. W., & Princen, H. M. G. (2014). Alirocumab inhibits atherosclerosis, improves the plaque morphology, and enhances the effects of a statin. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 55(10), 2103–2112. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M051326

- Kuijpers, M. J. E., De Witt, S., Nergiz-Unal, R., Van Kruchten, R., Korporaal, S. J. A., Verhamme, P., Febbraio, M., Tjwa, M., Voshol, P. J., Hoylaerts, M. F., Cosemans, J. M. E. M., & Heemskerk, J. W. M. (2014). Supporting roles of platelet thrombospondin-1 and CD36 in thrombus formation on collagen. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *34*(6), 1187–1192. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.302917
- Kumari, A., Kristensen, K. K., Ploug, M., & Lund Winther, A. M. (2021). The importance of lipoprotein lipase regulation in atherosclerosis. *Biomedicines*, 9(7), 782. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines9070782
- Kysenius, K., Muggalla, P., Mätlik, K., Arumäe, U., & Huttunen, H. J. (2012). PCSK9 regulates neuronal apoptosis by adjusting ApoER2 levels and signaling. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences: CMLS*, 69(11), 1903–1916. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-012-0977-6
- Lagace, T. A., Curtis, D. E., Garuti, R., McNutt, M. C., Sahng, W. P., Prather, H. B., Anderson, N. N., Ho, Y. K., Hammer, R. E., & Horton, J. D. (2006). Secreted PCSK9 decreases the number of LDL receptors in hepatocytes and inlivers of parabiotic mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *116*(11), 2995. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI29383
- Landlinger, C., Pouwer, M. G., Juno, C., Van Der Hoorn, J. W. A., Pieterman, E. J., Jukema, J. W., Staffler, G., Princen, H. M. G., & Galabova, G. (2017). The AT04A vaccine against proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 reduces total cholesterol, vascular inflammation, and atherosclerosis in APOE*3Leiden.CETP mice. *European Heart Journal*, 38(32), 2499–2507. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehx260
- Lavandero, S., Troncoso, R., Rotherme, B. A., Martinet, W., Sadoshima, J., & Hill, J. A. (2013). Cardiovascular autophagy Concepts, controversies, and perspectives. *Autophagy*, 9(10), 1455–1466. https://doi.org/10.4161/AUTO.25969
- Leander, K., Mälarstig, A., Van'T Hooft, F. M., Hyde, C., Hellénius, M. L., Troutt, J. S., Konrad, R. J., Öhrvik, J., Hamsten, A., & De Faire, U. (2016). Circulating proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) predicts future risk of cardiovascular events independently of established risk factors. *Circulation*, 133(13), 1230–1239. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.018531
- Ley, K., Laudanna, C., Cybulsky, M. I., & Nourshargh, S. (2007). Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 7(9), 678–690. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRI2156
- Li, D. L., Wang, Z. V., Ding, G., Tan, W., Luo, X., Criollo, A., Xie, M., Jiang, N., May, H., Kyrychenko, V., Schneider, J. W., Gillette, T. G., & Hill, J. A. (2016). Doxorubicin Blocks Cardiomyocyte Autophagic Flux by Inhibiting Lysosome

Acidification. *Circulation*, 133(17), 1668. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.017443

- Li, H., Horke, S., & Förstermann, U. (2014). Vascular oxidative stress, nitric oxide and atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis*, 237(1), 208–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ATHEROSCLEROSIS.2014.09.001
- Li, J., Brown, L. F., Hibberd, M. G., Grossman, J. D., Morgan, J. P., & Simons, M. (1996). VEGF, flk-1, and flt-1 expression in a rat myocardial infarction model of angiogenesis. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 270(5), H1803–H1811. https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPHEART.1996.270.5.H1803
- Li, J., Liang, X., Wang, Y., Xu, Z., & Li, G. (2017). Investigation of highly expressed PCSK9 in atherosclerotic plaques and ox-LDL-induced endothelial cell apoptosis. *Molecular Medicine Reports*, 16(2), 1817–1825. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2017.6803
- Libby, P. (2005). The forgotten majority: unfinished business in cardiovascular risk reduction. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *46*(7), 1225–1228. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACC.2005.07.006
- Libby, P. (2013). Mechanisms of Acute Coronary Syndromes and Their Implications for Therapy. New England Journal of Medicine, 368(21), 2004–2013. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMRA1216063/SUPPL_FILE/NEJMRA1216063_DISCL OSURES.PDF
- Lichtman, A. H., Clinton, S. K., Iiyama, K., Connelly, P. W., Libby, P., & Cybulsky, M. I. (1999). Hyperlipidemia and atherosclerotic lesion development in LDL receptordeficient mice fed defined semipurified diets with and without cholate. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 19(8), 1938–1944. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.19.8.1938
- Lievens, D., & von Hundelshausen, P. (2011). Platelets in atherosclerosis. *Thrombosis* and Haemostasis, 106(5), 827–838. https://doi.org/10.1160/TH11-08-0592
- Liu, A., & Frostegård, J. (2018). PCSK9 plays a novel immunological role in oxidized LDL-induced dendritic cell maturation and activation of T cells from human blood and atherosclerotic plaque. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, *284*(2), 193–210. https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.12758
- Liu, L.-S., XIE, M., JIANG, Z.-S., YANG, Q., PAN, L.-H., WU, C.-Y., TANG, Z.-H., TANG, C.-K., WEI, D.-H., & Wang, Z. (2009a). Effects of pcsk9 siRNA on THP-1 derived macrophages apoptosis induced by oxLDL. *Progress in Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 36, 323–330. https://doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1206.2008.00427
- Liu, L.-S., XIE, M., JIANG, Z.-S., YANG, Q., PAN, L.-H., WU, C.-Y., TANG, Z.-H., TANG, C.-K., WEI, D.-H., & Wang, Z. (2009b). Effects of pcsk9 siRNA on THP-1

derived macrophages apoptosis induced by oxLDL. *Progress in Biochemistry and Biophysics*, *36*, 323–330. https://doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1206.2008.00427

- Liu, S., Deng, X., Zhang, P., Wang, X., Fan, Y., Zhou, S., Mu, S., Mehta, J. L., & Ding, Z. (2020). Blood flow patterns regulate PCSK9 secretion via MyD88-mediated proinflammatory cytokines. *Cardiovascular Research*, *116*(10), 1721–1732. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvz262
- Liu, X., Bao, X., Hu, M., Chang, H., Jiao, M., Cheng, J., Xie, L., Huang, Q., Li, F., & Li, C. Y. (2020). Inhibition of PCSK9 potentiates immune checkpoint therapy for cancer. *Nature*, 588(7839), 693–699. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41586-020-2911-7
- Livak, K. J., & Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Analysis of Relative Gene Expression Data Using Real-Time Quantitative PCR and the 2-ΔΔCT Method. *Methods*, 25(4), 402– 408. https://doi.org/10.1006/METH.2001.1262
- Llodrá, J., Angeli, V., Liu, J., Trogan, E., Fisher, E. A., & Rendolph, G. J. (2004). Emigration of monocyte-derived cells from atherosclerotic lesions characterizes regressive, but not progressive, plaques. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(32), 11779–11784. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0403259101
- Long-Term Intervention with Pravastatin in Ischaemic Disease (LIPID) Study Group. (1998). Prevention of Cardiovascular Events and Death with Pravastatin in Patients with Coronary Heart Disease and a Broad Range of Initial Cholesterol Levels. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 339, 1349–1357.
- Lu-Shan, L., Min, X., Zhi-Sheng, J., Qiong, Y., Li-Hong, P., Chun-Yan, W., Zhi-Han, T., Chao-Ke, T., & Zuo, W. D.-H. and W. (2008). Effects of pcsk9 siRNA on THP-1 derived macrophages apoptosis induced by oxLDL. *Progress in Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 36(3), 323–330. https://doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1206.2008.00427
- Ma, K., Forte, T., Otvos, J. D., & Chan, L. (2005). Differential additive effects of endothelial lipase and scavenger receptor-class B type I on high-density lipoprotein metabolism in knockout mouse models. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 25(1), 149–154. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000150414.89591.6a
- Magwenzi, S., Woodward, C., Wraith, K. S., Aburima, A., Raslan, Z., Jones, H., McNeil, C., Wheatcroft, S., Yuldasheva, N., Febbriao, M., Kearney, M., & Naseem, K. M. (2015). Oxidized LDL activates blood platelets through CD36/NOX2-mediated inhibition of the cGMP/protein kinase G signaling cascade. *Blood*, 125(17), 2693– 2703. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-05-574491
- Maik, D., Johan, D., & Oliver, S. (2015). Chemokines Control Mobilization, Recruitment, and Fate of Monocytes in Atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 35(5), 1050–1055. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304649

- Mäkinen, P. I., Lappalainen, J. P., Heinonen, S. E., Leppänen, P., Lähteenvuo, M. T., Aarnio, J. V., Heikkilä, J., Turunen, M. P., & Ylä-Herttuala, S. (2010). Silencing of either SR-A or CD36 reduces atherosclerosis in hyperlipidaemic mice and reveals reciprocal upregulation of these receptors. *Cardiovascular Research*, 88(3), 530– 538. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvq235
- Malek, A. M., Alper, S. L., & Izumo, S. (1999). Hemodynamic shear stress and its role in atherosclerosis. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 282(21), 2035–2042. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.282.21.2035
- Matsui, Y., Takagi, H., Qu, X., Abdellatif, M., Sakoda, H., Asano, T., Levine, B., & Sadoshima, J. (2007a). Distinct Roles of Autophagy in the Heart During Ischemia and Reperfusion. *Circulation Research*, 100(6), 914–922. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000261924.76669.36
- Matsui, Y., Takagi, H., Qu, X., Abdellatif, M., Sakoda, H., Asano, T., Levine, B., & Sadoshima, J. (2007b). Distinct roles of autophagy in the heart during ischemia and reperfusion: Roles of AMP-activated protein kinase and beclin 1 in mediating autophagy. *Circulation Research*, 100(6), 914–922. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000261924.76669.36
- Maxwell, K. N., & Breslow, J. L. (2004). Adenoviral-mediated expression of Pcsk9 in mice results in a low-density lipoprotein receptor knockout phenotype. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 101(18), 7100– 7105. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0402133101
- Maxwell, K. N., Fisher, E. A., & Breslow, J. L. (2005). Overexpression of PCSK9 accelerates the degradation of the LDLR in a post-endoplasmic reticulum compartment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 102(6), 2069–2074. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0409736102/SUPPL FILE/09736FIG6.PDF
- McGill, J., McMahan, C. A., Herderick, E. E., Malcom, G. T., Tracy, R. E., & Jack, P. (2000). Origin of atherosclerosis in childhood and adolescence. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 72(5), 1307–1315. https://doi.org/10.1093/AJCN/72.5.1307S
- Miñana, G., Núñez, J., Bayés-Genís, A., Revuelta-López, E., Ríos-Navarro, C., Núñez, E., Chorro, F. J., López-Lereu, M. P., Monmeneu, J. V., Lupón, J., Sanchis, J., & Bodí, V. (2020). Role of PCSK9 in the course of ejection fraction change after ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: a pilot study. *ESC Heart Failure*, 7(1), 117–122. https://doi.org/10.1002/ehf2.12533

Mireille, O., J., B. T., & A., F. E. (2019). HDL and Reverse Cholesterol Transport. *Circulation Research*, 124(10), 1505–1518. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.119.312617

- Mittler, R., Vanderauwera, S., Suzuki, N., Miller, G., Tognetti, V. B., Vandepoele, K., Gollery, M., Shulaev, V., & Van Breusegem, F. (2011). ROS signaling: the new wave? *Trends in Plant Science*, *16*(6), 300–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2011.03.007
- MJ, L., R, H., JC, H., S, P., T, A., J, T., K, W., M, C., L, J., R, C., & J, A. (2014). Effects of extended-release niacin with laropiprant in high-risk patients. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 371(3), 203–212. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1300955
- Monetti, M., Canavesi, M., Camera, M., Parente, R., Paoletti, R., Tremoli, E., Corsini, A., & Bellosta, S. (2007). Rosuvastatin displays anti-atherothrombotic and antiinflammatory properties in apoE-deficient mice. *Pharmacological Research*, 55(5), 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHRS.2007.02.001
- Moore, K. J., Sheedy, F. J., & Fisher, E. A. (2013). Macrophages in atherosclerosis: a dynamic balance. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 13(10), 709–721. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3520
- Nagendran, J., Pulinilkunnil, T., Kienesberger, P. C., Sung, M. M., Fung, D., Febbraio, M., & Dyck, J. R. B. (2013). Cardiomyocyte-specific ablation of CD36 improves post-ischemic functional recovery. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 63, 180–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.YJMCC.2013.07.020
- Nakamuta, M., Chang, B. H. J., Zsigmond, E., Kobayashi, K., Lei, H., Ishida, B. Y., Oka, K., Li, E., & Chan, L. (1996). Complete Phenotypic Characterization of apobec-1 Knockout Mice with a Wild-type Genetic Background and a Human Apolipoprotein B Transgenic Background, and Restoration of Apolipoprotein B mRNA Editing by Somatic Gene Transfer of Apobec-1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(42), 25981–25988. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.271.42.25981
- Nakashima, Y., Plump, A. S., Raines, E. W., Breslow, J. L., & Ross, R. (1994). ApoEdeficient mice develop lesions of all phases of atherosclerosis throughout the arterial tree. *Arteriosclerosis and Thrombosis*, *14*(1), 133–140. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8274468
- Navarese, E. P., Kolodziejczak, M., Winter, M.-P., Alimohammadi, A., Lang, I. M., Buffon, A., Lip, G. Y., & Siller-Matula, J. M. (2017). Association of PCSK9 with platelet reactivity in patients with acute coronary syndrome treated with prasugrel or ticagrelor: The PCSK9-REACT study. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 227, 644–649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.10.084
- Neculai, D., Schwake, M., Ravichandran, M., Zunke, F., Collins, R. F., Peters, J., Neculai, M., Plumb, J., Loppnau, P., Pizarro, J. C., Seitova, A., Trimble, W. S., Saftig, P., Grinstein, S., & Dhe-Paganon, S. (2013). Structure of LIMP-2 provides functional insights with implications for SR-BI and CD36. *Nature*, 504(7478), 172–176. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12684

- Nicholls, S. J., Puri, R., Anderson, T., Ballantyne, C. M., Cho, L., Kastelein, J. J. P., Koenig, W., Somaratne, R., Kassahun, H., Yang, J., Wasserman, S. M., Scott, R., Ungi, I., Podolec, J., Ophuis, A. O., Cornel, J. H., Borgman, M., Brennan, D. M., & Nissen, S. E. (2016). Effect of Evolocumab on Progression of Coronary Disease in Statin-Treated Patients: The GLAGOV Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA*, *316*(22), 2373–2384. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.2016.16951
- Nissen, S. E., Nicholls, S. J., Sipahi, I., Libby, P., Raichlen, J. S., Ballantyne, C. M., Davignon, J., Erbel, R., Fruchart, J. C., Tardif, J. C., Schoenhagen, P., Crowe, T., Cain, V., Wolski, K., Goormastic, M., & Tuzcu, E. M. (2006). Effect of very highintensity statin therapy on regression of coronary atherosclerosis: the ASTEROID trial. JAMA, 295(13), 1556–1565. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.295.13.JPC60002
- Nissen, S. E., Tardif, J.-C., Nicholls, S. J., Revkin, J. H., Shear, C. L., Duggan, W. T., Ruzyllo, W., Bachinsky, W. B., Lasala, G. P., & Tuzcu, E. M. (2007). Effect of torcetrapib on the progression of coronary atherosclerosis. *The New England Journal* of Medicine, 356(13), 1304–1316. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA070635
- Nissen, S. E., Tuzcu, E. M., Schoenhagen, P., Brown, B. G., Ganz, P., Vogel, R. A., Crowe, T., Howard, G., Cooper, C. J., Brodie, B., Grines, C. L., & DeMaria, A. N. (2004). Effect of intensive compared with moderate lipid-lowering therapy on progression of coronary atherosclerosis: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 291(9), 1071–1080. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.291.9.1071
- Oesterle, A., Laufs, U., & Liao, J. K. (2017). Pleiotropic Effects of Statins on the Cardiovascular System. *Circulation Research*, *120*(1), 229–243. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.308537
- Oleaga, C., Shapiro, M. D., Hay, J., Mueller, P. A., Miles, J., Huang, C., Friz, E., Tavori, H., Toth, P. P., Wójcik, C., Warden, B. A., Purnell, J. Q., Duell, P. B., Pamir, N., & Fazio, S. (2021). Hepatic Sensing Loop Regulates PCSK9 Secretion in Response to Inhibitory Antibodies. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 78(14), 1437–1449. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACC.2021.07.056
- Olivecrona, G. (2016). Role of lipoprotein lipase in lipid metabolism. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 27(3), 233–241. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.0000000000297
- Ong, S.-B., Hernández-Reséndiz, S., Crespo-Avilan, G. E., Mukhametshina, R. T., Kwek, X.-Y., Cabrera-Fuentes, H. A., & Hausenloy, D. J. (2018). Inflammation following acute myocardial infarction: Multiple players, dynamic roles, and novel therapeutic opportunities. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 186, 73–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2018.01.001
- Pacher, P., Nagayama, T., Mukhopadhyay, P., Bátkai, S., & Kass, D. A. (2008). Measurement of cardiac function using pressure-volume conductance catheter technique in mice and rats. *Nature Protocols*, 3(9), 1422–1434. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2008.138

- Palinski, W., Tangirala, R. K., Miller, E., Young, S. G., & Witztum, J. L. (1995). Increased autoantibody titers against epitopes of oxidized LDL in LDL receptor-deficient mice with increased atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 15(10), 1569–1576. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.15.10.1569/FORMAT/EPUB
- Pastori, D., Nocella, C., Farcomeni, A., Bartimoccia, S., Santulli, M., Vasaturo, F., Carnevale, R., Menichelli, D., Violi, F., Pignatelli, P., Saliola, M., Casciaro, M. A., Ferro, D., Vicario, T., Albanese, F., Cribari, F., Paladino, A., Del Sole, F., Novo, M., ... Sabbatini, E. (2017). Relationship of PCSK9 and Urinary Thromboxane Excretion to Cardiovascular Events in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 70(12), 1455–1462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.07.743
- Patel, S., Mastrogiacomo, L., Fulmer, M., Shi, Y., & Werstuck, G. H. (2022). Deletion of Macrophage-Specific Glycogen Synthase Kinase (GSK)-3α Promotes Atherosclerotic Regression in Ldlr–/– Mice. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(16), 9293. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS23169293/S1
- Pavanello, C., & Calabresi, L. (2020). Genetic, biochemical, and clinical features of LCAT deficiency: update for 2020. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 31(4), 232–237. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.0000000000697
- Pei, Y., Chen, X., Aboutouk, D., Fuller, M. T., Dadoo, O., Yu, P., White, E. J., Igdoura, S. A., & Trigatti, B. L. (2013). SR-BI in Bone Marrow Derived Cells Protects Mice from Diet Induced Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis and Myocardial Infarction. *PLOS ONE*, 8(8), e72492. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0072492
- Pekkanen, J., Linn, S., Heiss, G., Suchindran, C. M., Leon, A., Rifkind, B. M., & Tyroler, H. A. (1990). Ten-Year Mortality from Cardiovascular Disease in Relation to Cholesterol Level among Men with and without Preexisting Cardiovascular Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 322(24), 1700–1707. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199006143222403
- Peled, M., Nishi, H., Weinstock, A., Barrett, T. J., Zhou, F., Quezada, A., & Fisher, E. A. (2017). A wild-type mouse-based model for the regression of inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Plos ONE*, *12*(3), e0173975. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0173975
- Peyot, M. L., Roubtsova, A., Lussier, R., Chamberland, A., Essalmani, R., Murthy Madiraju, S. R., Seidah, N. G., Prentki, M., & Prat, A. (2021). Substantial PCSK9 inactivation in β-cells does not modify glucose homeostasis or insulin secretion in mice. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, *1866*(8), 158968. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBALIP.2021.158968
- Phillips, M. C. (2014). Molecular Mechanisms of Cellular Cholesterol Efflux. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 289(35), 24020–24029. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.R114.583658

- Piedrahita, J. A., Zhang, S. H., Hagaman, J. R., Oliver, P. M., & Maeda, N. (1992). Generation of mice carrying a mutant apolipoprotein E gene inactivated by gene targeting in embryonic stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 89(10), 4471. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.89.10.4471
- Plump, A. S., Smith, J. D., Hayek, T., Aalto-Setälä, K., Walsh, A., Verstuyft, J. G., Rubin, E. M., & Breslow, J. L. (1992a). Severe hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice created by homologous recombination in ES cells. *Cell*, 71(2), 343–353. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(92)90362-G
- Plump, A. S., Smith, J. D., Hayek, T., Aalto-Setälä, K., Walsh, A., Verstuyft, J. G., Rubin, E. M., & Breslow, J. L. (1992b). Severe hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice created by homologous recombination in ES cells. *Cell*, 71(2), 343–353.
- Podrez, E. A., Byzova, T. V., Febbraio, M., Salomon, R. G., Ma, Y., Valiyaveettil, M., Poliakov, E., Sun, M., Finton, P. J., Curtis, B. R., Chen, J., Zhang, R., Silverstein, R. L., & Hazen, S. L. (2007). Platelet CD36 links hyperlipidemia, oxidant stress and a prothrombotic phenotype. *Nature Medicine*, *13*(9), 1086–1095. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1626
- Podrez, E. A., Febbraio, M., Sheibani, N., Schmitt, D., Silverstein, R. L., Hajjar, D. P., Cohen, P. A., Frazier, W. A., Hoff, H. F., & Hazen, S. L. (2000). Macrophage scavenger receptor CD36 is the major receptor for LDL modified by monocytegenerated reactive nitrogen species. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 105(8), 1095– 1108. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI8574
- Poirier, S., Mayer, G., Benjannet, S., Bergeron, E., Marcinkiewicz, J., Nassoury, N., Mayer, H., Nimpf, J., Prat, A., & Seidah, N. G. (2008). The Proprotein Convertase PCSK9 Induces the Degradation of Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor (LDLR) and Its Closest Family Members VLDLR and ApoER2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(4), 2363–2372. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M708098200
- Poirier, S., Mayer, G., Poupon, V., McPherson, P. S., Desjardins, R., Ly, K., Asselin, M.-C., Day, R., Duclos, F. J., Witmer, M., Parker, R., Prat, A., & Seidah, N. G. (2009). Dissection of the endogenous cellular pathways of PCSK9-induced low density lipoprotein receptor degradation: evidence for an intracellular route. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(42), 28856–28864. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.037085
- Prabhu, S. D., & Frangogiannis, N. G. (2016). The biological basis for cardiac repair after myocardial infarction. *Circulation Research*, 119(1), 91–112. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303577/FORMAT/EPUB

- Pryma, C. S., Ortega, C., Dubland, J. A., & Francis, G. A. (2019). Pathways of smooth muscle foam cell formation in atherosclerosis. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 30(2), 117–124. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.00000000000574
- Qi, Z., Hu, L., Zhang, J., Yang, W., Liu, X., Jia, D., Yao, Z., Chang, L., Pan, G., Zhong, H., Luo, X., Yao, K., Sun, A., Qian, J., Ding, Z., & Ge, J. (2021a). PCSK9 (Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin 9) Enhances Platelet Activation, Thrombosis, and Myocardial Infarct Expansion by Binding to Platelet CD36. *Circulation*, 143(1), 45–61. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.046290
- Qi, Z., Hu, L., Zhang, J., Yang, W., Liu, X., Jia, D., Yao, Z., Chang, L., Pan, G., Zhong, H., Luo, X., Yao, K., Sun, A., Qian, J., Ding, Z., & Ge, J. (2021b). PCSK9 (Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin 9) Enhances Platelet Activation, Thrombosis, and Myocardial Infarct Expansion by Binding to Platelet CD36. *Circulation*, 143(1), 45–61. https://www-ahajournals-org.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/doi/abs/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.046290
- Qian, Y. W., Schmidt, R. J., Zhang, Y., Chu, S., Lin, A., Wang, H., Wang, X., Beyer, T. P., Bensch, W. R., Li, W., Ehsani, M. E., Lu, D., Konrad, R. J., Eacho, P. I., Moller, D. E., Karathanasis, S. K., & Cao, G. (2007). Secreted PCSK9 downregulates low density lipoprotein receptor through receptor-mediated endocytosis. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 48(7), 1488–1498. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.M700071-JLR200
- Quan, Y., Xin, Y., Tian, G., Zhou, J., & Liu, X. (2020). Mitochondrial ROS-Modulated mtDNA: A Potential Target for Cardiac Aging. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2020, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/9423593
- Raal, F. J., Kallend, D., Ray, K. K., Turner, T., Koenig, W., Wright, R. S., Wijngaard, P. L. J., Curcio, D., Jaros, M. J., Leiter, L. A., & Kastelein, J. J. P. (2020). Inclisiran for the Treatment of Heterozygous Familial Hypercholesterolemia. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 382(16), 1520–1530. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1913805/SUPPL_FILE/NEJMOA1913805_DATA -SHARING.PDF
- Rahman, K., & Fisher, E. A. (2018). Insights From Pre-Clinical and Clinical Studies on the Role of Innate Inflammation in Atherosclerosis Regression. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2018.00032
- Rahman, K., Vengrenyuk, Y., Ramsey, S. A., Vila, N. R., Girgis, N. M., Liu, J., Gusarova, V., Gromada, J., Weinstock, A., Moore, K. J., Loke, P., & Fisher, E. A. (2017).
 Inflammatory Ly6Chi monocytes and their conversion to M2 macrophages drive atherosclerosis regression. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *127*(8), 2904–2915. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI75005
- Ray, K. K., Wright, R. S., Kallend, D., Koenig, W., Leiter, L. A., Raal, F. J., Bisch, J. A., Richardson, T., Jaros, M., Wijngaard, P. L. J., & Kastelein, J. J. P. (2020). Two Phase

3 Trials of Inclisiran in Patients with Elevated LDL Cholesterol. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *382*(16), 1507–1519. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1912387/SUPPL_FILE/NEJMOA1912387_DATA -SHARING.PDF

- Rayner, K. J. (2017). Cell death in the vessel wall: The good, the bad, the ugly. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *37*(7), e75. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.309229
- Rayner, K. J., Sheedy, F. J., Esau, C. C., Hussain, F. N., Temel, R. E., Parathath, S., Van Gils, J. M., Rayner, A. J., Chang, A. N., Suarez, Y., Fernandez-Hernando, C., Fisher, E. A., & Moore, K. J. (2011). Antagonism of miR-33 in mice promotes reverse cholesterol transport and regression of atherosclerosis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *121*(7), 2921–2931. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI57275
- Reddick, R. L., Zhang, S. H., & Maeda, N. (1994). Atherosclerosis in mice lacking Apo E
 Evaluation of lesional development and progression. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis,* and Vascular Biology, 14(1), 141–147. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.14.1.141
- Reis, E. D., Li, J., Fayad, Z. A., Rong, J. X., Hansoty, D., Aguinaldo, J. G., Fallon, J. T., & Fisher, E. A. (2001). Dramatic remodeling of advanced atherosclerotic plaques of the apolipoprotein e-deficient mouse in a novel transplantation model. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, 34(3), 541–547. https://doi.org/10.1067/mva.2001.115963
- Ricci, C., Pastukh, V., Leonard, J., Turrens, J., Wilson, G., Schaffer, D., & Schaffer, S. W. (2008). Mitochondrial DNA damage triggers mitochondrial-superoxide generation and apoptosis. *American Journal of Physiology - Cell Physiology*, 294(2), 413–422. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00362.2007
- Ricci, C., Ruscica, M., Camera, M., Rossetti, L., Macchi, C., Colciago, A., Zanotti, I., Lupo, M. G., Adorni, M. P., Cicero, A. F. G., Fogacci, F., Corsini, A., & Ferri, N. (2018a). PCSK9 induces a pro-inflammatory response in macrophages. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 2267. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20425-x
- Ricci, C., Ruscica, M., Camera, M., Rossetti, L., Macchi, C., Colciago, A., Zanotti, I., Lupo, M. G., Adorni, M. P., Cicero, A. F. G., Fogacci, F., Corsini, A., & Ferri, N. (2018b). PCSK9 induces a pro-inflammatory response in macrophages. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 2267. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20425-x
- Ridker, P. M., Danielson, E., Fonseca, F. A. H., Genest, J., Gotto, A. M., Kastelein, J. J. P., Koenig, W., Libby, P., Lorenzatti, A. J., Macfadyen, J. G., Nordestgaard, B. G., Shepherd, J., Willerson, J. T., & Glynn, R. J. D. (2008). Rosuvastatin to Prevent Vascular Events in Men and Women with Elevated C-Reactive Protein. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *359*(21), 2195–2207. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0807646
- Ridker, P. M., Everett, B. M., Thuren, T., MacFadyen, J. G., Chang, W. H., Ballantyne, C., Fonseca, F., Nicolau, J., Koenig, W., Anker, S. D., Kastelein, J. J. P., Cornel, J. H.,

Pais, P., Pella, D., Genest, J., Cifkova, R., Lorenzatti, A., Forster, T., Kobalava, Z., ... Glynn, R. J. (2017). Antiinflammatory Therapy with Canakinumab for Atherosclerotic Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *377*(12), 1119–1131. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1707914

- Ridker, P. M., Tardif, J.-C., Amarenco, P., Duggan, W., Glynn, R. J., Jukema, J. W., Kastelein, J. J. P., Kim, A. M., Koenig, W., Nissen, S., Revkin, J., Rose, L. M., Santos, R. D., Schwartz, P. F., Shear, C. L., & Yunis, C. (2017). Lipid-Reduction Variability and Antidrug-Antibody Formation with Bococizumab. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 376(16), 1517–1526. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1614062
- Rigotti, A., Miettinen, H. E., & Krieger, M. (2003). The role of the high-density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI in the lipid metabolism of endocrine and other tissues. *Endocrine Reviews*, 24(3), 357–387. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2001-0037
- Rigotti, A., Trigatti, B. L., Penman, M., Rayburn, H., Herz, J., & Krieger, M. (1997a). A targeted mutation in the murine gene encoding the high density lipoprotein (HDL) receptor scavenger receptor class B type I reveals its key role in HDL metabolism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(23), 12610–12615. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.94.23.12610
- Rigotti, A., Trigatti, B. L., Penman, M., Rayburn, H., Herz, J., & Krieger, M. (1997b). A targeted mutation in the murine gene encoding the high density lipoprotein (HDL) receptor scavenger receptor class B type I reveals its key role in HDL metabolism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(23), 12610–12615.
- Robinson, J. G., Farnier, M., Krempf, M., Bergeron, J., Luc, G., Averna, M., Stroes, E. S., Langslet, G., Raal, F. J., El Shahawy, M., Koren, M. J., Lepor, N. E., Lorenzato, C., Pordy, R., Chaudhari, U., & Kastelein, J. J. P. (2015). Efficacy and Safety of Alirocumab in Reducing Lipids and Cardiovascular Events. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 372(16), 1489–1499. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1501031
- Roth, E. M., Mckenney, J. M., Hanotin, C., & Stein, E. A. (2012). Atorvastatin with or without an Antibody to PCSK9 in Primary Hypercholesterolemia A BS T R AC T. N Engl J Med, 367, 1891–1900. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1201832
- Roth, G. A., Abate, D., Abate, K. H., Abay, S. M., Abbafati, C., Abbasi, N., Abbastabar, H., Abd-Allah, F., Abdela, J., Abdelalim, A., Abdollahpour, I., Abdulkader, R. S., Abebe, H. T., Abebe, M., Abebe, Z., Abejie, A. N., Abera, S. F., Abil, O. Z., Abraha, H. N., ... Murray, C. J. L. (2018). Global, regional, and national age-sex-specific mortality for 282 causes of death in 195 countries and territories, 1980–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet (London, England)*, 392(10159), 1736. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32203-7
- Roubtsova, A., Munkonda, M. N., Awan, Z., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Lazure, C., Cianflone, K., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2011a). Circulating Proprotein

Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin 9 (PCSK9) Regulates VLDLR Protein and Triglyceride Accumulation in Visceral Adipose Tissue. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *31*(4), 785–791. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.220988

- Roubtsova, A., Munkonda, M. N., Awan, Z., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Lazure, C., Cianflone, K., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2011b). Circulating proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 (PCSK9) regulates VLDLR protein and triglyceride accumulation in visceral adipose tissue. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 31(4), 785–791. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.220988
- Rye, K. A., & Barter, P. J. (2004). Formation and Metabolism of Prebeta-Migrating, Lipid-Poor Apolipoprotein A-I. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 24(3), 421–428. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000104029.74961.F5
- Sabatine, M. S., Giugliano, R. P., Keech, A. C., Honarpour, N., Wiviott, S. D., Murphy, S. A., Kuder, J. F., Wang, H., Liu, T., Wasserman, S. M., Sever, P. S., & Pedersen, T. R. (2017). Evolocumab and Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Cardiovascular Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 376(18), 1713–1722. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1615664
- Sabatine, M. S., Giugliano, R. P., Wiviott, S. D., Raal, F. J., Blom, D. J., Robinson, J., Ballantyne, C. M., Somaratne, R., Legg, J., Wasserman, S. M., Scott, R., Koren, M. J., & Stein, E. A. (2015). Efficacy and Safety of Evolocumab in Reducing Lipids and Cardiovascular Events. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 372(16), 1500–1509. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1500858
- Sacks, F. M., Acks, M. S., Feffer, A. A. P., Oye, E. A. M., Ean, J., Ouleau, L. R., Utherford, O. D. R., Ole, H. G. C., Rown, I. B., Ayne, J. W., Arnica, W., Alcolm, J. M., Rnold, O. A., Huan -C Huan, C., Un, W., Avis, A. R. D., Ugene, E., Raunwald, B., Ecurrent, R., ... Nvestigators, I. (1996). The Effect of Pravastatin on Coronary Events after Myocardial Infarction in Patients with Average Cholesterol Levels. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 335, 1001–1009.
- Sahng, W. P., Moon, Y. A., & Horton, J. D. (2004). Post-transcriptional regulation of low density lipoprotein receptor protein by proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9a in mouse liver. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(48), 50630–50638. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M410077200
- Saigusa, R., Winkels, H., & Ley, K. (2020a). T cell subsets and functions in atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 17(7), 387–401. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41569-020-0352-5
- Saigusa, R., Winkels, H., & Ley, K. (2020b). T cell subsets and functions in atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 17(7), 387–402. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41569-020-0352-5
- Sakurai, I., Tosaka, A., Yamada, T., & Masubuchi, K. (1978). HISTOCHEMICAL STUDY ON LIPID METABOLISM IN ACUTE MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION.

Pathology International, *28*(5), 669–675. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1440-1827.1978.TB00906.X

- Santos, R. D., Gidding, S. S., Hegele, R. A., Cuchel, M. A., Barter, P. J., Watts, G. F., Baum, S. J., Catapano, A. L., Chapman, M. J., Defesche, J. C., Folco, E., Freiberger, T., Genest, J., Hovingh, G. K., Harada-Shiba, M., Humphries, S. E., Jackson, A. S., Mata, P., Moriarty, P. M., ... Yamashita, S. (2016). Defining severe familial hypercholesterolaemia and the implications for clinical management: a consensus statement from the International Atherosclerosis Society Severe Familial Hypercholesterolemia Panel. *The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology*, 4(10), 850–861. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(16)30041-9
- Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study Group. (1994). Randomised trial of cholesterol lowering in 4444 patients with coronary heart disease: the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S). *The Lancet*, 344(8934), 1383–1389. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(94)90566-5
- Schlüter, K. D., Wolf, A., Weber, M., Schreckenberg, R., & Schulz, R. (2017). Oxidized low-density lipoprotein (oxLDL) affects load-free cell shortening of cardiomyocytes in a proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 (PCSK9)-dependent way. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, *112*(6), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00395-017-0650-1
- Schroeter, M. R., Humboldt, T., Schäfer, K., & Konstantinides, S. (2009). Rosuvastatin reduces atherosclerotic lesions and promotes progenitor cell mobilisation and recruitment in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. *Atherosclerosis*, 205(1), 63–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ATHEROSCLEROSIS.2008.11.013
- Schuster, S., Rubil, S., Endres, M., Princen, H. M. G., Boeckel, J.-N., Winter, K., Werner, C., & Laufs, U. (2019). Anti-PCSK9 antibodies inhibit pro-atherogenic mechanisms in APOE*3Leiden.CETP mice. *Scientific Reports*, 9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47242-0
- Schwartz, G. G., Steg, P. G., Szarek, M., Bhatt, D. L., Bittner, V. A., Diaz, R., Edelberg, J. M., Goodman, S. G., Hanotin, C., Harrington, R. A., Jukema, J. W., Lecorps, G., Mahaffey, K. W., Moryusef, A., Pordy, R., Quintero, K., Roe, M. T., Sasiela, W. J., Tamby, J.-F., ... Zeiher, A. M. (2018). Alirocumab and Cardiovascular Outcomes after Acute Coronary Syndrome. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *379*(22), 2097–2107. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1801174
- Schwenke, D. C., & Carew, T. E. (1989). Initiation of atherosclerotic lesions in cholesterol-fed rabbits. II. Selective retention of LDL vs. selective increases in LDL permeability in susceptible sites of arteries. *Arteriosclerosis*, 9(6), 908–918. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.9.6.908
- Seidah, N. G., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Marcinkiewicz, J., Bélanger Jasmin, S., Stifani, S., Basak, A., Prat, A., & Chrétien, M. (2003a). The secretory proprotein convertase neural apoptosis-regulated convertase 1 (NARC-1): Liver regeneration

and neuronal differentiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(3), 928–933. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0335507100

- Seidah, N. G., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Marcinkiewicz, J., Bélanger Jasmin, S., Stifani, S., Basak, A., Prat, A., & Chrétien, M. (2003b). The secretory proprotein convertase neural apoptosis-regulated convertase 1 (NARC-1): Liver regeneration and neuronal differentiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(3), 928–933. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0335507100
- Seidah, N. G., & Garçon, D. (2022). Expanding Biology of PCSK9: Roles in Atherosclerosis and Beyond. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports*, 24(10), 821. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11883-022-01057-Z
- Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2022). The Multifaceted Biology of PCSK9. *Endocrine Reviews*, 43(3), 558–582. https://doi.org/10.1210/ENDREV/BNAB035
- Serhan, C. N., Chiang, N., & Van Dyke, T. E. (2008). Resolving inflammation: dual antiinflammatory and pro-resolution lipid mediators. *Nature Reviews Immunology 2008* 8:5, 8(5), 349–361. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2294
- Shah, P. K., Yano, J., Reyes, O., Chyu, K. Y., Kaul, S., Bisgaier, C. L., Drake, S., & Cercek, B. (2001). High-Dose Recombinant Apolipoprotein A-IMilano Mobilizes Tissue Cholesterol and Rapidly Reduces Plaque Lipid and Macrophage Content in Apolipoprotein E–Deficient Mice. *Circulation*, 103(25), 3047–3050. https://doi.org/10.1161/HC2501.092494
- Shankman, L. S., Gomez, D., Cherepanova, O. A., Salmon, M., Alencar, G. F., Haskins, R. M., Swiatlowska, P., Newman, A. A. C., Greene, E. S., Straub, A. C., Isakson, B., Randolph, G. J., & Owens, G. K. (2015). KLF4-dependent phenotypic modulation of smooth muscle cells has a key role in atherosclerotic plaque pathogenesis. *Nature Medicine*, 21(6), 628–637. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3866
- Shapiro, M. D., Miles, J., Tavori, H., & Fazio, S. (2018). Diagnosing resistance to a proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 inhibitor. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 168(5), 376–379. https://doi.org/10.7326/M17-2485
- Shen, W. J., Azhar, S., & Kraemer, F. B. (2018). SR-B1: A Unique Multifunctional Receptor for Cholesterol Influx and Efflux. *Annual Review of Physiology*, 80, 95– 116. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-PHYSIOL-021317-121550
- Silverman, M. G., Ference, B. A., Im, K., Wiviott, S. D., Giugliano, R. P., Grundy, S. M., Braunwald, E., & Sabatine, M. S. (2016). Association between lowering LDL-C and cardiovascular risk reduction among different therapeutic interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association*, *316*(12), 1289–1297. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.13985

Ph.D. Thesis – T. Xiong; McMaster University – Medical Sciences.

- Silverstein, R. L., & Febbraio, M. (2009). CD36, a Scavenger Receptor Involved in Immunity, Metabolism, Angiogenesis, and Behavior. *Science Signaling*, 2(72), re3. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.272re3
- Soraya, T., Alain, T., & Ziad, M. (2015). IL-17 and Th17 Cells in Atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 35(2), 258–264. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.303567
- Sun, H., Krauss, R. M., Chang, J. T., & Teng, B. B. (2018). PCSK9 deficiency reduces atherosclerosis, apolipoprotein b secretion, and endothelial dysfunction. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 59(2), 207–223. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M078360
- Tabas, I., García-Cardeña, G., & Owens, G. K. (2015). Recent insights into the cellular biology of atherosclerosis. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 209(1), 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201412052
- Tabas, I., & Ron, D. (2011). Integrating the mechanisms of apoptosis induced by endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Nature Cell Biology*, 13(3), 184. https://doi.org/10.1038/NCB0311-184
- Tang, Z. H., Peng, J., Ren, Z., Yang, J., Li, T. T., Li, T. H., Wang, Z., Wei, D. H., Liu, L. S., Zheng, X. L., & Jiang, Z. S. (2017). New role of PCSK9 in atherosclerotic inflammation promotion involving the TLR4/NF-κB pathway. *Atherosclerosis*, 262, 113–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2017.04.023
- Tang, Z., Jiang, L., Peng, J., Ren, Z., Wei, D., Wu, C., Pan, L., Jiang, Z., & Liu, L. (2012). PCSK9 siRNA suppresses the inflammatory response induced by oxLDL through inhibition of NF-κB activation in THP-1-derived macrophages. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 30(4), 931–938. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2012.1072
- TANG, Z., JIANG, L., PENG, J., REN, Z., WEI, D., WU, C., PAN, L., JIANG, Z., LIU, L., Wei, D., Wu, C., Wu, C., Pan, L., Pan, L., Jiang, Z., Jiang, Z., Liu, L., & Liu, L. (2012). PCSK9 siRNA suppresses the inflammatory response induced by oxLDL through inhibition of NF-κB activation in THP-1-derived macrophages. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 30(4), 931–938. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2012.1072
- Tang, Z.-H., Peng, J., Ren, Z., Yang, J., Li, T.-T., Li, T.-H., Wang, Z., Wei, D.-H., Liu, L.-S., Zheng, X.-L., & Jiang, Z.-S. (2017). New role of PCSK9 in atherosclerotic inflammation promotion involving the TLR4/NF-κB pathway. *Atherosclerosis*, 262, 113–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2017.04.023
- Tangirala, R. K., Tsukamoto, K., Chun, S. H., Usher, D., Puré, E., & Rader, D. J. (1999). Regression of atherosclerosis induced by liver-directed gene transfer of apolipoprotein A-I in mice. *Circulation*, 100(17), 1816–1822. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.100.17.1816/FORMAT/EPUB

- Tantry, U. S., Mahla, E., & Gurbel, P. A. (2009). Aspirin Resistance. Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases, 52(2), 141–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2009.05.001
- Tao, H., Yancey, P. G., Babaev, V. R., Blakemore, J. L., Zhang, Y., Ding, L., Fazio, S., & Linton, M. F. (2015). Macrophage SR-BI mediates efferocytosis via Src/PI3K/Rac1 signaling and reduces atherosclerotic lesion necrosis. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 56(8), 1449–1460. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.M056689
- Tavori, H., Giunzioni, I., Predazzi, I. M., Plubell, D., Shivinsky, A., Miles, J., DeVay, R. M., Liang, H., Rashid, S., Linton, M. F., & Fazio, S. (2016). Human PCSK9 promotes hepatic lipogenesis and atherosclerosis development via apoE-and LDLR-mediated mechanisms. *Cardiovascular Research*, 110(2), 268–278. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvw053
- Taylor, B. A., & Thompson, P. D. (2016). Statins and Their Effect on PCSK9—Impact and Clinical Relevance. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports*, 18(8). https://doi.org/10.1007/S11883-016-0604-3
- Tikka, A., & Jauhiainen, M. (2020). The role of ANGPTL3 in controlling lipoprotein metabolism. *Endocrine*, 52, 187–193. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-015-0838-9
- Townsend, D. W. (2016). Measuring pressure volume loops in the mouse. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, 2016(111), e53810. https://doi.org/10.3791/53810
- Trigatti, B. L. (2017). SR-B1 and PDZK1: Partners in HDL regulation. Current Opinion in Lipidology, 28(2), 201–208. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.0000000000396
- Trigatti, B. L., & Fuller, M. (2016a). HDL signaling and protection against coronary artery atherosclerosis in mice. *The Journal of Biomedical Research*, *30*(2), 94–100. https://doi.org/10.7555/JBR.30.20150079
- Trigatti, B. L., & Fuller, M. (2016b). HDL signaling and protection against coronary artery atherosclerosis in mice. *Journal of Biomedical Research*, *30*(2), 94–100. https://doi.org/10.7555/JBR.30.20150079
- Trigatti, B. L., Krieger, M., & Rigotti, A. (2003). Influence of the HDL receptor SR-BI on lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 23(10), 1732–1738. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000091363.28501.84
- Trigatti, B. L., Rigotti, A., & Braun, A. (2000). Cellular and physiological roles of SR-BI, a lipoprotein receptor which mediates selective lipid uptake. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, 1529(1–3), 276–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1388-1981(00)00154-2
- Trigatti, B., Rayburn, H., Vin[°]als, M. V., Braun, A., Miettinen, H., Penman, M., Hertz, M., Schrenzel, M., Amigo, L., Rigotti, A., & Krieger, M. (1999). Influence of the high

density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI on reproductive and cardiovascular pathophysiology. *Medical Sciences*, *96*, 9322–9327. www.pnas.org.

Trigatti, B., Rigotti, A., & Krieger, M. (2000). The role of the high-density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI in cholesterol metabolism. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 11(2), 123–131. https://doi.org/10.1097/00041433-200004000-00004

Trogan, E., Feig, J. E., Dogan, S., Rothblat, G. H., ronique Angeli, V., Tacke, F., Randolph, G. J., & Fisher, E. A. (2006). Gene expression changes in foam cells and the role of chemokine receptor CCR7 during atherosclerosis regression in ApoEdeficient mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103(10), 3781–3786. www.pnas.orgcgidoi10.1073pnas.0511043103

- Van Craeyveld, E., Gordts, S. C., Nefyodova, E., Jacobs, F., & De Geest, B. (2011). Regression and stabilization of advanced murine atherosclerotic lesions: a comparison of LDL lowering and HDL raising gene transfer strategies. *Journal of Molecular Medicine (Berlin, Germany)*, 89(6), 555. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00109-011-0722-X
- van den Maagdenberg, A. M. J. M., de Knijff, P., Stalenhoef, A. F. H., Gevers Leuven, J. A., Havekes, L. M., & Frants, R. R. (1989). Apolipoprotein E*3-Leiden allele results from a partial gene duplication in exon 4. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 165(2), 851–857. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-291X(89)80044-0
- Van den Maagdenberg, A. M. J. M., Hofker, M. H., Krimpenfort, P. J. A., De Bruijn, I., Van Vlijmen, B., Van der Boom, H., Havekes, L. M., & Frants, R. R. (1993). Transgenic mice carrying the apolipoprotein E3-Leiden gene exhibit hyperlipoproteinemia. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 268(14), 10540–10545. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(18)82232-3
- Van Der Laan, A. M., Ter Horst, E. N., Delewi, R., Begieneman, M. P. V., Krijnen, P. A. J., Hirsch, A., Lavaei, M., Nahrendorf, M., Horrevoets, A. J., Niessen, H. W. M., & Piek, J. J. (2014). Monocyte subset accumulation in the human heart following acute myocardial infarction and the role of the spleen as monocyte reservoir. *European Heart Journal*, 35(6), 376–385. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/eht331
- Van Eck, M., Twisk, J., Hoekstra, M., Van Rij, B. T., Van der Lans, C. A. C., Bos, I. S. T., Kruijt, J. K., Kuipers, F., & Van Berkel, T. J. C. (2003). Differential Effects of Scavenger Receptor BI Deficiency on Lipid Metabolism in Cells of the Arterial Wall and in the Liver. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(26), 23699–23705. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M211233200
- Virmani, R., Kolodgie, F. D., Burke, A. P., Farb, A., & Schwartz, S. M. (2000). Lessons From Sudden Coronary Death A Comprehensive Morphological Classification Scheme for Atherosclerotic Lesions. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 20, 1262–1275. http://www.atvbaha.org

- Von Eckardstein, A., Nofer, J.-R., & Assmann, G. (2001). High Density Lipoproteins and Arteriosclerosis Role of Cholesterol Efflux and Reverse Cholesterol Transport. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1, 20, 13–27. http://atvb.ahajour-*
- Waltmann, M. D., Basford, J. E., Konaniah, E. S., Weintraub, N. L., & Hui, D. Y. (2014a). Apolipoprotein E receptor-2 deficiency enhances macrophage susceptibility to lipid accumulation and cell death to augment atherosclerotic plaque progression and necrosis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1842(9), 1395–1405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.05.009
- Waltmann, M. D., Basford, J. E., Konaniah, E. S., Weintraub, N. L., & Hui, D. Y. (2014b). Apolipoprotein E receptor-2 deficiency enhances macrophage susceptibility to lipid accumulation and cell death to augment atherosclerotic plaque progression and necrosis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1842(9), 1395–1405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.05.009
- Wang, F., Li, M., Zhang, A., Li, H., Jiang, C., & Guo, J. (2022). PCSK9 Modulates Macrophage Polarization-Mediated Ventricular Remodeling after Myocardial Infarction. *Journal of Immunology Research*, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/7685796
- Wang, M., & Briggs, M. R. (2004). HDL: The Metabolism, Function, and Therapeutic Importance. *Chemical Reviews*, 104(1), 119–137. https://doi.org/10.1021/CR020466V
- Wang, N., & Tall, A. R. (2016). Cholesterol in platelet biogenesis and activation. *Blood*, *127*(16), 1949–1953. https://doi.org/10.1182/BLOOD-2016-01-631259
- Wang, Y., Dubland, J. A., Allahverdian, S., Asonye, E., Sahin, B., Jaw, J. E., Sin, D. D., Seidman, M. A., Leeper, N. J., & Francis, G. A. (2019). Smooth Muscle Cells Contribute the Majority of Foam Cells in ApoE (Apolipoprotein E)-Deficient Mouse Atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 39(5), 876– 887. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.312434
- Wardell, M. R., Weisgraber, K. H., Havekes, L. M., & Rall, S. C. (1989). Apolipoprotein E3-Leiden contains a seven-amino acid insertion that is a tandem repeat of residues 121–127. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264(35), 21205–21210. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(19)30067-5
- Weber, K. T., Sun, Y., Bhattacharya, S. K., Weber, K. T., Sun, Y., Bhattacharya, S. K., Ahokas, R. A., & Gerling, I. C. (2012). Myofibroblast-mediated mechanisms of pathological remodelling of the heart. *NATURE REVIEWS* | *CARDIOLOGY*, 10, 15– 26. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2012.158
- Westerterp, M., Van Der Hoogt, C. C., De Haan, W., Offerman, E. H., Dallinga-Thie, G. M., Jukema, J. W., Havekes, L. M., & Rensen, P. C. N. (2006). Cholesteryl ester transfer protein decreases high-density lipoprotein and severely aggravates atherosclerosis in APOE*3-Leiden mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular*

Biology, *26*(11), 2552–2559. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000243925.65265.3C/FORMAT/EPUB

- Whitman, S. C. (2004). A Practical Approach to Using Mice in Atherosclerosis Research. *Clin Biochem Rev*, 25, 81–93.
- Wilson, P. W. F., Abbott, R. D., & Castelli, W. P. (1988). High density lipoprotein cholesterol and mortality. The Framingham Heart Study. *Arteriosclerosis*, 8(6), 737– 741. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.8.6.737
- Wolska, A., Dunbar, R. L., Freeman, L. A., Ueda, M., Amar, M. J., Sviridov, D. O., & Remaley, A. T. (2017). Apolipoprotein C-II: New findings related to genetics, biochemistry, and role in triglyceride metabolism. *Atherosclerosis*, 267, 49. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ATHEROSCLEROSIS.2017.10.025
- Wong, N. D., Zhao, Y., Quek, R. G. W., Blumenthal, R. S., Budoff, M. J., Cushman, M., Garg, P., Sandfort, V., Tsai, M., & Lopez, J. A. G. (2017). Residual Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease Risk in Statin-Treated Adults: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Journal of Clinical Lipidology*, *11*(5), 1223. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACL.2017.06.015
- Wood, C. D., Thornton, T. M., Sabio, G., Davis, R. A., & Rincon, M. (2009). Nuclear localization of p38 MAPK in response to DNA damage. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, 5(5), 428–437. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.5.428
- Wu, C.-Y., Tang, Z.-H., Jiang, L., Li, X.-F., Jiang, Z.-S., & Liu, L.-S. (2012). PCSK9 siRNA inhibits HUVEC apoptosis induced by ox-LDL via Bcl/Bax–caspase9– caspase3 pathway. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 359(1–2), 347–358. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-011-1028-6
- Wu, Z., Wagner, M. A., Zheng, L., Parks, J. S., Shy, J. M., Smith, J. D., Gogonea, V., & Hazen, S. L. (2007). The refined structure of nascent HDL reveals a key functional domain for particle maturation and dysfunction. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, 14(9), 861–868. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb1284
- Xiong, T., Qian, A. S., & Trigatti, B. L. (2021). The local effects of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) on the inflammatory atheroma: beyond LDL cholesterol lowering. *Vessel Plus*, 5. https://doi.org/10.20517/2574-1209.2020.71
- Xu, S., Ogura, S., Chen, J., Little, P. J., Moss, J., & Liu, P. (2013). LOX-1 in atherosclerosis: Biological functions and pharmacological modifiers. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 70(16), 2859–2872. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00018-012-1194-Z
- Yahagi, K., Kolodgie, F. D., Otsuka, F., Finn, A. V., Davis, H. R., Joner, M., & Virmani, R. (2016). Pathophysiology of native coronary, vein graft, and in-stent atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 13(2), 79–99. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRCARDIO.2015.164

- Yang, M., Cooley, B. C., Li, W., Chen, Y., Vasquez-Vivar, J., Scoggins, N. O., Cameron, S. J., Morrell, C. N., & Silverstein, R. L. (2017). Platelet CD36 promotes thrombosis by activating redox sensor ERK5 in hyperlipidemic conditions. *Blood*, 129(21), 2917–2927. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2016-11-750133
- Yano, T., Miura, T., Ikeda, Y., Matsuda, E., Saito, K., Miki, T., Kobayashi, H., Nishino, Y., Ohtani, S., & Shimamoto, K. (2005). Intracardiac fibroblasts, but not bone marrow derived cells, are the origin of myofibroblasts in myocardial infarct repair. *Cardiovascular Pathology*, 14(5), 241–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CARPATH.2005.05.004
- Yasojima, K., Schwab, C., McGeer, E. G., & McGeer, P. L. (1998). Human Heart Generates Complement Proteins That Are Upregulated and Activated After Myocardial Infarction. *Circulation Research*, 83(8), 860–869. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.83.8.860
- Yu, P., Xiong, T., Tenedero, C. B., Lebeau, P., Ni, R., Macdonald, M. E., Gross, P. L., Austin, R. C., & Trigatti, B. L. (2018). Rosuvastatin Reduces Aortic Sinus and Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis in SR-B1 (Scavenger Receptor Class B Type 1)/ApoE (Apolipoprotein E) Double Knockout Mice Independently of Plasma Cholesterol Lowering. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 38*(1), 26–39. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.305140
- Yurdagul, A., Doran, A. C., Cai, B., Fredman, G., & Tabas, I. A. (2018). Mechanisms and Consequences of Defective efferocytosis in Atherosclerosis. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2017.00086
- Yusuf, S., Reddy, S., Ôunpuu, S., & Anand, S. (2001). Global burden of cardiovascular diseases. Part I: General considerations, the epidemiologic transition, risk factors, and impact of urbanization. *Circulation*, 104(22), 2746–2753. https://doi.org/10.1161/HC4601.099487/FORMAT/EPUB
- Yvan-Charvet, L., Wang, N., & Tall, A. R. (2010). ATVB In Focus HDL Structure, Function, Therapeutics and Imaging Role of HDL, ABCA1, and ABCG1 Transporters in Cholesterol Efflux and Immune Responses. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 30, 139–143. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.179283
- Zadelaar, S., Kleemann, R., Verschuren, L., De Vries-Van Der Weij, J., Van Der Hoorn, J., Princen, H. M., & Kooistra, T. (2007). Mouse Models for Atherosclerosis and Pharmaceutical Modifiers. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 27, 1706–1721. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.142570
- Zaid, A., Roubtsova, A., Essalmani, R., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Hamelin, J., Tremblay, M., Jacques, H., Jin, W., Davignon, J., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2008a).
 Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9): Hepatocyte-specific lowdensity lipoprotein receptor degradation and critical role in mouse liver regeneration. *Hepatology*, 48(2), 646–654. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.22354

- Zaid, A., Roubtsova, A., Essalmani, R., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Hamelin, J., Tremblay, M., Jacques, H., Jin, W., Davignon, J., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2008b).
 Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9): hepatocyte-specific lowdensity lipoprotein receptor degradation and critical role in mouse liver regeneration. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)*, 48(2), 646–654. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.22354
- Zannis, V. I., & Breslow, J. L. (1981). Human Very Low Density Lipoprotein Apolipoprotein E Isoprotein Polymorphism Is Explained by Genetic Variation and Posttranslational Modification. *Biochemistry*, 20(4), 1033–1041. https://doi.org/10.1021/BI00507A059/ASSET/BI00507A059.FP.PNG V03
- Zarubin, T., & Han, J. (2005). Activation and signaling of the p38 MAP kinase pathway. *Cell Research*, 15(1), 11–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cr.7290257
- Zernecke, A., Winkels, H., Cochain, C., Williams, J. W., Wolf, D., Soehnlein, O., Robbins, C. S., Monaco, C., Park, I., McNamara, C. A., Binder, C. J., Cybulsky, M. I., Scipione, C. A., Hedrick, C. C., Galkina, E. V., Kyaw, T., Ghosheh, Y., Dinh, H. Q., & Ley, K. (2020). Meta-analysis of leukocyte diversity in atherosclerotic mouse aortas. *Circulation Research*, *127*(3), 402–426. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.316903/FORMAT/EPUB
- Zhang, D. W., Lagace, T. A., Garuti, R., Zhao, Z., McDonald, M., Horton, J. D., Cohen, J. C., & Hobbs, H. H. (2007). Binding of Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9 to Epidermal Growth Factor-like Repeat A of Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor Decreases Receptor Recycling and Increases Degradation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(25), 18602–18612. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M702027200
- Zhang, L., McCabe, T., Condra, J. H., Ni, Y. G., Peterson, L. B., Wang, W., Strack, A. M., Wang, F., Pandit, S., Hammond, H., Wood, D., Lewis, D., Rosa, R., Mendoza, V., Cumiskey, A. M., Johns, D. G., Hansen, B. C., Shen, X., Geoghagen, N., ... Sitlani, A. (2012). An Anti-PCSK9 Antibody Reduces LDL-Cholesterol On Top Of A Statin And Suppresses Hepatocyte SREBP-Regulated Genes. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, 8(3), 310–327. https://doi.org/10.7150/IJBS.3524
- Zhang, L., McCabe, T., Condra, J. H., Ni, Y. G., Peterson, L. B., Wang, W., Strack, A. M., Wang, F., Pandit, S., Hammond, H., Wood, D., Lewis, D., Rosa, R., Mendoza, V., Marie Cumiskey, A., Johns, D. G., Hansen, B. C., Shen, X., Geoghagen, N., ... Lincoln, E. (2012). An Anti-PCSK9 Antibody Reduces LDL-Cholesterol On Top Of A Statin And Suppresses Hepatocyte SREBP-Regulated Genes. *Ivyspring International Publisher Int. J. Biol. Sci*, 8(3), 310–327. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.3524
- Zhang, S. H., Reddick, R. L., Burkey, B., & Maeda, N. (1994). Diet-induced atherosclerosis in mice heterozygous and homozygous for apolipoprotein E gene disruption. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 94(3), 937. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI117460

- Zhang, S. H., Reddick, R. L., Piedrahita, J. A., & Maeda, N. (1992a). Spontaneous hypercholesterolemia and arterial lesions in mice lacking apolipoprotein E. *Science*, 258(5081), 468–472. https://go-galecom.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/ps/i.do?p=AONE&sw=w&issn=00368075&v=2.1&it =r&id=GALE%7CA12710944&sid=googleScholar&linkaccess=fulltext
- Zhang, S. H., Reddick, R. L., Piedrahita, J. A., & Maeda, N. (1992b). Spontaneous hypercholesterolemia and arterial lesions in mice lacking apolipoprotein E. *Science* (*New York, N.Y.*), 258(5081), 468–471.
- Zhang, W., Yancey, P. G., Su, Y. R., Babaev, V. R., Zhang, Y., Fazio, S., & Linton, M. F. (2003). Inactivation of Macrophage Scavenger Receptor Class B Type I Promotes Atherosclerotic Lesion Development in Apolipoprotein E-Deficient Mice. *Circulation*, 108(18), 2258–2263. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000093189.97429.9D/FORMAT/EPUB
- Zhang, Y., Bao, M., Dai, M., Wang, X., He, W., Tan, T., Lin, D., Wang, W., Wen, Y., & Zhang, R. (2015). Cardiospecific CD36 suppression by lentivirus-mediated RNA interference prevents cardiac hypertrophy and systolic dysfunction in high-fat-diet induced obese mice. *Cardiovascular Diabetology*, 14(1), 69. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12933-015-0234-z
- Zhang, Y., Da Silva, J. R., Reilly, M., Billheimer, J. T., Rothblat, G. H., & Rader, D. J. (2005). Hepatic expression of scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) is a positive regulator of macrophage reverse cholesterol transport in vivo. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 115(10), 2870–2874. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI25327
- Zhang, Y., Qin, W., Zhang, L., Wu, X., Du, N., Hu, Y., Li, X., Shen, N., Xiao, D., Zhang, H., Li, Z., Zhang, Y., Yang, H., Gao, F., Du, Z., Xu, C., & Yang, B. (2015).
 MicroRNA-26a prevents endothelial cell apoptosis by directly targeting TRPC6 in the setting of atherosclerosis. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep09401
- Zymek, P., Bujak, M., Chatila, K., Cieslak, A., Thakker, G., Entman, M. L., & Frangogiannis, N. G. (2006). The Role of Platelet-Derived Growth Factor Signaling in Healing Myocardial Infarcts. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 48(11), 2315–2323. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACC.2006.07.060

Chapter 2: Anti-PCSK9 Antibody Intervention Reduces Plasma Cholesterol Levels and Protects against Established Coronary Artery Disease in *Sr-b1 KO* Mice

Author list: Ting Xiong, Lauren Wong, and Bernardo L. Trigatti

Preface

TX and BLT designed the study, interpreted data, wrote and edited the paper. TX carried out the majority of experiments, data collection, all statistical analysis and lead the writing of the paper. LW carried out some experiments/data analyses (western blot in Figure 1) under the guidance of TX and/or BLT. BLT provided supervisory oversight. All authors contributed to the editing of the manuscript.

2.1 Abstract

Background: PCSK9 inhibition does not lower plasma cholesterol levels in commonly used experimental mouse atherosclerosis models - *ApoE KO* and *Ldlr KO* mice. This is due to the lack of an intact APOE-LDLR axis in these models. To understand the role of PCSK9 inhibition mediated plasma cholesterol lowering on coronary artery atherosclerosis, we tested anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment on HFCC diet (15% fat, 1.25% cholesterol, and 0.5% sodium cholate) induced atherosclerosis in one year old *Sr-b1 KO* mice that develop age and diet dependent coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis.

Hypothesis: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment will reduce plasma cholesterol levels and decrease both new and established HFCC diet induced atherosclerotic plaque development in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries of one year old *Sr-b1 KO* mice. Methods and results: One year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice were fed the HFCC diet to induce atherosclerosis development. Weekly control or anti-PCSK9 antibody (10 mg/kg body weight in 0.9% saline, SQ) treatment was initiated one week before the diet switch to examine effects on new plaque development over 7 weeks of HFCC diet feeding. Alternatively, weekly control or anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment was initiated 7 weeks after the switch to HFCC diet to examine the impacts on the progression of established atherosclerotic plaques over the course of a further 5 weeks of HFCC diet feeding. Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment significantly reduced plasma cholesterol and IL-6 levels in both cases. Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment over the first 7 weeks of HFCC diet feeding

significantly reduced the sizes of atherosclerotic plaques in the aortic sinus and the numbers of coronary artery cross-sections exhibiting atherosclerotic plaque development. Feeding the HFCC diet for a total of 12 weeks resulted in significantly increased sizes of atherosclerotic plaques in the aortic sinus and increased proportions of coronary artery cross-sections exhibiting atherosclerotic plaque development. Treatment with the anti-PCSK9 antibody beginning at 7 weeks of HFCC diet feeding significantly attenuated the continued growth of established atherosclerotic plaques in the aortic sinus and attenuated the increase in coronary artery cross-sections with evidence of atherosclerotic plaque development. One-year-old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks also developed significant myocardial fibrosis and elevated plasma CK-MB, a marker of myocardial damage, both of which were reduced by anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment over the last 5 weeks of HFCC diet feeding.

Conclusion: Anti-PCSK9 antibody decreases plasma cholesterol levels and protects against continued growth of pre-established diet-induced atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries and myocardial damage and fibrosis in one year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice.

2.2 Introduction:

Coronary artery disease (CAD) is one of the leading causes of death worldwide. The underlying mechanism of CAD is the cholesterol-rich and highly inflammatory atherosclerotic plaques that build up in coronary artery walls. High plasma levels of cholesterol associated with apolipoprotein (apo) B-containing low-density lipoproteins (LDLs) initiate and drive atherosclerosis development. LDLs infiltrate into the intima and elicit proinflammatory responses in the susceptible regions of artery walls. Advanced atherosclerotic plaques with large necrotic cores are prone to undergo rupture and/or endothelial erosion triggering atherothrombotic occlusions in the artery lumen, blocking the blood supply to the regions of the myocardium and leading to myocardial infarction (MI), recognized by the release of cardiomyocyte proteins (such as creatine-kinase myocardial band, CK-MB or cardiac Troponin I or T) into the blood (serum or plasma) and myocardial fibrosis.

Proprotein convertase subtilisin like kexin type 9 (PCSK9) is highly expressed in the liver (Seidah et al., 2003b) from which the majority of circulating PCSK9 is derived (Zaid et al., 2008a). PCSK9 is well-known for its role in binding to LDL receptor (LDLR) and mediating LDLR lysosomal degradation in the liver (Benjannet et al., 2004; Maxwell et al., 2005; Maxwell & Breslow, 2004). Therefore, inhibition of PCSK9 reduces LDLR degradation, enhancing cell surface levels of LDLR on hepatocytes and thereby enhancing clearance of LDL from blood. Large clinical trials demonstrated that monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) and a small interfering RNA against PCSK9 substantially

114

lowered plasma LDL cholesterol levels (Raal et al., 2020; Ray et al., 2020; Robinson et al., 2015; Sabatine et al., 2015) and the PCSK9 mAbs reduced cardiovascular events (CV) (Sabatine et al., 2017; Schwartz et al., 2018). The most commonly used murine models of atherosclerosis (Ldlr or ApoE knockout (KO) mice) develop atherosclerosis beginning in their aortic sinuses and extending into the aortic arch and arteries that branch from the arch (e.g. brachiocephalic artery) and the descending aorta, but do not commonly develop atherosclerosis in coronary arteries and do not develop ischemic coronary artery disease characterized by myocardial fibrosis (Gonzalez et al., 2016; Lichtman et al., 1999; Nakashima et al., 1994). Furthermore, these mice do not respond to interventions aimed at increasing LDLR mediated cholesterol lowering because they lack either the LDLR itself or a key ligand of the LDLR, namely apoE. Therefore, they exhibit limitations to study the impacts of PCSK9 inhibition on cholesterol lowering (Ason, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014) and coronary artery atherosclerosis development. On the other hand, PCSK9-inhibition was reported to reduce plasma cholesterol levels in ApoE*3Leiden/CETP transgenic mice which do have an intact LDLR-ApoE axis (Ason, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014; Kühnast, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014; Landlinger et al., 2017). These studies reported that PCSK9 inhibition also reduced atherosclerotic plaque development in these mice (Ason, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014; Kühnast, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014; Landlinger et al., 2017); however, like ApoE KO and Ldlr KO mice, atherosclerosis in ApoE*3Leiden CETP mice does not generally involve the coronary arteries. Therefore, ApoE*3Leiden CETP mice are not well-suited to investigate impacts on ischemic coronary artery disease.

Scavenger receptor class B type 1 (SR-B1) is a high affinity receptor for highdensity lipoproteins (HDLs). SR-B1 mediates selective HDL cholesterol uptake in the liver driving reverse cholesterol transport (Rigotti et al., 1997a). It also mediates cholesterol efflux from macrophages to HDL and HDL signaling in macrophages, endothelial cells, platelets, and cardiomyocytes (Durham, Chathely, & Trigatti, 2018; Durham, Chathely, Mak, et al., 2018; B. L. Trigatti & Fuller, 2016b). Rare loss of function mutations in SCARB1, the gene encoding SR-B1, have been associated with early-onset, severe CAD in people (Koenig et al., 2021). Similarly, knockout of Scarb1 (Sr-b1 KO) in mice that also lack either ApoE or Ldlr expression leads to, respectively, either spontaneous or high fat/high cholesterol diet induced occlusive coronary artery atherosclerosis associated with extensive myocardial fibrosis and reduced survival (Braun et al., 2002; M. Fuller et al., 2014). Furthermore, Sr-b1 single KO mice develop high fat/high cholesterol, cholate containing (HFCC) diet-induced atherosclerosis in coronary arteries as well as in the aortic sinus (M. T. Fuller et al., 2023). The extent of the dietinduced coronary artery atherosclerosis is increased in older (1 year of age) Sr-b1 KO mice and is associated with myocardial fibrosis (Lee, S. K. et al, manuscript in preparation). Therefore, Sr-b1 KO mice may be a useful model of age and diet dependent coronary artery atherosclerosis which is sensitive to interventions targeting LDLR mediated cholesterol lowering, such as anti-PCSK9 antibodies.

In this study, we examined the role of anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment on both the initiation of new atherosclerotic plaque development in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries and on the continued growth of pre-existing atherosclerotic plaques in the aortic
sinuses and coronary arteries of one-year-old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice. We show that weekly anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment reduces plasma total cholesterol and IL-6 levels and that when initiated before diet induction of atherosclerosis development, reduces atherosclerosis in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries of 1 year old *Sr-b1 KO* mice, whereas when initiated 7 weeks into a 12 week course of atherogenic diet feeding, it attenuates the continued growth of atherosclerotic plaques in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries and attenuates the levels of the myocardial damage marker CK-MB and the degree of myocardial fibrosis that develops. This represents the first demonstration of the effects of PCSK9-inhibition mediated cholesterol lowering on coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis in mice and demonstrates the utility of *Sr-b1 single KO* mice as a model of age and diet induced coronary artery disease.

2.3 Materials and Methods:

2.3.1 Mice: All procedures involving mice were approved by the Animal Research Ethics Board of McMaster University and followed the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Mice were housed in the David Braley Research Institute animal facility and had free access to water and a normal diet containing 18% protein, 5% fat and 5% fiber (Teklad, TD2018, Envigo, Madison, WI, USA) or a high fat (15.8%), high cholesterol (1.25%) and sodium cholate containing (0.5%) diet (HFCC diet, Teklad, TD.88051, Envigo, Madison, WI, USA). *Sr-b1 KO* mice were originally provided by Monty Krieger, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, USA. Those mice were backcrossed >10 times onto a C57BL/6/J background in house.

2.3.2 Antibody treatment: The antibody against PCSK9 (anti-PCSK9 antibody) (Ason, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014) was kindly provided by Amgen Inc. This anti-PCSK9 antibody is a chimeric monoclonal antibody containing the variable domains of human IgG against human PCSK9 (Chan et al., 2009) and the constant domains of mouse IgG (Ason, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014). Anti-AGP3 (4D2, kindly provided by Amgen Inc.) or human IgG (027102, Invitrogen Life Technologies Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada) were used as control antibodies. There were no differences observed between anti-AGP3 and human IgG on all parameters we measured in the study and anti-AGP3 and human IgG treated mice were grouped as control antibody treated mice. All experiments used male Sr-b1 KO mice. Sr-b1 KO mice were fed with a normal diet from weaning at three weeks of age until one year old of age. Sr-b1 KO mice were switched to an HFCC diet at one year old of age until the experimental endpoints to induce atherosclerosis development. To investigate the role of anti-PCSK9 antibody on the newly developing atherosclerotic plaques, control antibody or anti-PCSK9 antibody (10 mg/kg body weight in 0.9% saline, SQ) treatment was initiated one week before the diet switch and administrated weekly until the experimental endpoint. This cohort of Sr-b1 KO mice was maintained on the HFCC diet for 7 weeks and was humanely euthanized and analyzed 7 weeks after initiation of HFCC diet feeding. To test the role of anti-PCSK9 antibody on the further development of established atherosclerotic plaques, control antibody or anti-PCSK9 antibody (10 mg/kg body weight in 0.9% saline, SQ) treatment was initiated 7 weeks after the switch to HFCC diet. The antibody treatment was continued weekly until the experimental endpoint. This cohort of Sr-b1 KO mice was maintained on the HFCC diet

for a total of 12 weeks and was humanely euthanized and analyzed after 12 weeks of HFCC diet feeding period. Another cohort of *Sr-b1 KO* mice was fed the HFCC diet for seven weeks and humanely euthanized and analyzed at one year and seven weeks of age. The last cohort of *Sr-b1 KO* mice was fed a normal diet until they were humanely euthanized and analyzed at one year and twelve weeks old of age.

2.3.3 ECG: Mice were anesthetized with isoflurane (1.8% O₂, induction with 5% isoflurane, maintenance with 2.5% isoflurane). ECG tracings were collected from needle electrodes inserted into the skin with a green needle electrode in the left hind limb, a red needle electrode in the left lower chest and a black needle electrode in the right upper chest. ECG tracings were recorded for 3 mins using a PowerLab 8/35 ADINSTRUMENTS and LabChart 8 software (ADInstruments, Inc., CO, USA).

2.3.4 Euthanasia and tissue and blood collection: All mice were fasted for 4 hrs and anesthetized with isoflurane/O₂. Blood for plasma analysis of CK-MB and troponin-I was collected from the submandibular vessel into a heparinized tube. For all other analyses, blood was collected by cardiac puncture into a heparinized syringe. Mice were euthanized by thoracotomy. Heparinized blood was centrifuged at 5,500 xg for 10 min and the plasma was recovered and stored at -80 °C prior to analysis. Tissues were perfused in situ with phosphate buffered saline containing 10 U of heparin/ml. Hearts were frozen in Shandon Cryomatrix (Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON, Canada) and then stored at -80 °C prior to further analysis. Livers were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C for protein analysis. Aortas were harvested and fixed in 10% formalin for further analysis.

2.3.5 Liver total membrane preparation: Liver tissue (0.1 g) in 200 ul of ice-cold homogenization buffer (20mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 2mM MgCl₂, 0.25 M sucrose with the following protease inhibitors added just before use: 50uM PMSF, 2ug/ml pepstatin A, 5ug/ml leupeptin, and 10 ug/ml aprotinin) was homogenized using an Ultra-Turrax tissue homogenizer. The total liver homogenates were centrifuged at 3000 xg for 10 min at 4 °C to pellet nuclei and cell debris. Then, the supernatants were recovered and subjected to ultracentrifugation at 100,000 x g for 60 min at 4 °C using a Beckman Optima MAX-XP ultracentrifuge with an MLA-130 rotor to pellet total membranes. Membrane pellets were re-suspended in 200 μ l of 10 mM sodium phosphate pH 7, containing the protease inhibitors listed above at the indicated concentrations and 0.1% SDS. Samples were then snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C.

2.3.6 SDS – PAGE and immunoblotting: Protein concentrations were determined using the Pierce BCA Protein Assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA). Hepatic total membrane protein samples were separated by SDS–polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) on 12% acrylamide separating gels. Proteins were then transferred onto PVDF membranes in transfer buffer (150 mM glycine, 18 mM Tris-Cl, and 20% methanol). Membranes with proteins were blocked in 5% skim milk (Carnation) in Tris-buffered saline (TBS: 137mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, and 24.8 mM Tris-Cl, pH 7.4) for 1 hr at room temperature. They were then incubated with goat anti-LDLR (R&D Systems, AF2255, Minneapolis, MN, USA), or rabbit anti-ε-COP (Novus Biologicals, NBP2-38512, Colorado, CO, USA) primary antibodies diluted 1:1000 in 3% BSA in TBS at 4°C overnight. Membranes were then washed three times with TBST (TBS plus 0.1% Tween-20) and incubated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated rabbit anti-goat (305-035-003), or donkey anti-rabbit (711-005-152) IgG (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratory, West Grove, PA, USA) secondary antibodies diluted 1:5000 in 5% skim milk in TBS for 1 hr at room temperature. Membranes were washed with TBST three times again. HRP was then detected using the Pierce ECL Western Blotting Substrate kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA) using a Gel Doc instrument (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) and of the protein bands were quantified using Image Lab software (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA).

2.3.7 Plasma protein analysis: Plasma PCSK9, CK-MB, troponin-I, and IL-6 were measured by the mouse proprotein convertase 9 Quantikine ELISA kit (R&D Systems Inc., Minneapolis, MN, USA), the mouse creatine kinase MB ELISA Kit (Novus Biologicals, Colorado, CO, USA), the mouse cardiac troponin-I ELISA kit (Life Diagnostics Inc., Pennsylvania, PA, USA), or the mouse IL-6 ELISA MAX[™] Deluxe Set (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA) respectively according to manufacturer's instructions.

2.3.8 Plasma lipid Analysis: Total cholesterol levels were measured by using the InfinityTM Cholesterol kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON, Canada). Plasma triglyceride levels were measured by using the L-Type Triglyceride M Enzyme Color A and B kit (Wako Diagnosis, Richmond, VA, USA). Plasma unesterified cholesterol was measured by using the free cholesterol E (Wako Diagnosis, Richmond, VA, USA).

2.3.9 Atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis: Transverse cryosections (10 μ m) of hearts were stained for lipids with oil red O. The aortic sinus atherosclerotic plaque volume was

calculated as the area under the curve of the plaque area versus the distance in the aortic sinus. Coronary artery atherosclerotic burdens were measured in 7 sections (300 μ m apart) in the upper portion of the heart, starting from the aortic annulus (0 μ m) and moving towards the apex direction (covering 1800 μ m). The coronary artery occlusion levels were averaged from those 7 sections. Transverse cryosections (10 μ m) of hearts were also stained for myocardial fibrosis with Masson's Trichrome (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON, Canada), which stains healthy myocardium red and collagen blue. An Olympus BX 41 microscope with an automated XY stage was used to collect a gallery of images at 4X magnification for each Trichome-stained transverse section. Slidebook 6 software was used to create a composite image of each transverse section. Five sections (300 μ m apart) starting from the aortic annulus (0 μ m) towards the apical direction (covering 1200 μ m) were analyzed to determine the average myocardial fibrosis levels from each mouse.

2.3.10 Statistical Analysis: GraphPad Prism 9.4.1 software was used for statistical analysis. For the comparison of two groups, data were first subjected to the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Those that did not pass the normality test were analyzed by the Mann-Whitney Rank Sum test. Those which passed the normality test were then subjected to the F-test for comparing variances. Data that had significantly different variances were analyzed by the Student's t test with Welch's correction and data that had equal variances were analyzed by the Student's t test. For comparison of multiple groups, data were also first subjected to the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Data that did not pass the normality test were analyzed by the Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparisons post hoc test.

Data that passed the normality test were then subjected to the Brown-Forsythe test for comparing standard deviations. Those that had significantly different standard deviations were analyzed by Welch's ANOVA test with the two-stage linear step-up procedure of Benjamini, Krieger and Yekutieli post hoc test. Those that had equal standard deviations were analyzed by the ordinary one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc test. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. NS: not statistically significant, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001. Results were considered statistically significant when P < 0.05.

2.4 Results:

2.4.1 Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment increases hepatic LDLR protein levels and lowers plasma cholesterol levels in *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks.

To examine the effects of anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment on the newly developing atherosclerosis, male *Sr-b1 KO* mice were treated with either an anti-PCSK9 or a control antibody (weekly, 10 mg/kg body weight in 0.9% saline, SQ) beginning at age 51 weeks of age. Mice were switched from a normal chow diet to an HFCC diet one week after initiation of antibody treatment (52 weeks of age) until they were humanely euthanized and samples were collected 7 weeks after initiation of HFCC diet feeding (Figure 1A). Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment did not affect body weights (Supplementary Figure 1A) compared to the control antibody treatment. Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment significantly increased plasma PCSK9 levels compared to control antibody treatment (Figure 1B), consistent with previous reports (Byun et al., 2022; Koren et al., 2015; Oleaga et al.,

2021; Ridker et al., 2017; E. M. Roth et al., 2012; Shapiro et al., 2018; L. Zhang et al., 2012). As expected, anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment increased hepatic LDLR protein levels (Figure 1C and D) and significantly reduced plasma total cholesterol levels (Figure 1E) compared to control antibody treatment in *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks. Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment had no effects on the free to total cholesterol ratios (known to be abnormally high in these mice (M. T. Fuller et al., 2023)) or triglycerides (TG) levels (Figure 1F and G).

2.4.2 Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment reduces new atherosclerotic plaque development in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries of *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks.

One year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice treated with the control antibody and fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks developed substantial atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus (Figure 2A, C and D). Treatment with the anti-PCSK9 antibody significantly decreased the atherosclerotic plaque area and the volume of atherosclerotic plaques over the distance of the aortic sinus analyzed (Figure 2A-D). Those control antibody treated *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks also developed atherosclerosis in coronary arteries: $43 \pm 18\%$ of coronary artery cross sections analyzed contained atherosclerotic plaques whereas $57 \pm 18\%$ of coronary artery cross sections were devoid of plaques in the control antibody-treated mice (Figure 2E and F). The extent of coronary artery atherosclerosis was reduced in mice treated with the anti-PCSK9 antibody: $24 \pm 15\%$ of coronary artery cross sections analyzed contained atherosclerosis

artery cross sections contained no plaque (Figure 2E and F). Plasma IL-6 levels were also significantly lower in the anti-PCSK9 antibody treated compared to control antibody-treated mice (Figure 2G). These findings suggest that anti-PCSK9 antibody mediated inhibition of PCSK9 in *Sr-b1 KO* mice increases hepatic LDLR protein levels and reduces HFCC-diet induced hypercholesterolemia, systemic inflammation and atherosclerosis development in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries.

2.4.3 Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment reduces the growth of pre-existing atherosclerotic plaques in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries and myocardial fibrosis in 1 year old *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks.

To determine if anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment of *Sr-b1 KO* mice attenuates the continued development of pre-existing atherosclerotic plaques, 1 year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice were fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks, at which point they started to receive 5 weekly treatments of either the control antibody or anti-PCSK9 antibody while the HFCC diet was maintained. Mice were euthanized and analyzed after a total of 12 weeks of HFCC diet feeding (Figure 3A). As a control, an additional cohort of mice was analyzed after 7 weeks of HFCC diet feeding, corresponding to the time at which anti-PCSK9 or control antibody treatment was initiated (Figure 3A). This provided a baseline measure of the extent of pre-existing atherosclerosis corresponding to the beginning of anti-PCSK9 treatment. Consistent with the results of anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment during the first 7 weeks of HFCC diet feeding (Figure 1A-G), anti-PCSK9 antibody during the last 5 weeks of a total of 12 weeks of HFCC diet feeding did not affect body weights (Supplementary

Figure 1B) but resulted in significantly increased plasma PCSK9 and hepatic LDLR protein levels (Figure 3B-D), and reduced plasma total cholesterol (Figure 3E) but not the abnormally high ratio of free/total cholesterol or TG levels (Figure 3F and G). Very little atherosclerosis was detected in either the aortic sinus or coronary artery cross sections of mice maintained on the normal diet and analyzed at a similar age (Figure 4A, E-G), whereas, as in Figure 2A-F, atherosclerosis was detected in the aortic sinuses and coronary artery cross sections of mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks (Figure 4B, E-G). An additional 5 weeks of HFCC diet feeding (in the presence of the control, non-immune antibody) further promoted the growth of atherosclerotic plaques in the aortic sinus (Figure 4C, E and F) and the proportion of coronary artery cross-sections that contained atherosclerotic plaques (Figure 4G) by approximately 2-fold. Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment during the last 5 weeks of the 12 week HFCC diet feeding period, however resulted in an approximately 50% attenuation of the level of plaque growth in the aortic sinus (Figure 4C-F) and attenuated the increase in the proportions of coronary artery cross sections that contained atherosclerotic plaques (Figure 4G).

Significant fibrosis was detected in the myocardium of the 1 year old *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks which were treated with the control, non-immune antibody, reaching $1.3 \pm 0.7\%$ of the cross-sectional area of the myocardium (Figure 4I and K). The extent of myocardial fibrosis was reduced by approximately 40 % in 1 year old *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks and treated with the anti-PCSK9 antibody for the last 5 weeks of the feeding period (Figure 4I-K). Consistent with the

levels of myocardial fibrosis, control antibody treated mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks exhibited elevated plasma levels of the myocardial damage marker CK-MB and these levels were attenuated in 1 year old Sr-b1 KO mice treated with the anti-PCSK9 antibody during the last 5 weeks of the 12 week HFCC diet feeding period (Figure 4L). Levels of plasma troponin-I, another marker of cardiac damage, were undetectable in all but 2 of the control antibody treated mice, and in all of the anti-PCSK9 antibody treated mice, but differences did not reach statistical significance among the two groups (data not shown). Neither HFCC-diet feeding for 7 weeks or 12 weeks, nor anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment affected cardiac size (heart weight/tibia length; Supplementary Figure 2A,B), suggesting that, unlike the *Sr-b1/ApoE double KO* spontaneous or the *Sr-b1/Ldlr double* KO diet-dependent models of coronary artery atherosclerosis, the extent of myocardial damage and fibrosis was not sufficient to result in cardiomegaly in the one year old Sr-b1 single KO mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks. Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment over the last 5 weeks of the 12 week HFCC diet feeding period was also associated with a reduction in plasma IL-6 levels (Figure 4H), similar to the effects of anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment over the first 7 weeks of HFCC diet feeding (Figure 2G). These findings suggest that anti-PCSK9 antibody mediated PCSK9 inhibition over the last 5 weeks of the 12 weeks HFCC diet feeding period increased hepatic LDLR protein levels and attenuated HFCC-diet induced hypercholesterolemia, systemic inflammation, and the continued growth of pre-existing atherosclerotic plaques in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries as well as the induction of myocardial damage and fibrosis.

2.5 Discussion:

PCSK9 inhibition in experimental mice has been reported to reduce aortic sinus atherosclerosis when cholesterol lowering was achieved (Ason, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014; Kühnast, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014; Landlinger et al., 2017). This has typically been in mice with intact expression of the LDLR and APOE (specifically, ApoE*3Leiden/CETP transgenic mice). In contrast, cholesterol lowering is not typically seen with PCSK9 inhibition in mice lacking expression of either the *Ldlr* or the *ApoE* genes and atherosclerosis reduction is not consistently seen in *ApoE KO* mice in which PCSK9 is inactivated or inhibited (Ason, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014; Denis et al., 2012; Z. H. Tang et al., 2017). Unlike ApoE or Ldlr KO mice, Sr-b1 KO mice are sensitive to PCSK9-inhibition mediated cholesterol lowering (Figures 1E and 3E). Most atherosclerosis susceptible strains of mice, including the Ldlr KO, ApoE KO and ApoE*3Leiden/CETP transgenic mice develop atherosclerosis in their aortic sinuses but only little atherosclerosis in their coronary arteries and do not exhibit significant myocardial fibrosis (Gonzalez et al., 2016). In contrast, one year old Sr-b1 single KO mice (on a C57BL/6J background) fed an HFCC diet for 12 weeks develop extensive coronary artery atherosclerosis accompanied by significant myocardial fibrosis and myocardial damage as evidenced by the levels of CK-MB detected in plasma (Lee, S. K. et al, manuscript in preparation; Figure 4G and I-L). It is important to note that in this study very little atherosclerotic plaque development occurred in either the aortic sinus or in the coronary arteries of 1 year old male *Sr-b1* single KO mice unless they were fed the HFCC diet (Figure 4E-G), consistent with our previous findings in both younger Sr-b1

KO mice (M. Fuller et al., 2014) and 1 year old female Sr-b1 KO mice (Lee, S. K. et al, manuscript in preparation). This demonstrates that there is very little baseline atherosclerosis development in these mice fed a normal chow diet and that atherosclerosis development in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries is mainly HFCC-diet dependent. This allowed us to examine the effects of PCSK9-antibody treatment on the initiation of atherosclerotic plaque development in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries by initiating treatment with either the anti-PCSK9 or control antibodies one week before initiating feeding with the HFCC diet for 7 weeks. This demonstrated that PCKS9inhibition reduced the extent of newly developing atherosclerotic plaques in both the aortic sinus and in coronary arteries of these mice (Figure 2A-F). To examine the effects of PCSK9-inhibition on the continued growth of previously initiated atherosclerosis, one year old male Sr-b1 KO mice were fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks and anti-PCSK9 or control antibody treatment was initiated at week 7. This demonstrated that anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment dramatically attenuated the continued growth of pre-existing atherosclerotic plaques in the aortic sinus and the extent of atherosclerosis development in coronary arteries (Figure 4A-G), and attenuated the degree of myocardial fibrosis and myocardial damage that largely appeared to develop between weeks 7-12 of HFCC diet feeding (Figure 4I-L). This appears to more closely resemble a clinical situation in which patients, presenting with pre-existing coronary atherosclerotic disease, are put on cholesterol lowering therapy, including PCSK9-inhibition.

We noted that while the continued development of atherosclerosis was reduced by anti-PCSK9 treatment, atherosclerosis was not reversed, suggesting that PCSK9-antibody treatment alone, was not sufficient to trigger atherosclerotic plaque regression, at least in this mouse model. Atherosclerotic plaque regression has been reported in a number of pre-clinical mouse atherosclerosis models generally involving transient impairment of *Lldr* or *ApoE* gene expression/activity and high fat/high cholesterol diet feeding, followed by restoration of *Ldlr/ApoE* gene expression/activity and switching back to normal fat/normal cholesterol diets (Feig et al., 2011; Harris et al., 2002; Patel et al., 2022; Reis et al., 2001; Van Craeyveld et al., 2011). Other studies have demonstrated that atherosclerotic plaque regression can be induced pre-clinically in mouse models by enhancing apoA1 levels in addition to reducing total plasma cholesterol levels, suggesting that HDL mediated reverse cholesterol transport may be required (Shah et al., 2001; Tangirala et al., 1999). Whether atherosclerotic plaque regression can occur in Sr-b1 KO mice which lack hepatic SR-B1 mediated HDL cholesterol clearance and exhibit impaired reverse cholesterol transport, remains to be determined.

Nevertheless, anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment for the last 5 weeks of the 12-week HFCC diet feeding period dramatically reduced the plasma levels of the myocardial damage marker CK-MB and the extent of myocardial fibrosis (Figure 4I-L). This suggests that anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment reduced the level of myocardial infarction resulting from coronary artery atherosclerosis. This is consistent with and may be the result of the reduction in the extent of coronary artery atherosclerosis development observed in the

mice treated with the anti-PCSK9 antibody for the last 5 weeks of HFCC diet feeding (Figure 4G). Whether this is the result of the plasma cholesterol lowering triggered by anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment, or due to inhibition of some other property of PCSK9 remains to be determined. Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment prevents PCSK9 directed degradation of the LDLR (Chan et al., 2009). In the liver, this leads to elevated LDLR protein levels (Figure 1C-D and 3C-D) and LDLR mediated clearance of plasma cholesterol (Figure 1E and 3E). However, it is possible that anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment prevents PCSK9 directed degradation of LDLR in one or more other tissues that may impact myocardial infarction. Alternatively, it is possible that anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment affects PCSK9-mediated regulation of the protein levels of one or more other targets, such as the very low-density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR), apoE receptor 2 (ApoER2), cluster of differentiation 36 (CD36) or major histocompatibility complex I (MHC-I), all of which have been shown to be targets for PCSK9 regulation (Demers, Samami, Lauzier, Des Rosiers, Ngo Sock, et al., 2015; X. Liu et al., 2020; Poirier et al., 2008; Roubtsova et al., 2011b). Furthermore, Pcsk9 gene inactivation has been shown to attenuate myocardial infarction resulting from coronary artery ligation (Ding, Wang, et al., 2018), raising the possibility that PCSK9 inhibition may have a direct impact on myocardial remodeling after ischemic coronary artery disease. Further studies are required to explore these possibilities.

We also observed that anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment reduced plasma IL-6 levels in *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for either 7 or 12 weeks (Figure 2G and 4H).

Whether the reduced plasma IL-6 levels were a consequence or independent of the reduced plasma cholesterol levels resulting from anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment (Figure 1E and 3E) remains to be determined. The reduction in this systemic marker of inflammation suggests that PCSK9 inhibition may have either direct or indirect antiinflammatory effects that may contribute to the reductions in development of atherosclerotic plaques and/or reduced levels of myocardial damage and fibrosis (Figure 2 and 4). Further research is required to determine the mechanisms by which anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment leads to reduced circulating IL-6 levels and the contribution of this to the reduced coronary artery atherosclerosis, myocardial damage and myocardial fibrosis.

In summary, our studies demonstrate that anti-PCSK9 antibody effectively reduced plasma cholesterol and IL-6 levels in one year old HFCC-diet fed male *Sr-b1 KO* mice. This protected against atherosclerosis development in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries when treatment was initiated either at the beginning of atherosclerosis induction with the HFCC diet or after 7 weeks of HFCC diet feeding when atherosclerotic plaques had become established. In the latter model anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment attenuated myocardial damage and the development of myocardial fibrosis, likely due to the reduced coronary artery atherosclerosis resulting from the observed cholesterol lowering and anti-inflammatory effects.







Figure 3



2.6 Figure legends:

Figure 1: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment increases hepatic LDLR protein levels and lowers plasma cholesterol levels in *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks. (A) The schematic of experimental design. (B) Plasma PCSK9 protein levels in control or anti-PCSK9 antibody treated *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks. (C) Representative immunoblots and (D) quantification of LDLR protein levels (normalized to ε-COP) in liver total membranes from control or anti-PCSK9 antibody treated *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks. Plasma (E) total cholesterol, (F) free cholesterol to total cholesterol ratios and (G) triglyceride levels from control or anti-PCSK9 antibody treated *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks. Each symbol represents data from an independent mouse. Bars represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.

Figure 2: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment decreases the newly developing atherosclerosis in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries of *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks. (A-B) Representative images of cross sections of aortic sinus stained with oil red O/hematoxylin, and (C) quantification of atherosclerotic plaque cross sectional areas at different positions along the aortic sinus from (A) control antibody or (B) anti-PCSK9 antibody treated *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks. (D) Quantification of atherosclerotic plaque volumes (areas under the curves for individual mice corresponding to panel C) along 600 μ m of the aortic sinus from control or anti-PCSK9 antibody treated *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks. (E) Representative images of transverse sections of coronary arteries stained with oil red O/hematoxylin showing either no atherosclerotic plaque or different extents of atherosclerosis (occluding <50%, >50% or 100% of the artery lumen; together considered as coronary artery cross sections with atherosclerotic plaque). (F) Quantification of the percentage of coronary artery cross sections with no atherosclerotic plaque and with atherosclerotic plaques in control or anti-PCSK9 antibody treated *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks. (G) Plasma IL-6 levels in control or anti-PCSK9 antibody treated *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks. Each symbol represents data from an individual mouse. Bars represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; **** represents P<0.001.

Figure 3: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment over the last 5 weeks of the 12 week
HFCC diet feeding period increases hepatic LDLR protein levels and reduces
plasma cholesterol levels in *Sr-b1 KO* mice. (A) The schematic of experimental design.
(B) Plasma PCSK9 protein levels in *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed a normal diet for an additional 12
weeks, *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks, and *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC
diet for 12 weeks and treated with control antibody or anti-PCSK9 antibody from week 7
of HFCC diet feeding. (C) Representative immunoblots and (D) quantification of LDLR

protein levels (normalized to ε -COP) in liver total membranes from *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks and treated for the last 5 weeks with control or anti-PCSK9 antibody. Plasma (E) total cholesterol, (F) free cholesterol to total cholesterol ratios and (G) triglyceride levels from *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed a normal diet for an additional 12 weeks, *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks, and *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks and treated with control or anti-PCSK9 antibodies for the last 5 weeks. Each symbol represents data from an independent mouse. Bars represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.

Figure 4: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment reduces the growth of pre-existing atherosclerotic plaques in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries and myocardial fibrosis in 1 year old *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks. (A-D) Representative images of cross sections of aortic sinus stained with oil red O/hematoxylin, (E) quantification of atherosclerotic plaque cross sectional areas at different positions along the aortic sinus and (F) quantification of atherosclerotic plaque volumes (areas under the curves for individual mice corresponding to panel E) along 600 μm of the aortic sinus for (A) *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed a normal diet for an additional 12 weeks, (B) *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks, and *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks and treated with (C) control antibody or (D) anti-PCSK9 antibody for the last 5 weeks of HFCC diet feeding. (G) Quantification of the percentage

of coronary artery cross sections with no atherosclerotic plaque and with atherosclerotic plaques in Sr-b1 KO mice fed a normal diet for an additional 12 weeks, Sr-b1 KO mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks, and Sr-b1 KO mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks and treated with the control or anti-PCSK9 antibodies for the last 5 weeks of HFCC diet feeding. (H) Plasma IL-6 levels in Sr-b1 KO mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks treated with the control or anti-PCSK9 antibodies for the last 5 weeks of HFCC diet feeding. (I, J) Representative images and (K) quantification of fibrosis in trichrome-stained transverse sections of the upper portions of hearts from Sr-b1 KO mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks and treated with (I) the control antibody or (J) the anti-PCSK9 antibody for the last 5 weeks of HFCC diet feeding. Healthy myocardium stains red and collagen containing myocardial fibrotic area stains blue. (L) Plasma CK-MB levels for Sr-b1 KO mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks, and Sr-b1 KO mice fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks and treated with the control antibody or anti-PCSK9 antibody for the last 5 weeks of HFCC diet feeding. Each symbol represents data from an individual mouse. Bars represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.





2.7 Supplementary figure legends:

Supplementary figure 1: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment does not affect body weights in *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet. (A) One year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet and treated with either control antibody or anti-PCSK9 antibody for 7 weeks. (B) One year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed a normal diet for an additional 12 weeks, or one year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks or fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks and treated with the control antibody or anti-PCSK9 antibody for the last 5 weeks of the HFCC diet feeding period. Refer to the schematic of the experiment in Figure 1A and 3A. Each symbol represents data from an individual mouse. Bars represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. No statistically significant differences were detected.

Supplementary figure 2: Neither HFCC diet feeding for 7 or 12 weeks, nor anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment affects heart weights in 1 year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice. (A) One year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet and treated with either control antibody or anti-PCSK9 antibody for 7 weeks. (B) One year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed a normal diet for an additional 12 weeks, or one year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet for 7 weeks or fed the HFCC diet for 12 weeks and treated with the control antibody or anti-PCSK9 antibody for the last 5 weeks of the HFCC diet feeding period. Refer to the schematic of the experiment in Figure 1A and 3A. Each symbol represents data from an individual mouse. Bars represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. No statistically significant differences were detected.

2.8 References:

- Abifadel, M., Varret, M., Rabès, J. P., Allard, D., Ouguerram, K., Devillers, M., Cruaud, C., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Erlich, D., Derré, A., Villéger, L., Farnier, M., Beucler, I., Bruckert, E., Chambaz, J., Chanu, B., Lecerf, J. M., Luc, G., ... Boileau, C. (2003a). Mutations in PCSK9 cause autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. *Nature Genetics*, *34*(2), 154–156. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1161
- Abifadel, M., Varret, M., Rabès, J.-P., Allard, D., Ouguerram, K., Devillers, M., Cruaud, C., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Erlich, D., Derré, A., Villéger, L., Farnier, M., Beucler, I., Bruckert, E., Chambaz, J., Chanu, B., Lecerf, J.-M., Luc, G., ... Boileau, C. (2003b). Mutations in PCSK9 cause autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. *Nature Genetics*, *34*(2), 154–156. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1161
- Acton, S., Rigotti, A., Landschulz, K. T., Xu, S., Hobbs, H. H., & Krieger, M. (1996). Identification of scavenger receptor SR-BI as a high density lipoprotein receptor. *Science*, 271(5248), 518–521. https://go-galecom.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/ps/i.do?p=AONE&sw=w&issn=00368075&v=2.1&it =r&id=GALE%7CA17951395&sid=googleScholar&linkaccess=fulltext
- Adam, R. C., Mintah, I. J., Alexa-Braun, C. A., Shihanian, L. M., Lee, J. S., Banerjee, P., Hamon, S. C., Kim, H. I., Cohen, J. C., Hobbs, H. H., Van Hout, C., Gromada, J., Murphy, A. J., Yancopoulos, G. D., Sleeman, M. W., & Gusarova, V. (2020).
 Angiopoietin-like protein 3 governs LDL-cholesterol levels through endothelial lipase-dependent VLDL clearance. *Journal of Lipid Research*, *61*(9), 1271. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.RA120000888
- Adorni, M. P., Cipollari, E., Favari, E., Zanotti, I., Zimetti, F., Corsini, A., Ricci, C., Bernini, F., & Ferri, N. (2017). Inhibitory effect of PCSK9 on Abca1 protein expression and cholesterol efflux in macrophages. *Atherosclerosis*, 256, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.11.019
- Alexander, M. R., & Owens, G. K. (2012). Epigenetic Control of Smooth Muscle Cell Differentiation and Phenotypic Switching in Vascular Development and Disease. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.*, 74, 13–40. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-PHYSIOL-012110-142315
- Al-Jarallah, A., Chen, X., González, L., & Trigatti, B. L. (2014a). High Density Lipoprotein Stimulated Migration of Macrophages Depends on the Scavenger Receptor Class B, Type I, PDZK1 and Akt1 and Is Blocked by Sphingosine 1 Phosphate Receptor Antagonists. *PLOS ONE*, 9(9), e106487. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0106487
- Al-Jarallah, A., Chen, X., González, L., & Trigatti, B. L. (2014b). High Density Lipoprotein Stimulated Migration of Macrophages Depends on the Scavenger Receptor Class B, Type I, PDZK1 and Akt1 and Is Blocked by Sphingosine 1

Phosphate Receptor Antagonists. *PLOS ONE*, *9*(9), e106487. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0106487

- Al-Jarallah, A., Igdoura, F., Zhang, Y., Tenedero, C. B., White, E. J., MacDonald, M. E., Igdoura, S. A., & Trigatti, B. L. (2013a). The effect of pomegranate extract on coronary artery atherosclerosis in SR-BI/APOE double knockout mice. *Atherosclerosis*, 228(1), 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2013.02.025
- Al-Jarallah, A., Igdoura, F., Zhang, Y., Tenedero, C. B., White, E. J., MacDonald, M. E., Igdoura, S. A., & Trigatti, B. L. (2013b). The effect of pomegranate extract on coronary artery atherosclerosis in SR-BI/APOE double knockout mice. *Atherosclerosis*, 228(1), 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2013.02.025
- Allahverdian, S., Chehroudi, A. C., McManus, B. M., Abraham, T., & Francis, G. A. (2014a). Contribution of intimal smooth muscle cells to cholesterol accumulation and macrophage-like cells in human atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, 129(15), 1551– 1559. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.005015
- Allahverdian, S., Chehroudi, A. C., McManus, B. M., Abraham, T., & Francis, G. A. (2014b). Contribution of intimal smooth muscle cells to cholesterol accumulation and macrophage-like cells in human atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, 129(15), 1551– 1559. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.005015/FORMAT/EPUB
- Angin, Y., Steinbusch, L. K. M., Simons, P. J., Greulich, S., Hoebers, N. T. H., Douma, K., Van Zandvoort, M. A. M. J., Coumans, W. A., Wijnen, W., Diamant, M., Ouwens, D. M., Glatz, J. F. C., & Luiken, J. J. F. P. (2012). CD36 inhibition prevents lipid accumulation and contractile dysfunction in rat cardiomyocytes. *Biochemical Journal*, 448(1), 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20120060
- Arbab-Zadeh, A., Nakano, M., Virmani, R., & Fuster, V. (2012). Acute Coronary Events. *Circulation*, 125(9), 1147. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.047431
- Armstrong, S. M., Sugiyama, M. G., Fung, K. Y. Y., Gao, Y., Wang, C., Levy, A. S., Azizi, P., Roufaiel, M., Zhu, S. N., Neculai, D., Yin, C., Bolz, S. S., Seidah, N. G., Cybulsky, M. I., Heit, B., & Lee, W. L. (2015). A novel assay uncovers an unexpected role for SR-BI in LDL transcytosis. *Cardiovascular Research*, 108(2), 268–277. https://doi.org/10.1093/CVR/CVV218
- Ason, B., Van Der Hoorn, J. W. A., Chan, J., Lee, E., Pieterman, E. J., Nguyen, K. K., Di, M., Shetterly, S., Tang, J., Yeh, W. C., Schwarz, M., Jukema, J. W., Scott, R., Wasserman, S. M., Princen, H. M. G., & Jackson, S. (2014). PCSK9 inhibition fails to alter hepatic LDLR, circulating cholesterol, and atherosclerosis in the absence of ApoE. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 55(11), 2370–2379. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.M053207
- Ason, B., van der Hoorn, J. W. A., Chan, J., Lee, E., Pieterman, E. J., Nguyen, K. K., Di,
 M., Shetterly, S., Tang, J., Yeh, W.-C., Schwarz, M., Jukema, J. W., Scott, R.,
 Wasserman, S. M., Princen, H. M. G., & Jackson, S. (2014). PCSK9 inhibition fails

to alter hepatic LDLR, circulating cholesterol, and atherosclerosis in the absence of ApoE. *Journal of Lipid Research*, *55*(11), 2370–2379. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M053207

- Babitt, J., Trigatti, B., Rigotti, A., Smart, E. J., Anderson, R. G. W., Xu, S., & Krieger, M. (1997). Murine SR-BI, a High Density Lipoprotein Receptor That Mediates
 Selective Lipid Uptake, Is N-Glycosylated and Fatty Acylated and Colocalizes with Plasma Membrane Caveolae. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(20), 13242–13249. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.272.20.13242
- Badimon, L., Luquero, A., Crespo, J., Peña, E., & Borrell-Pages, M. (2020). PCSK9 and LRP5 in macrophage lipid internalization and inflammation. *Cardiovascular Research*, 117(19), 2054–2068.
- Bai, X. qin, Peng, J., Wang, M. mei, Xiao, J., Xiang, Q., Ren, Z., Wen, H. yan, Jiang, Z. sheng, Tang, Z. han, & Liu, L. shan. (2018). PCSK9: A potential regulator of apoE/apoER2 against inflammation in atherosclerosis? *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 483(April), 192–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2018.04.040
- Barale, C., Bonomo, K., Frascaroli, C., Morotti, A., Guerrasio, A., Cavalot, F., & Russo, I. (2020). Platelet function and activation markers in primary hypercholesterolemia treated with anti-PCSK9 monoclonal antibody: A 12-month follow-up. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 30(2), 282–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2019.09.012
- Barrett, T. J. (2020a). Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology ATVB IN FOCUS: The Science of ATVB Early Career Committee Macrophages in Atherosclerosis Regression. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 40, 20–33. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.312802
- Barrett, T. J. (2020b). Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology ATVB IN FOCUS: The Science of ATVB Early Career Committee Macrophages in Atherosclerosis Regression. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 40, 20–33. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.312802
- Barter, P. J., Brewer, H. B., Chapman, M. J., Hennekens, C. H., Rader, D. J., & Tall, A. R. (2003). Cholesteryl ester transfer protein: A novel target for raising HDL and inhibiting atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 23(2), 160–167. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000054658.91146.64
- Barter, P. J., Caulfield, M., Eriksson, M., Grundy, S. M., Kastelein, J. J. P., Komajda, M., Lopez-Sendon, J., Mosca, L., Tardif, J.-C., Waters, D. D., Shear, C. L., Revkin, J. H., Buhr, K. A., Fisher, M. R., Tall, A. R., & Brewer, B. (2007). Effects of Torcetrapib in Patients at High Risk for Coronary Events. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 357(21), 2109–2122. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa0706628

- Basatemur, G. L., Jørgensen, H. F., Clarke, M. C. H., Bennett, M. R., & Mallat, Z. (2019). Vascular smooth muscle cells in atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 16(12), 727–745. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41569-019-0227-9
- Benjannet, S., Rhainds, D., Essalmani, R., Mayne, J., Wickham, L., Jin, W., Asselin, M. C., Hamelin, J., Varret, M., Allard, D., Trillard, M., Abifadel, M., Tebon, A., Attie, A. D., Rader, D. J., Boileau, C., Brissette, L., Chrétien, M., Prat, A., & Seidah, N. G. (2004). NARC-1/PCSK9 and its natural mutants: Zymogen cleavage and effects on the low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor and LDL cholesterol. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(47), 48865–48875. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M409699200
- Bernelot Moens, S. J., Neele, A. E., Kroon, J., van der Valk, F. M., Van den Bossche, J., Hoeksema, M. A., Hoogeveen, R. M., Schnitzler, J. G., Baccara-Dinet, M. T., Manvelian, G., de Winther, M. P. J., & Stroes, E. S. G. (2017). PCSK9 monoclonal antibodies reverse the pro-inflammatory profile of monocytes in familial hypercholesterolaemia. *European Heart Journal*, 38(20), 1584–1593. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehx002
- Betters, J. L., & Yu, L. (2010). NPC1L1 and cholesterol transport. *FEBS Letters*, 584(13), 2740–2747. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FEBSLET.2010.03.030
- Beyea, M. M., Heslop, C. L., Sawyez, C. G., Edwards, J. Y., Markle, J. G., Hegele, R. A., & Huff, M. W. (2007). Selective up-regulation of LXR-regulated genes ABCA1, ABCG1, and APOE in macrophages through increased endogenous synthesis of 24(S),25-epoxycholesterol. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(8), 5207–5216. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M611063200
- Braun, A., Trigatti, B. L., Post, M. J., Sato, K., Simons, M., Edelberg, J. M., Rosenberg, R. D., Schrenzel, M., & Krieger, M. (2002). Loss of SR-BI expression leads to the early onset of occlusive atherosclerotic coronary artery disease, spontaneous myocardial infarctions, severe cardiac dysfunction, and premature death in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *Circulation Research*, 90(3), 270–276. https://doi.org/10.1161/hh0302.104462
- Braun, A., Yesilaltay, A., Acton, S., Broschat, K. O., Krul, E. S., Napawan, N., Stagliano, N., & Krieger, M. (2008). Inhibition of intestinal absorption of cholesterol by ezetimibe or bile acids by SC-435 alters lipoprotein metabolism and extends the lifespan of SR-BI/apoE double knockout mice. *Atherosclerosis*, 198(1), 77–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.10.012
- Braun, A., Zhang, S., Miettinen, H. E., Ebrahim, S., Holm, T. M., Vasile, E., Post, M. J., Yoerger, D. M., Picard, M. H., Krieger, J. L., Andrews, N. C., Simons, M., & Krieger, M. (2003). Probucol prevents early coronary heart disease and death in the high-density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI/apolipoprotein E double knockout mouse. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(12), 7283–7288. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1237725100

- Breitschopf, K., Haendeler, J., Malchow, P., Zeiher, A. M., & Dimmeler, S. (2000).
 Posttranslational Modification of Bcl-2 Facilitates Its Proteasome-Dependent Degradation: Molecular Characterization of the Involved Signaling Pathway.
 Molecular and Cellular Biology, 20(5), 1886–1896.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.20.5.1886-1896.2000
- Breslow, J. L. (1996). Mouse models of atherosclerosis. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 272(5262), 685–688. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.272.5262.685
- Bybee, K. A., Lee, J. H., & O'Keefe, J. H. (2008). Cumulative clinical trial data on atorvastatin for reducing cardiovascular events: The clinical impact of atorvastatin. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 24(4), 1217–1229. https://doi.org/10.1185/030079908X292001
- Byun, J. H., Lebeau, P. F., Platko, K., Carlisle, R. E., Faiyaz, M., Chen, J., Macdonald, M. E., Makda, Y., Yousof, T., Lynn, E. G., Dickhout, J. G., Krepinsky, J. C., Weaver, F., Igdoura, S. A., Seidah, N. G., & Austin, R. C. (2022). Inhibitory Antibodies against PCSK9 Reduce Surface CD36 and Mitigate Diet-Induced Renal Lipotoxicity. *KIDNEY360*, *3*, 1394–1410. https://doi.org/10.34067/KID.0007022021
- Byun, J. H., Lebeau, P. F., Platko, K., Carlisle, R. E., Faiyaz, M., Chen, J., MacDonald, M. E., Makda, Y., Yousof, T., Lynn, E. G., Dickhout, J. G., Krepinsky, J. C., Weaver, F., Igdoura, S. A., Seidah, N. G., & Austin, R. C. (2022). Inhibitory Antibodies against PCSK9 Reduce Surface CD36 and Mitigate Diet-Induced Renal Lipotoxicity. *Kidney360*, *3*(8), 1394–1410. https://doi.org/10.34067/KID.0007022021
- Cai, L., Wang, Z., Meyer, J. M., Ji, A., & Van Der Westhuyzen, D. R. (2012). Macrophage SR-BI regulates LPS-induced pro-inflammatory signaling in mice and isolated macrophages. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 53(8), 1472–1481. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.M023234
- Camera, M., Rossetti, L., Barbieri, S. S., Zanotti, I., Canciani, B., Trabattoni, D., Ruscica, M., Tremoli, E., & Ferri, N. (2018). PCSK9 as a Positive Modulator of Platelet Activation. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 71(8), 952–954. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.11.069
- Cammisotto, V., Pastori, D., Nocella, C., Bartimoccia, S., Castellani, V., Marchese, C., Scavalli, A. S., Ettorre, E., Viceconte, N., Violi, F., Pignatelli, P., & Carnevale, R. (2020). PCSK9 regulates Nox2-mediated platelet activation via CD36 receptor in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Antioxidants*, 9(4), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox9040296
- Canuel, M., Sun, X., Asselin, M. C., Paramithiotis, E., Prat, A., & Seidah, N. G. (2013). Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9 (PCSK9) Can Mediate Degradation of the Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Related Protein 1 (LRP-1). *PLOS ONE*, 8(5), e64145. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0064145

- Chan, J. C. Y., Piper, D. E., Cao, Q., Liu, D., King, C., Wang, W., Tang, J., Liu, Q., Higbee, J., Xia, Z., Di, Y., Shetterly, S., Arimura, Z., Salomonis, H., Romanow, W. G., Thibault, S. T., Zhang, R., Cao, P., Yang, X. P., ... Jackson, S. M. (2009). A proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 neutralizing antibody reduces serum cholesterol in mice and nonhuman primates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(24), 9820–9825. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0903849106
- Chen, K., Febbraio, M., Li, W., & Silverstein, R. L. (2008). A specific cd36-dependent signaling pathway is required for platelet activation by oxidized low-density lipoprotein. *Circulation Research*, 102(12), 1512–1519. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.172064
- Chen, Z., Fukutomi, T., Zago, A. C., Ehlers, R., Detmers, P. A., Wright, S. D., Rogers, C., & Simon, D. I. (2002). Simvastatin reduces neointimal thickening in low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice after experimental angioplasty without changing plasma lipids. *Circulation*, 106(1), 20–23. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000022843.76104.01
- Chiong, M., Wang, Z. V., Pedrozo, Z., Cao, D. J., Troncoso, R., Ibacache, M., Criollo, A., Nemchenko, A., Hill, J. A., & Lavandero, S. (2011). Cardiomyocyte death: mechanisms and translational implications. *Cell Death & Disease 2011 2:12*, 2(12), e244–e244. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2011.130
- CL, Y., YD, Z., ZX, H., & H, L. (2020). PCSK9 promotes the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines by macrophages to aggravate H/R-induced cardiomyocyte injury via activating NF-κB signalling. *General Physiology and Biophysics*, 39(2), 123–134. https://doi.org/10.4149/GPB-2019057
- Clarke, M. C. H., Figg, N., Maguire, J. J., Davenport, A. P., Goddard, M., Littlewood, T. D., & Bennett, M. R. (2006). Apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells induces features of plaque vulnerability in atherosclerosis. *Nature Medicine*, 12(9), 1075–1080. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1459
- Cochain, C., Vafadarnejad, E., Arampatzi, P., Pelisek, J., Winkels, H., Ley, K., Wolf, D., Saliba, A. E., & Zernecke, A. (2018). Single-cell RNA-seq reveals the transcriptional landscape and heterogeneity of aortic macrophages in murine atherosclerosis. *Circulation Research*, 122(12), 1661–1674. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.312509/FORMAT/EPUB
- Cohen, J., Pertsemlidis, A., Kotowski, I. K., Graham, R., Garcia, C. K., & Hobbs, H. H. (2005). Low LDL cholesterol in individuals of African descent resulting from frequent nonsense mutations in PCSK9. *Nature Genetics*, 37(2), 161–165. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1509
- Cominacini, L., Fratta Pasini, A., Garbin, U., Davoli, A., Tosetti, M. L., Campagnola, M., Rigoni, A., Pastorino, A. M., Lo Cascio, V., & Sawamura, T. (2000). Oxidized low

density lipoprotein (ox-LDL) binding to ox-LDL receptor-1 in endothelial cells induces the activation of NF-κB through an increased production of intracellular reactive oxygen species. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(17), 12633–12638. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.275.17.12633

- Courties, G., Heidt, T., Sebas, M., Iwamoto, Y., Jeon, D., Truelove, J., Tricot, B., Wojtkiewicz, G., Dutta, P., Sager, H. B., Borodovsky, A., Novobrantseva, T., Klebanov, B., Fitzgerald, K., Anderson, D. G., Libby, P., Swirski, F. K., Weissleder, R., & Nahrendorf, M. (2014). In vivo silencing of the transcription factor IRF5 reprograms the macrophage phenotype and improves infarct healing. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *63*(15), 1556–1566. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACC.2013.11.023
- Covey, S. D., Krieger, M., Wang, W., Penman, M., & Trigatti, B. L. (2003). Scavenger Receptor Class B Type I–Mediated Protection Against Atherosclerosis in LDL Receptor–Negative Mice Involves Its Expression in Bone Marrow–Derived Cells. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 23(9), 1589–1594. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000083343.19940.A0
- Da Dalt, L., Castiglioni, L., Baragetti, A., Audano, M., Svecla, M., Bonacina, F., Pedretti, S., Uboldi, P., Benzoni, P., Giannetti, F., Barbuti, A., Pellegatta, F., Indino, S., Donetti, E., Sironi, L., Mitro, N., Catapano, A. L., & Norata, G. D. (2021). PCSK9 deficiency rewires heart metabolism and drives heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *European Heart Journal*, 42(32), 3078. https://doi.org/10.1093/EURHEARTJ/EHAB431
- Daniels, T. F., Killinger, K. M., Michal, J. J., Wright, R. W., & Jiang, Z. (2009). Lipoproteins, cholesterol homeostasis and cardiac health. *Int. J. Biol. Sci*, 5(5), 474– 488. http://www.biolsci.org474
- De Chiara, G., Marcocci, M. E., Torcia, M., Lucibello, M., Rosini, P., Bonini, P., Higashimoto, Y., Damonte, G., Armirotti, A., Amodei, S., Palamara, A. T., Russo, T., Garaci, E., & Cozzolino, F. (2006). Bcl-2 phosphorylation by p38 MAPK: Identification of target sites and biologic consequences. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(30), 21353–21361. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M511052200
- De Knijff, P., Van den Maagdenberg, A. M. J. M., Stalenhoef, A. F. H., Leuven, J. A. G., Demacker, P. N. M., Kuyt, L. P., Frants, R. R., & Havekes, L. M. (1991). Familial dysbetalipoproteinemia associated with apolipoprotein E3-Leiden in an extended multigeneration pedigree. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 88(2), 643. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI115349
- Demers, A., Samami, S., Lauzier, B., Des Rosiers, C., Ngo Sock, E. T., Ong, H., & Mayer, G. (2015). PCSK9 Induces CD36 Degradation and Affects Long-Chain Fatty Acid Uptake and Triglyceride Metabolism in Adipocytes and in Mouse Liver. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 35(12), 2517–2525. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.306032

- Demers, A., Samami, S., Lauzier, B., Des Rosiers, C., Sock, E. T. N., Ong, H., & Mayer, G. (2015). PCSK9 Induces CD36 Degradation and Affects Long-Chain Fatty Acid Uptake and Triglyceride Metabolism in Adipocytes and in Mouse Liver. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 35(12), 2517–2525. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.306032
- Denis, M., Marcinkiewicz, J., Zaid, A., Gauthier, D., Poirier, S., Lazure, C., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2012). Gene Inactivation of Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9 Reduces Atherosclerosis in Mice. *Circulation*, 125(7), 894–901. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.057406
- Depuydt, M. A. C., Prange, K. H. M., Slenders, L., Örd, T., Elbersen, D., Boltjes, A., De Jager, S. C. A., Asselbergs, F. W., De Borst, G. J., Aavik, E., Lönnberg, T., Lutgens, E., Glass, C. K., Den Ruijter, H. M., Kaikkonen, M. U., Bot, I., Slütter, B., Van Der Laan, S. W., Yla-Herttuala, S., ... Pasterkamp, G. (2020). Microanatomy of the Human Atherosclerotic Plaque by Single-Cell Transcriptomics. *Circulation Research*, *127*(11), 1437–1455. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.316770/FORMAT/EPUB
- Designed Research; J, E. A. F. E. F., & Performed Research; J, K. R. E. F. (2011). HDL promotes rapid atherosclerosis regression in mice and alters inflammatory properties of plaque monocyte-derived cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(17), 7166–7171. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1016086108
- Dijk, W., Le May, C., & Cariou, B. (2018). Beyond LDL: What Role for PCSK9 in Triglyceride-Rich Lipoprotein Metabolism? *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 29(6), 420–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TEM.2018.03.013
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Deng, X., Fan, Y., Shahanawaz, J., Shmookler Reis, R. J., Varughese, K. I., Sawamura, T., & Mehta, J. L. (2015a). Cross-talk between LOX-1 and PCSK9 in vascular tissues. *Cardiovascular Research*, 107(4), 556–567. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvv178
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Deng, X., Fan, Y., Shahanawaz, J., Shmookler Reis, R. J., Varughese, K. I., Sawamura, T., & Mehta, J. L. (2015b). Cross-talk between LOX-1 and PCSK9 in vascular tissues. *Cardiovascular Research*, 107(4), 556–567. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvv178
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Deng, X., Fan, Y., Sun, C., Wang, Y., & Mehta, J. L. (2015). Hemodynamic Shear Stress via ROS Modulates PCSK9 Expression in Human Vascular Endothelial and Smooth Muscle Cells and Along the Mouse Aorta. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling, 22(9), 760–771. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2014.6054
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Khaidakov, M., Dai, Y., & Mehta, J. L. (2013). Oxidant stress in mitochondrial DNA damage, autophagy and inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Scientific Reports*, 3(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep01077

- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Mathur, P., Dai, Y., Theus, S., Deng, X., Fan, Y., & Mehta, J. L. (2016). Cross-Talk Between PCSK9 and Damaged mtDNA in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells: Role in Apoptosis. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*, 25(18), 997– 1008. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2016.6631
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Theus, S., Deng, X., Fan, Y., Zhou, S., & Mehta, J. L. (2018). PCSK9 regulates expression of scavenger receptors and ox-LDL uptake in macrophages. *Cardiovascular Research*, 114(8), 1145–1153. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvy079
- Ding, Z., Wang, X., Liu, S., Shahanawaz, J., Theus, S., Fan, Y., Deng, X., Zhou, S., & Mehta, J. L. (2018). PCSK9 expression in the ischaemic heart and its relationship to infarct size, cardiac function, and development of autophagy. *Cardiovascular Research*, 114(13), 1738–1751. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvy128
- Ding, Z., Wang, X., Liu, S., Zhou, S., Kore, R. A., Mu, S., Deng, X., Fan, Y., & Mehta, J. L. (2020). NLRP3 inflammasome via IL-1β regulates PCSK9 secretion. *Theranostics*, 10(16), 7100. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.45939
- Dole, V. S., Matuskova, J., Vasile, E., Yesilaltay, A., Bergmeier, W., Bernimoulin, M., Wagner, D. D., & Krieger, M. (2008). Thrombocytopenia and platelet abnormalities in high-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 28(6), 1111–1116. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.162347
- Downs, J. R., Clearfield, M., Weis, S., Whitney, E., Shapiro, D. R., Beere, P. A., Langendorfer, A., Stein, E. A., Kruyer, W., & Gotto, A. M. (1998). Primary Prevention of Acute Coronary Events With Lovastatin in Men and Women With Average Cholesterol Levels: Results of AFCAPS/TexCAPS. *JAMA*, 279(20), 1615– 1622. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.279.20.1615
- Durham, K. K., Chathely, K. M., Mak, K. C., Momen, A., Thomas, C. T., Zhao, Y.-Y., MacDonald, M. E., Curtis, J. M., Husain, M., & Trigatti, B. L. (2018). HDL protects against doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity in a scavenger receptor class B type 1-, PI3K-, and Akt-dependent manner. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 314(1), H31–H44. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00521.2016
- Durham, K. K., Chathely, K. M., & Trigatti, B. L. (2018). High-density lipoprotein protects cardiomyocytes against necrosis induced by oxygen and glucose deprivation through SR-B1, PI3K, and AKT1 and 2. *Biochemical Journal*, 475(7), 1253–1265. https://doi.org/10.1042/BCJ20170703
- Durham, K. K., Kluck, G., Mak, K. C., Deng, Y. D., & Trigatti, B. L. (2019). Treatment with apolipoprotein A1 protects mice against doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity in a scavenger receptor class B, type I-dependent manner. *American Journal of*
Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology, *316*(6), H1447–H1457. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00432.2018

- Enomoto, S., Sata, M., Fukuda, D., Nakamura, K., & Nagai, R. (2009). Rosuvastatin prevents endothelial cell death and reduces atherosclerotic lesion formation in ApoEdeficient mice. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 63(1), 19–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPHA.2007.11.002
- Febbraio, M., Guy, E., & Silverstein, R. L. (2004). Stem Cell transplantation reveals that absence of macrophage CD36 is protective against atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 24(12), 2333–2338. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000148007.06370.68
- Febbraio, M., Podrez, E. A., Smith, J. D., Hajjar, D. P., Hazen, S. L., Hoff, H. F., Sharma, K., & Silverstein, R. L. (2000). Targeted disruption of the class B, scavenger receptor CD36 protects against atherosclerotic lesion development in mice. *Journal* of Clinical Investigation, 105(8), 1049–1056. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI9259
- Feig, J. E., Parathath, S., Rong, J. X., Mick, S. L., Vengrenyuk, Y., Grauer, L., Young, S. G., & Fisher, E. A. (2011). Reversal of hyperlipidemia with a genetic switch favorably affects the content and inflammatory state of macrophages in atherosclerotic plaques. *Circulation*, 123(9), 989–998. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.984146/FORMAT/EPUB
- Feig, J. E., Pineda-Torra, I., Sanson, M., Bradley, M. N., Vengrenyuk, Y., Bogunovic, D., Gautier, E. L., Rubinstein, D., Hong, C., Liu, J., Wu, C., Van Rooijen, N., Bhardwaj, N., Garabedian, M. J., Tontonoz, P., & Fisher, E. A. (2010). LXR promotes the maximal egress of monocyte-derived cells from mouse aortic plaques during atherosclerosis regression. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *120*(12), 4415–4424. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI38911
- Feingold, K. R. (2022). Lipid and Lipoprotein Metabolism. Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America, 51(3), 437–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECL.2022.02.008
- Feingold, K. R., Moser, A. H., Shigenaga, J. K., Patzek, S. M., & Grunfeld, C. (2008). Inflammation stimulates the expression of PCSK9. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 374(2), 341–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBRC.2008.07.023
- Fernandez, D. M., Rahman, A. H., Fernandez, N. F., Chudnovskiy, A., Amir, E. ad D., Amadori, L., Khan, N. S., Wong, C. K., Shamailova, R., Hill, C. A., Wang, Z., Remark, R., Li, J. R., Pina, C., Faries, C., Awad, A. J., Moss, N., Bjorkegren, J. L. M., Kim-Schulze, S., ... Giannarelli, C. (2019). Single-cell immune landscape of human atherosclerotic plaques. *Nature Medicine*, 25(10), 1576–1589. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41591-019-0590-4

- Ferri, N., Marchianò, S., Tibolla, G., Baetta, R., Dhyani, A., Ruscica, M., Uboldi, P., Catapano, A. L., & Corsini, A. (2016). PCSK9 knock-out mice are protected from neointimal formation in response to perivascular carotid collar placement. *Atherosclerosis*, 253, 214–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.07.910
- Ferri, N., Tibolla, G., Pirillo, A., Cipollone, F., Mezzetti, A., Pacia, S., Corsini, A., & Catapano, A. L. (2012a). Proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin type 9 (PCSK9) secreted by cultured smooth muscle cells reduces macrophages LDLR levels. *Atherosclerosis*, 220(2), 381–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2011.11.026
- Ferri, N., Tibolla, G., Pirillo, A., Cipollone, F., Mezzetti, A., Pacia, S., Corsini, A., & Catapano, A. L. (2012b). Proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin type 9 (PCSK9) secreted by cultured smooth muscle cells reduces macrophages LDLR levels. *Atherosclerosis*, 220(2), 381–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ATHEROSCLEROSIS.2011.11.026
- Fielding, P. E., Nagao, K., Hakamata, H., Chimini, G., & Fielding, C. J. (2000). A Two-Step Mechanism for Free Cholesterol and Phospholipid Efflux from Human Vascular Cells to Apolipoprotein A-1[†]. *Biochemistry*, 39(46), 14113–14120. https://doi.org/10.1021/BI0004192
- Frangogiannis, N. G. (2008). The immune system and cardiac repair. *Pharmacological Research*, 58, 88–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2008.06.007
- Frangogiannis, N. G. (2015). Pathophysiology of myocardial infarction. *Comprehensive Physiology*, *5*(4), 1841–1875. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c150006
- Frangogiannis, N. G. (2021). Cardiac fibrosis. Cardiovascular Research, 117(6), 1450– 1488. https://doi.org/10.1093/CVR/CVAA324
- Fuller, M., Dadoo, O., Serkis, V., Abutouk, D., MacDonald, M., Dhingani, N., Macri, J., Igdoura, S. A., & Trigatti, B. L. (2014). The Effects of Diet on Occlusive Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis and Myocardial Infarction in Scavenger Receptor Class B, Type 1/Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor Double Knockout Mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 34*(11), 2394–2403. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304200
- Fuller, M. T., Dadoo, O., Xiong, T., Chivukula, P., MacDonald, M. E., Lee, S. K., Austin, R. C., Igdoura, S. A., & Trigatti, B. L. (2023). Extensive diet-induced atherosclerosis in scavenger receptor class B type 1-deficient mice is associated with substantial leukocytosis and elevated vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 expression in coronary artery endothelium. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 13, 2747. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPHYS.2022.1023397/BIBTEX
- Gebuhrer, V., Murphy, J. F., Bordet, J. C., Reck, M. P., & McGregor, J. L. (1995). Oxidized low-density lipoprotein induces the expression of P-selectin

(GMP140/PADGEM/CD62) on human endothelial cells. *Biochemical Journal*, 306(1), 293–298. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ3060293

- Gil-Pulido, J., & Zernecke, A. (2017). Antigen-presenting dendritic cells in atherosclerosis. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 816, 25–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2017.08.016
- Gimbrone, M. A., & García-Cardeña, G. (2016). Endothelial Cell Dysfunction and the Pathobiology of Atherosclerosis. *Circulation Research*, *118*(4), 620–636. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.306301
- Giunzioni, I., Tavori, H., Covarrubias, R., Major, A. S., Ding, L., Zhang, Y., DeVay, R. M., Hong, L., Fan, D., Predazzi, I. M., Rashid, S., Linton, M. F., & Fazio, S. (2016a). Local effects of human PCSK9 on the atherosclerotic lesion. *The Journal of Pathology*, 238(1), 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4630
- Giunzioni, I., Tavori, H., Covarrubias, R., Major, A. S., Ding, L., Zhang, Y., DeVay, R. M., Hong, L., Fan, D., Predazzi, I. M., Rashid, S., Linton, M. F., & Fazio, S. (2016b). Local effects of human PCSK9 on the atherosclerotic lesion. *The Journal of Pathology*, 238(1), 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4630
- Giunzioni, I., Tavori, H., Covarrubias, R., Major, A. S., Ding, L., Zhang, Y., DeVay, R. M., Hong, L., Fan, D., Predazzi, I. M., Rashid, S., Linton, M. F., & Fazio, S. (2016c). Local effects of human PCSK9 on the atherosclerotic lesion. *The Journal of Pathology*, 238(1), 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4630
- Gleissner, C. A., Leitinger, N., & Ley, K. (2007). Effects of native and modified lowdensity lipoproteins on monocyte recruitment in atherosclerosis. *Hypertension*, 50(2), 276–283. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.089854/FORMAT/EPUB
- Go, G. W., & Mani, A. (2012). Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor (LDLR) Family Orchestrates Cholesterol Homeostasis. *The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*, 85(1), 19. /pmc/articles/PMC3313535/
- Goldfarb, J. W., Roth, M., & Han, J. (2009). Myocardial fat deposition after left ventricular myocardial infarction: Assessment by using MR water-fat separation imaging. *Radiology*, 253(1), 65–73. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2532082290
- Goldstein, J. L., & Brown, M. S. (1979). The LDL receptor locus and the genetics of familial hypercholesterolemia. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 13, 259–289. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.GE.13.120179.001355
- Goldstein, J. L., & Brown, M. S. (2009). The LDL Receptor. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 29(4), 431–438. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.179564

- Gomez, D., & Owens, G. K. (2012). Smooth muscle cell phenotypic switching in atherosclerosis. *Cardiovascular Research*, *95*(2), 156–164. https://doi.org/10.1093/CVR/CVS115
- Goncharov, N. V, Avdonin, P. V, Nadeev, A. D., Zharkikh, I. L., & Jenkins, R. O. (2015). Reactive oxygen species in pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 21(9), 1134–1146. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612820666141014142557
- Gonzalez, L., Trigatti, B. L., Bernardo, D., & Trigatti, L. (2017). Macrophage Apoptosis and Necrotic Core Development in Atherosclerosis: A Rapidly Advancing Field with Clinical Relevance to Imaging and Therapy. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology*, 33, 303–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjca.2016.12.010
- Gonzalez, L., Yu, P., & Bl, T. (2016). Mouse Models of Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis. *J Cardiovasc Disord*, 3(1), 1021.
- Gonzalez L, Yu P, & Trigatti BL. (2016). Mouse Models of Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis. *Journal of Cardiovascular Disorders*, 3(1). www.austinpublishinggroup.com
- Gordon, D. J., Probstfield, J. L., Garrison, R. J., Neaton, J. D., Castelli, W. P., Knoke, J. D., Jacobs, D. R., Bangdiwala, S., & Tyroler, H. A. (1989). High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease. Four prospective American studies. *Circulation*, 79(1), 8–15. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.79.1.8
- Grune, J., Meyborg, H., Bezhaeva, T., Kappert, K., Hillmeister, P., Kintscher, U., Pieske, B., & Stawowy, P. (2017). PCSK9 regulates the chemokine receptor CCR2 on monocytes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 485(2), 312– 318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.02.085
- Gu, X., Trigatti, B., Xu, S., Acton, S., Babitt, J., & Krieger, M. (1998). The Efficient Cellular Uptake of High Density Lipoprotein Lipids via Scavenger Receptor Class B Type I Requires Not Only Receptor-mediated Surface Binding but Also Receptorspecific Lipid Transfer Mediated by Its Extracellular Domain. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(41), 26338–26348. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.273.41.26338
- Guadamuz, J. S., Shooshtari, A., Qato, D. M., Dima, D., & Qato, M. (2022). Open access Global, regional and national trends in statin utilisation in high-income and low/middle-income countries, 2015-2020. *BMJ Open*, 12, 61350. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2022-061350
- Gui, D., Cui, Z., Zhang, L., Yu, C., Yao, D., Xu, M., Chen, M., Wu, P., Li, G., Wang, L., & Huang, X. (2017). Salidroside attenuates hypoxia-induced pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cell proliferation and apoptosis resistance by upregulating autophagy through the AMPK-mTOR-ULK1 pathway. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine*, 17(1), 191. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12890-017-0477-4

- Gurbel, P. A., Navarese, E. P., & Tantry, U. S. (2017). Exploration of PCSK9 as a Cardiovascular Risk Factor: Is There a Link to the Platelet? *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 70(12), 1463–1466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.07.779
- Gustafsson, Å. B., & Gottlieb, R. A. (2008). Eat your heart out: Role of autophagy in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion. *Autophagy*, *4*(4), 416–421. https://doi.org/10.4161/AUTO.5655
- Hackeng, C. M., Relou, I. A. M., Pladet, M. W., Gorter, G., Van Rijn, H. J. M., & Akkerman, J. W. N. (1999). Early platelet activation by low density lipoprotein via p38(MAP) kinase. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 82(6), 1749–1756. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0037-1614909
- Hai, Q., & Smith, J. D. (2021). Acyl-coenzyme a: Cholesterol acyltransferase (acat) in cholesterol metabolism: From its discovery to clinical trials and the genomics era. *Metabolites*, 11(8), 543. https://doi.org/10.3390/METABO11080543
- Hajar, R. (2017). Risk Factors for Coronary Artery Disease: Historical Perspectives. *Heart Views : The Official Journal of the Gulf Heart Association*, *18*(3), 109. https://doi.org/10.4103/HEARTVIEWS.HEARTVIEWS 106 17
- Hajra, L., Evans, A. I., Chen, M., Hyduk, S. J., Collins, T., & Cybulsky, M. I. (2000). The NF-κB signal transduction pathway in aortic endothelial cells is primed for activation in regions predisposed to atherosclerotic lesion formation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(16), 9052–9057. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.16.9052
- Hammad, S. M., Stefansson, S., Twal, W. O., Drake, C. J., Fleming, P., Remaley, A., Brewer, H. B., & Argraves, W. S. (1999). Cubilin, the endocytic receptor for intrinsic factor-vitamin B12 complex, mediates high-density lipoprotein holoparticle endocytosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 96(18), 10158. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.96.18.10158
- Harder, C., Lau, P., Meng, A., Whitman, S. C., & McPherson, R. (2007). Cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) expression protects against diet induced atherosclerosis in SR-BI deficient mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 27(4), 858–864. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000259357.42089.dc
- Harris, J. D., Graham, I. R., Schepelmann, S., Stannard, A. K., Roberts, M. L., Hodges, B. L., Hill, V. J., Amalfitano, A., Hassall, D. G., Owen, J. S., & Dickson, G. (2002). Acute regression of advanced and retardation of early aortic atheroma in immunocompetent apolipoprotein-E (apoE) deficient mice by administration of a second generation [E1–, E3–, polymerase–] adenovirus vector expressing human apoE. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *11*(1), 43–58. https://doi.org/10.1093/HMG/11.1.43

Ph.D. Thesis – T. Xiong; McMaster University – Medical Sciences.

- Hegele, R. A. (2009). Plasma lipoproteins: genetic influences and clinical implications. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 10(2), 109–122. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRG2481
- Hildebrand, R. B., Lammers, B., Meurs, I., Korporaal, S. J. A., De Haan, W., Zhao, Y., Kruijt, J. K., Praticò, D., Schimmel, A. W. M., Holleboom, A. G., Hoekstra, M., Kuivenhoven, J. A., Van Berkel, T. J. C., Rensen, P. C. N., & Van Eck, M. (2010). Restoration of high-density lipoprotein levels by cholesteryl ester transfer protein expression in scavenger receptor class B Type i (SR-BI) knockout mice does not normalize pathologies associated with SR-BI deficiency. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *30*(7), 1439–1445. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.205153
- Hilgendorf, I., Gerhardt, L. M. S., Tan, T. C., Winter, C., Holderried, T. A. W., Chousterman, B. G., Iwamoto, Y., Liao, R., Zirlik, A., Scherer-Crosbie, M., Hedrick, C. C., Libby, P., Nahrendorf, M., Weissleder, R., & Swirski, F. K. (2014). Ly-6 chigh monocytes depend on nr4a1 to balance both inflammatory and reparative phases in the infarcted myocardium. *Circulation Research*, *114*(10), 1611–1622. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.303204/-/DC1
- Hill, J., & Ward, P. (1971). The phlogistic role of C3 leukotactic fragments in myocardial infarcts of rats. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *133*(4), 885–900. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2138969/
- Hochreiter-Hufford, A., & Ravichandran, K. S. (2013). Clearing the Dead: Apoptotic Cell Sensing, Recognition, Engulfment, and Digestion. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1101/CSHPERSPECT.A008748
- Horckmans, M., Ring, L., Duchene, J., Santovito, D., Schloss, M. J., Drechsler, M., Weber, C., Soehnlein, O., & Steffens, S. (2017). Neutrophils orchestrate postmyocardial infarction healing by polarizing macrophages towards a reparative phenotype. *European Heart Journal*, 38(3), 187–197. https://doi.org/10.1093/EURHEARTJ/EHW002
- Huang, L., Chambliss, K. L., Gao, X., Yuhanna, I. S., Behling-Kelly, E., Bergaya, S., Ahmed, M., Michaely, P., Luby-Phelps, K., Darehshouri, A., Xu, L., Fisher, E. A., Ge, W. P., Mineo, C., & Shaul, P. W. (2019). SR-B1 drives endothelial cell LDL transcytosis via DOCK4 to promote atherosclerosis. *Nature*, 569(7757), 565–569. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1140-4
- Huby, T., Doucet, C., Dachet, C., Ouzilleau, B., Ueda, Y., Afzal, V., Rubin, E., Chapman, M. J., & Lesnik, P. (2006). Knockdown expression and hepatic deficiency reveal an atheroprotective role for SR-BI in liver and peripheral tissues. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *116*(10), 2767. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI26893
- Huo, Y., Schober, A., Forlow, S. B., Smith, D. F., Hyman, M. C., Jung, S., Littman, D. R., Weber, C., & Ley, K. (2003). Circulating activated platelets exacerbate

atherosclerosis in mice deficient in apolipoprotein E. *Nature Medicine*, *9*(1), 61–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/NM810

- Hussain, M. M., Rava, P., Walsh, M., Rana, M., & Iqbal, J. (2012). Multiple functions of microsomal triglyceride transfer protein. *Nutrition and Metabolism*, 9, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-7075-9-14
- Iiyama, K., Hajra, L., Iiyama, M., Li, H., DiChiara, M., Medoff, B. D., & Cybulsky, M. I. (1999a). Patterns of Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 and Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 Expression in Rabbit and Mouse Atherosclerotic Lesions and at Sites Predisposed to Lesion Formation. *Circulation Research*, 85(2), 199–207. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.85.2.199
- Iiyama, K., Hajra, L., Iiyama, M., Li, H., DiChiara, M., Medoff, B. D., & Cybulsky, M. I. (1999b). Patterns of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression in rabbit and mouse atherosclerotic lesions and at sites predisposed to lesion formation. *Circulation Research*, 85(2), 199–207. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.85.2.199
- Ishibashi, S., Brown, M. S., Goldstein, J. L., Gerard, R. D., Hammer, R. E., & Herz, J. (1993). Hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice and its reversal by adenovirus-mediated gene delivery. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 92(2), 883–893. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI116663
- Ji, Y., Jian, B., Wang, N., Sun, Y., Moya, M. L., Phillips, M. C., Rothblat, G. H., Swaney, J. B., & Tall, A. R. (1997). Scavenger receptor BI promotes high density lipoproteinmediated cellular cholesterol efflux. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(34), 20982–20985.
- Jian, B., de la Llera-Moya, M., Ji, Y., Wang, N., Phillips, M. C., Swaney, J. B., Tall, A. R., & Rothblat, G. H. (1998). Scavenger receptor class B type I as a mediator of cellular cholesterol efflux to lipoproteins and phospholipid acceptors. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(10), 5599–5606.
- Joseph, P., Leong, D., McKee, M., Anand, S. S., Schwalm, J. D., Teo, K., Mente, A., & Yusuf, S. (2017). Reducing the global burden of cardiovascular disease, part 1: The epidemiology and risk factors. *Circulation Research*, 121(6), 677–694. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.308903/FORMAT/EPUB
- Kanamori, H., Takemura, G., Goto, K., Maruyama, R., Ono, K., Nagao, K., Tsujimoto, A., Ogino, A., Takeyama, T., Kawaguchi, T., Watanabe, T., Kawasaki, M., Fujiwara, T., Fujiwara, H., Seishima, M., & Minatoguchi, S. (2011). Autophagy limits acute myocardial infarction induced by permanent coronary artery occlusion. *American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 300(6), 2261–2271. https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPHEART.01056.2010/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/ZH4006 1198870008.JPEG

- Karackattu, S. L., Trigatti, B., & Krieger, M. (2006). Hepatic lipase deficiency delays atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, and cardiac dysfunction and extends lifespan in SR-BI/apolipoprotein E double knockout mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 26(3), 548–554. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000202662.63876.02
- Karagiannis, A. D., Liu, M., Toth, P. P., Zhao, S., Agrawal, D. K., Libby, P., & Chatzizisis, Y. S. (2018). Pleiotropic Anti-atherosclerotic Effects of PCSK9 Inhibitors From Molecular Biology to Clinical Translation. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports*, 20(4), 20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11883-018-0718-x
- Kardassis, D., Mosialou, I., Kanaki, M., Tiniakou, I., & Thymiakou, E. (2014). Metabolism of HDL and its Regulation. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 21, 2864–2880.
- Karunakaran, D., Geoffrion, M., Wei, L., Gan, W., Richards, L., Shangari, P., DeKemp, E. M., Beanlands, R. A., Perisic, L., Maegdefessel, L., Hedin, U., Sad, S., Guo, L., Kolodgie, F. D., Virmani, R., Ruddy, T., & Rayner, K. J. (2016). Targeting macrophage necroptosis for therapeutic and diagnostic interventions in atherosclerosis. *Science Advances*, 2(7). https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIADV.1600224/SUPPL_FILE/1600224_SM.PDF
- Kastelein, J. J. P., van Leuven, S. I., Burgess, L., Evans, G. W., Kuivenhoven, J. A., Barter, P. J., Revkin, J. H., Grobbee, D. E., Riley, W. A., Shear, C. L., Duggan, W. T., & Bots, M. L. (2007). Effect of torcetrapib on carotid atherosclerosis in familial hypercholesterolemia. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *356*(16), 1620–1630. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA071359
- Kathiresan, S., Melander, O., Guiducci, C., Surti, A., Burtt, N. P., Rieder, M. J., Cooper, G. M., Roos, C., Voight, B. F., Havulinna, A. S., Wahlstrand, B., Hedner, T., Corella, D., Tai, E. S., Ordovas, J. M., Berglund, G., Vartiainen, E., Jousilahti, P., Hedblad, B., ... Orho-Melander, M. (2008). Translating molecular discoveries into new therapies for atherosclerosis. *Nature*, *451*(7181), 904–914. https://doi.org/10.1038/NG.75
- Katsuki, S., Jha, P. K., Lupieri, A., Nakano, T., Passos, L. S. A., Rogers, M. A., Becker-Greene, D., Le, T. D., Decano, J. L., Ho Lee, L., Guimaraes, G. C., Abdelhamid, I., Halu, A., Muscoloni, A., Cannistraci, C. V., Higashi, H., Zhang, H., Vromman, A., Libby, P., ... Aikawa, M. (2022). Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin 9 (PCSK9) Promotes Macrophage Activation via LDL Receptor-Independent Mechanisms. *Circulation Research*, *131*(11), 873–889. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.320056
- Kersten, S. (2021). ANGPTL3 as therapeutic target. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 3(6), 335–341. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.00000000000789

- Kim, B. J., Ryu, S. W., & Song, B. J. (2006). JNK- and p38 Kinase-mediated Phosphorylation of Bax Leads to Its Activation and Mitochondrial Translocation and to Apoptosis of Human Hepatoma HepG2 Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(30), 21256–21265. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M510644200
- Kim, J., Kundu, M., Viollet, B., & Guan, K. L. (2011). AMPK and mTOR regulate autophagy through direct phosphorylation of Ulk1. *Nature Cell Biology*, 13(2), 132– 141. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2152
- Kim, K., Shim, D., Lee, J. S., Zaitsev, K., Williams, J. W., Kim, K. W., Jang, M. Y., Jang, H. S., Yun, T. J., Lee, S. H., Yoon, W. K., Prat, A., Seidah, N. G., Choi, J., Lee, S. P., Yoon, S. H., Nam, J. W., Seong, J. K., Oh, G. T., ... Choi, J. H. (2018). Transcriptome analysis reveals nonfoamy rather than foamy plaque macrophages are proinflammatory in atherosclerotic murine models. *Circulation Research*, *123*(10), 1127–1142. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.312804/FORMAT/EPUB
- Kim, Y. U., Kee, P., Danila, D., & Teng, B. B. (2019). A critical role of PCSK9 in mediating il-17-producing T cell responses in hyperlipidemia. *Immune Network*, 19(6), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.4110/in.2019.19.e41
- Kinnally, K. W., Peixoto, P. M., Ryu, S. Y., & Dejean, L. M. (2011). Is mPTP the gatekeeper for necrosis, apoptosis, or both? *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1813(4), 616. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBAMCR.2010.09.013
- Kluck, G. E. G., Qian, A. S., Sakarya, E. H., Quach, H., Deng, Y. D., & Trigatti, B. L. (2023). Apolipoprotein A1 Protects Against Necrotic Core Development in Atherosclerotic Plaques: PDZK1-Dependent High-Density Lipoprotein Suppression of Necroptosis in Macrophages. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 43(1), 45–63. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.122.318062
- Kobayashi, J., Miyashita, K., Nakajima, K., & Mabuchi, H. (2015). Hepatic lipase: a comprehensive view of its role on plasma lipid and lipoprotein metabolism. *Journal* of Atherosclerosis and Thrombosis, 22, 1001–1011. https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/article/jat/22/10/22 31617/ article/-char/ja/
- Koenig, S. N., Sucharski, H. C., Jose, E. M., Dudley, E. K., Madiai, F., Cavus, O., Argall, A. D., Williams, J. L., Murphy, N. P., Keith, C. B. R., Refaey, M. El, Gumina, R. J., Boudoulas, K. D., Milks, M. W., Sofowora, G., Smith, S. A., Hund, T. J., Wright, N. T., Bradley, E. A., ... Mohler, P. J. (2021). Inherited Variants in SCARB1 Cause Severe Early-Onset Coronary Artery Disease. *Circulation Research*, *129*, 296–307. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.318793
- Koren, M. J., Roth, E. M., McKenney, J. M., Gipe, D., Hanotin, C., Ferrand, A. C., Wu, R., & Dufour, R. (2015). Safety and efficacy of alirocumab 150 mg every 2 weeks, a fully human proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 monoclonal antibody: A phase II pooled analysis. *Postgraduate Medicine*, 127(2), 125–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/00325481.2015.998987

- Korporaal, S. J. A., Meurs, I., Hauer, A. D., Hildebrand, R. B., Hoekstra, M., Ten Cate, H., Praticò, D., Akkerman, J. W. N., Van Berkel, T. J. C., Kuiper, J., & Van Eck, M. (2011). Deletion of the high-density lipoprotein receptor scavenger receptor BI in mice modulates thrombosis susceptibility and indirectly affects platelet function by elevation of plasma free cholesterol. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *31*(1), 34–42. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.210252/FORMAT/EPUB
- Kozarsky, K. F., Donahee•, M. H., Rlgottlt, A., Iqbal+, S. N., Edelman+, E. R., & Kriegert, M. (1997). Overexpression of the HDL receptor SR-BI alters plasma HDL and bile cholesterol levels. *Nature.Com*, 387. https://idp.nature.com/authorize/casa?redirect_uri=https://www.nature.com/articles/3 87414a0&casa_token=3I9Qz0URVnkAAAAA:C_IHg_GDjhmU7oY5yLSsLhJwZa RtwtfnQiACeCIjIfzNvmNcqTbbGifmLoR-BzWO9HKJW8iT8kmscYWD
- Krieger, M. (1999). Charting the fate of the 'good cholesterol': Identification and characterization of the high-density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 68, 523–558. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.BIOCHEM.68.1.523
- Kühnast, S., Van Der Hoorn, J. W. A., Pieterman, E. J., Van Den Hoek, A. M., Sasiela, W. J., Gusarova, V., Peyman, A., Schäfer, H. L., Schwahn, U., Jukema, J. W., & Princen, H. M. G. (2014). Alirocumab inhibits atherosclerosis, improves the plaque morphology, and enhances the effects of a statin. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 55(10), 2103–2112. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M051326
- Kühnast, S., van der Hoorn, J. W. A., Pieterman, E. J., van den Hoek, A. M., Sasiela, W. J., Gusarova, V., Peyman, A., Schäfer, H.-L., Schwahn, U., Jukema, J. W., & Princen, H. M. G. (2014). Alirocumab inhibits atherosclerosis, improves the plaque morphology, and enhances the effects of a statin. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 55(10), 2103–2112. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M051326
- Kuijpers, M. J. E., De Witt, S., Nergiz-Unal, R., Van Kruchten, R., Korporaal, S. J. A., Verhamme, P., Febbraio, M., Tjwa, M., Voshol, P. J., Hoylaerts, M. F., Cosemans, J. M. E. M., & Heemskerk, J. W. M. (2014). Supporting roles of platelet thrombospondin-1 and CD36 in thrombus formation on collagen. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *34*(6), 1187–1192. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.302917
- Kumari, A., Kristensen, K. K., Ploug, M., & Lund Winther, A. M. (2021). The importance of lipoprotein lipase regulation in atherosclerosis. *Biomedicines*, 9(7), 782. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines9070782
- Kysenius, K., Muggalla, P., Mätlik, K., Arumäe, U., & Huttunen, H. J. (2012). PCSK9 regulates neuronal apoptosis by adjusting ApoER2 levels and signaling. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences: CMLS*, 69(11), 1903–1916. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-012-0977-6

- Lagace, T. A., Curtis, D. E., Garuti, R., McNutt, M. C., Sahng, W. P., Prather, H. B., Anderson, N. N., Ho, Y. K., Hammer, R. E., & Horton, J. D. (2006). Secreted PCSK9 decreases the number of LDL receptors in hepatocytes and inlivers of parabiotic mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *116*(11), 2995. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI29383
- Landlinger, C., Pouwer, M. G., Juno, C., Van Der Hoorn, J. W. A., Pieterman, E. J., Jukema, J. W., Staffler, G., Princen, H. M. G., & Galabova, G. (2017). The AT04A vaccine against proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 reduces total cholesterol, vascular inflammation, and atherosclerosis in APOE*3Leiden.CETP mice. *European Heart Journal*, 38(32), 2499–2507. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehx260
- Lavandero, S., Troncoso, R., Rotherme, B. A., Martinet, W., Sadoshima, J., & Hill, J. A. (2013). Cardiovascular autophagy Concepts, controversies, and perspectives. *Autophagy*, 9(10), 1455–1466. https://doi.org/10.4161/AUTO.25969
- Leander, K., Mälarstig, A., Van'T Hooft, F. M., Hyde, C., Hellénius, M. L., Troutt, J. S., Konrad, R. J., Öhrvik, J., Hamsten, A., & De Faire, U. (2016). Circulating proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) predicts future risk of cardiovascular events independently of established risk factors. *Circulation*, 133(13), 1230–1239. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.018531
- Ley, K., Laudanna, C., Cybulsky, M. I., & Nourshargh, S. (2007). Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 7(9), 678–690. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRI2156
- Li, D. L., Wang, Z. V., Ding, G., Tan, W., Luo, X., Criollo, A., Xie, M., Jiang, N., May, H., Kyrychenko, V., Schneider, J. W., Gillette, T. G., & Hill, J. A. (2016). Doxorubicin Blocks Cardiomyocyte Autophagic Flux by Inhibiting Lysosome Acidification. *Circulation*, 133(17), 1668. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.017443
- Li, H., Horke, S., & Förstermann, U. (2014). Vascular oxidative stress, nitric oxide and atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis*, 237(1), 208–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ATHEROSCLEROSIS.2014.09.001
- Li, J., Brown, L. F., Hibberd, M. G., Grossman, J. D., Morgan, J. P., & Simons, M. (1996). VEGF, flk-1, and flt-1 expression in a rat myocardial infarction model of angiogenesis. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 270(5), H1803–H1811. https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPHEART.1996.270.5.H1803
- Li, J., Liang, X., Wang, Y., Xu, Z., & Li, G. (2017). Investigation of highly expressed PCSK9 in atherosclerotic plaques and ox-LDL-induced endothelial cell apoptosis. *Molecular Medicine Reports*, 16(2), 1817–1825. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2017.6803

Ph.D. Thesis – T. Xiong; McMaster University – Medical Sciences.

- Libby, P. (2005). The forgotten majority: unfinished business in cardiovascular risk reduction. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *46*(7), 1225–1228. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACC.2005.07.006
- Libby, P. (2013). Mechanisms of Acute Coronary Syndromes and Their Implications for Therapy. New England Journal of Medicine, 368(21), 2004–2013. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMRA1216063/SUPPL_FILE/NEJMRA1216063_DISCL OSURES.PDF
- Lichtman, A. H., Clinton, S. K., Iiyama, K., Connelly, P. W., Libby, P., & Cybulsky, M. I. (1999). Hyperlipidemia and atherosclerotic lesion development in LDL receptordeficient mice fed defined semipurified diets with and without cholate. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 19(8), 1938–1944. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.19.8.1938
- Lievens, D., & von Hundelshausen, P. (2011). Platelets in atherosclerosis. *Thrombosis* and Haemostasis, 106(5), 827–838. https://doi.org/10.1160/TH11-08-0592
- Liu, A., & Frostegård, J. (2018). PCSK9 plays a novel immunological role in oxidized LDL-induced dendritic cell maturation and activation of T cells from human blood and atherosclerotic plaque. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 284(2), 193–210. https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.12758
- Liu, L.-S., XIE, M., JIANG, Z.-S., YANG, Q., PAN, L.-H., WU, C.-Y., TANG, Z.-H., TANG, C.-K., WEI, D.-H., & Wang, Z. (2009a). Effects of pcsk9 siRNA on THP-1 derived macrophages apoptosis induced by oxLDL. *Progress in Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 36, 323–330. https://doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1206.2008.00427
- Liu, L.-S., XIE, M., JIANG, Z.-S., YANG, Q., PAN, L.-H., WU, C.-Y., TANG, Z.-H., TANG, C.-K., WEI, D.-H., & Wang, Z. (2009b). Effects of pcsk9 siRNA on THP-1 derived macrophages apoptosis induced by oxLDL. *Progress in Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 36, 323–330. https://doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1206.2008.00427
- Liu, S., Deng, X., Zhang, P., Wang, X., Fan, Y., Zhou, S., Mu, S., Mehta, J. L., & Ding, Z. (2020). Blood flow patterns regulate PCSK9 secretion via MyD88-mediated proinflammatory cytokines. *Cardiovascular Research*, *116*(10), 1721–1732. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvz262
- Liu, X., Bao, X., Hu, M., Chang, H., Jiao, M., Cheng, J., Xie, L., Huang, Q., Li, F., & Li, C. Y. (2020). Inhibition of PCSK9 potentiates immune checkpoint therapy for cancer. *Nature*, 588(7839), 693–699. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41586-020-2911-7
- Livak, K. J., & Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Analysis of Relative Gene Expression Data Using Real-Time Quantitative PCR and the 2-ΔΔCT Method. *Methods*, 25(4), 402-408. https://doi.org/10.1006/METH.2001.1262
- Llodrá, J., Angeli, V., Liu, J., Trogan, E., Fisher, E. A., & Rendolph, G. J. (2004). Emigration of monocyte-derived cells from atherosclerotic lesions characterizes

regressive, but not progressive, plaques. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(32), 11779–11784. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0403259101

- Long-Term Intervention with Pravastatin in Ischaemic Disease (LIPID) Study Group. (1998). Prevention of Cardiovascular Events and Death with Pravastatin in Patients with Coronary Heart Disease and a Broad Range of Initial Cholesterol Levels. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 339, 1349–1357.
- Lu-Shan, L., Min, X., Zhi-Sheng, J., Qiong, Y., Li-Hong, P., Chun-Yan, W., Zhi-Han, T., Chao-Ke, T., & Zuo, W. D.-H. and W. (2008). Effects of pcsk9 siRNA on THP-1 derived macrophages apoptosis induced by oxLDL. *Progress in Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 36(3), 323–330. https://doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1206.2008.00427
- Ma, K., Forte, T., Otvos, J. D., & Chan, L. (2005). Differential additive effects of endothelial lipase and scavenger receptor-class B type I on high-density lipoprotein metabolism in knockout mouse models. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 25(1), 149–154. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000150414.89591.6a
- Magwenzi, S., Woodward, C., Wraith, K. S., Aburima, A., Raslan, Z., Jones, H., McNeil, C., Wheatcroft, S., Yuldasheva, N., Febbriao, M., Kearney, M., & Naseem, K. M. (2015). Oxidized LDL activates blood platelets through CD36/NOX2-mediated inhibition of the cGMP/protein kinase G signaling cascade. *Blood*, *125*(17), 2693– 2703. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-05-574491
- Maik, D., Johan, D., & Oliver, S. (2015). Chemokines Control Mobilization, Recruitment, and Fate of Monocytes in Atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 35(5), 1050–1055. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304649
- Mäkinen, P. I., Lappalainen, J. P., Heinonen, S. E., Leppänen, P., Lähteenvuo, M. T., Aarnio, J. V., Heikkilä, J., Turunen, M. P., & Ylä-Herttuala, S. (2010). Silencing of either SR-A or CD36 reduces atherosclerosis in hyperlipidaemic mice and reveals reciprocal upregulation of these receptors. *Cardiovascular Research*, 88(3), 530– 538. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvq235
- Malek, A. M., Alper, S. L., & Izumo, S. (1999). Hemodynamic shear stress and its role in atherosclerosis. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 282(21), 2035–2042. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.282.21.2035
- Matsui, Y., Takagi, H., Qu, X., Abdellatif, M., Sakoda, H., Asano, T., Levine, B., & Sadoshima, J. (2007a). Distinct Roles of Autophagy in the Heart During Ischemia and Reperfusion. *Circulation Research*, 100(6), 914–922. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000261924.76669.36
- Matsui, Y., Takagi, H., Qu, X., Abdellatif, M., Sakoda, H., Asano, T., Levine, B., & Sadoshima, J. (2007b). Distinct roles of autophagy in the heart during ischemia and reperfusion: Roles of AMP-activated protein kinase and beclin 1 in mediating

autophagy. *Circulation Research*, *100*(6), 914–922. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000261924.76669.36

- Maxwell, K. N., & Breslow, J. L. (2004). Adenoviral-mediated expression of Pcsk9 in mice results in a low-density lipoprotein receptor knockout phenotype. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 101(18), 7100– 7105. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0402133101
- Maxwell, K. N., Fisher, E. A., & Breslow, J. L. (2005). Overexpression of PCSK9 accelerates the degradation of the LDLR in a post-endoplasmic reticulum compartment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 102(6), 2069–2074. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0409736102/SUPPL FILE/09736FIG6.PDF
- McGill, J., McMahan, C. A., Herderick, E. E., Malcom, G. T., Tracy, R. E., & Jack, P. (2000). Origin of atherosclerosis in childhood and adolescence. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 72(5), 1307–1315. https://doi.org/10.1093/AJCN/72.5.1307S
- Miñana, G., Núñez, J., Bayés-Genís, A., Revuelta-López, E., Ríos-Navarro, C., Núñez, E., Chorro, F. J., López-Lereu, M. P., Monmeneu, J. V., Lupón, J., Sanchis, J., & Bodí, V. (2020). Role of PCSK9 in the course of ejection fraction change after ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: a pilot study. *ESC Heart Failure*, 7(1), 117–122. https://doi.org/10.1002/ehf2.12533
- Mireille, O., J., B. T., & A., F. E. (2019). HDL and Reverse Cholesterol Transport. *Circulation Research*, 124(10), 1505–1518. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.119.312617
- Mittler, R., Vanderauwera, S., Suzuki, N., Miller, G., Tognetti, V. B., Vandepoele, K., Gollery, M., Shulaev, V., & Van Breusegem, F. (2011). ROS signaling: the new wave? *Trends in Plant Science*, 16(6), 300–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2011.03.007
- MJ, L., R, H., JC, H., S, P., T, A., J, T., K, W., M, C., L, J., R, C., & J, A. (2014). Effects of extended-release niacin with laropiprant in high-risk patients. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *371*(3), 203–212. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1300955
- Monetti, M., Canavesi, M., Camera, M., Parente, R., Paoletti, R., Tremoli, E., Corsini, A., & Bellosta, S. (2007). Rosuvastatin displays anti-atherothrombotic and antiinflammatory properties in apoE-deficient mice. *Pharmacological Research*, 55(5), 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHRS.2007.02.001
- Moore, K. J., Sheedy, F. J., & Fisher, E. A. (2013). Macrophages in atherosclerosis: a dynamic balance. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *13*(10), 709–721. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3520

- Nagendran, J., Pulinilkunnil, T., Kienesberger, P. C., Sung, M. M., Fung, D., Febbraio, M., & Dyck, J. R. B. (2013). Cardiomyocyte-specific ablation of CD36 improves post-ischemic functional recovery. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 63, 180–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.YJMCC.2013.07.020
- Nakamuta, M., Chang, B. H. J., Zsigmond, E., Kobayashi, K., Lei, H., Ishida, B. Y., Oka, K., Li, E., & Chan, L. (1996). Complete Phenotypic Characterization of apobec-1 Knockout Mice with a Wild-type Genetic Background and a Human Apolipoprotein B Transgenic Background, and Restoration of Apolipoprotein B mRNA Editing by Somatic Gene Transfer of Apobec-1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(42), 25981–25988. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.271.42.25981
- Nakashima, Y., Plump, A. S., Raines, E. W., Breslow, J. L., & Ross, R. (1994). ApoEdeficient mice develop lesions of all phases of atherosclerosis throughout the arterial tree. *Arteriosclerosis and Thrombosis*, *14*(1), 133–140. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8274468
- Navarese, E. P., Kolodziejczak, M., Winter, M.-P., Alimohammadi, A., Lang, I. M., Buffon, A., Lip, G. Y., & Siller-Matula, J. M. (2017). Association of PCSK9 with platelet reactivity in patients with acute coronary syndrome treated with prasugrel or ticagrelor: The PCSK9-REACT study. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 227, 644–649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.10.084
- Neculai, D., Schwake, M., Ravichandran, M., Zunke, F., Collins, R. F., Peters, J., Neculai, M., Plumb, J., Loppnau, P., Pizarro, J. C., Seitova, A., Trimble, W. S., Saftig, P., Grinstein, S., & Dhe-Paganon, S. (2013). Structure of LIMP-2 provides functional insights with implications for SR-BI and CD36. *Nature*, 504(7478), 172–176. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12684
- Nicholls, S. J., Puri, R., Anderson, T., Ballantyne, C. M., Cho, L., Kastelein, J. J. P., Koenig, W., Somaratne, R., Kassahun, H., Yang, J., Wasserman, S. M., Scott, R., Ungi, I., Podolec, J., Ophuis, A. O., Cornel, J. H., Borgman, M., Brennan, D. M., & Nissen, S. E. (2016). Effect of Evolocumab on Progression of Coronary Disease in Statin-Treated Patients: The GLAGOV Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA*, *316*(22), 2373–2384. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.2016.16951
- Nissen, S. E., Nicholls, S. J., Sipahi, I., Libby, P., Raichlen, J. S., Ballantyne, C. M., Davignon, J., Erbel, R., Fruchart, J. C., Tardif, J. C., Schoenhagen, P., Crowe, T., Cain, V., Wolski, K., Goormastic, M., & Tuzcu, E. M. (2006). Effect of very highintensity statin therapy on regression of coronary atherosclerosis: the ASTEROID trial. JAMA, 295(13), 1556–1565. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.295.13.JPC60002
- Nissen, S. E., Tardif, J.-C., Nicholls, S. J., Revkin, J. H., Shear, C. L., Duggan, W. T., Ruzyllo, W., Bachinsky, W. B., Lasala, G. P., & Tuzcu, E. M. (2007). Effect of torcetrapib on the progression of coronary atherosclerosis. *The New England Journal* of Medicine, 356(13), 1304–1316. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA070635

- Nissen, S. E., Tuzcu, E. M., Schoenhagen, P., Brown, B. G., Ganz, P., Vogel, R. A., Crowe, T., Howard, G., Cooper, C. J., Brodie, B., Grines, C. L., & DeMaria, A. N. (2004). Effect of intensive compared with moderate lipid-lowering therapy on progression of coronary atherosclerosis: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 291(9), 1071–1080. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.291.9.1071
- Oesterle, A., Laufs, U., & Liao, J. K. (2017). Pleiotropic Effects of Statins on the Cardiovascular System. *Circulation Research*, *120*(1), 229–243. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.308537
- Oleaga, C., Shapiro, M. D., Hay, J., Mueller, P. A., Miles, J., Huang, C., Friz, E., Tavori, H., Toth, P. P., Wójcik, C., Warden, B. A., Purnell, J. Q., Duell, P. B., Pamir, N., & Fazio, S. (2021). Hepatic Sensing Loop Regulates PCSK9 Secretion in Response to Inhibitory Antibodies. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 78(14), 1437–1449. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACC.2021.07.056
- Olivecrona, G. (2016). Role of lipoprotein lipase in lipid metabolism. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 27(3), 233–241. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.0000000000297
- Ong, S.-B., Hernández-Reséndiz, S., Crespo-Avilan, G. E., Mukhametshina, R. T., Kwek, X.-Y., Cabrera-Fuentes, H. A., & Hausenloy, D. J. (2018). Inflammation following acute myocardial infarction: Multiple players, dynamic roles, and novel therapeutic opportunities. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 186, 73–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2018.01.001
- Pacher, P., Nagayama, T., Mukhopadhyay, P., Bátkai, S., & Kass, D. A. (2008). Measurement of cardiac function using pressure-volume conductance catheter technique in mice and rats. *Nature Protocols*, 3(9), 1422–1434. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2008.138
- Palinski, W., Tangirala, R. K., Miller, E., Young, S. G., & Witztum, J. L. (1995). Increased autoantibody titers against epitopes of oxidized LDL in LDL receptor-deficient mice with increased atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 15(10), 1569–1576. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.15.10.1569/FORMAT/EPUB
- Pastori, D., Nocella, C., Farcomeni, A., Bartimoccia, S., Santulli, M., Vasaturo, F., Carnevale, R., Menichelli, D., Violi, F., Pignatelli, P., Saliola, M., Casciaro, M. A., Ferro, D., Vicario, T., Albanese, F., Cribari, F., Paladino, A., Del Sole, F., Novo, M., ... Sabbatini, E. (2017). Relationship of PCSK9 and Urinary Thromboxane Excretion to Cardiovascular Events in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 70(12), 1455–1462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.07.743
- Patel, S., Mastrogiacomo, L., Fulmer, M., Shi, Y., & Werstuck, G. H. (2022). Deletion of Macrophage-Specific Glycogen Synthase Kinase (GSK)-3α Promotes Atherosclerotic Regression in Ldlr–/– Mice. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(16), 9293. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS23169293/S1

- Pavanello, C., & Calabresi, L. (2020). Genetic, biochemical, and clinical features of LCAT deficiency: update for 2020. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 31(4), 232–237. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.0000000000697
- Pei, Y., Chen, X., Aboutouk, D., Fuller, M. T., Dadoo, O., Yu, P., White, E. J., Igdoura, S. A., & Trigatti, B. L. (2013). SR-BI in Bone Marrow Derived Cells Protects Mice from Diet Induced Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis and Myocardial Infarction. *PLOS ONE*, 8(8), e72492. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0072492
- Pekkanen, J., Linn, S., Heiss, G., Suchindran, C. M., Leon, A., Rifkind, B. M., & Tyroler, H. A. (1990). Ten-Year Mortality from Cardiovascular Disease in Relation to Cholesterol Level among Men with and without Preexisting Cardiovascular Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 322(24), 1700–1707. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199006143222403
- Peled, M., Nishi, H., Weinstock, A., Barrett, T. J., Zhou, F., Quezada, A., & Fisher, E. A. (2017). A wild-type mouse-based model for the regression of inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Plos ONE*, *12*(3), e0173975. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0173975
- Peyot, M. L., Roubtsova, A., Lussier, R., Chamberland, A., Essalmani, R., Murthy Madiraju, S. R., Seidah, N. G., Prentki, M., & Prat, A. (2021). Substantial PCSK9 inactivation in β-cells does not modify glucose homeostasis or insulin secretion in mice. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, *1866*(8), 158968. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBALIP.2021.158968
- Phillips, M. C. (2014). Molecular Mechanisms of Cellular Cholesterol Efflux. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 289(35), 24020–24029. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.R114.583658
- Piedrahita, J. A., Zhang, S. H., Hagaman, J. R., Oliver, P. M., & Maeda, N. (1992). Generation of mice carrying a mutant apolipoprotein E gene inactivated by gene targeting in embryonic stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 89(10), 4471. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.89.10.4471
- Plump, A. S., Smith, J. D., Hayek, T., Aalto-Setälä, K., Walsh, A., Verstuyft, J. G., Rubin, E. M., & Breslow, J. L. (1992a). Severe hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice created by homologous recombination in ES cells. *Cell*, 71(2), 343–353. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(92)90362-G
- Plump, A. S., Smith, J. D., Hayek, T., Aalto-Setälä, K., Walsh, A., Verstuyft, J. G., Rubin, E. M., & Breslow, J. L. (1992b). Severe hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice created by homologous recombination in ES cells. *Cell*, 71(2), 343–353.
- Podrez, E. A., Byzova, T. V., Febbraio, M., Salomon, R. G., Ma, Y., Valiyaveettil, M., Poliakov, E., Sun, M., Finton, P. J., Curtis, B. R., Chen, J., Zhang, R., Silverstein, R.

L., & Hazen, S. L. (2007). Platelet CD36 links hyperlipidemia, oxidant stress and a prothrombotic phenotype. *Nature Medicine*, *13*(9), 1086–1095. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1626

- Podrez, E. A., Febbraio, M., Sheibani, N., Schmitt, D., Silverstein, R. L., Hajjar, D. P., Cohen, P. A., Frazier, W. A., Hoff, H. F., & Hazen, S. L. (2000). Macrophage scavenger receptor CD36 is the major receptor for LDL modified by monocytegenerated reactive nitrogen species. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 105(8), 1095– 1108. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI8574
- Poirier, S., Mayer, G., Benjannet, S., Bergeron, E., Marcinkiewicz, J., Nassoury, N., Mayer, H., Nimpf, J., Prat, A., & Seidah, N. G. (2008). The Proprotein Convertase PCSK9 Induces the Degradation of Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor (LDLR) and Its Closest Family Members VLDLR and ApoER2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(4), 2363–2372. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M708098200
- Poirier, S., Mayer, G., Poupon, V., McPherson, P. S., Desjardins, R., Ly, K., Asselin, M.-C., Day, R., Duclos, F. J., Witmer, M., Parker, R., Prat, A., & Seidah, N. G. (2009). Dissection of the endogenous cellular pathways of PCSK9-induced low density lipoprotein receptor degradation: evidence for an intracellular route. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(42), 28856–28864. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.037085
- Prabhu, S. D., & Frangogiannis, N. G. (2016). The biological basis for cardiac repair after myocardial infarction. *Circulation Research*, 119(1), 91–112. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303577/FORMAT/EPUB
- Pryma, C. S., Ortega, C., Dubland, J. A., & Francis, G. A. (2019). Pathways of smooth muscle foam cell formation in atherosclerosis. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 30(2), 117–124. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.00000000000574
- Qi, Z., Hu, L., Zhang, J., Yang, W., Liu, X., Jia, D., Yao, Z., Chang, L., Pan, G., Zhong, H., Luo, X., Yao, K., Sun, A., Qian, J., Ding, Z., & Ge, J. (2021a). PCSK9 (Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin 9) Enhances Platelet Activation, Thrombosis, and Myocardial Infarct Expansion by Binding to Platelet CD36. *Circulation*, 143(1), 45–61. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.046290
- Qi, Z., Hu, L., Zhang, J., Yang, W., Liu, X., Jia, D., Yao, Z., Chang, L., Pan, G., Zhong, H., Luo, X., Yao, K., Sun, A., Qian, J., Ding, Z., & Ge, J. (2021b). PCSK9 (Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin 9) Enhances Platelet Activation, Thrombosis, and Myocardial Infarct Expansion by Binding to Platelet CD36. *Circulation*, 143(1), 45–61. https://www-ahajournals-org.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/doi/abs/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.046290
- Qian, Y. W., Schmidt, R. J., Zhang, Y., Chu, S., Lin, A., Wang, H., Wang, X., Beyer, T. P., Bensch, W. R., Li, W., Ehsani, M. E., Lu, D., Konrad, R. J., Eacho, P. I., Moller, D.

E., Karathanasis, S. K., & Cao, G. (2007). Secreted PCSK9 downregulates low density lipoprotein receptor through receptor-mediated endocytosis. *Journal of Lipid Research*, *48*(7), 1488–1498. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.M700071-JLR200

- Quan, Y., Xin, Y., Tian, G., Zhou, J., & Liu, X. (2020). Mitochondrial ROS-Modulated mtDNA: A Potential Target for Cardiac Aging. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2020, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/9423593
- Raal, F. J., Kallend, D., Ray, K. K., Turner, T., Koenig, W., Wright, R. S., Wijngaard, P. L. J., Curcio, D., Jaros, M. J., Leiter, L. A., & Kastelein, J. J. P. (2020). Inclisiran for the Treatment of Heterozygous Familial Hypercholesterolemia. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 382(16), 1520–1530. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1913805/SUPPL_FILE/NEJMOA1913805_DATA -SHARING.PDF
- Rahman, K., & Fisher, E. A. (2018). Insights From Pre-Clinical and Clinical Studies on the Role of Innate Inflammation in Atherosclerosis Regression. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2018.00032
- Rahman, K., Vengrenyuk, Y., Ramsey, S. A., Vila, N. R., Girgis, N. M., Liu, J., Gusarova, V., Gromada, J., Weinstock, A., Moore, K. J., Loke, P., & Fisher, E. A. (2017).
 Inflammatory Ly6Chi monocytes and their conversion to M2 macrophages drive atherosclerosis regression. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *127*(8), 2904–2915. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI75005
- Ray, K. K., Wright, R. S., Kallend, D., Koenig, W., Leiter, L. A., Raal, F. J., Bisch, J. A., Richardson, T., Jaros, M., Wijngaard, P. L. J., & Kastelein, J. J. P. (2020). Two Phase 3 Trials of Inclisiran in Patients with Elevated LDL Cholesterol. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 382(16), 1507–1519. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1912387/SUPPL_FILE/NEJMOA1912387_DATA -SHARING.PDF
- Rayner, K. J. (2017). Cell death in the vessel wall: The good, the bad, the ugly. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *37*(7), e75. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.309229
- Rayner, K. J., Sheedy, F. J., Esau, C. C., Hussain, F. N., Temel, R. E., Parathath, S., Van Gils, J. M., Rayner, A. J., Chang, A. N., Suarez, Y., Fernandez-Hernando, C., Fisher, E. A., & Moore, K. J. (2011). Antagonism of miR-33 in mice promotes reverse cholesterol transport and regression of atherosclerosis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *121*(7), 2921–2931. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI57275
- Reddick, R. L., Zhang, S. H., & Maeda, N. (1994). Atherosclerosis in mice lacking Apo E
 Evaluation of lesional development and progression. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis,* and Vascular Biology, 14(1), 141–147. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.14.1.141
- Reis, E. D., Li, J., Fayad, Z. A., Rong, J. X., Hansoty, D., Aguinaldo, J. G., Fallon, J. T., & Fisher, E. A. (2001). Dramatic remodeling of advanced atherosclerotic plaques of

the apolipoprotein e-deficient mouse in a novel transplantation model. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, *34*(3), 541–547. https://doi.org/10.1067/mva.2001.115963

- Ricci, C., Pastukh, V., Leonard, J., Turrens, J., Wilson, G., Schaffer, D., & Schaffer, S. W. (2008). Mitochondrial DNA damage triggers mitochondrial-superoxide generation and apoptosis. *American Journal of Physiology - Cell Physiology*, 294(2), 413–422. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00362.2007
- Ricci, C., Ruscica, M., Camera, M., Rossetti, L., Macchi, C., Colciago, A., Zanotti, I., Lupo, M. G., Adorni, M. P., Cicero, A. F. G., Fogacci, F., Corsini, A., & Ferri, N. (2018a). PCSK9 induces a pro-inflammatory response in macrophages. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 2267. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20425-x
- Ricci, C., Ruscica, M., Camera, M., Rossetti, L., Macchi, C., Colciago, A., Zanotti, I., Lupo, M. G., Adorni, M. P., Cicero, A. F. G., Fogacci, F., Corsini, A., & Ferri, N. (2018b). PCSK9 induces a pro-inflammatory response in macrophages. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 2267. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20425-x
- Ridker, P. M., Danielson, E., Fonseca, F. A. H., Genest, J., Gotto, A. M., Kastelein, J. J. P., Koenig, W., Libby, P., Lorenzatti, A. J., Macfadyen, J. G., Nordestgaard, B. G., Shepherd, J., Willerson, J. T., & Glynn, R. J. D. (2008). Rosuvastatin to Prevent Vascular Events in Men and Women with Elevated C-Reactive Protein. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *359*(21), 2195–2207. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0807646
- Ridker, P. M., Everett, B. M., Thuren, T., MacFadyen, J. G., Chang, W. H., Ballantyne, C., Fonseca, F., Nicolau, J., Koenig, W., Anker, S. D., Kastelein, J. J. P., Cornel, J. H., Pais, P., Pella, D., Genest, J., Cifkova, R., Lorenzatti, A., Forster, T., Kobalava, Z., ... Glynn, R. J. (2017). Antiinflammatory Therapy with Canakinumab for Atherosclerotic Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *377*(12), 1119–1131. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1707914
- Ridker, P. M., Tardif, J.-C., Amarenco, P., Duggan, W., Glynn, R. J., Jukema, J. W., Kastelein, J. J. P., Kim, A. M., Koenig, W., Nissen, S., Revkin, J., Rose, L. M., Santos, R. D., Schwartz, P. F., Shear, C. L., & Yunis, C. (2017). Lipid-Reduction Variability and Antidrug-Antibody Formation with Bococizumab. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 376(16), 1517–1526. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1614062
- Rigotti, A., Miettinen, H. E., & Krieger, M. (2003). The role of the high-density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI in the lipid metabolism of endocrine and other tissues. *Endocrine Reviews*, 24(3), 357–387. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2001-0037
- Rigotti, A., Trigatti, B. L., Penman, M., Rayburn, H., Herz, J., & Krieger, M. (1997a). A targeted mutation in the murine gene encoding the high density lipoprotein (HDL) receptor scavenger receptor class B type I reveals its key role in HDL metabolism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(23), 12610–12615. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.94.23.12610

- Rigotti, A., Trigatti, B. L., Penman, M., Rayburn, H., Herz, J., & Krieger, M. (1997b). A targeted mutation in the murine gene encoding the high density lipoprotein (HDL) receptor scavenger receptor class B type I reveals its key role in HDL metabolism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(23), 12610–12615.
- Robinson, J. G., Farnier, M., Krempf, M., Bergeron, J., Luc, G., Averna, M., Stroes, E. S., Langslet, G., Raal, F. J., El Shahawy, M., Koren, M. J., Lepor, N. E., Lorenzato, C., Pordy, R., Chaudhari, U., & Kastelein, J. J. P. (2015). Efficacy and Safety of Alirocumab in Reducing Lipids and Cardiovascular Events. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 372(16), 1489–1499. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1501031
- Roth, E. M., Mckenney, J. M., Hanotin, C., & Stein, E. A. (2012). Atorvastatin with or without an Antibody to PCSK9 in Primary Hypercholesterolemia A BS T R AC T. N Engl J Med, 367, 1891–1900. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1201832
- Roth, G. A., Abate, D., Abate, K. H., Abay, S. M., Abbafati, C., Abbasi, N., Abbastabar, H., Abd-Allah, F., Abdela, J., Abdelalim, A., Abdollahpour, I., Abdulkader, R. S., Abebe, H. T., Abebe, M., Abebe, Z., Abejie, A. N., Abera, S. F., Abil, O. Z., Abraha, H. N., ... Murray, C. J. L. (2018). Global, regional, and national age-sex-specific mortality for 282 causes of death in 195 countries and territories, 1980–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet (London, England)*, 392(10159), 1736. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32203-7
- Roubtsova, A., Munkonda, M. N., Awan, Z., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Lazure, C., Cianflone, K., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2011a). Circulating Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin 9 (PCSK9) Regulates VLDLR Protein and Triglyceride Accumulation in Visceral Adipose Tissue. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 31(4), 785–791. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.220988
- Roubtsova, A., Munkonda, M. N., Awan, Z., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Lazure, C., Cianflone, K., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2011b). Circulating proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 (PCSK9) regulates VLDLR protein and triglyceride accumulation in visceral adipose tissue. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 31(4), 785–791. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.220988
- Rye, K. A., & Barter, P. J. (2004). Formation and Metabolism of Prebeta-Migrating, Lipid-Poor Apolipoprotein A-I. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 24(3), 421–428. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000104029.74961.F5
- Sabatine, M. S., Giugliano, R. P., Keech, A. C., Honarpour, N., Wiviott, S. D., Murphy, S. A., Kuder, J. F., Wang, H., Liu, T., Wasserman, S. M., Sever, P. S., & Pedersen, T. R. (2017). Evolocumab and Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Cardiovascular Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 376(18), 1713–1722. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1615664

- Sabatine, M. S., Giugliano, R. P., Wiviott, S. D., Raal, F. J., Blom, D. J., Robinson, J., Ballantyne, C. M., Somaratne, R., Legg, J., Wasserman, S. M., Scott, R., Koren, M. J., & Stein, E. A. (2015). Efficacy and Safety of Evolocumab in Reducing Lipids and Cardiovascular Events. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *372*(16), 1500–1509. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1500858
- Sacks, F. M., Acks, M. S., Feffer, A. A. P., Oye, E. A. M., Ean, J., Ouleau, L. R., Utherford, O. D. R., Ole, H. G. C., Rown, I. B., Ayne, J. W., Arnica, W., Alcolm, J. M., Rnold, O. A., Huan -C Huan, C., Un, W., Avis, A. R. D., Ugene, E., Raunwald, B., Ecurrent, R., ... Nvestigators, I. (1996). The Effect of Pravastatin on Coronary Events after Myocardial Infarction in Patients with Average Cholesterol Levels. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 335, 1001–1009.
- Sahng, W. P., Moon, Y. A., & Horton, J. D. (2004). Post-transcriptional regulation of low density lipoprotein receptor protein by proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9a in mouse liver. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(48), 50630–50638. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M410077200
- Saigusa, R., Winkels, H., & Ley, K. (2020a). T cell subsets and functions in atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 17(7), 387–401. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41569-020-0352-5
- Saigusa, R., Winkels, H., & Ley, K. (2020b). T cell subsets and functions in atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 17(7), 387–402. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41569-020-0352-5
- Sakurai, I., Tosaka, A., Yamada, T., & Masubuchi, K. (1978). HISTOCHEMICAL STUDY ON LIPID METABOLISM IN ACUTE MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION. *Pathology International*, 28(5), 669–675. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1440-1827.1978.TB00906.X
- Santos, R. D., Gidding, S. S., Hegele, R. A., Cuchel, M. A., Barter, P. J., Watts, G. F., Baum, S. J., Catapano, A. L., Chapman, M. J., Defesche, J. C., Folco, E., Freiberger, T., Genest, J., Hovingh, G. K., Harada-Shiba, M., Humphries, S. E., Jackson, A. S., Mata, P., Moriarty, P. M., ... Yamashita, S. (2016). Defining severe familial hypercholesterolaemia and the implications for clinical management: a consensus statement from the International Atherosclerosis Society Severe Familial Hypercholesterolemia Panel. *The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology*, 4(10), 850–861. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(16)30041-9
- Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study Group. (1994). Randomised trial of cholesterol lowering in 4444 patients with coronary heart disease: the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S). *The Lancet*, 344(8934), 1383–1389. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(94)90566-5
- Schlüter, K. D., Wolf, A., Weber, M., Schreckenberg, R., & Schulz, R. (2017). Oxidized low-density lipoprotein (oxLDL) affects load-free cell shortening of cardiomyocytes

in a proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 (PCSK9)-dependent way. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, *112*(6), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00395-017-0650-1

- Schroeter, M. R., Humboldt, T., Schäfer, K., & Konstantinides, S. (2009). Rosuvastatin reduces atherosclerotic lesions and promotes progenitor cell mobilisation and recruitment in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. *Atherosclerosis*, 205(1), 63–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ATHEROSCLEROSIS.2008.11.013
- Schuster, S., Rubil, S., Endres, M., Princen, H. M. G., Boeckel, J.-N., Winter, K., Werner, C., & Laufs, U. (2019). Anti-PCSK9 antibodies inhibit pro-atherogenic mechanisms in APOE*3Leiden.CETP mice. *Scientific Reports*, 9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47242-0
- Schwartz, G. G., Steg, P. G., Szarek, M., Bhatt, D. L., Bittner, V. A., Diaz, R., Edelberg, J. M., Goodman, S. G., Hanotin, C., Harrington, R. A., Jukema, J. W., Lecorps, G., Mahaffey, K. W., Moryusef, A., Pordy, R., Quintero, K., Roe, M. T., Sasiela, W. J., Tamby, J.-F., ... Zeiher, A. M. (2018). Alirocumab and Cardiovascular Outcomes after Acute Coronary Syndrome. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *379*(22), 2097–2107. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1801174
- Schwenke, D. C., & Carew, T. E. (1989). Initiation of atherosclerotic lesions in cholesterol-fed rabbits. II. Selective retention of LDL vs. selective increases in LDL permeability in susceptible sites of arteries. *Arteriosclerosis*, 9(6), 908–918. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.9.6.908
- Seidah, N. G., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Marcinkiewicz, J., Bélanger Jasmin, S., Stifani, S., Basak, A., Prat, A., & Chrétien, M. (2003a). The secretory proprotein convertase neural apoptosis-regulated convertase 1 (NARC-1): Liver regeneration and neuronal differentiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(3), 928–933. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0335507100
- Seidah, N. G., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Marcinkiewicz, J., Bélanger Jasmin, S., Stifani, S., Basak, A., Prat, A., & Chrétien, M. (2003b). The secretory proprotein convertase neural apoptosis-regulated convertase 1 (NARC-1): Liver regeneration and neuronal differentiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(3), 928–933. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0335507100
- Seidah, N. G., & Garçon, D. (2022). Expanding Biology of PCSK9: Roles in Atherosclerosis and Beyond. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports*, 24(10), 821. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11883-022-01057-Z
- Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2022). The Multifaceted Biology of PCSK9. *Endocrine Reviews*, 43(3), 558–582. https://doi.org/10.1210/ENDREV/BNAB035

- Serhan, C. N., Chiang, N., & Van Dyke, T. E. (2008). Resolving inflammation: dual antiinflammatory and pro-resolution lipid mediators. *Nature Reviews Immunology 2008* 8:5, 8(5), 349–361. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2294
- Shah, P. K., Yano, J., Reyes, O., Chyu, K. Y., Kaul, S., Bisgaier, C. L., Drake, S., & Cercek, B. (2001). High-Dose Recombinant Apolipoprotein A-IMilano Mobilizes Tissue Cholesterol and Rapidly Reduces Plaque Lipid and Macrophage Content in Apolipoprotein E–Deficient Mice. *Circulation*, 103(25), 3047–3050. https://doi.org/10.1161/HC2501.092494
- Shankman, L. S., Gomez, D., Cherepanova, O. A., Salmon, M., Alencar, G. F., Haskins, R. M., Swiatlowska, P., Newman, A. A. C., Greene, E. S., Straub, A. C., Isakson, B., Randolph, G. J., & Owens, G. K. (2015). KLF4-dependent phenotypic modulation of smooth muscle cells has a key role in atherosclerotic plaque pathogenesis. *Nature Medicine*, 21(6), 628–637. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3866
- Shapiro, M. D., Miles, J., Tavori, H., & Fazio, S. (2018). Diagnosing resistance to a proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 inhibitor. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 168(5), 376–379. https://doi.org/10.7326/M17-2485
- Shen, W. J., Azhar, S., & Kraemer, F. B. (2018). SR-B1: A Unique Multifunctional Receptor for Cholesterol Influx and Efflux. *Annual Review of Physiology*, 80, 95– 116. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-PHYSIOL-021317-121550
- Silverman, M. G., Ference, B. A., Im, K., Wiviott, S. D., Giugliano, R. P., Grundy, S. M., Braunwald, E., & Sabatine, M. S. (2016). Association between lowering LDL-C and cardiovascular risk reduction among different therapeutic interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association, 316(12), 1289–1297. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.13985
- Silverstein, R. L., & Febbraio, M. (2009). CD36, a Scavenger Receptor Involved in Immunity, Metabolism, Angiogenesis, and Behavior. *Science Signaling*, 2(72), re3. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.272re3
- Soraya, T., Alain, T., & Ziad, M. (2015). IL-17 and Th17 Cells in Atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *35*(2), 258–264. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.303567
- Sun, H., Krauss, R. M., Chang, J. T., & Teng, B. B. (2018). PCSK9 deficiency reduces atherosclerosis, apolipoprotein b secretion, and endothelial dysfunction. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 59(2), 207–223. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M078360
- Tabas, I., García-Cardeña, G., & Owens, G. K. (2015). Recent insights into the cellular biology of atherosclerosis. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 209(1), 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201412052

- Tabas, I., & Ron, D. (2011). Integrating the mechanisms of apoptosis induced by endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Nature Cell Biology*, *13*(3), 184. https://doi.org/10.1038/NCB0311-184
- Tang, Z. H., Peng, J., Ren, Z., Yang, J., Li, T. T., Li, T. H., Wang, Z., Wei, D. H., Liu, L. S., Zheng, X. L., & Jiang, Z. S. (2017). New role of PCSK9 in atherosclerotic inflammation promotion involving the TLR4/NF-κB pathway. *Atherosclerosis*, 262, 113–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2017.04.023
- Tang, Z., Jiang, L., Peng, J., Ren, Z., Wei, D., Wu, C., Pan, L., Jiang, Z., & Liu, L. (2012). PCSK9 siRNA suppresses the inflammatory response induced by oxLDL through inhibition of NF-κB activation in THP-1-derived macrophages. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 30(4), 931–938. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2012.1072
- TANG, Z., JIANG, L., PENG, J., REN, Z., WEI, D., WU, C., PAN, L., JIANG, Z., LIU, L., Wei, D., Wu, C., Wu, C., Pan, L., Pan, L., Jiang, Z., Jiang, Z., Liu, L., & Liu, L. (2012). PCSK9 siRNA suppresses the inflammatory response induced by oxLDL through inhibition of NF-κB activation in THP-1-derived macrophages. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 30(4), 931–938. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2012.1072
- Tang, Z.-H., Peng, J., Ren, Z., Yang, J., Li, T.-T., Li, T.-H., Wang, Z., Wei, D.-H., Liu, L.-S., Zheng, X.-L., & Jiang, Z.-S. (2017). New role of PCSK9 in atherosclerotic inflammation promotion involving the TLR4/NF-κB pathway. *Atherosclerosis*, 262, 113–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2017.04.023
- Tangirala, R. K., Tsukamoto, K., Chun, S. H., Usher, D., Puré, E., & Rader, D. J. (1999). Regression of atherosclerosis induced by liver-directed gene transfer of apolipoprotein A-I in mice. *Circulation*, 100(17), 1816–1822. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.100.17.1816/FORMAT/EPUB
- Tantry, U. S., Mahla, E., & Gurbel, P. A. (2009). Aspirin Resistance. Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases, 52(2), 141–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2009.05.001
- Tao, H., Yancey, P. G., Babaev, V. R., Blakemore, J. L., Zhang, Y., Ding, L., Fazio, S., & Linton, M. F. (2015). Macrophage SR-BI mediates efferocytosis via Src/PI3K/Rac1 signaling and reduces atherosclerotic lesion necrosis. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 56(8), 1449–1460. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.M056689
- Tavori, H., Giunzioni, I., Predazzi, I. M., Plubell, D., Shivinsky, A., Miles, J., DeVay, R. M., Liang, H., Rashid, S., Linton, M. F., & Fazio, S. (2016). Human PCSK9 promotes hepatic lipogenesis and atherosclerosis development via apoE-and LDLRmediated mechanisms. *Cardiovascular Research*, 110(2), 268–278. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvw053

- Taylor, B. A., & Thompson, P. D. (2016). Statins and Their Effect on PCSK9—Impact and Clinical Relevance. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports*, 18(8). https://doi.org/10.1007/S11883-016-0604-3
- Tikka, A., & Jauhiainen, M. (2020). The role of ANGPTL3 in controlling lipoprotein metabolism. *Endocrine*, 52, 187–193. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-015-0838-9
- Townsend, D. W. (2016). Measuring pressure volume loops in the mouse. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, 2016(111), e53810. https://doi.org/10.3791/53810
- Trigatti, B. L. (2017). SR-B1 and PDZK1: Partners in HDL regulation. Current Opinion in Lipidology, 28(2), 201–208. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.00000000000396
- Trigatti, B. L., & Fuller, M. (2016a). HDL signaling and protection against coronary artery atherosclerosis in mice. *The Journal of Biomedical Research*, *30*(2), 94–100. https://doi.org/10.7555/JBR.30.20150079
- Trigatti, B. L., & Fuller, M. (2016b). HDL signaling and protection against coronary artery atherosclerosis in mice. *Journal of Biomedical Research*, *30*(2), 94–100. https://doi.org/10.7555/JBR.30.20150079
- Trigatti, B. L., Krieger, M., & Rigotti, A. (2003). Influence of the HDL receptor SR-BI on lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 23(10), 1732–1738. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000091363.28501.84
- Trigatti, B. L., Rigotti, A., & Braun, A. (2000). Cellular and physiological roles of SR-BI, a lipoprotein receptor which mediates selective lipid uptake. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, 1529(1–3), 276–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1388-1981(00)00154-2
- Trigatti, B., Rayburn, H., Vin^{als}, M. V., Braun, A., Miettinen, H., Penman, M., Hertz, M., Schrenzel, M., Amigo, L., Rigotti, A., & Krieger, M. (1999). Influence of the high density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI on reproductive and cardiovascular pathophysiology. *Medical Sciences*, 96, 9322–9327. www.pnas.org.
- Trigatti, B., Rigotti, A., & Krieger, M. (2000). The role of the high-density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI in cholesterol metabolism. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 11(2), 123–131. https://doi.org/10.1097/00041433-200004000-00004
- Trogan, E., Feig, J. E., Dogan, S., Rothblat, G. H., ronique Angeli, V., Tacke, F., Randolph, G. J., & Fisher, E. A. (2006). Gene expression changes in foam cells and the role of chemokine receptor CCR7 during atherosclerosis regression in ApoEdeficient mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103(10), 3781–3786. www.pnas.orgcgidoi10.1073pnas.0511043103
- Van Craeyveld, E., Gordts, S. C., Nefyodova, E., Jacobs, F., & De Geest, B. (2011). Regression and stabilization of advanced murine atherosclerotic lesions: a comparison of LDL lowering and HDL raising gene transfer strategies. *Journal of*

Molecular Medicine (Berlin, Germany), 89(6), 555. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00109-011-0722-X

- van den Maagdenberg, A. M. J. M., de Knijff, P., Stalenhoef, A. F. H., Gevers Leuven, J. A., Havekes, L. M., & Frants, R. R. (1989). Apolipoprotein E*3-Leiden allele results from a partial gene duplication in exon 4. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 165(2), 851–857. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-291X(89)80044-0
- Van den Maagdenberg, A. M. J. M., Hofker, M. H., Krimpenfort, P. J. A., De Bruijn, I., Van Vlijmen, B., Van der Boom, H., Havekes, L. M., & Frants, R. R. (1993). Transgenic mice carrying the apolipoprotein E3-Leiden gene exhibit hyperlipoproteinemia. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 268(14), 10540–10545. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(18)82232-3
- Van Der Laan, A. M., Ter Horst, E. N., Delewi, R., Begieneman, M. P. V., Krijnen, P. A. J., Hirsch, A., Lavaei, M., Nahrendorf, M., Horrevoets, A. J., Niessen, H. W. M., & Piek, J. J. (2014). Monocyte subset accumulation in the human heart following acute myocardial infarction and the role of the spleen as monocyte reservoir. *European Heart Journal*, 35(6), 376–385. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/eht331
- Van Eck, M., Twisk, J., Hoekstra, M., Van Rij, B. T., Van der Lans, C. A. C., Bos, I. S. T., Kruijt, J. K., Kuipers, F., & Van Berkel, T. J. C. (2003). Differential Effects of Scavenger Receptor BI Deficiency on Lipid Metabolism in Cells of the Arterial Wall and in the Liver. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(26), 23699–23705. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M211233200
- Virmani, R., Kolodgie, F. D., Burke, A. P., Farb, A., & Schwartz, S. M. (2000). Lessons From Sudden Coronary Death A Comprehensive Morphological Classification Scheme for Atherosclerotic Lesions. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 20, 1262–1275. http://www.atvbaha.org
- Von Eckardstein, A., Nofer, J.-R., & Assmann, G. (2001). High Density Lipoproteins and Arteriosclerosis Role of Cholesterol Efflux and Reverse Cholesterol Transport. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1, 20,* 13–27. http://atvb.ahajour-
- Waltmann, M. D., Basford, J. E., Konaniah, E. S., Weintraub, N. L., & Hui, D. Y. (2014a). Apolipoprotein E receptor-2 deficiency enhances macrophage susceptibility to lipid accumulation and cell death to augment atherosclerotic plaque progression and necrosis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1842(9), 1395–1405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.05.009
- Waltmann, M. D., Basford, J. E., Konaniah, E. S., Weintraub, N. L., & Hui, D. Y. (2014b). Apolipoprotein E receptor-2 deficiency enhances macrophage susceptibility to lipid accumulation and cell death to augment atherosclerotic plaque progression and necrosis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1842(9), 1395–1405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.05.009

- Wang, F., Li, M., Zhang, A., Li, H., Jiang, C., & Guo, J. (2022). PCSK9 Modulates Macrophage Polarization-Mediated Ventricular Remodeling after Myocardial Infarction. *Journal of Immunology Research*, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/7685796
- Wang, M., & Briggs, M. R. (2004). HDL: The Metabolism, Function, and Therapeutic Importance. *Chemical Reviews*, 104(1), 119–137. https://doi.org/10.1021/CR020466V
- Wang, N., & Tall, A. R. (2016). Cholesterol in platelet biogenesis and activation. *Blood*, *127*(16), 1949–1953. https://doi.org/10.1182/BLOOD-2016-01-631259
- Wang, Y., Dubland, J. A., Allahverdian, S., Asonye, E., Sahin, B., Jaw, J. E., Sin, D. D., Seidman, M. A., Leeper, N. J., & Francis, G. A. (2019). Smooth Muscle Cells Contribute the Majority of Foam Cells in ApoE (Apolipoprotein E)-Deficient Mouse Atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 39(5), 876– 887. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.312434
- Wardell, M. R., Weisgraber, K. H., Havekes, L. M., & Rall, S. C. (1989). Apolipoprotein E3-Leiden contains a seven-amino acid insertion that is a tandem repeat of residues 121–127. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264(35), 21205–21210. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(19)30067-5
- Weber, K. T., Sun, Y., Bhattacharya, S. K., Weber, K. T., Sun, Y., Bhattacharya, S. K., Ahokas, R. A., & Gerling, I. C. (2012). Myofibroblast-mediated mechanisms of pathological remodelling of the heart. *NATURE REVIEWS* | *CARDIOLOGY*, 10, 15– 26. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2012.158
- Westerterp, M., Van Der Hoogt, C. C., De Haan, W., Offerman, E. H., Dallinga-Thie, G. M., Jukema, J. W., Havekes, L. M., & Rensen, P. C. N. (2006). Cholesteryl ester transfer protein decreases high-density lipoprotein and severely aggravates atherosclerosis in APOE*3-Leiden mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 26(11), 2552–2559. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000243925.65265.3C/FORMAT/EPUB
- Whitman, S. C. (2004). A Practical Approach to Using Mice in Atherosclerosis Research. *Clin Biochem Rev*, 25, 81–93.
- Wilson, P. W. F., Abbott, R. D., & Castelli, W. P. (1988). High density lipoprotein cholesterol and mortality. The Framingham Heart Study. *Arteriosclerosis*, 8(6), 737– 741. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.8.6.737
- Wolska, A., Dunbar, R. L., Freeman, L. A., Ueda, M., Amar, M. J., Sviridov, D. O., & Remaley, A. T. (2017). Apolipoprotein C-II: New findings related to genetics, biochemistry, and role in triglyceride metabolism. *Atherosclerosis*, 267, 49. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ATHEROSCLEROSIS.2017.10.025

- Wong, N. D., Zhao, Y., Quek, R. G. W., Blumenthal, R. S., Budoff, M. J., Cushman, M., Garg, P., Sandfort, V., Tsai, M., & Lopez, J. A. G. (2017). Residual Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease Risk in Statin-Treated Adults: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Journal of Clinical Lipidology*, *11*(5), 1223. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACL.2017.06.015
- Wood, C. D., Thornton, T. M., Sabio, G., Davis, R. A., & Rincon, M. (2009). Nuclear localization of p38 MAPK in response to DNA damage. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, 5(5), 428–437. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.5.428
- Wu, C.-Y., Tang, Z.-H., Jiang, L., Li, X.-F., Jiang, Z.-S., & Liu, L.-S. (2012). PCSK9 siRNA inhibits HUVEC apoptosis induced by ox-LDL via Bcl/Bax–caspase9– caspase3 pathway. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 359(1–2), 347–358. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-011-1028-6
- Wu, Z., Wagner, M. A., Zheng, L., Parks, J. S., Shy, J. M., Smith, J. D., Gogonea, V., & Hazen, S. L. (2007). The refined structure of nascent HDL reveals a key functional domain for particle maturation and dysfunction. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, 14(9), 861–868. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb1284
- Xiong, T., Qian, A. S., & Trigatti, B. L. (2021). The local effects of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) on the inflammatory atheroma: beyond LDL cholesterol lowering. *Vessel Plus*, 5. https://doi.org/10.20517/2574-1209.2020.71
- Xu, S., Ogura, S., Chen, J., Little, P. J., Moss, J., & Liu, P. (2013). LOX-1 in atherosclerosis: Biological functions and pharmacological modifiers. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 70(16), 2859–2872. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00018-012-1194-Z
- Yahagi, K., Kolodgie, F. D., Otsuka, F., Finn, A. V., Davis, H. R., Joner, M., & Virmani, R. (2016). Pathophysiology of native coronary, vein graft, and in-stent atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 13(2), 79–99. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRCARDIO.2015.164
- Yang, M., Cooley, B. C., Li, W., Chen, Y., Vasquez-Vivar, J., Scoggins, N. O., Cameron, S. J., Morrell, C. N., & Silverstein, R. L. (2017). Platelet CD36 promotes thrombosis by activating redox sensor ERK5 in hyperlipidemic conditions. *Blood*, 129(21), 2917–2927. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2016-11-750133
- Yano, T., Miura, T., Ikeda, Y., Matsuda, E., Saito, K., Miki, T., Kobayashi, H., Nishino, Y., Ohtani, S., & Shimamoto, K. (2005). Intracardiac fibroblasts, but not bone marrow derived cells, are the origin of myofibroblasts in myocardial infarct repair. *Cardiovascular Pathology*, 14(5), 241–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CARPATH.2005.05.004
- Yasojima, K., Schwab, C., McGeer, E. G., & McGeer, P. L. (1998). Human Heart Generates Complement Proteins That Are Upregulated and Activated After

Myocardial Infarction. *Circulation Research*, 83(8), 860–869. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.83.8.860

- Yu, P., Xiong, T., Tenedero, C. B., Lebeau, P., Ni, R., Macdonald, M. E., Gross, P. L., Austin, R. C., & Trigatti, B. L. (2018). Rosuvastatin Reduces Aortic Sinus and Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis in SR-B1 (Scavenger Receptor Class B Type 1)/ApoE (Apolipoprotein E) Double Knockout Mice Independently of Plasma Cholesterol Lowering. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 38*(1), 26–39. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.305140
- Yurdagul, A., Doran, A. C., Cai, B., Fredman, G., & Tabas, I. A. (2018). Mechanisms and Consequences of Defective efferocytosis in Atherosclerosis. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2017.00086
- Yusuf, S., Reddy, S., Ôunpuu, S., & Anand, S. (2001). Global burden of cardiovascular diseases. Part I: General considerations, the epidemiologic transition, risk factors, and impact of urbanization. *Circulation*, 104(22), 2746–2753. https://doi.org/10.1161/HC4601.099487/FORMAT/EPUB
- Yvan-Charvet, L., Wang, N., & Tall, A. R. (2010). ATVB In Focus HDL Structure, Function, Therapeutics and Imaging Role of HDL, ABCA1, and ABCG1 Transporters in Cholesterol Efflux and Immune Responses. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 30, 139–143. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.179283
- Zadelaar, S., Kleemann, R., Verschuren, L., De Vries-Van Der Weij, J., Van Der Hoorn, J., Princen, H. M., & Kooistra, T. (2007). Mouse Models for Atherosclerosis and Pharmaceutical Modifiers. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 27, 1706–1721. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.142570
- Zaid, A., Roubtsova, A., Essalmani, R., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Hamelin, J., Tremblay, M., Jacques, H., Jin, W., Davignon, J., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2008a).
 Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9): Hepatocyte-specific lowdensity lipoprotein receptor degradation and critical role in mouse liver regeneration. *Hepatology*, 48(2), 646–654. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.22354
- Zaid, A., Roubtsova, A., Essalmani, R., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Hamelin, J., Tremblay, M., Jacques, H., Jin, W., Davignon, J., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2008b).
 Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9): hepatocyte-specific lowdensity lipoprotein receptor degradation and critical role in mouse liver regeneration. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)*, 48(2), 646–654. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.22354
- Zannis, V. I., & Breslow, J. L. (1981). Human Very Low Density Lipoprotein Apolipoprotein E Isoprotein Polymorphism Is Explained by Genetic Variation and Posttranslational Modification. *Biochemistry*, 20(4), 1033–1041. https://doi.org/10.1021/BI00507A059/ASSET/BI00507A059.FP.PNG V03
- Zarubin, T., & Han, J. (2005). Activation and signaling of the p38 MAP kinase pathway. *Cell Research*, 15(1), 11–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cr.7290257

- Zernecke, A., Winkels, H., Cochain, C., Williams, J. W., Wolf, D., Soehnlein, O., Robbins, C. S., Monaco, C., Park, I., McNamara, C. A., Binder, C. J., Cybulsky, M. I., Scipione, C. A., Hedrick, C. C., Galkina, E. V., Kyaw, T., Ghosheh, Y., Dinh, H. Q., & Ley, K. (2020). Meta-analysis of leukocyte diversity in atherosclerotic mouse aortas. *Circulation Research*, *127*(3), 402–426. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.316903/FORMAT/EPUB
- Zhang, D. W., Lagace, T. A., Garuti, R., Zhao, Z., McDonald, M., Horton, J. D., Cohen, J. C., & Hobbs, H. H. (2007). Binding of Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9 to Epidermal Growth Factor-like Repeat A of Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor Decreases Receptor Recycling and Increases Degradation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(25), 18602–18612. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M702027200
- Zhang, L., McCabe, T., Condra, J. H., Ni, Y. G., Peterson, L. B., Wang, W., Strack, A. M., Wang, F., Pandit, S., Hammond, H., Wood, D., Lewis, D., Rosa, R., Mendoza, V., Cumiskey, A. M., Johns, D. G., Hansen, B. C., Shen, X., Geoghagen, N., ... Sitlani, A. (2012). An Anti-PCSK9 Antibody Reduces LDL-Cholesterol On Top Of A Statin And Suppresses Hepatocyte SREBP-Regulated Genes. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, 8(3), 310–327. https://doi.org/10.7150/IJBS.3524
- Zhang, L., McCabe, T., Condra, J. H., Ni, Y. G., Peterson, L. B., Wang, W., Strack, A. M., Wang, F., Pandit, S., Hammond, H., Wood, D., Lewis, D., Rosa, R., Mendoza, V., Marie Cumiskey, A., Johns, D. G., Hansen, B. C., Shen, X., Geoghagen, N., ... Lincoln, E. (2012). An Anti-PCSK9 Antibody Reduces LDL-Cholesterol On Top Of A Statin And Suppresses Hepatocyte SREBP-Regulated Genes. *Ivyspring International Publisher Int. J. Biol. Sci*, 8(3), 310–327. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.3524
- Zhang, S. H., Reddick, R. L., Burkey, B., & Maeda, N. (1994). Diet-induced atherosclerosis in mice heterozygous and homozygous for apolipoprotein E gene disruption. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 94(3), 937. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI117460
- Zhang, S. H., Reddick, R. L., Piedrahita, J. A., & Maeda, N. (1992a). Spontaneous hypercholesterolemia and arterial lesions in mice lacking apolipoprotein E. *Science*, 258(5081), 468–472. https://go-galecom.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/ps/i.do?p=AONE&sw=w&issn=00368075&v=2.1&it =r&id=GALE%7CA12710944&sid=googleScholar&linkaccess=fulltext
- Zhang, S. H., Reddick, R. L., Piedrahita, J. A., & Maeda, N. (1992b). Spontaneous hypercholesterolemia and arterial lesions in mice lacking apolipoprotein E. *Science* (*New York, N.Y.*), 258(5081), 468–471.
- Zhang, W., Yancey, P. G., Su, Y. R., Babaev, V. R., Zhang, Y., Fazio, S., & Linton, M. F. (2003). Inactivation of Macrophage Scavenger Receptor Class B Type I Promotes Atherosclerotic Lesion Development in Apolipoprotein E-Deficient Mice.

Circulation, *108*(18), 2258–2263. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000093189.97429.9D/FORMAT/EPUB

- Zhang, Y., Bao, M., Dai, M., Wang, X., He, W., Tan, T., Lin, D., Wang, W., Wen, Y., & Zhang, R. (2015). Cardiospecific CD36 suppression by lentivirus-mediated RNA interference prevents cardiac hypertrophy and systolic dysfunction in high-fat-diet induced obese mice. *Cardiovascular Diabetology*, 14(1), 69. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12933-015-0234-z
- Zhang, Y., Da Silva, J. R., Reilly, M., Billheimer, J. T., Rothblat, G. H., & Rader, D. J. (2005). Hepatic expression of scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) is a positive regulator of macrophage reverse cholesterol transport in vivo. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 115(10), 2870–2874. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI25327
- Zhang, Y., Qin, W., Zhang, L., Wu, X., Du, N., Hu, Y., Li, X., Shen, N., Xiao, D., Zhang, H., Li, Z., Zhang, Y., Yang, H., Gao, F., Du, Z., Xu, C., & Yang, B. (2015).
 MicroRNA-26a prevents endothelial cell apoptosis by directly targeting TRPC6 in the setting of atherosclerosis. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep09401
- Zymek, P., Bujak, M., Chatila, K., Cieslak, A., Thakker, G., Entman, M. L., & Frangogiannis, N. G. (2006). The Role of Platelet-Derived Growth Factor Signaling in Healing Myocardial Infarcts. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 48(11), 2315–2323. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACC.2006.07.060

Chapter 3: Circulating PCSK9 promotes coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis independently of plasma cholesterol levels in a mouse model of coronary artery disease.

Author list: Ting Xiong, Lauren Wong, George E. G. Kluck, Linda Ros-Choi, Annik Prat, Nabil G. Seidah, Richard C. Austin, and Bernardo L. Trigatti

Preface

TX and BLT designed the study, interpreted data, wrote and edited the paper. TX carried out the majority of experiments, data collection, all statistical analysis and lead the writing of the paper. LW (lipid accumulation in the heart and CD36 staining), GEGK (initial PV loop surgery) and LRC (sectioning of 9 hearts from Figure 2 and 3) carried out some experiments/data analyses under the guidance of TX and/or BLT. BLT provided supervisory oversight. AP, NGS and RCA provided expert advice. All authors contributed to the editing of the manuscript.

3.1 Abstract

Background: *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice develop substantial occlusive coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis, associated with cardiomegaly, cardiac dysfunction, and premature death, characteristics reminiscent of human coronary artery disease (CAD). PCSK9 has been widely investigated for its role in antagonizing LDLRmediated plasma cholesterol-lowering. However, the effects of inhibiting PCSK9 on coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial infarction that are independent of plasma cholesterol-lowering, remain unknown.

Hypothesis: Inactivating *Pcsk9* by whole-body genetic deletion will protect against CAD in *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice independently of plasma cholesterol-lowering.

Methods and results: Whole-body genetic deficiency of *Pcsk9* in female and male *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice did not affect plasma cholesterol levels, although hepatic LDLR protein levels were increased. However, *Pcsk9* deficiency attenuated atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries in both females and males. Furthermore, it reduced cardiomegaly and cardiac fibrosis and damage, decreased lipid and macrophage accumulation in the heart, and attenuated cardiac dysfunction in both females and males. Restoring circulating PCSK9 by recombinant AAV8 harboring *Pcsk9* driven by a liver-specific promoter did not affect plasma cholesterol levels, but it reversed the protective effects of *Pcsk9* genetic deficiency against aortic sinus and coronary artery atherosclerosis, myocardial fibrosis and damage, and lipid accumulation in the heart in both female and male *Pcsk9/Sr-b1/ApoE tKO* mice. Disrupting the interaction between

the LDLR and PCSK9 by anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment significantly increased circulating PCSK9 levels in both female and male *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice. Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment did not affect plasma cholesterol levels despite increased hepatic LDLR protein levels in both female and male *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice. However, it protected males but not female mice against atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries. Despite this, it had no effects on cardiac enlargement or myocardial fibrosis and damage in either females or males.

Conclusions: The absence of circulating PCSK9 protects *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice against coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis in a plasma cholesterol independent manner. While the plasma cholesterol independent effects of circulating PCSK9 on atherosclerosis appear to act partially through the LDLR (in males but not females), the effects of circulating PCSK9 on myocardial fibrosis development appear to be independent of the LDLR.

3.2 Introduction:

Atherosclerosis is the underlying cause of coronary artery disease (CAD). Both lipid retention and chronic inflammatory responses contribute to the growth of atherosclerotic plaque within the intima of arteries. Atherosclerosis development involves many cell types and processes, including endothelial cell (EC) activation, the recruitment of monocytes and smooth muscle cells (SMCs) into the intima, and the uptake of lipids by macrophages and SMCs (resulting in foam cell formation). Cellular apoptosis within atherosclerotic plaques and the inefficient clearance of apoptotic bodies (defective efferocytosis) trigger secondary necrosis and the formation of a necrotic core. The rupture of large necrotic cores in atherosclerotic plaques in coronary arteries leads to atherothrombosis, which eventually causes myocardial infarction (MI) and sudden cardiac death.

Familial hypercholesterolemia (FH), characterized by increased circulating LDL cholesterol levels, is a risk factor for CAD. The proprotein convertase subtilisin like kexin type 9 (*PCSK9*) gene is one of three causative genes in which mutations are associated with FH (Abifadel et al., 2003b). The two other FH target genes encode the apolipoprotein B-100 and the LDL receptor (LDLR). *Pcsk9* is most abundantly expressed in hepatocytes, pancreatic β-cells, intestine and kidney (Peyot et al., 2021; Seidah et al., 2003b). Although *Pcsk9* is expressed at marginal levels in SMCs, ECs, macrophages and cardiomyocytes, their expression of PCSK9 has been reported to be involved in processes that are associated with atherosclerosis and MI development (Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng,
Fan, Sun, et al., 2015; Ding, Wang, et al., 2018; Ferri et al., 2012a; J. Li et al., 2017; Lu-Shan et al., 2008; TANG et al., 2012; Xiong et al., 2021). The majority of circulating PCSK9 is derived from the liver (Zaid et al., 2008a). Circulating PCSK9 binds to hepatic LDLR on the cell surface. This process promotes LDLR internalization, directs LDLR to the lysosome for degradation, and reduces hepatic LDLR levels on the cell surface, which ultimately increases plasma LDL cholesterol levels (Benjannet et al., 2004; Maxwell et al., 2005; Maxwell & Breslow, 2004). Therefore, gain of function mutations in PCSK9 cause increased degradation of LDLR in the liver, increasing plasma LDL cholesterol levels (Abifadel et al., 2003b), while loss of function mutations reduce LDLR degradation in the liver, lowering plasma LDL cholesterol levels (Cohen et al., 2005). PCSK9 has also been implicated in targeting other receptors, thereby promoting their degradation (Canuel et al., 2013; Demers, Samami, Lauzier, Des Rosiers, Ngo Sock, et al., 2015; Poirier et al., 2008). These include the LDL receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1), cluster of differentiation 36 (CD36), the very low-density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR), apolipoprotein E receptor-2 (apoER2) and major histocompatibility complex class-I (MHC-I) (Canuel et al., 2013; Demers, Samami, Lauzier, Des Rosiers, Ngo Sock, et al., 2015; X. Liu et al., 2020; Poirier et al., 2008; Roubtsova et al., 2011b).

Because PCSK9 mediates hepatic LDLR degradation, it is an appealing target for reducing cholesterol levels. Large clinical trials demonstrated that PCSK9 inhibitors, including two fully human monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) and one small interfering RNA (siRNA) are potent drugs for LDL cholesterol lowering (Raal et al., 2020; Ray et al., 2020; Robinson et al., 2015; Sabatine et al., 2015) and the PCSK9 mAbs significantly

reduced cardiovascular events (Sabatine et al., 2017; Schwartz et al., 2018). Interestingly, recent studies have indicated that PCSK9 inhibition might exhibit pleiotropic antiatherogenic effects independent of LDL cholesterol lowering (Ferri et al., 2016; Giunzioni et al., 2016c; Karagiannis et al., 2018; Z.-H. Tang et al., 2017; Tavori et al., 2016; Xiong et al., 2021). In vitro studies have shown that PCSK9 short interfering (si) RNA mediated *Pcsk9* knockdown inhibited the apoptosis of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs), SMCs and human THP-1 derived macrophages (Ding et al., 2016; J. Li et al., 2017; Lu-Shan et al., 2008; C.-Y. Wu et al., 2012). Pcsk9-targeting siRNA also suppressed the inflammatory response induced by oxidized (ox) LDL in human THP-1 derived macrophages (TANG et al., 2012). Furthermore, Pcsk9 knockdown suppressed lectin-like oxLDL receptor 1 expression and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production in HUVECs and SMCs (Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Shahanawaz, et al., 2015b; Ding, Liu, Wang, Deng, Fan, Sun, et al., 2015). In addition, PCSK9 inhibition by the alirocumab mAb reduced intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) levels, a marker for EC activation (Kühnast, van der Hoorn, et al., 2014), while the evolocumab anti-PCSK9 mAb reduced platelet activation in a cholesterol independent manner (Qi et al., 2021b). Together, these findings suggest that PCSK9 may exert a variety of atherogenic effects that are independent of its regulation of LDLR mediated cholesterol clearance.

Apolipoprotein E knockout (*ApoE KO*) mice accumulate large amounts of cholesterol associated with VLDL- sized lipoproteins and develop spontaneous atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus, aortic arch and brachiocephalic arteries (Nakashima et

al., 1994; Plump et al., 1992b; S. H. Zhang et al., 1992b). It has been shown that PCSK9mediated regulation of plasma cholesterol levels is not only dependent on LDLR, but also on APOE (a ligand for LDLR) (Ason, Van Der Hoorn, et al., 2014; Tavori et al., 2016). Consistent with this, it has been reported in one study that inhibition of PCSK9 reduces atherosclerosis in mice in a manner dependent on the expression of APOE (Ason, Van Der Hoorn, et al., 2014). However other studies have reported that *Pcsk9 KO* or silencing can result in reduced aortic atherosclerosis in ApoE KO mice (Denis et al., 2012; Z.-H. Tang et al., 2017), although the extent of reduction appears to be less than when APOE is present (Ason, Van Der Hoorn, et al., 2014). Similarly, it has been reported that overexpression of either mouse or human PCSK9, increases atherosclerosis in ApoE KO mice (Denis et al., 2012; Tavori et al., 2016), even in the absence of effects on plasma cholesterol levels. These studies further raise the possibility that PCSK9 may exert direct effects on atherogenesis in the aorta that may be independent of its effects on LDL cholesterol levels. Whether such effects might be mediated by PCSK9 expressed locally in the atherosclerotic plaque or by PCSK9 expressed in the liver and secreted into the blood, is not clear.

Although *ApoE KO* mice are commonly used for atherosclerosis studies, they do not frequently develop occlusive atherosclerosis in coronary arteries or MI (Gonzalez et al., 2016). On the other hand, inactivation of the *Scarb1* gene which encodes the scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-B1) in *ApoE KO* mice (*Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice), results in the rapid and spontaneous development of atherosclerosis in both the aortic sinus and a significant proportion of coronary arteries (Al-Jarallah et al., 2013b; Braun et al., 2002, 2003, 2008; Karackattu et al., 2006). *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice also develop substantial myocardial fibrosis, cardiac enlargement, cardiac lipid accumulation, cardiac conductance abnormalities, left ventricular dysfunction and premature death as a consequence of the coronary artery atherosclerosis and associated MI (Al-Jarallah et al., 2013b; Braun et al., 2002, 2003, 2008; Karackattu et al., 2006). SR-B1 is a high affinity cell surface receptor for high-density lipoprotein (HDL). It is abundantly expressed in liver and steroidogenic tissues (Rigotti et al., 2003). SR-B1 mediates HDL-dependent reverse cholesterol transport from peripheral tissues, including macrophages in the artery wall, to the liver for biliary excretion (Ji et al., 1997; Jian et al., 1998; Rigotti et al., 1997b; Y. Zhang et al., 2005). A study from human patients reported that rare inherited loss of function variants in the *SCARB1* gene resulted in early-onset and severe coronary artery disease (Koenig et al., 2021). This finding supports the use of *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice as a useful preclinical mouse model to investigate underlying mechanisms of and novel therapeutics for CAD.

We have previously reported that treatment of *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice with the HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor rosuvastatin, delayed the development of coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial infarction even though it resulted in increased PCSK9 levels in plasma (Yu et al., 2018). Therefore, we sought to test the contribution of PCSK9 to the development of occlusive coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial infarction in *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice. To investigate this, we inhibited PCSK9 in *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice by knocking out the *Pcsk9* gene. Here, we report that *Pcsk9* gene deletion protects *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice against coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial infarction

in a cholesterol independent manner. Restoring circulating PCSK9 in *Pcsk9/Sr-b1/ApoE triple KO* (tKO) mice using a recombinant adeno associated virus 8 (AAV8) suggested that the cholesterol independent protective effects of genetic *Pcsk9* inactivation are driven by the absence of liver-derived, circulating PCSK9. On the other hand, treatment of *Srb1/ApoE dKO* mice with an anti-PCSK9 antibody, which disrupts the interaction between PCSK9 and LDLR (Ason, Van Der Hoorn, et al., 2014), increased circulating PCSK9 by ~10 fold and exhibited a sex-dependent reduction in coronary artery atherosclerosis in males but did not protect against myocardial fibrosis in *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice. These results suggest that the effects of PCSK9 on coronary artery atherosclerosis, particularly in females, as well as effects on myocardial fibrosis in both males and females, are at least partially independent of the LDLR.

3.3 Materials and Methods:

3.3.1 *Mice*: All procedures involving mice were approved by the Animal Research Ethics Board of McMaster University and followed the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Mice were bred and housed in the David Braley Research Institute (DBRI) animal facility and had free access to water and a normal diet containing 18% protein, 5% fat and 5% fiber (Teklad Global, Envigo, Madison, WI, USA).

3.3.2 Generation of Pcsk9^{ko/ko}**Sr-b1**^{ko/ko}**ApoE**^{ko/ko} (PSEKO) *mice:* Pcsk9^{ko/ko} mice (Zaid et al., 2008a) were obtained from a colony at the DBRI animal facility maintained by Patricia Liaw (McMaster University). Sr-b1^{wt/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko} mice (mixed C57BL/6J and 129Sv genetic background) were bred in-house from founders originally provided by

Monty Krieger, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, USA. $Pcsk9^{ko/ko}$ and $Sr-b1^{wt/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$ mice were mated to generate $Pcsk9^{wt/ko}Sr-b1^{wt/ko}ApoE^{wt/ko}$ offspring. These were mated together to generate $Pcsk9^{wt/ko}Sr-b1^{wt/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$ offspring, which were then crossed together to generate $Pcsk9^{ko/ko}Sr-b1^{wt/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$ founders and control $Pcsk9^{wt/wt}Sr-b1^{wt/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$ founders. PSEKO ($Pcsk9^{ko/ko}Sr-b1^{ko/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$) mice used for experiments were generated by mating male and female $Pcsk9^{wt/wt}Sr-b1^{wt/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$ mice. Similarly, SEKO ($Pcsk9^{wt/wt}Sr-b1^{ko/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$) and EKO ($Pcsk9^{wt/wt}Sr-b1^{wt/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$) control mice were generated by mating control $Pcsk9^{wt/wt}Sr-b1^{wt/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$ ($Pcsk9^{wt/wt}Sr-b1^{ko/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$) and EKO ($Pcsk9^{wt/wt}Sr-b1^{wt/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$) control mice were generated by mating control $Pcsk9^{wt/wt}Sr-b1^{wt/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$ ($Pcsk9^{wt/wt}Sr-b1^{ko/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$) and EKO ($Pcsk9^{wt/wt}Sr-b1^{wt/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$) control mice were generated by mating control $Pcsk9^{wt/wt}Sr-b1^{wt/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$ mice. Genotyping was carried out by PCR on DNA isolated from tail biopsies collected at weaning (3 weeks of age) as previously described (Braun et al., 2002; Denis et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2018).

3.3.3 Recombinant adeno associated virus serotype 8 (rAAV8) mediated Pcsk9

expression: rAAV8 containing wild type mouse *Pcsk9* cDNA under the control of a liver specific *hcrApoE/hAAT1* promoter was used to drive liver-specific *Pcsk9* expression. A control rAAV8 containing *eGFP* cDNA under the control of the same liver specific *hcrApoE/hAAT1* promoter was also used. rAAV8-*hcrApoE/hAAT1-Pcsk9* (AAV8-PCSK9) and rAAV8-*hcrApoE/hAAT1-eGFP* (AAV8-eGFP) viruses were purchased from Vector Biolabs (Malvern, PA, USA). A single retro-orbital injection of either AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9 was conducted in PSEKO mice at 3 weeks of age or *Pcsk9*^{ko/ko} *Sr-b1*^{wt/wt}*ApoE*^{ko/ko} mice at 6 weeks of age to deliver 4 x 10¹⁰ genome copies (GC) of viral particles per mouse.

3.3.4 Antibody treatment: The antibody against PCSK9 (anti-PCSK9 antibody) (Ason, Van Der Hoorn, et al., 2014) was kindly provided by Amgen Inc. This anti-PCSK9 antibody is a chimeric monoclonal antibody containing the variable domains of human IgG against human PCSK9 ⁵⁵ and the constant domains of mouse IgG (Ason, Van Der Hoorn, et al., 2014). Anti-AGP3 (4D2, kindly provided by Amgen Inc.) or human IgG (027102, Invitrogen Life Technologies Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada) were used as control antibodies. There were no differences observed between anti-AGP3 and human IgG on all parameters we measured in the study and anti-AGP3 and human IgG treated mice were grouped as control antibody treated mice. Female and male SEKO mice were treated with either control antibody or the anti-PCSK9 antibody in 0.9% saline (10 mg/kg body weight) by weekly subcutaneous injections.

3.3.5 ECG: A subset of mice at 6.5 weeks old of age were anesthetized with isoflurane (1.8% O₂, induction with 5% isoflurane, maintenance with 2.5% isoflurane). ECG tracings were collected from needle electrodes inserted into the skin with a green needle electrode in the left hind limb, a red needle electrode in the left lower chest and a black needle electrode in the right upper chest. ECG tracings were recorded for 3 mins using a PowerLab 8/35 ADInstruments and LabChart 8 software (ADInstruments, Inc., CO, USA).

3.3.6 *PV loop analysis of left ventricular cardiac function*: Hemodynamic analysis was conducted in a subset of mice as described previously (Durham et al., 2019; Pacher et al., 2008; Townsend, 2016). Briefly, mice at 5 weeks of age were anesthetized with 5% isoflurane, intubated, and connected to a rodent ventilator (Microvent 1, Hallowell EMC).

Isoflurane (3 %) was used for the maintenance of anesthesia through a 100% oxygen vaporizer. The apex of the heart was exposed via an open-chest surgery, allowing a 1.4-Fr pressure-conductance catheter (PVR-1030; Millar Instruments, Houston, TX, USA) to be inserted transmurally into the left ventricle. After the signal was stabilized, PV loop tracings were recorded. Then, inferior vena cava occlusions were performed by compression of the inferior vena cava. Catheter calibrations were performed by a bolus injection of 30% hypertonic saline into the external jugular vein. Cuvette calibration was performed with fresh heparinized warm blood. The data were analyzed with LabChart 8 software (ADInstruments, Inc., CO, USA).

3.3.7 Euthanasia and tissue and blood collection: Mice were monitored daily from 4 weeks of age until experimental endpoints (5 weeks of age for PV loop analysis or 6.5 weeks of age for tissue collection and analysis) or until a surrogate humane endpoint. Mice were considered to have reached a surrogate humane endpoint and were humanely euthanized when they exhibited the following signs: hunched posture/gait, slow movements in response to gentle stimuli, ruffled fur, and heavy labored breathing. Mice that reached experimental endpoints were fasted for 4 hrs and anesthetized with isoflurane/O₂. Blood for plasma analysis of creatine kinase-myocardial band (CK-MB) and cardiac troponin-I was collected from the submandibular vein into a heparinized tube. For all other analyses, blood was collected by cardiac puncture into a heparinized syringe. Mice were euthanized by thoracotomy. Heparinized blood was centrifuged at 5,500 xg for 10 min and the plasma was recovered and stored at -80 °C prior to analysis. Tissues were perfused in situ with phosphate buffered saline containing 10 U of heparin/ml. Hearts

were excised and cut transversely. The base was frozen in Shandon Cryomatrix (Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON, Canada) and the apex was frozen in RNAlater (Invitrogen Life Technologies Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada), and both were stored at -80 °C prior to further analysis. Livers were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C for protein analysis or stored in RNAlater at -80 °C for mRNA analysis. Kidneys and spleens were stored in RNAlater at -80 °C for mRNA analysis. Aortas were harvested and excess tissues and fats were cleaned off under the microscope. Clean aortas were then stored in RNAlater at -80 °C for mRNA analysis.

3.3.8 Preparation of peritoneal macrophages: Peritoneal macrophages were prepared from a subset of mice as described previously (AI-Jarallah et al., 2014b). Mice at 9 weeks of age were injected intraperitoneally with 1 ml of 10% thioglycolate. Four days later, mice were anesthetized with isoflurane/O₂, euthanized by cervical dislocation while under anesthesia, and peritoneal macrophages were collected by flushing the peritoneal cavity with 10 ml of PBS containing 5 mM EDTA. Peritoneal macrophages were washed once in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM). Cells were then cultured in DMEM containing 20% FBS with 2 mM L-glutamine, 50 U/ml penicillin and 50 mg/ml streptomycin for 2 hours. Peritoneal macrophages were harvested and lysed for mRNA analysis.

3.3.9 Liver total membrane preparation: Liver tissue (0.1 g) in 200 ul of ice-cold homogenization buffer (20mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 2mM MgCl₂, 0.25 M sucrose with the following protease inhibitors added just before use: 50uM PMSF, 2ug/ml pepstatin A,

Sug/ml leupeptin, and 10 ug/ml aprotinin) was homogenized using an Ultra-Turrax tissue homogenizer. The total liver homogenates were centrifuged at 3000 xg for 10 min at 4 °C to pellet nuclei and cell debris. Then, the supernatants were recovered and subjected to ultracentrifugation at 100,000 x g for 60 min at 4 °C using a Beckman Optima MAX-XP ultracentrifuge with an MLA-130 rotor to pellet total membranes. Membrane pellets were re-suspended in 200 μ l of 10 mM sodium phosphate pH 7.0, containing the protease inhibitors listed above at the indicated concentrations and 0.1% SDS. Samples were then snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C.

3.3.10 SDS – *PAGE and immunoblotting:* Protein concentrations were determined using the Pierce BCA Protein Assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA). Hepatic total membrane protein samples were separated by SDS–polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) on either 8% or 12% acrylamide separating gels. Proteins were then transferred onto PVDF membranes in transfer buffer (150 mM glycine, 18 mM Tris-Cl, and 20% methanol). Membranes were blocked with 5% skim milk (Carnation) in Tris-buffered saline (TBS: 137mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, and 24.8 mM Tris-Cl, pH 7.4) for 1 hr at room temperature. They were then incubated with goat anti-LDLR (R&D Systems, AF2255, Minneapolis, MN, USA), rabbit anti-ε-COP (Novus Biologicals, NBP2-38512, Colorado, CO, USA) or mouse anti-Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase (Upstate Technology, 05-369, Lake Placid, NY, USA) primary antibodies diluted 1:1000 in 3% BSA in TBS at 4°C overnight. Membranes were then washed three times with TBST (TBS plus 0.1% Tween-20) and incubated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated rabbit anti-goat (305-035-003), donkey anti-rabbit (711-005-152) or donkey anti-mouse (715-035-150) IgG (Jackson

Immunoresearch Laboratory, West Grove, PA, USA) secondary antibodies diluted 1:5000 in 5% skim milk in TBS for 1 hr at room temperature. Membranes were washed with TBST three times again. HRP was then detected using the Pierce ECL Western Blotting Substrate kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA) using a Gel Doc instrument (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) and of the protein bands were quantified using Image Lab software (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA).

3.3.11 Real time quantitative - PCR: Total RNA was extracted and purified using the RNeasy Mini kit (Qiagen Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada) from tissues stored in RNAlater or fresh cell lysates. RNA concentrations were measured using a Nanodrop ND -8000 spectrophotometer. cDNA synthesis was performed from 1 μ g of total RNA using the QuantiTect reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada). Real-time quantitative PCR was performed using Platinum Sybr Green dye (Invitrogen Life Technologies Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada) in an Applied Biosystems StepOnePlus Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). GAPDH was used as the housekeeping gene. Values were compared using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method (Livak & Schmittgen, 2001). Primer sequences (supplementary table a) were selected using Pubmed's primer-BLAST. All primers were synthesized by Invitrogen Life Technologies (Burlington, ON, Canada).

3.3.12 Plasma protein analysis: Plasma PCSK9, CK-MB, IL-6 and MIP-1β were measured by the mouse proprotein convertase 9 Quantikine ELISA kit (R&D Systems Inc., Minneapolis, MN, USA), the mouse creatine kinase MB ELISA Kit (Novus Biologicals, Colorado, CO, USA), the mouse IL-6 ELISA MAXTM Deluxe Set

(BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA) or the mouse CCL4/MIP-1 beta Quantikine ELISA Kit (R&D Systems Inc., Minneapolis, MN, USA) respectively according to manufacturer's instructions. An array of 31 plasma cytokines and chemokines was analyzed by Eve Technologies (Calgary, AB, Canada) using the mouse cytokine/chemokine 31-plex discovery assay array (MD31).

3.3.13 Plasma lipid Analysis: Plasma was fractioned by gel filtration fast-protein liquid chromatography (FPLC). 100 μl of plasma was loaded into a Superose 6 10/300 GL column on an AKTA FPLC system (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, ON, Canada). Total cholesterol levels were measured by using the InfinityTM Cholesterol kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON, Canada) from FPLC fractions (100 ul) or whole plasma (1 ul). Plasma triglyceride levels were measured by using the L-Type Triglyceride M Enzyme Color A and B kit (Wako Diagnosis, Richmond, VA, USA). Plasma HDL levels were measured by using the HDL cholesterol E kit (Wako Diagnosis, Richmond, VA, USA). Plasma non-HDL cholesterol levels were calculated as the difference between plasma total cholesterol and plasma HDL-cholesterol for individual samples.

3.3.14 Atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis: Transverse cryosections (10 μ m) of hearts were stained for lipids with oil red O. The aortic sinus atherosclerotic plaque volume was calculated as the area under the curve of the plaque area versus the distance in the aortic sinus. Coronary artery atherosclerotic burdens were measured in 7 sections (300 μ m apart) in the upper portion of the heart, starting from the aortic annulus (0 μ m) and moving towards the apex direction (covering 1800 μ m). The coronary artery occlusion levels were averaged from those 7 sections. Transverse cryosections (10 μ m) of

hearts were also stained for myocardial fibrosis with Masson's Trichrome (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON, Canada), which stains healthy myocardium red and collagen blue. An Olympus BX 41 microscope with an automated XY stage was used to collect a gallery of images at 4X magnification for each Trichome-stained transverse section. Slidebook 6 software was used to create a composite image of each transverse section. Five sections $(300 \ \mu m \ apart)$ starting from the aortic annulus $(0 \ \mu m)$ towards the apical direction (covering 1200 μm) were analyzed to determine the average myocardial fibrosis levels from each mouse.

3.3.15 Lipid accumulation in the heart: Lipid accumulation in the heart was quantified in 10 transverse heart sections (10 μ m) stained by oil red O, starting from the aortic annulus (0 μ m) and moving towards the apex direction (covering 2700 μ m). The total lipid accumulation was calculated as the area under the curve of the lipid accumulation profile (the ratio of the lipid accumulation area to the cross-sectional myocardial area versus distance 0 μ m to 2700 μ m).

3.3.16 Immunofluorescence staining: 10 μm of transverse heart sections were fixed in 4% formaldehyde for 10 mins and permeabilized in 2:1 ethanol/acetic acid at -20 °C for 5 mins. They were then blocked in either 5% or 10% goat serum in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) at room temperature for 1 hour or overnight at 4 °C. Sections were then incubated with rat anti-Mac-3 (1:50 in 5% goat serum in PBS, BD Biosciences, 553322, Mississauga, ON, Canada), rat anti-CD41 (1:200 in 10% goat serum in PBS, BD biosciences, 553847, Mississauga, ON, Canada), or rabbit anti-CD36 (1:200 in 5% goat serum in PBS, Novus Biologicals, NB400-144, Colorado, CO, USA) primary antibodies

overnight at 4 °C and followed with goat anti-rat Alexa Fluor 647 (1:500 in 5% goat serum in PBS, Thermo Fisher Scientific, A-21247, Mississauga, ON, Canada), goat antirat Alexa Fluor 488 (1:500 in 10% goat serum in PBS, Thermo Fisher Scientific, A-11006, Mississauga, ON, Canada), or goat anti-rabbit 594 (1:500 in 5% goat serum in PBS, Thermo Fisher Scientific, A-11012, Mississauga, ON, Canada) secondary antibodies at room temperature for 1 hour. Co-staining for Mac-3 and lipids was conducted by incubating sections with BODIPY 505/515 (1 mg/ml, Invitrogen, D3921, Fisher Scientific, Mississauga, ON, Canada) overnight at 4 °C and followed by rat anti-mouse Mac-3 staining as described above. Co-staining for CD36 and wheat germ agglutinin was conducted by first carrying out CD36 staining as described above followed by incubation of sections with Alexa Fluor 488 conjugated wheat germ agglutinin (1:100 in PBS, Thermo Fisher Scientific, W11261, Mississauga, ON, Canada) at room temperature for 1 hour. Nuclei were counterstained with 4', 6'-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) for 5 min. Fluorescent images were captured using either a Zeiss Axiovert 200M inverted fluorescence microscope (Carl Zeiss Canada Ltd. Toronto, ON, Canada) or a Stellaris 5 inverted confocal microscope (Leica Microsystems, Inc, Concord, Ontario, Canada).

3.3.17 Statistical Analysis: GraphPad Prism 9.4.1 software was used for statistical analysis. Data were subjected to a Grubb's outliner test first and cleaned data were then subjected to different statistical analysis. For the comparison of two groups, data were first subjected to the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Those that did not pass the normality test were analyzed by the Mann-Whitney Rank Sum test. Those which passed the normality test were then subjected to the F-test for comparing variances. Data that had

significantly different variances were analyzed by the Student's t test with Welch's correction and data that had equal variances were analyzed by the Student's t test. For comparison of multiple groups, data were also first subjected to the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Data that did not pass the normality test were analyzed by the Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparisons post hoc test. Data that passed the normality test were then subjected to the Brown-Forsythe test for comparing standard deviations. Those that had significantly different standard deviations were analyzed by Welch's ANOVA test with the two-stage linear step-up procedure of Benjamini, Krieger and Yekutieli post hoc test. Those that had equal standard deviations were analyzed by the ordinary one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc test. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. NS: not statistically significant, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. For the Kaplan-Meier survival curves, data were subject to the log-rank test for significance. Results were considered statistically significant when P < 0.05.

3.4 Results:

3.4.1 *Pcsk9* gene deletion in SEKO mice does not alter plasma cholesterol levels, despite increased hepatic LDLR protein levels.

Previous studies have shown that at 5 weeks of age, and fed a normal chow diet from weaning, $Sr-b1^{ko/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$ (Sr-b1/ApoE double knockout; or SEKO) mice exhibit substantial coronary artery and aortic sinus atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis when compared with control $Sr-b1^{wt/wt}ApoE^{ko/ko}$ (ApoE single KO, or EKO) mice (Al-Jarallah et al., 2013b; Braun et al., 2002; Yu et al., 2018). Male 5-week-old SEKO mice have increased plasma levels of total cholesterol (TC) associated with VLDL-sized lipoproteins when compared to age matched male EKO mice (Supplementary Figure 1 A-B). SEKO mice also had significantly increased hepatic *Pcsk9* mRNA (Figure 1A) and plasma PCSK9 protein (Figure 1B) levels compared age matched male EKO mice. Hepatic *Ldlr* mRNA levels were not statistically significantly different (Figure 1C); however, hepatic LDLR protein levels were lower in SEKO compared to control EKO mice (Figure 1D), consistent with the expected effects of increased plasma PCSK9 protein levels.

These findings led us to hypothesize that elevated PCSK9 levels might contribute to the accelerated aortic sinus and coronary artery atherosclerosis that develops in SEKO mice. To test this, we generated *Pcsk9^{ko/ko}Sr-b1^{ko/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko} (Pcsk9/Sr-b1/ApoE triple KO*; PSEKO) mice and compared them to matched *Pcsk9^{wt/wt}Sr-b1^{ko/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}* (SEKO) mice. Since SEKO mice have previously been reported to exhibit reduced life span, we first examined survival of the PSEKO mice compared to matched SEKO and EKO mice. As reported previously (Braun et al., 2002; Karackattu et al., 2006), both female and male SEKO mice exhibited reduced lifespan compared to control EKO mice, with median survival to surrogate endpoint (see methods) of 47 and 46 days for female and male SEKO mice, respectively. In contrast, the control female and male EKO mice all survived past 80 days of age, as shown in Supplementary Figure 2A-B. Female but not male PSEKO mice exhibited somewhat increased survival (Supplementary Figure 2A; median survival of female PSEKO mice 54 days; Supplementary Figure 2B; medial survival of male PSEKO mice 48 days).

As expected, total LDLR protein levels were higher in membranes prepared from liver tissues of PSEKO mice as compared to SEKO mice for both females and males (Figure 1E). Despite the increased LDLR protein levels in liver membranes, there were no differences in plasma lipoprotein TC profiles or plasma TC, HDL-C, non-HDL-C or TG levels (Figure 1F-J). This is consistent with reports demonstrating that an intact apoE-LDLR axis is required for plasma cholesterol lowering mediated by PCSK9 inhibition (Ason, Van Der Hoorn, et al., 2014).

3.4.2 *Pcsk9* gene deletion reduces both aortic sinus and coronary artery atherosclerosis in SEKO mice.

Studies have indicated that PCSK9 might have an influence on systemic inflammatory responses which contribute to atherogenesis in a plasma cholesterol independent manner (Giunzioni et al., 2016c; Ricci et al., 2018b; Z.-H. Tang et al., 2017; Tavori et al., 2016). Therefore, we tested whether knocking out the *Pcsk9* gene in SEKO mice modulated systemic inflammation levels. To compare markers of systemic inflammation in these mice, we screened the levels of 31 cytokines in plasma from the EKO, SEKO and PSEKO mice. While the majority of the cytokines and chemokines analyzed were not different (Supplementary Figure 3), a subset (IL-6, MCP-1, and MIP- 1β) were statistically significantly increased in plasma from the SEKO compared to the EKO mice for both females and males (Supplementary Figure 3). However, none of them was significantly reduced in both female and male PSEKO mice compared to corresponding SEKO mice (Supplementary Figure 3). Plasma analysis by ELISA further demonstrated that knockout of *Pcsk9* did not affect circulating IL-6 or MIP-1 β levels in either female or male SEKO mice (Supplementary Figure 4A-B). These results suggest that inactivation of the *Pcsk9* gene does not significantly reduce systemic inflammatory markers in SEKO mice.

Next, we investigated whether genetic Pcsk9 inactivation in SEKO mice affected atherosclerosis development in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries, despite the absence of effects on plasma cholesterol and systemic inflammatory markers (Figure 1F-J; Supplementary Figure 3-4). Atherosclerotic plaque sizes in the aortic sinuses were analyzed in mice harvested at 6.5 weeks of age. By this age, the SEKO mice develop significant atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus (Figure 2A and E), consistent with previous reports (Al-Jarallah et al., 2013b; Braun et al., 2002, 2003; Karackattu et al., 2006; Yu et al., 2018). The corresponding male and female PSEKO mice developed significantly smaller atherosclerotic plaques in their aortic sinuses (Figure 2A-H). Similarly, both male and female PSEKO mice exhibited significantly lower proportions of coronary artery cross sections containing atherosclerotic plaques, and correspondingly higher proportions of coronary artery cross sections that were devoid of atherosclerosis compared to those in SEKO mouse hearts (Figure 2I-K). In female SEKO mice, $47\% \pm 9\%$ of coronary artery cross sections were without and $53\% \pm 9\%$ contained atherosclerotic plaques, whereas in female PSEKO mice, $66\% \pm 7\%$ of coronary artery cross sections were without and only $34\% \pm 7\%$ contained atherosclerotic plaques (Figure 2J). Similarly, in male SEKO mice, $41\% \pm 9\%$ of coronary artery cross sections were without and $59\% \pm 9\%$ contained

atherosclerotic plaques, whereas in male PSEKO mice, on average $57\% \pm 11\%$ of coronary artery cross sections were without and $43\% \pm 11\%$ contained atherosclerotic plaques (Figure 2K). However, knockout of *Pcsk9* in SEKO mice did not change the relative macrophage content of atherosclerotic plaques in either the aortic sinus (Supplementary Figure 5A-B) or coronary arteries (Supplementary Figure 5C-D).

We have previously reported platelet accumulation in coronary artery atherosclerotic plaques of SEKO mice (Yu et al., 2018). Platelet activation and accumulation is involved in both early- stages of atherogenesis and later- stages of advanced atherothrombosis. Studies have reported that PCSK9 regulates platelet activation and aggregation (Cammisotto et al., 2020; Qi et al., 2021b). Therefore, we tested whether knocking out the *Pcsk9* gene in SEKO mice affected platelet accumulation in coronary artery atherosclerotic plaques. We observed that the number of atherosclerotic coronary artery cross sections that were positive for CD41 (a marker for platelet accumulation) among the number of total atherosclerotic coronary artery cross sections, was not different between PSEKO and SEKO mice (Supplementary Figure 6A-C), suggesting platelet accumulation in coronary artery atherosclerotic plaques was not directly impacted by knocking out *Pcsk9* in SEKO mice.

3.4.3 *Pcsk9* gene deletion in SEKO mice reduces cardiac enlargement, myocardial fibrosis and left ventricular (LV) dysfunction.

SEKO mice develop cardiac enlargement, myocardial fibrosis and LV dysfunction, likely as a consequence of occlusive coronary artery atherosclerosis (Braun et al., 2002). Since we found that PSEKO mice exhibited reduced coronary artery atherosclerosis, we evaluated these parameters in the PSEKO and control SEKO mice. The heart weights (normalized to tibia lengths) were increased in both female and male SEKO mice at 6.5 weeks of age, compared to corresponding EKO mice (Figure 3A-B), suggesting cardiac enlargement in SEKO mice. Knockout of Pcsk9 in SEKO mice did not change body weights (Supplementary Figure 7A-B); however, it significantly decreased heart weight: tibia length ratios in both females and males (Figure 3A-B), indicating Pcsk9 inactivation reduced cardiac enlargement in SEKO mice. Quantification of collagen (blue) in trichrome-stained cross sections of hearts (Figure 3C-E; F-H), revealed a statistically significant reduction of cardiac fibrosis in both female and male PSEKO mice compared to corresponding SEKO mice. Similarly, we observed reduced plasma levels of cardiac damage marker CK-MB in both female and male PSEKO mice compared to corresponding SEKO mice (Figure 3I and J).

Lipid accumulation has previously been observed throughout the hearts of SEKO mice (Al-Jarallah et al., 2013b; Braun et al., 2002). Consistent with previous reports (Al-Jarallah et al., 2013b; Braun et al., 2002), oil red O staining revealed neutral lipid accumulation in the hearts from 5-week-old SEKO mice, particularly in regions closer to the base and this was reduced in PSEKO mice lacking *Pcsk9* (Figure 3K-M; Supplementary Figure 8). Consistent with previous reports ^{42,43}, the majority of lipid

deposition, detected by BODIPY staining co-localized with macrophages as detected by Mac-3 immunofluorescence staining in the hearts of SEKO mice (Supplementary Figure 9). Analysis of Mac-3 staining revealed that hearts from both female and male PSEKO mice also had significantly decreased macrophage abundance than those from corresponding SEKO mice (Figure 3N-O).

The incidence of ECG abnormalities, including ST segment depressions and elevations, indicative of non-transmural and transmural myocardial ischemia, and missing QRS complexes, reminiscent of second-degree heart block, appeared to be diminished in both female and male PSEKO mice compared to SEKO mice at 6.5 weeks of age (Supplementary Figure 10A-B). No abnormal ECG patterns were detected in similarly aged control EKO mice (Supplementary Figure 10A-B). Analysis of cardiac LV pressurevolume relationships (Figure 3P-O) revealed that LV-ejection fractions were substantially reduced in SEKO mice compared to control EKO mice, as reported previously (Braun et al., 2002). LV ejection fractions were improved in age matched PSEKO compared to SEKO mice (Figure 3Q). Similarly, we observed worsened cardiac output, end systolic volume, dP/dt_{max} and -dP/dt_{min} in SEKO compared to EKO mice and trends (which did not reach statistical significance) towards improvements in cardiac output and end systolic volume in PSEKO mice (Supplementary Figure 11). This is consistent with Pcsk9 knockout having attenuated the degree of myocardial fibrosis and left ventricular dysfunction although they were not fully corrected in the PSEKO mice.

The extent of reduction in myocardial fibrosis appeared unexpectedly high (Figure 3E and H; 38% for females and 49% for males), given the relatively modest reduction in coronary artery atherosclerosis by *Pcsk9* KO (Figure 2J and K; 36% for females and 27% for males). To test if *Pcsk9* KO might have direct effects on the heart, we examined cardiac CD36 protein levels in EKO, SEKO and PSEKO mice. Immunofluorescence staining revealed that CD36 appeared localized to the cell surface of cells in the heart and that levels were increased in hearts of SEKO compared to EKO mice, and that levels were further increased by knockout of *Pcsk9* in PSEKO mice (Supplementary Figure 12).

3.4.4 Restoring circulating PCSK9 by AAV8-PCSK9 treatment reverses CAD in PSEKO mice.

To determine if restoring circulating PCSK9 in PSEKO mice to levels similar to those in SEKO mice might reverse some or all of the protective effects of *Pcsk9* knockout, a recombinant AAV8 vector was used to direct mouse wild type *Pcsk9* expression in the liver under the control of a liver specific *hcrApoE/hAAT1* promoter (AAV8-PCSK9). As a control, we used an AAV8 to drive liver specific expression of *eGFP* under the same *hcrApoE/hAAT1* promoter (AAV8-eGFP).

Titration of the viral dose administered to PSEKO mice (data not shown) revealed that intravenous injection of 4 x 10^{10} GC of the AAV8-PCSK9 resulted in circulating PCSK9 levels (average 76 ± 66 ng/ml) in PSEKO mice that approached those measured in SEKO mice (164 ± 50 ng/ml) (Figure 4A). As expected, PCSK9 was undetectable in plasma from either uninfected or AAV8-eGFP infected PSEKO mice. PSEKO mice infected with AAV8-PCSK9 exhibited significantly reduced hepatic LDLR protein levels than those infected with AAV8-eGFP (Figure 4B) but plasma total cholesterol levels were unaffected (Figure 4C), in agreement with the results from whole body *Pcsk9* genetic deficiency in SEKO mice (Figure 1G). Quantitative real time RT-PCR for *Pcsk9* expression using mRNA prepared from a variety of tissues as well as peritoneal macrophages confirmed that the recombinant AAV8-PCSK9 used drove liver specific *Pcsk9* expression (Figure 4D and E).

Restoration of circulating PCSK9 by AAV8-PCSK9 treatment in PSEKO mice significantly increased atherosclerotic plaque development in the aortic sinus (Figure 5A-D) and increased the proportions of coronary artery cross sections containing atherosclerotic plaques and correspondingly decreased the proportions of coronary artery cross sections that were devoid of atherosclerosis (Figure 5E). At 6.5 weeks of age, 61% \pm 5% of coronary artery cross sections were without atherosclerotic plaques, and 39% \pm 5% of coronary artery cross sections contained atherosclerotic plaques in PSEKO mice treated with the control AAV8-eGFP virus (Figure 5E). On the other hand, 50% \pm 6% of coronary artery cross sections were without and 50% \pm 6% contained atherosclerotic plaques in PSEKO mice treated with the AAV8-PCSK9 virus (Figure 5E). Therefore, restoring circulating PCSK9 by AAV8-PCSK9 treatment reversed the protective effects of whole body *Pcsk9* genetic deficiency on both aortic sinus and coronary artery atherosclerosis in a plasma cholesterol-independent manner.

Unexpectedly, PSEKO administered either AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9 exhibited heart weights (normalized to tibia lengths) that were larger than uninfected PSEKO mice but were similar to those measured for SEKO mice (Figure 5F compared to Figure 3A and B), suggesting that treatment with the AAV8 virus alone triggered cardiomegaly in these mice. There we could not evaluate if restoring circulating PCSK9 per se reversed the protection against cardiomegaly observed when Pcsk9 was knocked out. Nevertheless, AAV8-PCSK9 virus treatment significantly increased myocardial fibrosis (Figure 5H-J), plasma CK-MB levels (Figure 5K), and lipid deposition in the heart (Figure 5L-N; Supplementary Figure 13) compared to control AAV8-eGFP virus treatment in PSEKO mice. However, AAV8-PCSK9 treatment did not change myocardial macrophage accumulation (Figure 50-P) or cell surface CD36 protein levels (Supplementary Figure 14) in the hearts compared to AAV8-eGFP treatment in either female or male PSEKO mice. Nevertheless, it increased the proportion of abnormal ECG patterns (Supplementary Figure 15), indicating restoring circulating PCSK9 enhanced abnormal myocardial electrical conduction in PSEKO mice. Thus, AAV8-PCSK9 virus infection restored circulating PCSK9 and reversed most of the protective effects of Pcsk9 KO on atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries, myocardial fibrosis and cardiac damage in PSEKO mice in a plasma cholesterol independent manner.

3.4.5 PCSK9 antibody treatment protects males but not females against coronary artery atherosclerosis development but does not protect against myocardial fibrosis in SEKO mice.

Starting from 3 weeks of age, female and male SEKO mice were treated weekly (10 mg/kg body weight in 0.9% saline) with either a control antibody or an anti-PCSK9 antibody that disrupts the interaction between PCSK9 and the LDLR. Analysis of mice at 6.5 weeks of age revealed that treatment of both female and male SEKO mice with the anti-PCSK9 antibody substantially increased hepatic LDLR protein levels (Figure 6B-C), despite dramatically increasing plasma PCSK9 levels (Figure 6A) as previously reported by others (Byun, Lebeau, Platko, Carlisle, Faiyaz, Chen, MacDonald, et al., 2022; Koren et al., 2015; Oleaga et al., 2021; Ridker, Tardif, et al., 2017; E. M. Roth et al., 2012; Shapiro et al., 2018; L. Zhang, McCabe, Condra, Ni, Peterson, Wang, Strack, Wang, Pandit, Hammond, Wood, Lewis, Rosa, Mendoza, Cumiskey, et al., 2012). Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment did not affect body weights (Supplementary Figure 16), plasma or lipoprotein total cholesterol levels, or plasma TG levels in SEKO mice (Figure 6D-F). consistent with the results from genetic PCSK9 inactivation in SEKO mice (Figure 1F-J). The anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment of SEKO mice significantly reduced atherosclerosis development in the aortic sinus (Figure 7A, B, E, and F) and coronary arteries (Figure 7I) in males but not in females (Figure 7C, D, G, H and J). Despite the reduction in aortic sinus and coronary artery atherosclerosis in male SEKO mice, anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment did not affect myocardial lipid accumulation in male SEKO mice (Supplementary Figure 17). Furthermore, it did not protect either male or female SEKO

mice against cardiac enlargement (Figure 8A and B), myocardial fibrosis (Figure 8C-H), or increased plasma CK-MB levels (Figure 8I and J) or reduce cell surface CD36 protein levels in hearts (Supplementary Figure 18). Similarly, anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment did not prevent LV dysfunction measured in 5 week old male or female SEKO mice (Figure 8K-L; Supplementary Figure 19) or abnormal ECG patterns (data not shown) compared to control antibody treatment in SEKO mice. The results suggest that the effects of PCSK9 on coronary artery atherosclerosis in females and on cardiomyocyte damage, cardiac fibrosis and LV dysfunction, or in the regulation of cardiac cell surface CD36 protein levels in both males and female SEKO mice are not inhibited by the anti-PCSK9 antibody and therefore likely independent of PCSK9's interaction with the LDLR.

3.5 Discussion:

Because SEKO mice lack APOE, a ligand for the LDLR, and others have shown that PCSK9 inhibition did not regulate plasma cholesterol levels in mice lacking either the LDLR or APOE (Ason, Van Der Hoorn, et al., 2014), we reasoned that SEKO mice might represent a useful model system in which to examine the role of PCSK9 inhibition in coronary artery atherosclerosis independent of its effects on plasma cholesterol lowering. We demonstrate that SEKO mice exhibit increased hepatic expression and plasma levels of PCSK9 compared to control EKO mice (Figure 1A-B). By crossing these mice to *Pcsk9* KO mice, we generated PSEKO mice which lack *Pcsk9* expression. These mice show elevated levels of LDLR expression in livers compared to *Pcsk9* expressing SEKO mice but do not exhibit differences in plasma cholesterol levels or lipoprotein

profiles (Figure 1E-J), in agreement with the finding that PCSK9 mediated regulation of circulating cholesterol levels requires APOE (Ason, Van Der Hoorn, et al., 2014). *Pcsk9* knockout in these SEKO mice reduced atherosclerosis development (Figure 2A-K) in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries as well as the development of myocardial fibrosis (Figure 3C-H), plasma levels of a cardiac damage marker (CK-MB) (Figure 3I-J) and cardiac enlargement (Figure 3A-B), and improved parameters of left ventricular function (Figure 3P-Q) in both male and female mice. Knockout of the *Pcsk9* gene also extended the survival of female but not male PSEKO mice (Supplementary Figure 2A-B).

The recent observation that *Pcsk9* KO mice are protected against myocardial infarction in a surgical model of left coronary artery ligation (Ding, Wang, et al., 2018) is in close agreement with our findings of reduced myocardial fibrosis and reduced left ventricular dysfunction in PSEKO compared to SEKO mice. In that study, it was reported that PCSK9 levels were increased in the ischemic border zone in the affected myocardium (Ding, Wang, et al., 2018). However, it is not clear if the protection afforded by *Pcsk9* KO was a consequence of the absence of liver derived, circulating PCSK9 or the absence of expression of PCSK9 in the heart itself. To test the involvement of liver derived, circulating PCSK9 in the development of atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries, myocardial fibrosis and myocardial damage, we used an AAV8 vector to express recombinant *Pcsk9* specifically in livers and not other tissues/cell types, including macrophages and heart tissue, leading to near-restoration of plasma levels of PCSK9 in PSEKO mice. This increased atherosclerosis in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries (Figure 5A-E) and exacerbated myocardial fibrosis, myocardial damage and myocardial

lipid accumulation in PSEKO mice (Figure 5H-N; Supplementary Figure 13), effectively reversing the effects of knocking out *Pcsk9*. Like the effects of *Pcsk9* KO, restoration of *Pcsk9* expression specifically in livers did not affect plasma cholesterol levels (Figure 4C). These results strongly suggest that the absence of liver derived, circulating PCSK9 is responsible for the lipoprotein-independent protective effects on coronary artery atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction and lipid deposition, and LV dysfunction in PSEKO mice.

Evaluation of plasma markers of inflammation revealed a subset (IL-6, MCP-1 and MIP-1β) that were elevated in both male and female SEKO compared to EKO control mice (Supplementary Figure 3 and 4). However, none of these were consistently reduced by *Pcsk9* KO in both male and female PSEKO mice (Supplementary Figure 3 and 4) or increased by restoration of circulating PCSK9 in PSEKO mice (data not shown). These results suggest that the plasma cholesterol independent effects of PCSK9 on atherosclerosis development, myocardial damage and myocardial fibrosis are not due to alterations in these systemic inflammatory factors. A recent study has shown that overexpression of circulating PCSK9 by AAV8 promoted the plasma cholesterol independent development of vein graft lesions (Katsuki et al., 2022), the late stage of which shares similar characteristics with atherosclerosis (Yahagi et al., 2016). These results are in close alignment with our finding that circulating PCSK9 promoted atherosclerosis in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries independently of plasma cholesterol levels (Figure 4A and C; Figure 5A-E). Macrophage accumulation was suggested as the mechanism of circulating PCSK9 induced vein graft lesions (Katsuki et

al., 2022); whereas our study suggested the protection against atherosclerosis by Pcsk9 KO was not driven by macrophage accumulation in atherosclerotic plaques (Supplementary Figure 5). We also found that platelet accumulation was not the driver of global *Pcsk9* KO mediated protection against coronary artery atherosclerosis (Supplementary Figure 6). PCSK9 inhibition in cultured SMCs and ECs has also been reported eliciting anti-atherogenic responses (Xiong et al., 2021). However, the extent to which circulating PCSK9 may impact these responses and their contribution to the mechanism by which eliminating circulating PCSK9 triggers plasma cholesterolindependent protection against aortic sinus and coronary artery atherosclerosis, myocardial fibrosis and myocardial damage remains to be explored. PCSK9 has been reported to mediate the degradation of MHC-I and reduce intratumoral CD8⁺ T cell infiltration (X. Liu et al., 2020). CD8⁺ T cells are reported to have both pro-atherogenic and atheroprotective effects (Saigusa et al., 2020b). It is possible that circulating PCSK9 might also regulate MHC-I levels in atherosclerotic plaques and affect CD8⁺ T cell infiltration, which might contribute to its effects on atherosclerosis development. However, this hypothesis needs to be explored.

To understand whether the plasma cholesterol independent effects of circulating PCSK9 on coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis involve its interactions with the LDLR, we treated SEKO mice with an anti-PCSK9 antibody, which disrupts the PCSK9-LDLR interaction (Ason, Van Der Hoorn, et al., 2014). This elevated hepatic LDLR protein levels in SEKO mice (Figure 6B and C). However, it also increased circulating PCSK9 levels by ~10 fold (Figure 6A), consistent with previous reports which

indicated that this was due to both delayed LDLR mediated PCSK9 clearance and a posttranslational increase in PCSK9 secretion (Byun, Lebeau, Platko, Carlisle, Faiyaz, Chen, MacDonald, et al., 2022; Oleaga et al., 2021). Consistent with the results of *Pcsk9* KO, anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment of SEKO mice did not alter plasma cholesterol levels (Figure 6D). Nevertheless, the increased hepatic LDLR and circulating PCSK9 protein levels (Figure 6A-C) demonstrated that the anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment in SEKO mice successfully blocked the PCSK9-LDLR interactions.

Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment protected male but not female SEKO mice against atherosclerosis in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries (Figure 7A-J). The reason for this sex-dependent effect is not clear. However, the mice used in this study were harvested by 6.5 weeks of age and likely sexually immature. Therefore, the sexdependent effects of PCSK9-antibody treatment on atherosclerosis are likely not mediated by sex hormones. The nature of the different effects in males versus females remains to be determined. In contrast, anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment did not attenuate myocardial fibrosis, plasma CK-MB levels or LV dysfunction in either male or female SEKO mice (Figure 8A-L). In female SEKO mice, this is consistent with the lack of protection against the extent of coronary artery atherosclerosis (Figure 7J, 8B, 8F-H, and 8J-L). However, the lack of protection against myocardial fibrosis or damage, or LV dysfunction observed in male mice (Figure 8A, 8C-E, 8I, and 8K-L) was unexpected given the observed, though modest, $\sim 20\%$ reduction in the extent of coronary artery atherosclerosis (Figure 7I). This suggests either that the 20 % reduction in coronary artery atherosclerosis observed in male SEKO mice was not sufficient to impact myocardial damage, fibrosis or

LV dysfunction, or that PCSK9 may exert an LDLR-independent effect on the myocardium. Consistent with this, we noted that *Pcsk9* KO in PSEKO mice resulted in what appeared to be greater protection against myocardial fibrosis than against coronary artery atherosclerosis and that AAV8-mediated hepatic expression of recombinant *Pcsk9* in PSEKO mice resulted in greater increases in the myocardial damage marker, CK-MB, and myocardial fibrosis than in coronary artery atherosclerosis. These observations are consistent with the previous demonstration that *Pcsk9* KO protected mice against myocardial fibrosis in a coronary artery ligation experimental MI model (Ding, Wang, et al., 2018; F. Wang et al., 2022).

CD36 is a known target of PCSK9 regulation (Seidah & Garçon, 2022) that plays an important role in cardiomyocytes. We observed that *Pcsk9* KO was accompanied by increased cell surface CD36 protein levels in cardiac cells (Supplementary Figure 12). However, neither AAV8-mediated expression of recombinant *Pcsk9* in PSEKO mice (Supplementary Figure 14), nor anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment of SEKO mice (Supplementary Figure 18) affected cell surface CD36 protein levels in hearts, suggesting that cell surface CD36 protein levels in hearts might not be regulated by circulating PCSK9. Further studies are required to determine if PCSK9 expressed in the cardiomyocytes or other cells in the heart, itself, might be responsible for the regulation of cardiac cell surface CD36 levels. Regardless, however, it does not appear that PCSK9's effects on myocardial damage or fibrosis are mediated through effects on cardiac cell surface CD36 protein levels, since AAV8-mediated hepatic expression of recombinant *Pcsk9* reversed the protection against myocardial damage and fibrosis (Figure 5H-K) but did not alter myocardial cell surface CD36 levels (Supplementary Figure 14). The mechanisms by which circulating PCSK9 may exert direct effects on the heart to modulate myocardial damage, myocardial fibrosis, and myocardial macrophage and lipid accumulation remain unknown.

A study in human patients has shown that lipid deposition in the myocardium of the LV was associated with larger infarctions and worse LV function (Goldfarb et al., 2009). Another study reported that lipid deposition was associated both with cardiomyocytes and with macrophages in infarcted hearts of human patients (Sakurai et al., 1978). Consistent with these and other analyses (Al-Jarallah et al., 2013b; Braun et al., 2002), we observed extensive lipid deposition, associated primarily with macrophages in the myocardium of SEKO mice (Supplementary Figure 9) and reduced myocardial lipid deposition and cardiac macrophage content in PSEKO mice (Figure 3K-O; Supplementary Figure 8). These alterations corresponded to the attenuated cardiac fibrosis and damage (Figure 3C-J) and improved LV function (Figure 3P-Q; Supplementary Figure 11) in PSEKO compared to SEKO mice. Whether the reduced myocardial lipid deposition and macrophage accumulation are the cause or consequence of reduced cardiac fibrosis and damage and LV dysfunction in PSEKO mice, is unknown. However, one study has reported that *Pcsk9* KO mice were protected from coronary artery ligation induced myocardial infarction, potentially by regulating myocardial macrophage accumulation and polarization (F. Wang et al., 2022). Interestingly, restoration of circulating PCSK9 by AAV8-mediated liver specific Pcsk9 expression increased myocardial lipid deposition but did not change cardiac macrophage content in

PSEKO mice compared to those which received the control AAV8-eGFP virus (Figure 5L-P; Supplementary Figure 13). It is possible that the recombinant AAV8 virus treatment alone induced local inflammation and macrophage accumulation in the heart in addition to triggering cardiomegaly (Figure 5F compared to Figure 3A and B), since it is known that this AAV strain exhibits tropism for cardiomyocytes; thus, the effects of restoring circulating PCSK9 on macrophage levels in the heart and heart size might be masked by the AAV8 virus treatment. Nevertheless, the increased myocardial lipid accumulation by restoring circulating PCSK9 was associated with enhanced myocardial fibrosis and damage in PSEKO mice (Figure 5H-N) and anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment did not affect either myocardial fibrosis and damage or myocardial lipid accumulation in male SEKO mice (Figure 8A, 8C-E, and 8I; Supplementary Figure 17). These results suggest that despite the absent effects on systemic, plasma lipid levels (Figure 1F-J and 4C), circulating PCSK9 affects local lipid accumulation in the heart that is independent of the interaction between the LDLR and PCSK9. It is possible that circulating PCSK9 may alter local myocardial lipid accumulation by regulating the levels of another receptor. Our data suggests that this is not CD36 on the surface of cardiac cells since restoration of circulating PCSK9 by AAV8-PCSK9 treatment reduced myocardial lipid accumulation without impacting myocardial cell surface CD36. The nature of the PCSK9 target, the cell type affected (cardiomyocyte versus macrophage) and the role of myocardial lipid accumulation in the progression of myocardial fibrosis and damage and LV dysfunction remain to be elucidated.

In conclusion, we have revealed that the absence of *Pcsk9* protected against coronary artery atherosclerosis, myocardial damage and fibrosis, and LV dysfunction in SEKO mice in a plasma cholesterol independent manner, and that the effects on atherosclerosis, myocardial damage and fibrosis can be reversed by hepatic expression of recombinant *Pcsk9*, leading to near-normal physiological levels of PCSK9 in circulation. Importantly, these effects appear to be largely independent of LDLR binding, particularly in females. The mechanisms by which circulating PCSK9 exerts these effects remain to be elucidated, however these findings suggest that strategies that target PCSK9 protein expression/secretion, particularly by the liver may have beneficial, plasma cholesterol-independent effects in reducing coronary artery atherosclerosis and associated myocardial infarction.
















3.6 Figure legends:

Figure 1: *Pcsk9* gene deletion in SEKO mice does not alter plasma cholesterol levels, despite increased hepatic LDLR protein levels. Mice from panel A-D were analyzed at 5 weeks of age and mice from panel E- J were analyzed at 6.5 weeks of age. (A) Hepatic Pcsk9 mRNA, (B) plasma PCSK9 protein and (C) hepatic Ldlr mRNA levels in SEKO and EKO mice. (D) Representative immunoblots and quantification for LDLR protein levels (normalized to ε -COP) in liver total membranes from SEKO and EKO mice. (E) Representative immunoblots and quantification of LDLR and Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase in liver total membranes from female (left) and male (right) SEKO and PSEKO mice. (F) Representative total cholesterol profiles of FPLC fractionated plasma from female SEKO and PSEKO mice (n=7, 7). Plasma (G) total cholesterol, (H) non-HDL cholesterol, (I) HDL cholesterol and (J) triglyceride levels from female (top) and male (bottom) SEKO and PSEKO mice. One outliner in female SEKO mice was excluded for the statistical analysis in panel J. Each symbol represents data from an independent mouse. Bars represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.

Figure 2. *Pcsk9* gene deletion in SEKO mice reduces atherosclerosis development both in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries. Mice were analyzed at 6.5 weeks of age. (A-B, E-F) Representative images of cross sections of aortic sinus stained with oil red O/hematoxylin, and (C and G) quantification of atherosclerotic plaque cross sectional

area profiles from (A and B) female and (E and F) male (A and E) SEKO and (B and F) PSEKO mice. (D and H) Quantification of atherosclerotic plaque volumes from (A-C) female and (E-G) male (A and E) SEKO and (B and F) PSEKO mice. (D and H) Plaque volumes are calculated as the areas under the curve of plaque cross sectional area versus distance over a 400 µm distance along the aortic sinus (C and G). (I) Representative images of transverse sections of coronary arteries stained with oil red O/hematoxylin with different extents of atherosclerosis (no plaque; <50% occluded; >50% occluded; and 100% occluded). Coronary artery (CA) cross sections with no plaque were considered non-atherosclerotic, while CA cross sections with atherosclerotic plaques occluding <50%, >50% or 100% of the artery lumen were considered as atherosclerotic. Quantification of the percentage of CA cross sections with no atherosclerotic plaque and with atherosclerotic plaques in (J) female and (K) male SEKO and PSEKO mice. Each symbol represents data from an individual mouse. Bars represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.

Figure 3: *Pcsk9* gene deletion protects against cardiac enlargement, myocardial **fibrosis and LV dysfunction in SEKO mice.** Mice were analyzed at 6.5 weeks of age except for panel K-M and P-Q. Mice were analyzed at 5 weeks of age for panel K-M and P-Q. (A, B) The ratios of heart weight to tibia length from (A) female and (B) male SEKO, PSEKO and control EKO mice. (C-D, F-G) Representative images of trichrome-

stained transverse sections of the upper portion of hearts from (C-D) female and (F-G) male (C and F) SEKO and (D and G) PSEKO mice. Healthy myocardium stains red and collagen containing myocardial fibrotic area stains blue. (E and H) Quantification of myocardial fibrosis levels in (E) female and (H) male SEKO and PSEKO mice. (I-J) Plasma levels of cardiac damage marker CK-MB for (I) female and (J) male SEKO and PSEKO mice. (K-L) Representative images of Oil red O/hematoxylin-stained transverse heart sections (900 µm away from the aortic annulus) in (K) SEKO and (L) PSEKO mice. (M) Total lipid accumulation in the heart of SEKO and PSEKO mice was calculated as the area under the curve of lipid accumulation profile (Supplementary Figure 8B), which shows the ratio of lipid accumulation area to cross-sectional myocardium area, starting at the cross-section of the aortic annulus until the cross-section 2700 um away from the aortic annulus (300 µm apart, 10 sections in total). (N) Representative images of immunostaining for Mac-3 in transverse heart sections of SEKO and PSEKO mice. (O) Quantification of Mac-3 intensity normalized by the total myocardium area in female and male SEKO and PSEKO mice. Left-ventricular pressure-volume analysis was determined using a solid-state pressure-volume catheter inserted transmurally into the left ventricle. (P) Representative left ventricle (LV) pressure-volume loop tracings from EKO, SEKO and PSEKO mice. (O) Ejection fractions in female and male EKO, SEKO and PSEKO mice. Each symbol represents an individual mouse. Bars represent the mean and error bars represent standard deviations. In panel M, red symbols represent female mice and black symbols represent male mice. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); *

represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.

Figure 4. AAV8-PCSK9 treatment increases circulating PCSK9 levels without changing plasma total cholesterol levels in PSEKO mice. In panel A-D, PSEKO mice were injected with 4 x 10¹⁰ GC of either AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9 at 3 weeks of age and analyzed at 6.5 weeks of age. (A) Circulating PCSK9 levels in female and male SEKO, PSEKO and AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9 treated PSEKO mice. (B) Representative immunoblots and quantification of LDLR and Na^+/K^+ ATPase in liver total membranes from female and male PSEKO mice treated with either AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9. The left three samples are females and right four samples are males for both AAV8-eGFP and AAV8-PCSK9 treatment in the immunoblots. (C) Plasma total cholesterol levels in female and male PSEKO mice treated with AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9. (D) Pcsk9 mRNA levels in the livers, hearts, kidneys, spleens and aortas of female and male SEKO. PSEKO and AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9 treated PSEKO mice. (E) Pcsk9 mRNA levels in the livers and peritoneal macrophages of male $Pcsk9^{wt/wt}ApoE^{ko/ko}$ mice, $Pcsk9^{ko/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$ mice or $Pcsk9^{ko/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$ mice treated with AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9. $Pcsk9^{ko/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko}$ mice were treated with 4 x 10¹⁰ GC of either AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9 at 6 weeks of age. Liver and thioglycolate-induced peritoneal macrophages were harvested at 9.5 weeks of age from Pcsk9^{wt/wt}ApoE^{ko/ko} mice, Pcsk9^{ko/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko} mice or Pcsk9^{ko/ko}ApoE^{ko/ko} mice treated with AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9. Each symbol represents an individual mouse. Bars represent means and

error bars represent standard deviations. Red symbols represent female mice and black symbols represent male mice. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.

Figure 5. AAV8-PCSK9 treatment reverses coronary artery disease compared to AAV8-eGFP treatment in PSEKO mice. PSEKO mice were injected with 4 x 10¹⁰ GC of either AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9 at 3 weeks of age and analyzed at 6.5 weeks of age. (A and B) Representative images of cross sections of aortic sinus stained with oil red O/hematoxylin and (C) quantification of atherosclerotic plaque cross sectional area profiles from female and male PSEKO mice treated with (A) AAV-8 eGFP or (B) AAV-PCSK9. (D) Quantification of atherosclerotic plaque volumes in (A) AAV8-eGFP and (B) AAV8-PCSK9 treated PSEKO mice. Plaque volume was calculated as the area under the curve of plaque cross sectional area versus distance over a 400 µm distance along the aortic sinus (C). (E) Quantification of the percentage of CA cross sections with no atherosclerotic plaque and with atherosclerotic plaques in female and male PSEKO mice treated with AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9. (F) The ratios of heart weight to tibia length. (H and I) Representative images of trichrome-stained transverse heart sections and (J) quantification of myocardial fibrosis levels in (H) AAV8-eGFP and (I) AAV8-PCSK9 treated PSEKO mice. (K) Plasma levels of cardiac damage marker CK-MB. (L and M) Representative images of Oil red O/hematoxylin-stained transverse heart sections (900 µm away from the aortic annulus) in (L) AAV8-eGFP and (M) AAV8-PCSK9 treated PSEKO mice. (N) Total lipid accumulation in the heart of AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9

treated PSEKO mice was calculated as the area under the curve of lipid accumulation profile (Supplementary Figure 13B), which shows the ratio of lipid accumulation area to cross-sectional myocardium area, starting at the cross-section of the aortic annulus until the cross-section 2700 um away from the aortic annulus (300 µm apart, 10 sections in total). (O) Representative images of immunostaining for Mac-3 in transverse heart sections of AAV8-eGFP and AAV8-PCSK9 treated PSEKO mice. (P) Quantification of Mac-3 intensity normalized by the total myocardium area. Each symbol represents an individual mouse. Bars represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. Red symbols represent female mice and black symbols represent male mice. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.001.

Figure 6: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment increases circulating PCSK9 and hepatic LDLR protein levels without affecting plasma cholesterol levels in both female and male SEKO mice. Mice were analyzed at 6.5 weeks of age. (A) Circulating PCSK9 levels in control or anti-PCSK9 ab treated male and female SEKO mice measured by ELISA. (B) Immunoblotting for liver total membrane LDLR (top) and ε-COP (bottom) and (C) quantification of immunoblotting of LDLR/ ε-COP protein levels in liver membranes of male and female SEKO mice with control or anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment. (D) Plasma total cholesterol levels in male and female SEKO mice with control or anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment. (E) Representative total cholesterol profiles of FPLC fractionated plasma from male SEKO mice with control or anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment (n=8,6). (F) TG levels in plasma from male SEKO mice with control or anti-

PCSK9 antibody treatment. Each symbol represents data from an independent mouse. Bars represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.

Figure 7: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment reduces aortic sinus and coronary artery atherosclerosis development in male but not female SEKO mice. Mice were analyzed at 6.5 weeks of age. (A-D) Representative images of cross sections of aortic sinus stained with oil red O/hematoxylin, and (E and G) quantification of atherosclerotic plaque cross sectional area profiles from (A, B and E) male and (C, D and G) female SEKO mice treated with (A and C) control or (B and D) anti-PCSK9 antibody. (F and H) Quantification of atherosclerotic plaque volumes from (A, B and E) male and (C, D and G) female SEKO mice treated with (A and C) control antibody or (B and D) anti-PCSK9 antibody. (F and H) Plaque volumes are calculated as the areas under the curve of plaque cross sectional area versus distance over a 400 µm distance along the aortic sinus (E and G). Quantification of the percentage of CA cross sections with no atherosclerotic plaque and with atherosclerotic plaques in (I) male and (J) female SEKO mice treated with control antibody or anti-PCSK9 antibody. Each symbol represents data from an individual mouse. Bars represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.

Figure 8: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment does not protect against cardiac enlargement, myocardial fibrosis and cardiac dysfunction in SEKO mice. Mice were analyzed at 6.5 weeks of age except for panel K-L. Mice were analyzed at 5 weeks of age for panel K-L. (A, B) The ratios of heart weight to tibia length from (A) male and (B) female SEKO mice treated with control or anti-PCSK9 antibody and control EKO mice. (C-D, F-G) Representative images of trichrome-stained transverse sections of the upper portion of hearts from (C-D) male and (F-G) female SEKO mice treated with (C and F) control or (D and G) anti-PCSK9 antibody. Healthy myocardium stains red and collagen containing myocardial fibrotic area stains blue. (E and H) Quantification of myocardial fibrosis levels in (E) male and (H) female SEKO mice with control or anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment. (I-J) Plasma levels of cardiac damage marker CK-MB for (I) male and (J) female SEKO mice with control or anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment. Leftventricular pressure-volume analysis was determined using a solid-state pressure-volume catheter inserted transmurally into the left ventricle. (K) Representative left ventricle (LV) pressure-volume loop tracings from SEKO mice with control or anti-PCKS9 antibody treatment and control EKO mice. (L) Ejection fractions in male and female SEKO mice with control or anti-PCKS9 antibody treatment and control EKO mice. Each symbol represents an individual mouse. Bars represent the mean and error bars represent standard deviations. In panel L, red symbols represent female mice and black symbols represent male mice. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.





240

Supplementary Figure 3

Α		Females				В		Males			
Eotaxin -	1145.1	781.0	761.7			Eotaxin -	1400.1	879.7	823.0		
G-CSF-	526.1	911.2	917.0			G-CSF-	408.5	405.8	251.2		
GM-CSF-	53.3	44.1	56.2		3	GM-CSF -	7.5	0	3.7		
IFN-y=	8.7	6.1	5.1		<u>g</u>	IFN-y=	0.2	0.1	0		
IL-1α-	114.8	104.2	130.8	lt '	ğ	IL-1α -	26.1	40.8	32.0		
IL-1β-	4.7	4.7	2.3		ĕ	IL-1β-	0	0	0.5		
IL-2-	18.3	0	12.8		_	IL-2-	10.6	6.4	4.7		
IL-3-	0	6.2	4.6			IL-3 -	0.1	3.0e-002	0		Ξ
IL-4 -	1.9	1.7	1.0			IL-4 -	0.5	0.3	0.3		ğ
IL-5-	32.6	31.6	29.0			IL-5 -	2.0	3.4	3.9		ğ
IL-6 -	29.4	609.5	237.9			IL-6 -	4.5	112.1	69.0		ĕ
IL-7 -	10.8	9.7	8.7			IL-7 -	4.1	4.1	3.6		_
IL-9 -	80.0	30.7	36.0			IL-9 -	35.8	28.0	19.6		
IL-10 -	30.2	30.2	35.7			IL-10 -	11.8	18.7	9.5		
IL-12p40 -	23.1	26.1	22.1			IL-12p40 -	13.1	11.8	10.4		
IL-12p70 -	18.5	27.5	20.7			IL-12p70 -	15.7	2.7	0		
IL-13-	70.3	70.3	68.8		Ξ	IL-13 -	47.6	49.0	38.8		
IL-15-	222.0	180.7	149.5	L.	ğ	IL-15 -	20.6	23.4	26.3		
IL-17A -	3.3	2.2	3.0		ğ	IL-17A -	1.1	0.4	0.6		2
IP-10 -	60.6	111.3	94.8		5	IP-10 -	37.7	56.9	56.5		5
KC-	384.4	928.4	375.3		I 1	KC-	198.5	83.0	79.2	ŀ	ĕ
LIF -	1.1	1.1	0.2		I 1	LIF -	3.0e-002	0	0.3		ğ
LIX -	257.1	104.6	97.5		I 1	LIX -	627.3	217.4	256.9		^w
MCP-1-	48.9	89.2	79.0		I I	MCP-1 -	35.8	77.8	37.7		L 1
M-CSF-	32.0	35.4	30.8		I I	M-CSF-	11.2	19.1	19.1		L
MIG -	70.5	82.2	59.1		I I	MIG -	134.1	153.3	135.9		L
MIP-1α -	151.5	202.4	169.6		I I	MIP-1α-	92.5	115.1	90.6		L
MIP-1β-	100.0	176.3	147.2		I I	MIP-1β-	58.5	136.6	76.9		L
MIP-2-	52.2	62.3	42.1		I I	MIP-2 -	190.2	137.1	128.6		L
RANTES-	59.9	64.2	57.5		I I	RANTES-	34.7	24.2	28.3		L 1
TNF-α-	17.4	36.0	33.2		2	TNF-α-	8.4	13.2	9.7		=
VEGF-A-	0.6	0.7	0.7		12	VEGF-A-	0.5	0.4	0.4		12
	EKO	SEKO	PSEKO		d		EKO	SEKO	PSEKO		do





Supplementary Figure 5







Supplementary Figure 8



Supplementary Figure 10

Female		EKO	SEKO		PSEKO	
Normal ECG patterns			544 544 570 3742 574		- 100 100 100 100 100	
		8/8=100%	5/12 =42%		8/13=62%	
	ST depression			3/12		2/13
Abnormal ECG patterns	ST elevation		7/12 = 58%	4/12	5/13 = 38%	2/13
	Missing QRS waves		1 .	0/12	1	1/13

Α

Supplementary Figure 10 - Continued

male		ЕКО	SEKO		PSEKO	
Normal ECG patterns		10/10 =100%	3/11 =27%		11/18 =61%	
	ST depression					
Abnormal ECG patterns	ST elevation		8/11 = 73%	2/11	7/18 = 39%	4/18
	Missing QRS waves					3/18
				3/11		0/18

в





Supplementary Figure 11 - Continued







Supplementary Figure 14

Supplementary Figure 15

А

			AAV8-eGFP	AAV8-PCSK9		
Normal ECG patterns		1	4/15 =93%	7/14=50%		
	ST depression		1/15		6/14	
Abnormal ECG patterns	ST elevation	1/15 = 7%		7/14 = 50%	2 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	
	Missing QRS waves					









Supplementary table a

Target gene	Primer Pair Sequence				
Mouse LDLR (forward)	5'-TCCAATCAATTCAGCTGTG G-3'				
Mouse LDLR (reverse)	5'-GAGCCATCTAGGCAATCTCG-3'				
Mouse eGFP (forward)	5'-CTGCTGCCCGACAACCAC-3'				
Mouse eGFP (reverse)	5'-TGTGATCGCGCTTCTCGTT-3'				
Mouse PCSK9 (forward)	5'- TTGCAGCAGCTGGGAACTT-3'				
Mouse PCSK9 (reverse)	5'-CCGACTGTGATGACCTCTGGA-3'				
Mouse GAPDH (forward)	5'-ACCACAGTCCATGCCATCAC-3'				
Mouse GAPDH (reverse)	5'-TCCACCACCCTGTTGCTGTA-3'				
3.7 Supplementary figure legends:

Supplementary figure 1: Plasma lipoproteins levels in SEKO and EKO mice. Male mice were analyzed at 5 weeks of age. (A) Representative total cholesterol profiles of FPLC fractionated plasma from SEKO and control EKO mice. (B) Plasma total cholesterol levels from SEKO and EKO mice. Each symbol represents data from an independent mouse. Bars represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.

Supplementary figure 2: Effects of genetic *Pcsk9* **inactivation on the survival of SEKO mice.** Kaplan-Meier survival curves for (A) female and (B) male SEKO mice with intact *Pcsk9* expression (solid line) and PSEKO mice in which *Pcsk9* has been knocked out (black dashed line). Survival of control EKO mice (grey dashed line) is included for comparison. Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) tests indicated P=0.0027 for the comparison of SEKO and PSEKO data for females (panel A) and P=0.884 (not statistically significant) for the comparison of SEKO and PSEKO data for males (panel B). Arrows (Experimental endpoint) indicate the 6.5 weeks (45 days) of age point at which subsequent analyses

were done.

Supplementary figure 3: Levels of plasma cytokines and chemokines from female EKO, SEKO and PSEKO mice. Mice were analyzed at 6.5 weeks of age. Plasma from (A) female and (B) male EKO, SEO and PSEKO mice (n = 10, 10, 10) was analyzed by

Eve Technologies using their mouse cytokine/chemokine 31-plex discovery array. Mean values for Eotaxin, G-CSF, GM-CSF, IFN-γ, IL-1-α, IL-1β, IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-7, IL-9, IL-10, IL-12 (P40), IL-12 (P70), IL-13, 1L-15, 1L-17, KC, IP-10, LIF, LIX, M-CSF, MIG, MIP-1a, MIP-2, Rantes, TNF-α, and VEGF are shown in the heatmap.

Supplementary figure 4: Plasma levels of IL-6 and MIP-1 β . Mice were analyzed at 6.5 weeks of age. Plasma (A) IL-6 and (B) MIP-1 β levels in EKO, SEKO and PSEKO mice were measured by ELISA. One outliner in male SEKO mice and one outliner in male PSEKO mice were excluded for the statistical analysis in panel A. Each symbol represents data from an independent mouse. Red symbols represent female mice and black symbols represent male mice. Bars represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.001; *** represents P<0.001.

Supplementary figure 5: *Pcsk9* gene deletion does not change macrophage accumulation in atherosclerotic plaques both in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries. Mice were analyzed at 6.5 weeks of age. (A) Representative images of immunostaining for Mac-3 in the aortic sinus of SEKO and PSEKO mice. (B) Quantification of Mac-3 positive area (normalized by the total plaque area) in female and male SEKO and PSEKO mice. (C) Representative images of immunostaining for Mac-3 in atherosclerotic coronary artery cross sections of SEKO and PSEKO mice. (D) Quantification of Mac-3 positive area (normalized by the plaque area in coronary arteries) in female and male SEKO and PSEKO mice. Each symbol represents data from an individual mouse. Red symbols represent female mice and black symbols represent male mice. Bars represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; **** represents P<0.001.

Supplementary figure 6: *Pcsk9* gene deletion in SEKO mice does not change platelet accumulation in coronary artery atherosclerotic plaques. Mice were analyzed at 6.5 weeks of age. Representative images of (B) immunofluorescence staining for DAPI and CD41 in atherosclerotic coronary artery cross sections and (A) oil red O/hematoxylin staining of corresponding atherosclerotic coronary artery in the adjacent sections from SEKO and PSEKO mice. (C) Quantification of the percentage of the number of CD41 positive atherosclerotic coronary artery cross sections among the total number of atherosclerotic coronary artery cross sections in male SEKO and PSEKO mice. Each symbol represents data from an independent mouse. Bars represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.

Supplementary figure 7: *Pcsk9* **gene deletion in SEKO mice does not change the body weight in SEKO mice.** Mice were analyzed at 6.5 weeks of age. (A and B) Body weights from (A) female and (B) male SEKO, PSEKO and control EKO mice. Each symbol represents an individual mouse. Bars represent the mean and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.001.

Supplementary figure 8: *Pcsk9* gene deletion decreases lipid accumulation in the heart of SEKO mice. Mice were analyzed at 5 weeks of age. (A) Representative images of transverse sections 900 μ m or 2400 μ m away from the aortic annulus in the hearts of female and male SEKO and PSEKO mice. (B) Profiles of the ratio of lipid accumulation area to cross-sectional myocardium area, starting at the cross section of the aortic annulus (0 um) until the cross section 2700 um away from the aortic annulus from female and male SEKO and PSEKO mice. Symbols represent the mean and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.001; *** represents P<0.001.

Supplementary figure 9: Lipid accumulation is co-localized with macrophage in the heart of SEKO mice. Representative images of two selected areas of transverse heart sections co-stained with DAPI, BODIPY, and Mac-3 from SEKO mice.

Supplementary figure 10: *Pcsk9* gene deletion decreases the ratio of ECG abnormalities in SEKO mice. ECG of anesthetized (A) female and (B) male EKO, SEKO and PSEKO mice at 6.5 weeks of age. Representative ECG tracings are shown. Numbers indicate the number of mice with ECG patterns shown vs. the number of mice analyzed and the ratio represented as percentage.

Supplementary figure 11: *Pcsk9* gene deletion attenuates left ventricular dysfunction in SEKO mice. (A) Stroke work, (B) stroke volume, (C) cardiac output, (D) end systolic volume, (E) end diastolic volume, (F) end systolic pressure, (G) end diastolic pressure, (H) maximum rate of pressure increase (dP/dt max), (I) minimum rate of pressure decrease (dP/dt min), and (J) Tau from female and male SEKO, PSEKO and control EKO mice. Each symbol represents an individual mouse. Bars represent the mean and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.

Supplementary figure 12: *Pcsk9* gene deletion increases CD36 levels in the heart of SEKO mice. (A) Representative images of immunofluorescence staining for DAPI and CD36 in healthy myocardium (non-fibrotic area) of transverse sections of hearts from female SEKO and PSEKO mice. (B) Quantification of CD36 immunostaining in the transverse sections of hearts from female SEKO and PSEKO mice. (C) Representative images of immunofluorescence staining for DAPI and CD36 in healthy myocardium (non-fibrotic area) of transverse sections of hearts from female SEKO and PSEKO mice. (D) Quantification of CD36 immunostaining in the transverse sections of hearts from female SEKO and PSEKO and PSEKO mice. (D) Quantification of CD36 immunostaining in the transverse sections of hearts from male EKO, SEKO and PSEKO mice. Each symbol represents an individual mouse.

265

Bars represent the mean and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001.

Supplementary figure 13: AAV8-PCSK9 treatment increases lipid accumulation in the heart of PSEKO mice compared to AAV8-eGFP treatment. PSEKO mice were injected with 4 x 10^{10} GC of either AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9 at 3 weeks of age and analyzed at 6.5 weeks of age. (A) Representative images of transverse sections 900 µm or 2400 µm away from the aortic annulus in the hearts of PSEKO mice treated with AAV8eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9. (B) Profiles of the ratio of lipid accumulation area to crosssectional myocardium area, starting at the cross section of the aortic annulus (0 um) until the cross section 2700 um away from the aortic annulus from female and male PSEKO mice treated with AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9. Symbols represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.

Supplementary figure 14: Restoring circulating PCSK9 by AAV8-PCSK9 treatment does not reduce CD36 levels in the heart of PSEKO mice. (A) Representative images of immunofluorescence staining for DAPI, wheat germ agglutinin (WGA), and CD36 in healthy myocardium (non-fibrotic area) of transverse sections of hearts from PSEKO mice treated with either AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9. Quantification of CD36 immunostaining in the transverse sections of hearts from (B) female and (C) male PSEKO mice treated with either AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9. Each symbol represents an individual mouse. Bars represent the mean and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.

Supplementary figure 15: AAV8-PCSK9 treatment increases the ratio of ECG abnormalities in PSEKO mice compared to AAV8-eGFP treatment. ECG of anesthetized female and male AAV8-eGFP or AAV8-PCSK9 treated PSEKO mice at 6.5 weeks of age. Representative ECG tracings are shown. Numbers indicate the number of mice with ECG patterns shown vs. the number of mice analyzed and the ratio represented as a percentage.

Supplementary figure 16: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment does not change the body weight in SEKO mice compared to control antibody treatment. Mice were analyzed at 6.5 weeks of age. (A and B) Body weights from (A) male and (B) female control or anti-PCSK9 antibody treated SEKO mice and control EKO mice. Each symbol represents an individual mouse. Bars represent the mean and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001. Supplementary figure 17: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment does not change lipid accumulation in the heart of male SEKO mice compared to control antibody treatment. (A) Representative images of transverse sections 600 µm or 2400 µm away from the aortic annulus in the hearts of male SEKO mice treated with control or anti-PCSK9 antibody. (B) Profiles of the ratio of lipid accumulation area to cross-sectional myocardium area, starting at the cross section of the aortic annulus (0 um) until the cross section 2700 um away from the aortic annulus from male SEKO mice treated with control or anti-PCSK9 antibody. (C) Total lipid accumulation in the heart of control or anti-PCSK9 antibody treated male SEKO was calculated as the area under the curve of lipid accumulation profile (B). Symbols represent means and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.001.

Supplementary figure 18: Increased circulating PCSK9 levels by anti-PCSK9 ab treatment does not change CD36 levels in the heart of SEKO mice. (A)

Representative images of immunofluorescence staining for DAPI, wheat germ agglutinin (WGA), and CD36 in healthy myocardium (non-fibrotic area) of transverse sections of hearts from SEKO mice treated with either control or anti-PCSK9 ab. Quantification of CD36 immunostaining in the transverse sections of hearts from (B) male and (C) female SEKO mice treated with either control or anti-PCSK9 ab. Each symbol represents an individual mouse. Bars represent the mean and error bars represent standard deviations.

NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.0001.

Supplementary figure 19: Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment does not ameliorate left ventricular dysfunction in SEKO mice compared to control antibody. (A) Stroke work, (B) stroke volume, (C) cardiac output, (D) end systolic volume, (E) end diastolic volume, (F) end systolic pressure, (G) end diastolic pressure, (H) maximum rate of pressure increase (dP/dt max), (I) minimum rate of pressure decrease (dP/dt min), and (J) Tau from female and male control or anti-PCSK9 antibody treated SEKO and control EKO mice. Each symbol represents an individual mouse. Red symbols represent female mice and black symbols represent male mice. Bars represent the mean and error bars represent standard deviations. NS indicates not statistically significant (P>0.05); * represents P<0.05; ** represents P<0.01; *** represents P<0.001; **** represents P<0.001.

3.8 References:

- Abifadel, M., Varret, M., Rabès, J. P., Allard, D., Ouguerram, K., Devillers, M., Cruaud, C., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Erlich, D., Derré, A., Villéger, L., Farnier, M., Beucler, I., Bruckert, E., Chambaz, J., Chanu, B., Lecerf, J. M., Luc, G., ... Boileau, C. (2003a). Mutations in PCSK9 cause autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. *Nature Genetics*, *34*(2), 154–156. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1161
- Abifadel, M., Varret, M., Rabès, J.-P., Allard, D., Ouguerram, K., Devillers, M., Cruaud, C., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Erlich, D., Derré, A., Villéger, L., Farnier, M., Beucler, I., Bruckert, E., Chambaz, J., Chanu, B., Lecerf, J.-M., Luc, G., ... Boileau, C. (2003b). Mutations in PCSK9 cause autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. *Nature Genetics*, *34*(2), 154–156. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1161

- Acton, S., Rigotti, A., Landschulz, K. T., Xu, S., Hobbs, H. H., & Krieger, M. (1996). Identification of scavenger receptor SR-BI as a high density lipoprotein receptor. *Science*, 271(5248), 518–521. https://go-galecom.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/ps/i.do?p=AONE&sw=w&issn=00368075&v=2.1&it =r&id=GALE%7CA17951395&sid=googleScholar&linkaccess=fulltext
- Adam, R. C., Mintah, I. J., Alexa-Braun, C. A., Shihanian, L. M., Lee, J. S., Banerjee, P., Hamon, S. C., Kim, H. I., Cohen, J. C., Hobbs, H. H., Van Hout, C., Gromada, J., Murphy, A. J., Yancopoulos, G. D., Sleeman, M. W., & Gusarova, V. (2020).
 Angiopoietin-like protein 3 governs LDL-cholesterol levels through endothelial lipase-dependent VLDL clearance. *Journal of Lipid Research*, *61*(9), 1271. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.RA120000888
- Adorni, M. P., Cipollari, E., Favari, E., Zanotti, I., Zimetti, F., Corsini, A., Ricci, C., Bernini, F., & Ferri, N. (2017). Inhibitory effect of PCSK9 on Abca1 protein expression and cholesterol efflux in macrophages. *Atherosclerosis*, 256, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.11.019
- Alexander, M. R., & Owens, G. K. (2012). Epigenetic Control of Smooth Muscle Cell Differentiation and Phenotypic Switching in Vascular Development and Disease. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.*, 74, 13–40. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-PHYSIOL-012110-142315
- Al-Jarallah, A., Chen, X., González, L., & Trigatti, B. L. (2014a). High Density Lipoprotein Stimulated Migration of Macrophages Depends on the Scavenger Receptor Class B, Type I, PDZK1 and Akt1 and Is Blocked by Sphingosine 1 Phosphate Receptor Antagonists. *PLOS ONE*, 9(9), e106487. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0106487
- Al-Jarallah, A., Chen, X., González, L., & Trigatti, B. L. (2014b). High Density Lipoprotein Stimulated Migration of Macrophages Depends on the Scavenger Receptor Class B, Type I, PDZK1 and Akt1 and Is Blocked by Sphingosine 1 Phosphate Receptor Antagonists. *PLOS ONE*, 9(9), e106487. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0106487
- Al-Jarallah, A., Igdoura, F., Zhang, Y., Tenedero, C. B., White, E. J., MacDonald, M. E., Igdoura, S. A., & Trigatti, B. L. (2013a). The effect of pomegranate extract on coronary artery atherosclerosis in SR-BI/APOE double knockout mice. *Atherosclerosis*, 228(1), 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2013.02.025
- Al-Jarallah, A., Igdoura, F., Zhang, Y., Tenedero, C. B., White, E. J., MacDonald, M. E., Igdoura, S. A., & Trigatti, B. L. (2013b). The effect of pomegranate extract on coronary artery atherosclerosis in SR-BI/APOE double knockout mice. *Atherosclerosis*, 228(1), 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2013.02.025
- Allahverdian, S., Chehroudi, A. C., McManus, B. M., Abraham, T., & Francis, G. A. (2014a). Contribution of intimal smooth muscle cells to cholesterol accumulation

and macrophage-like cells in human atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, *129*(15), 1551–1559. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.005015

- Allahverdian, S., Chehroudi, A. C., McManus, B. M., Abraham, T., & Francis, G. A. (2014b). Contribution of intimal smooth muscle cells to cholesterol accumulation and macrophage-like cells in human atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, 129(15), 1551– 1559. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.005015/FORMAT/EPUB
- Angin, Y., Steinbusch, L. K. M., Simons, P. J., Greulich, S., Hoebers, N. T. H., Douma, K., Van Zandvoort, M. A. M. J., Coumans, W. A., Wijnen, W., Diamant, M., Ouwens, D. M., Glatz, J. F. C., & Luiken, J. J. F. P. (2012). CD36 inhibition prevents lipid accumulation and contractile dysfunction in rat cardiomyocytes. *Biochemical Journal*, 448(1), 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20120060
- Arbab-Zadeh, A., Nakano, M., Virmani, R., & Fuster, V. (2012). Acute Coronary Events. *Circulation*, 125(9), 1147. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.047431
- Armstrong, S. M., Sugiyama, M. G., Fung, K. Y. Y., Gao, Y., Wang, C., Levy, A. S., Azizi, P., Roufaiel, M., Zhu, S. N., Neculai, D., Yin, C., Bolz, S. S., Seidah, N. G., Cybulsky, M. I., Heit, B., & Lee, W. L. (2015). A novel assay uncovers an unexpected role for SR-BI in LDL transcytosis. *Cardiovascular Research*, 108(2), 268–277. https://doi.org/10.1093/CVR/CVV218
- Ason, B., Van Der Hoorn, J. W. A., Chan, J., Lee, E., Pieterman, E. J., Nguyen, K. K., Di, M., Shetterly, S., Tang, J., Yeh, W. C., Schwarz, M., Jukema, J. W., Scott, R., Wasserman, S. M., Princen, H. M. G., & Jackson, S. (2014). PCSK9 inhibition fails to alter hepatic LDLR, circulating cholesterol, and atherosclerosis in the absence of ApoE. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 55(11), 2370–2379. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.M053207
- Ason, B., van der Hoorn, J. W. A., Chan, J., Lee, E., Pieterman, E. J., Nguyen, K. K., Di, M., Shetterly, S., Tang, J., Yeh, W.-C., Schwarz, M., Jukema, J. W., Scott, R., Wasserman, S. M., Princen, H. M. G., & Jackson, S. (2014). PCSK9 inhibition fails to alter hepatic LDLR, circulating cholesterol, and atherosclerosis in the absence of ApoE. *Journal of Lipid Research*, *55*(11), 2370–2379. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M053207
- Babitt, J., Trigatti, B., Rigotti, A., Smart, E. J., Anderson, R. G. W., Xu, S., & Krieger, M. (1997). Murine SR-BI, a High Density Lipoprotein Receptor That Mediates
 Selective Lipid Uptake, Is N-Glycosylated and Fatty Acylated and Colocalizes with Plasma Membrane Caveolae. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(20), 13242–13249. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.272.20.13242
- Badimon, L., Luquero, A., Crespo, J., Peña, E., & Borrell-Pages, M. (2020). PCSK9 and LRP5 in macrophage lipid internalization and inflammation. *Cardiovascular Research*, 117(19), 2054–2068.

- Bai, X. qin, Peng, J., Wang, M. mei, Xiao, J., Xiang, Q., Ren, Z., Wen, H. yan, Jiang, Z. sheng, Tang, Z. han, & Liu, L. shan. (2018). PCSK9: A potential regulator of apoE/apoER2 against inflammation in atherosclerosis? *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 483(April), 192–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2018.04.040
- Barale, C., Bonomo, K., Frascaroli, C., Morotti, A., Guerrasio, A., Cavalot, F., & Russo, I. (2020). Platelet function and activation markers in primary hypercholesterolemia treated with anti-PCSK9 monoclonal antibody: A 12-month follow-up. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 30(2), 282–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2019.09.012
- Barrett, T. J. (2020a). Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology ATVB IN FOCUS: The Science of ATVB Early Career Committee Macrophages in Atherosclerosis Regression. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 40, 20–33. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.312802
- Barrett, T. J. (2020b). Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology ATVB IN FOCUS: The Science of ATVB Early Career Committee Macrophages in Atherosclerosis Regression. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 40, 20–33. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.312802
- Barter, P. J., Brewer, H. B., Chapman, M. J., Hennekens, C. H., Rader, D. J., & Tall, A. R. (2003). Cholesteryl ester transfer protein: A novel target for raising HDL and inhibiting atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 23(2), 160–167. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000054658.91146.64
- Barter, P. J., Caulfield, M., Eriksson, M., Grundy, S. M., Kastelein, J. J. P., Komajda, M., Lopez-Sendon, J., Mosca, L., Tardif, J.-C., Waters, D. D., Shear, C. L., Revkin, J. H., Buhr, K. A., Fisher, M. R., Tall, A. R., & Brewer, B. (2007). Effects of Torcetrapib in Patients at High Risk for Coronary Events. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 357(21), 2109–2122. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa0706628
- Basatemur, G. L., Jørgensen, H. F., Clarke, M. C. H., Bennett, M. R., & Mallat, Z. (2019). Vascular smooth muscle cells in atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 16(12), 727–745. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41569-019-0227-9
- Benjannet, S., Rhainds, D., Essalmani, R., Mayne, J., Wickham, L., Jin, W., Asselin, M. C., Hamelin, J., Varret, M., Allard, D., Trillard, M., Abifadel, M., Tebon, A., Attie, A. D., Rader, D. J., Boileau, C., Brissette, L., Chrétien, M., Prat, A., & Seidah, N. G. (2004). NARC-1/PCSK9 and its natural mutants: Zymogen cleavage and effects on the low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor and LDL cholesterol. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(47), 48865–48875. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M409699200
- Bernelot Moens, S. J., Neele, A. E., Kroon, J., van der Valk, F. M., Van den Bossche, J., Hoeksema, M. A., Hoogeveen, R. M., Schnitzler, J. G., Baccara-Dinet, M. T., Manvelian, G., de Winther, M. P. J., & Stroes, E. S. G. (2017). PCSK9 monoclonal

antibodies reverse the pro-inflammatory profile of monocytes in familial hypercholesterolaemia. *European Heart Journal*, *38*(20), 1584–1593. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehx002

- Betters, J. L., & Yu, L. (2010). NPC1L1 and cholesterol transport. *FEBS Letters*, 584(13), 2740–2747. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FEBSLET.2010.03.030
- Beyea, M. M., Heslop, C. L., Sawyez, C. G., Edwards, J. Y., Markle, J. G., Hegele, R. A., & Huff, M. W. (2007). Selective up-regulation of LXR-regulated genes ABCA1, ABCG1, and APOE in macrophages through increased endogenous synthesis of 24(S),25-epoxycholesterol. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(8), 5207–5216. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M611063200
- Braun, A., Trigatti, B. L., Post, M. J., Sato, K., Simons, M., Edelberg, J. M., Rosenberg, R. D., Schrenzel, M., & Krieger, M. (2002). Loss of SR-BI expression leads to the early onset of occlusive atherosclerotic coronary artery disease, spontaneous myocardial infarctions, severe cardiac dysfunction, and premature death in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *Circulation Research*, 90(3), 270–276. https://doi.org/10.1161/hh0302.104462
- Braun, A., Yesilaltay, A., Acton, S., Broschat, K. O., Krul, E. S., Napawan, N., Stagliano, N., & Krieger, M. (2008). Inhibition of intestinal absorption of cholesterol by ezetimibe or bile acids by SC-435 alters lipoprotein metabolism and extends the lifespan of SR-BI/apoE double knockout mice. *Atherosclerosis*, 198(1), 77–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.10.012
- Braun, A., Zhang, S., Miettinen, H. E., Ebrahim, S., Holm, T. M., Vasile, E., Post, M. J., Yoerger, D. M., Picard, M. H., Krieger, J. L., Andrews, N. C., Simons, M., & Krieger, M. (2003). Probucol prevents early coronary heart disease and death in the high-density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI/apolipoprotein E double knockout mouse. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(12), 7283–7288. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1237725100
- Breitschopf, K., Haendeler, J., Malchow, P., Zeiher, A. M., & Dimmeler, S. (2000). Posttranslational Modification of Bcl-2 Facilitates Its Proteasome-Dependent Degradation: Molecular Characterization of the Involved Signaling Pathway. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 20(5), 1886–1896. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.20.5.1886-1896.2000
- Breslow, J. L. (1996). Mouse models of atherosclerosis. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 272(5262), 685–688. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.272.5262.685
- Bybee, K. A., Lee, J. H., & O'Keefe, J. H. (2008). Cumulative clinical trial data on atorvastatin for reducing cardiovascular events: The clinical impact of atorvastatin. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 24(4), 1217–1229. https://doi.org/10.1185/030079908X292001

- Byun, J. H., Lebeau, P. F., Platko, K., Carlisle, R. E., Faiyaz, M., Chen, J., Macdonald, M. E., Makda, Y., Yousof, T., Lynn, E. G., Dickhout, J. G., Krepinsky, J. C., Weaver, F., Igdoura, S. A., Seidah, N. G., & Austin, R. C. (2022). Inhibitory Antibodies against PCSK9 Reduce Surface CD36 and Mitigate Diet-Induced Renal Lipotoxicity. *KIDNEY360*, *3*, 1394–1410. https://doi.org/10.34067/KID.0007022021
- Byun, J. H., Lebeau, P. F., Platko, K., Carlisle, R. E., Faiyaz, M., Chen, J., MacDonald, M. E., Makda, Y., Yousof, T., Lynn, E. G., Dickhout, J. G., Krepinsky, J. C., Weaver, F., Igdoura, S. A., Seidah, N. G., & Austin, R. C. (2022). Inhibitory Antibodies against PCSK9 Reduce Surface CD36 and Mitigate Diet-Induced Renal Lipotoxicity. *Kidney360*, *3*(8), 1394–1410. https://doi.org/10.34067/KID.0007022021
- Cai, L., Wang, Z., Meyer, J. M., Ji, A., & Van Der Westhuyzen, D. R. (2012). Macrophage SR-BI regulates LPS-induced pro-inflammatory signaling in mice and isolated macrophages. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 53(8), 1472–1481. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.M023234
- Camera, M., Rossetti, L., Barbieri, S. S., Zanotti, I., Canciani, B., Trabattoni, D., Ruscica, M., Tremoli, E., & Ferri, N. (2018). PCSK9 as a Positive Modulator of Platelet Activation. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 71(8), 952–954. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.11.069
- Cammisotto, V., Pastori, D., Nocella, C., Bartimoccia, S., Castellani, V., Marchese, C., Scavalli, A. S., Ettorre, E., Viceconte, N., Violi, F., Pignatelli, P., & Carnevale, R. (2020). PCSK9 regulates Nox2-mediated platelet activation via CD36 receptor in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Antioxidants*, 9(4), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox9040296
- Canuel, M., Sun, X., Asselin, M. C., Paramithiotis, E., Prat, A., & Seidah, N. G. (2013). Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9 (PCSK9) Can Mediate Degradation of the Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Related Protein 1 (LRP-1). *PLOS ONE*, 8(5), e64145. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0064145
- Chan, J. C. Y., Piper, D. E., Cao, Q., Liu, D., King, C., Wang, W., Tang, J., Liu, Q., Higbee, J., Xia, Z., Di, Y., Shetterly, S., Arimura, Z., Salomonis, H., Romanow, W. G., Thibault, S. T., Zhang, R., Cao, P., Yang, X. P., ... Jackson, S. M. (2009). A proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 neutralizing antibody reduces serum cholesterol in mice and nonhuman primates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(24), 9820–9825. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0903849106
- Chen, K., Febbraio, M., Li, W., & Silverstein, R. L. (2008). A specific cd36-dependent signaling pathway is required for platelet activation by oxidized low-density lipoprotein. *Circulation Research*, 102(12), 1512–1519. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.172064

- Chen, Z., Fukutomi, T., Zago, A. C., Ehlers, R., Detmers, P. A., Wright, S. D., Rogers, C., & Simon, D. I. (2002). Simvastatin reduces neointimal thickening in low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice after experimental angioplasty without changing plasma lipids. *Circulation*, 106(1), 20–23. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000022843.76104.01
- Chiong, M., Wang, Z. V., Pedrozo, Z., Cao, D. J., Troncoso, R., Ibacache, M., Criollo, A., Nemchenko, A., Hill, J. A., & Lavandero, S. (2011). Cardiomyocyte death: mechanisms and translational implications. *Cell Death & Disease 2011 2:12*, 2(12), e244–e244. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2011.130
- CL, Y., YD, Z., ZX, H., & H, L. (2020). PCSK9 promotes the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines by macrophages to aggravate H/R-induced cardiomyocyte injury via activating NF-κB signalling. *General Physiology and Biophysics*, 39(2), 123–134. https://doi.org/10.4149/GPB-2019057
- Clarke, M. C. H., Figg, N., Maguire, J. J., Davenport, A. P., Goddard, M., Littlewood, T. D., & Bennett, M. R. (2006). Apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells induces features of plaque vulnerability in atherosclerosis. *Nature Medicine*, 12(9), 1075–1080. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1459
- Cochain, C., Vafadarnejad, E., Arampatzi, P., Pelisek, J., Winkels, H., Ley, K., Wolf, D., Saliba, A. E., & Zernecke, A. (2018). Single-cell RNA-seq reveals the transcriptional landscape and heterogeneity of aortic macrophages in murine atherosclerosis. *Circulation Research*, 122(12), 1661–1674. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.312509/FORMAT/EPUB
- Cohen, J., Pertsemlidis, A., Kotowski, I. K., Graham, R., Garcia, C. K., & Hobbs, H. H. (2005). Low LDL cholesterol in individuals of African descent resulting from frequent nonsense mutations in PCSK9. *Nature Genetics*, 37(2), 161–165. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1509
- Cominacini, L., Fratta Pasini, A., Garbin, U., Davoli, A., Tosetti, M. L., Campagnola, M., Rigoni, A., Pastorino, A. M., Lo Cascio, V., & Sawamura, T. (2000). Oxidized low density lipoprotein (ox-LDL) binding to ox-LDL receptor-1 in endothelial cells induces the activation of NF-κB through an increased production of intracellular reactive oxygen species. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(17), 12633–12638. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.275.17.12633
- Courties, G., Heidt, T., Sebas, M., Iwamoto, Y., Jeon, D., Truelove, J., Tricot, B., Wojtkiewicz, G., Dutta, P., Sager, H. B., Borodovsky, A., Novobrantseva, T., Klebanov, B., Fitzgerald, K., Anderson, D. G., Libby, P., Swirski, F. K., Weissleder, R., & Nahrendorf, M. (2014). In vivo silencing of the transcription factor IRF5 reprograms the macrophage phenotype and improves infarct healing. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *63*(15), 1556–1566. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACC.2013.11.023

- Covey, S. D., Krieger, M., Wang, W., Penman, M., & Trigatti, B. L. (2003). Scavenger Receptor Class B Type I–Mediated Protection Against Atherosclerosis in LDL Receptor–Negative Mice Involves Its Expression in Bone Marrow–Derived Cells. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 23(9), 1589–1594. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000083343.19940.A0
- Da Dalt, L., Castiglioni, L., Baragetti, A., Audano, M., Svecla, M., Bonacina, F., Pedretti, S., Uboldi, P., Benzoni, P., Giannetti, F., Barbuti, A., Pellegatta, F., Indino, S., Donetti, E., Sironi, L., Mitro, N., Catapano, A. L., & Norata, G. D. (2021). PCSK9 deficiency rewires heart metabolism and drives heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *European Heart Journal*, 42(32), 3078. https://doi.org/10.1093/EURHEARTJ/EHAB431
- Daniels, T. F., Killinger, K. M., Michal, J. J., Wright, R. W., & Jiang, Z. (2009). Lipoproteins, cholesterol homeostasis and cardiac health. *Int. J. Biol. Sci*, 5(5), 474– 488. http://www.biolsci.org474
- De Chiara, G., Marcocci, M. E., Torcia, M., Lucibello, M., Rosini, P., Bonini, P., Higashimoto, Y., Damonte, G., Armirotti, A., Amodei, S., Palamara, A. T., Russo, T., Garaci, E., & Cozzolino, F. (2006). Bcl-2 phosphorylation by p38 MAPK: Identification of target sites and biologic consequences. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(30), 21353–21361. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M511052200
- De Knijff, P., Van den Maagdenberg, A. M. J. M., Stalenhoef, A. F. H., Leuven, J. A. G., Demacker, P. N. M., Kuyt, L. P., Frants, R. R., & Havekes, L. M. (1991). Familial dysbetalipoproteinemia associated with apolipoprotein E3-Leiden in an extended multigeneration pedigree. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 88(2), 643. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI115349
- Demers, A., Samami, S., Lauzier, B., Des Rosiers, C., Ngo Sock, E. T., Ong, H., & Mayer, G. (2015). PCSK9 Induces CD36 Degradation and Affects Long-Chain Fatty Acid Uptake and Triglyceride Metabolism in Adipocytes and in Mouse Liver. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 35(12), 2517–2525. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.306032
- Demers, A., Samami, S., Lauzier, B., Des Rosiers, C., Sock, E. T. N., Ong, H., & Mayer, G. (2015). PCSK9 Induces CD36 Degradation and Affects Long-Chain Fatty Acid Uptake and Triglyceride Metabolism in Adipocytes and in Mouse Liver. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 35(12), 2517–2525. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.306032
- Denis, M., Marcinkiewicz, J., Zaid, A., Gauthier, D., Poirier, S., Lazure, C., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2012). Gene Inactivation of Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9 Reduces Atherosclerosis in Mice. *Circulation*, 125(7), 894–901. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.057406

- Depuydt, M. A. C., Prange, K. H. M., Slenders, L., Örd, T., Elbersen, D., Boltjes, A., De Jager, S. C. A., Asselbergs, F. W., De Borst, G. J., Aavik, E., Lönnberg, T., Lutgens, E., Glass, C. K., Den Ruijter, H. M., Kaikkonen, M. U., Bot, I., Slütter, B., Van Der Laan, S. W., Yla-Herttuala, S., ... Pasterkamp, G. (2020). Microanatomy of the Human Atherosclerotic Plaque by Single-Cell Transcriptomics. *Circulation Research*, *127*(11), 1437–1455. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.316770/FORMAT/EPUB
- Designed Research; J, E. A. F. E. F., & Performed Research; J, K. R. E. F. (2011). HDL promotes rapid atherosclerosis regression in mice and alters inflammatory properties of plaque monocyte-derived cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *108*(17), 7166–7171. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1016086108
- Dijk, W., Le May, C., & Cariou, B. (2018). Beyond LDL: What Role for PCSK9 in Triglyceride-Rich Lipoprotein Metabolism? *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 29(6), 420–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TEM.2018.03.013
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Deng, X., Fan, Y., Shahanawaz, J., Shmookler Reis, R. J., Varughese, K. I., Sawamura, T., & Mehta, J. L. (2015a). Cross-talk between LOX-1 and PCSK9 in vascular tissues. *Cardiovascular Research*, 107(4), 556–567. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvv178
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Deng, X., Fan, Y., Shahanawaz, J., Shmookler Reis, R. J., Varughese, K. I., Sawamura, T., & Mehta, J. L. (2015b). Cross-talk between LOX-1 and PCSK9 in vascular tissues. *Cardiovascular Research*, 107(4), 556–567. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvv178
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Deng, X., Fan, Y., Sun, C., Wang, Y., & Mehta, J. L. (2015). Hemodynamic Shear Stress via ROS Modulates PCSK9 Expression in Human Vascular Endothelial and Smooth Muscle Cells and Along the Mouse Aorta. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling, 22(9), 760–771. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2014.6054
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Khaidakov, M., Dai, Y., & Mehta, J. L. (2013). Oxidant stress in mitochondrial DNA damage, autophagy and inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Scientific Reports*, 3(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep01077
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Mathur, P., Dai, Y., Theus, S., Deng, X., Fan, Y., & Mehta, J. L. (2016). Cross-Talk Between PCSK9 and Damaged mtDNA in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells: Role in Apoptosis. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*, 25(18), 997– 1008. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2016.6631
- Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Theus, S., Deng, X., Fan, Y., Zhou, S., & Mehta, J. L. (2018). PCSK9 regulates expression of scavenger receptors and ox-LDL uptake in macrophages. *Cardiovascular Research*, 114(8), 1145–1153. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvy079

- Ding, Z., Wang, X., Liu, S., Shahanawaz, J., Theus, S., Fan, Y., Deng, X., Zhou, S., & Mehta, J. L. (2018). PCSK9 expression in the ischaemic heart and its relationship to infarct size, cardiac function, and development of autophagy. *Cardiovascular Research*, 114(13), 1738–1751. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvy128
- Ding, Z., Wang, X., Liu, S., Zhou, S., Kore, R. A., Mu, S., Deng, X., Fan, Y., & Mehta, J. L. (2020). NLRP3 inflammasome via IL-1β regulates PCSK9 secretion. *Theranostics*, 10(16), 7100. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.45939
- Dole, V. S., Matuskova, J., Vasile, E., Yesilaltay, A., Bergmeier, W., Bernimoulin, M., Wagner, D. D., & Krieger, M. (2008). Thrombocytopenia and platelet abnormalities in high-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis,* and Vascular Biology, 28(6), 1111–1116. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.162347
- Downs, J. R., Clearfield, M., Weis, S., Whitney, E., Shapiro, D. R., Beere, P. A., Langendorfer, A., Stein, E. A., Kruyer, W., & Gotto, A. M. (1998). Primary Prevention of Acute Coronary Events With Lovastatin in Men and Women With Average Cholesterol Levels: Results of AFCAPS/TexCAPS. *JAMA*, 279(20), 1615– 1622. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.279.20.1615
- Durham, K. K., Chathely, K. M., Mak, K. C., Momen, A., Thomas, C. T., Zhao, Y.-Y., MacDonald, M. E., Curtis, J. M., Husain, M., & Trigatti, B. L. (2018). HDL protects against doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity in a scavenger receptor class B type 1-, PI3K-, and Akt-dependent manner. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 314(1), H31–H44. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00521.2016
- Durham, K. K., Chathely, K. M., & Trigatti, B. L. (2018). High-density lipoprotein protects cardiomyocytes against necrosis induced by oxygen and glucose deprivation through SR-B1, PI3K, and AKT1 and 2. *Biochemical Journal*, 475(7), 1253–1265. https://doi.org/10.1042/BCJ20170703
- Durham, K. K., Kluck, G., Mak, K. C., Deng, Y. D., & Trigatti, B. L. (2019). Treatment with apolipoprotein A1 protects mice against doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity in a scavenger receptor class B, type I-dependent manner. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 316(6), H1447–H1457. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00432.2018
- Enomoto, S., Sata, M., Fukuda, D., Nakamura, K., & Nagai, R. (2009). Rosuvastatin prevents endothelial cell death and reduces atherosclerotic lesion formation in ApoEdeficient mice. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 63(1), 19–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPHA.2007.11.002
- Febbraio, M., Guy, E., & Silverstein, R. L. (2004). Stem Cell transplantation reveals that absence of macrophage CD36 is protective against atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis*,

Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, *24*(12), 2333–2338. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000148007.06370.68

- Febbraio, M., Podrez, E. A., Smith, J. D., Hajjar, D. P., Hazen, S. L., Hoff, H. F., Sharma, K., & Silverstein, R. L. (2000). Targeted disruption of the class B, scavenger receptor CD36 protects against atherosclerotic lesion development in mice. *Journal* of Clinical Investigation, 105(8), 1049–1056. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI9259
- Feig, J. E., Parathath, S., Rong, J. X., Mick, S. L., Vengrenyuk, Y., Grauer, L., Young, S. G., & Fisher, E. A. (2011). Reversal of hyperlipidemia with a genetic switch favorably affects the content and inflammatory state of macrophages in atherosclerotic plaques. *Circulation*, 123(9), 989–998. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.984146/FORMAT/EPUB
- Feig, J. E., Pineda-Torra, I., Sanson, M., Bradley, M. N., Vengrenyuk, Y., Bogunovic, D., Gautier, E. L., Rubinstein, D., Hong, C., Liu, J., Wu, C., Van Rooijen, N., Bhardwaj, N., Garabedian, M. J., Tontonoz, P., & Fisher, E. A. (2010). LXR promotes the maximal egress of monocyte-derived cells from mouse aortic plaques during atherosclerosis regression. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *120*(12), 4415–4424. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI38911
- Feingold, K. R. (2022). Lipid and Lipoprotein Metabolism. Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America, 51(3), 437–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECL.2022.02.008
- Feingold, K. R., Moser, A. H., Shigenaga, J. K., Patzek, S. M., & Grunfeld, C. (2008). Inflammation stimulates the expression of PCSK9. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 374(2), 341–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBRC.2008.07.023
- Fernandez, D. M., Rahman, A. H., Fernandez, N. F., Chudnovskiy, A., Amir, E. ad D., Amadori, L., Khan, N. S., Wong, C. K., Shamailova, R., Hill, C. A., Wang, Z., Remark, R., Li, J. R., Pina, C., Faries, C., Awad, A. J., Moss, N., Bjorkegren, J. L. M., Kim-Schulze, S., ... Giannarelli, C. (2019). Single-cell immune landscape of human atherosclerotic plaques. *Nature Medicine*, 25(10), 1576–1589. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41591-019-0590-4
- Ferri, N., Marchianò, S., Tibolla, G., Baetta, R., Dhyani, A., Ruscica, M., Uboldi, P., Catapano, A. L., & Corsini, A. (2016). PCSK9 knock-out mice are protected from neointimal formation in response to perivascular carotid collar placement. *Atherosclerosis*, 253, 214–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.07.910
- Ferri, N., Tibolla, G., Pirillo, A., Cipollone, F., Mezzetti, A., Pacia, S., Corsini, A., & Catapano, A. L. (2012a). Proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin type 9 (PCSK9) secreted by cultured smooth muscle cells reduces macrophages LDLR levels. *Atherosclerosis*, 220(2), 381–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2011.11.026

- Ferri, N., Tibolla, G., Pirillo, A., Cipollone, F., Mezzetti, A., Pacia, S., Corsini, A., & Catapano, A. L. (2012b). Proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin type 9 (PCSK9) secreted by cultured smooth muscle cells reduces macrophages LDLR levels. *Atherosclerosis*, 220(2), 381–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ATHEROSCLEROSIS.2011.11.026
- Fielding, P. E., Nagao, K., Hakamata, H., Chimini, G., & Fielding, C. J. (2000). A Two-Step Mechanism for Free Cholesterol and Phospholipid Efflux from Human Vascular Cells to Apolipoprotein A-1[†]. *Biochemistry*, 39(46), 14113–14120. https://doi.org/10.1021/BI0004192
- Frangogiannis, N. G. (2008). The immune system and cardiac repair. *Pharmacological Research*, 58, 88–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2008.06.007
- Frangogiannis, N. G. (2015). Pathophysiology of myocardial infarction. *Comprehensive Physiology*, *5*(4), 1841–1875. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c150006
- Frangogiannis, N. G. (2021). Cardiac fibrosis. *Cardiovascular Research*, 117(6), 1450–1488. https://doi.org/10.1093/CVR/CVAA324
- Fuller, M., Dadoo, O., Serkis, V., Abutouk, D., MacDonald, M., Dhingani, N., Macri, J., Igdoura, S. A., & Trigatti, B. L. (2014). The Effects of Diet on Occlusive Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis and Myocardial Infarction in Scavenger Receptor Class B, Type 1/Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor Double Knockout Mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 34(11), 2394–2403. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304200
- Fuller, M. T., Dadoo, O., Xiong, T., Chivukula, P., MacDonald, M. E., Lee, S. K., Austin, R. C., Igdoura, S. A., & Trigatti, B. L. (2023). Extensive diet-induced atherosclerosis in scavenger receptor class B type 1-deficient mice is associated with substantial leukocytosis and elevated vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 expression in coronary artery endothelium. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 13, 2747. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPHYS.2022.1023397/BIBTEX
- Gebuhrer, V., Murphy, J. F., Bordet, J. C., Reck, M. P., & McGregor, J. L. (1995). Oxidized low-density lipoprotein induces the expression of P-selectin (GMP140/PADGEM/CD62) on human endothelial cells. *Biochemical Journal*, 306(1), 293–298. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ3060293
- Gil-Pulido, J., & Zernecke, A. (2017). Antigen-presenting dendritic cells in atherosclerosis. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 816, 25–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2017.08.016
- Gimbrone, M. A., & García-Cardeña, G. (2016). Endothelial Cell Dysfunction and the Pathobiology of Atherosclerosis. *Circulation Research*, *118*(4), 620–636. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.306301

- Giunzioni, I., Tavori, H., Covarrubias, R., Major, A. S., Ding, L., Zhang, Y., DeVay, R. M., Hong, L., Fan, D., Predazzi, I. M., Rashid, S., Linton, M. F., & Fazio, S. (2016a). Local effects of human PCSK9 on the atherosclerotic lesion. *The Journal of Pathology*, 238(1), 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4630
- Giunzioni, I., Tavori, H., Covarrubias, R., Major, A. S., Ding, L., Zhang, Y., DeVay, R. M., Hong, L., Fan, D., Predazzi, I. M., Rashid, S., Linton, M. F., & Fazio, S. (2016b). Local effects of human PCSK9 on the atherosclerotic lesion. *The Journal of Pathology*, 238(1), 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4630
- Giunzioni, I., Tavori, H., Covarrubias, R., Major, A. S., Ding, L., Zhang, Y., DeVay, R. M., Hong, L., Fan, D., Predazzi, I. M., Rashid, S., Linton, M. F., & Fazio, S. (2016c). Local effects of human PCSK9 on the atherosclerotic lesion. *The Journal of Pathology*, 238(1), 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4630
- Gleissner, C. A., Leitinger, N., & Ley, K. (2007). Effects of native and modified lowdensity lipoproteins on monocyte recruitment in atherosclerosis. *Hypertension*, 50(2), 276–283. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.089854/FORMAT/EPUB
- Go, G. W., & Mani, A. (2012). Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor (LDLR) Family Orchestrates Cholesterol Homeostasis. *The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*, 85(1), 19. /pmc/articles/PMC3313535/
- Goldfarb, J. W., Roth, M., & Han, J. (2009). Myocardial fat deposition after left ventricular myocardial infarction: Assessment by using MR water-fat separation imaging. *Radiology*, 253(1), 65–73. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2532082290
- Goldstein, J. L., & Brown, M. S. (1979). The LDL receptor locus and the genetics of familial hypercholesterolemia. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 13, 259–289. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.GE.13.120179.001355
- Goldstein, J. L., & Brown, M. S. (2009). The LDL Receptor. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 29(4), 431–438. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.179564
- Gomez, D., & Owens, G. K. (2012). Smooth muscle cell phenotypic switching in atherosclerosis. *Cardiovascular Research*, 95(2), 156–164. https://doi.org/10.1093/CVR/CVS115
- Goncharov, N. V, Avdonin, P. V, Nadeev, A. D., Zharkikh, I. L., & Jenkins, R. O. (2015). Reactive oxygen species in pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 21(9), 1134–1146. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612820666141014142557
- Gonzalez, L., Trigatti, B. L., Bernardo, D., & Trigatti, L. (2017). Macrophage Apoptosis and Necrotic Core Development in Atherosclerosis: A Rapidly Advancing Field with Clinical Relevance to Imaging and Therapy. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology*, 33, 303–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjca.2016.12.010

- Gonzalez, L., Yu, P., & Bl, T. (2016). Mouse Models of Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis. *J Cardiovasc Disord*, 3(1), 1021.
- Gonzalez L, Yu P, & Trigatti BL. (2016). Mouse Models of Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis. *Journal of Cardiovascular Disorders*, 3(1). www.austinpublishinggroup.com
- Gordon, D. J., Probstfield, J. L., Garrison, R. J., Neaton, J. D., Castelli, W. P., Knoke, J. D., Jacobs, D. R., Bangdiwala, S., & Tyroler, H. A. (1989). High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease. Four prospective American studies. *Circulation*, 79(1), 8–15. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.79.1.8
- Grune, J., Meyborg, H., Bezhaeva, T., Kappert, K., Hillmeister, P., Kintscher, U., Pieske, B., & Stawowy, P. (2017). PCSK9 regulates the chemokine receptor CCR2 on monocytes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 485(2), 312– 318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.02.085
- Gu, X., Trigatti, B., Xu, S., Acton, S., Babitt, J., & Krieger, M. (1998). The Efficient Cellular Uptake of High Density Lipoprotein Lipids via Scavenger Receptor Class B Type I Requires Not Only Receptor-mediated Surface Binding but Also Receptorspecific Lipid Transfer Mediated by Its Extracellular Domain. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(41), 26338–26348. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.273.41.26338
- Guadamuz, J. S., Shooshtari, A., Qato, D. M., Dima, D., & Qato, M. (2022). Open access Global, regional and national trends in statin utilisation in high-income and low/middle-income countries, 2015-2020. *BMJ Open*, 12, 61350. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2022-061350
- Gui, D., Cui, Z., Zhang, L., Yu, C., Yao, D., Xu, M., Chen, M., Wu, P., Li, G., Wang, L., & Huang, X. (2017). Salidroside attenuates hypoxia-induced pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cell proliferation and apoptosis resistance by upregulating autophagy through the AMPK-mTOR-ULK1 pathway. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine*, 17(1), 191. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12890-017-0477-4
- Gurbel, P. A., Navarese, E. P., & Tantry, U. S. (2017). Exploration of PCSK9 as a Cardiovascular Risk Factor: Is There a Link to the Platelet? *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 70(12), 1463–1466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.07.779
- Gustafsson, Å. B., & Gottlieb, R. A. (2008). Eat your heart out: Role of autophagy in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion. *Autophagy*, 4(4), 416–421. https://doi.org/10.4161/AUTO.5655
- Hackeng, C. M., Relou, I. A. M., Pladet, M. W., Gorter, G., Van Rijn, H. J. M., & Akkerman, J. W. N. (1999). Early platelet activation by low density lipoprotein via p38(MAP) kinase. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 82(6), 1749–1756. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0037-1614909

- Hai, Q., & Smith, J. D. (2021). Acyl-coenzyme a: Cholesterol acyltransferase (acat) in cholesterol metabolism: From its discovery to clinical trials and the genomics era. *Metabolites*, 11(8), 543. https://doi.org/10.3390/METABO11080543
- Hajar, R. (2017). Risk Factors for Coronary Artery Disease: Historical Perspectives. *Heart Views : The Official Journal of the Gulf Heart Association*, 18(3), 109. https://doi.org/10.4103/HEARTVIEWS.HEARTVIEWS_106_17
- Hajra, L., Evans, A. I., Chen, M., Hyduk, S. J., Collins, T., & Cybulsky, M. I. (2000). The NF-kB signal transduction pathway in aortic endothelial cells is primed for activation in regions predisposed to atherosclerotic lesion formation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(16), 9052– 9057. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.16.9052
- Hammad, S. M., Stefansson, S., Twal, W. O., Drake, C. J., Fleming, P., Remaley, A., Brewer, H. B., & Argraves, W. S. (1999). Cubilin, the endocytic receptor for intrinsic factor-vitamin B12 complex, mediates high-density lipoprotein holoparticle endocytosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 96(18), 10158. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.96.18.10158
- Harder, C., Lau, P., Meng, A., Whitman, S. C., & McPherson, R. (2007). Cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) expression protects against diet induced atherosclerosis in SR-BI deficient mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 27(4), 858–864. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000259357.42089.dc
- Harris, J. D., Graham, I. R., Schepelmann, S., Stannard, A. K., Roberts, M. L., Hodges, B. L., Hill, V. J., Amalfitano, A., Hassall, D. G., Owen, J. S., & Dickson, G. (2002). Acute regression of advanced and retardation of early aortic atheroma in immunocompetent apolipoprotein-E (apoE) deficient mice by administration of a second generation [E1–, E3–, polymerase–] adenovirus vector expressing human apoE. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *11*(1), 43–58. https://doi.org/10.1093/HMG/11.1.43
- Hegele, R. A. (2009). Plasma lipoproteins: genetic influences and clinical implications. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 10(2), 109–122. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRG2481
- Hildebrand, R. B., Lammers, B., Meurs, I., Korporaal, S. J. A., De Haan, W., Zhao, Y., Kruijt, J. K., Praticò, D., Schimmel, A. W. M., Holleboom, A. G., Hoekstra, M., Kuivenhoven, J. A., Van Berkel, T. J. C., Rensen, P. C. N., & Van Eck, M. (2010). Restoration of high-density lipoprotein levels by cholesteryl ester transfer protein expression in scavenger receptor class B Type i (SR-BI) knockout mice does not normalize pathologies associated with SR-BI deficiency. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *30*(7), 1439–1445. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.205153
- Hilgendorf, I., Gerhardt, L. M. S., Tan, T. C., Winter, C., Holderried, T. A. W., Chousterman, B. G., Iwamoto, Y., Liao, R., Zirlik, A., Scherer-Crosbie, M., Hedrick,

C. C., Libby, P., Nahrendorf, M., Weissleder, R., & Swirski, F. K. (2014). Ly-6 chigh monocytes depend on nr4a1 to balance both inflammatory and reparative phases in the infarcted myocardium. *Circulation Research*, *114*(10), 1611–1622. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.303204/-/DC1

- Hill, J., & Ward, P. (1971). The phlogistic role of C3 leukotactic fragments in myocardial infarcts of rats. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *133*(4), 885–900. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2138969/
- Hochreiter-Hufford, A., & Ravichandran, K. S. (2013). Clearing the Dead: Apoptotic Cell Sensing, Recognition, Engulfment, and Digestion. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1101/CSHPERSPECT.A008748
- Horckmans, M., Ring, L., Duchene, J., Santovito, D., Schloss, M. J., Drechsler, M., Weber, C., Soehnlein, O., & Steffens, S. (2017). Neutrophils orchestrate postmyocardial infarction healing by polarizing macrophages towards a reparative phenotype. *European Heart Journal*, 38(3), 187–197. https://doi.org/10.1093/EURHEARTJ/EHW002
- Huang, L., Chambliss, K. L., Gao, X., Yuhanna, I. S., Behling-Kelly, E., Bergaya, S., Ahmed, M., Michaely, P., Luby-Phelps, K., Darehshouri, A., Xu, L., Fisher, E. A., Ge, W. P., Mineo, C., & Shaul, P. W. (2019). SR-B1 drives endothelial cell LDL transcytosis via DOCK4 to promote atherosclerosis. *Nature*, 569(7757), 565–569. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1140-4
- Huby, T., Doucet, C., Dachet, C., Ouzilleau, B., Ueda, Y., Afzal, V., Rubin, E., Chapman, M. J., & Lesnik, P. (2006). Knockdown expression and hepatic deficiency reveal an atheroprotective role for SR-BI in liver and peripheral tissues. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *116*(10), 2767. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI26893
- Huo, Y., Schober, A., Forlow, S. B., Smith, D. F., Hyman, M. C., Jung, S., Littman, D. R., Weber, C., & Ley, K. (2003). Circulating activated platelets exacerbate atherosclerosis in mice deficient in apolipoprotein E. *Nature Medicine*, 9(1), 61–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/NM810
- Hussain, M. M., Rava, P., Walsh, M., Rana, M., & Iqbal, J. (2012). Multiple functions of microsomal triglyceride transfer protein. *Nutrition and Metabolism*, 9, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-7075-9-14
- Iiyama, K., Hajra, L., Iiyama, M., Li, H., DiChiara, M., Medoff, B. D., & Cybulsky, M. I. (1999a). Patterns of Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 and Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 Expression in Rabbit and Mouse Atherosclerotic Lesions and at Sites Predisposed to Lesion Formation. *Circulation Research*, 85(2), 199–207. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.85.2.199
- Iiyama, K., Hajra, L., Iiyama, M., Li, H., DiChiara, M., Medoff, B. D., & Cybulsky, M. I. (1999b). Patterns of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression in rabbit and mouse atherosclerotic lesions and at sites

predisposed to lesion formation. *Circulation Research*, 85(2), 199–207. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.85.2.199

- Ishibashi, S., Brown, M. S., Goldstein, J. L., Gerard, R. D., Hammer, R. E., & Herz, J. (1993). Hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice and its reversal by adenovirus-mediated gene delivery. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 92(2), 883–893. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI116663
- Ji, Y., Jian, B., Wang, N., Sun, Y., Moya, M. L., Phillips, M. C., Rothblat, G. H., Swaney, J. B., & Tall, A. R. (1997). Scavenger receptor BI promotes high density lipoproteinmediated cellular cholesterol efflux. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(34), 20982–20985.
- Jian, B., de la Llera-Moya, M., Ji, Y., Wang, N., Phillips, M. C., Swaney, J. B., Tall, A. R., & Rothblat, G. H. (1998). Scavenger receptor class B type I as a mediator of cellular cholesterol efflux to lipoproteins and phospholipid acceptors. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(10), 5599–5606.
- Joseph, P., Leong, D., McKee, M., Anand, S. S., Schwalm, J. D., Teo, K., Mente, A., & Yusuf, S. (2017). Reducing the global burden of cardiovascular disease, part 1: The epidemiology and risk factors. *Circulation Research*, 121(6), 677–694. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.308903/FORMAT/EPUB
- Kanamori, H., Takemura, G., Goto, K., Maruyama, R., Ono, K., Nagao, K., Tsujimoto, A., Ogino, A., Takeyama, T., Kawaguchi, T., Watanabe, T., Kawasaki, M., Fujiwara, T., Fujiwara, H., Seishima, M., & Minatoguchi, S. (2011). Autophagy limits acute myocardial infarction induced by permanent coronary artery occlusion. *American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 300(6), 2261–2271. https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPHEART.01056.2010/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/ZH4006 1198870008.JPEG
- Karackattu, S. L., Trigatti, B., & Krieger, M. (2006). Hepatic lipase deficiency delays atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, and cardiac dysfunction and extends lifespan in SR-BI/apolipoprotein E double knockout mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 26(3), 548–554. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000202662.63876.02
- Karagiannis, A. D., Liu, M., Toth, P. P., Zhao, S., Agrawal, D. K., Libby, P., & Chatzizisis, Y. S. (2018). Pleiotropic Anti-atherosclerotic Effects of PCSK9 Inhibitors From Molecular Biology to Clinical Translation. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports*, 20(4), 20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11883-018-0718-x
- Kardassis, D., Mosialou, I., Kanaki, M., Tiniakou, I., & Thymiakou, E. (2014). Metabolism of HDL and its Regulation. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 21, 2864–2880.
- Karunakaran, D., Geoffrion, M., Wei, L., Gan, W., Richards, L., Shangari, P., DeKemp, E. M., Beanlands, R. A., Perisic, L., Maegdefessel, L., Hedin, U., Sad, S., Guo, L.,

Kolodgie, F. D., Virmani, R., Ruddy, T., & Rayner, K. J. (2016). Targeting macrophage necroptosis for therapeutic and diagnostic interventions in atherosclerosis. *Science Advances*, *2*(7). https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIADV.1600224/SUPPL_FILE/1600224_SM.PDF

- Kastelein, J. J. P., van Leuven, S. I., Burgess, L., Evans, G. W., Kuivenhoven, J. A., Barter, P. J., Revkin, J. H., Grobbee, D. E., Riley, W. A., Shear, C. L., Duggan, W. T., & Bots, M. L. (2007). Effect of torcetrapib on carotid atherosclerosis in familial hypercholesterolemia. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *356*(16), 1620–1630. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA071359
- Kathiresan, S., Melander, O., Guiducci, C., Surti, A., Burtt, N. P., Rieder, M. J., Cooper, G. M., Roos, C., Voight, B. F., Havulinna, A. S., Wahlstrand, B., Hedner, T., Corella, D., Tai, E. S., Ordovas, J. M., Berglund, G., Vartiainen, E., Jousilahti, P., Hedblad, B., ... Orho-Melander, M. (2008). Translating molecular discoveries into new therapies for atherosclerosis. *Nature*, *451*(7181), 904–914. https://doi.org/10.1038/NG.75
- Katsuki, S., Jha, P. K., Lupieri, A., Nakano, T., Passos, L. S. A., Rogers, M. A., Becker-Greene, D., Le, T. D., Decano, J. L., Ho Lee, L., Guimaraes, G. C., Abdelhamid, I., Halu, A., Muscoloni, A., Cannistraci, C. V., Higashi, H., Zhang, H., Vromman, A., Libby, P., ... Aikawa, M. (2022). Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin 9 (PCSK9) Promotes Macrophage Activation via LDL Receptor-Independent Mechanisms. *Circulation Research*, *131*(11), 873–889. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.320056
- Kersten, S. (2021). ANGPTL3 as therapeutic target. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, *3*(6), 335–341. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.00000000000789
- Kim, B. J., Ryu, S. W., & Song, B. J. (2006). JNK- and p38 Kinase-mediated Phosphorylation of Bax Leads to Its Activation and Mitochondrial Translocation and to Apoptosis of Human Hepatoma HepG2 Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(30), 21256–21265. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M510644200
- Kim, J., Kundu, M., Viollet, B., & Guan, K. L. (2011). AMPK and mTOR regulate autophagy through direct phosphorylation of Ulk1. *Nature Cell Biology*, 13(2), 132– 141. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2152
- Kim, K., Shim, D., Lee, J. S., Zaitsev, K., Williams, J. W., Kim, K. W., Jang, M. Y., Jang, H. S., Yun, T. J., Lee, S. H., Yoon, W. K., Prat, A., Seidah, N. G., Choi, J., Lee, S. P., Yoon, S. H., Nam, J. W., Seong, J. K., Oh, G. T., ... Choi, J. H. (2018). Transcriptome analysis reveals nonfoamy rather than foamy plaque macrophages are proinflammatory in atherosclerotic murine models. *Circulation Research*, *123*(10), 1127–1142. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.312804/FORMAT/EPUB

- Kim, Y. U., Kee, P., Danila, D., & Teng, B. B. (2019). A critical role of PCSK9 in mediating il-17-producing T cell responses in hyperlipidemia. *Immune Network*, 19(6), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.4110/in.2019.19.e41
- Kinnally, K. W., Peixoto, P. M., Ryu, S. Y., & Dejean, L. M. (2011). Is mPTP the gatekeeper for necrosis, apoptosis, or both? Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, 1813(4), 616. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBAMCR.2010.09.013
- Kluck, G. E. G., Qian, A. S., Sakarya, E. H., Quach, H., Deng, Y. D., & Trigatti, B. L. (2023). Apolipoprotein A1 Protects Against Necrotic Core Development in Atherosclerotic Plaques: PDZK1-Dependent High-Density Lipoprotein Suppression of Necroptosis in Macrophages. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 43(1), 45-63. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.122.318062
- Kobayashi, J., Miyashita, K., Nakajima, K., & Mabuchi, H. (2015). Hepatic lipase: a comprehensive view of its role on plasma lipid and lipoprotein metabolism. Journal of Atherosclerosis and Thrombosis, 22, 1001–1011. https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/article/jat/22/10/22 31617/ article/-char/ja/
- Koenig, S. N., Sucharski, H. C., Jose, E. M., Dudley, E. K., Madiai, F., Cavus, O., Argall, A. D., Williams, J. L., Murphy, N. P., Keith, C. B. R., Refaey, M. El, Gumina, R. J., Boudoulas, K. D., Milks, M. W., Sofowora, G., Smith, S. A., Hund, T. J., Wright, N. T., Bradley, E. A., ... Mohler, P. J. (2021). Inherited Variants in SCARB1 Cause Severe Early-Onset Coronary Artery Disease. Circulation Research, 129, 296-307. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.318793
- Koren, M. J., Roth, E. M., McKenney, J. M., Gipe, D., Hanotin, C., Ferrand, A. C., Wu, R., & Dufour, R. (2015). Safety and efficacy of alirocumab 150 mg every 2 weeks, a fully human proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 monoclonal antibody: A phase II pooled analysis. Postgraduate Medicine, 127(2), 125-132. https://doi.org/10.1080/00325481.2015.998987
- Korporaal, S. J. A., Meurs, I., Hauer, A. D., Hildebrand, R. B., Hoekstra, M., Ten Cate, H., Praticò, D., Akkerman, J. W. N., Van Berkel, T. J. C., Kuiper, J., & Van Eck, M. (2011). Deletion of the high-density lipoprotein receptor scavenger receptor BI in mice modulates thrombosis susceptibility and indirectly affects platelet function by elevation of plasma free cholesterol. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 31(1), 34–42.

https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.210252/FORMAT/EPUB

Kozarsky, K. F., Donahee•, M. H., Rlgottlt, A., Iqbal+, S. N., Edelman+, E. R., & Kriegert, M. (1997). Overexpression of the HDL receptor SR-BI alters plasma HDL and bile cholesterol levels. Nature. Com, 387. https://idp.nature.com/authorize/casa?redirect_uri=https://www.nature.com/articles/3 87414a0&casa token=3I9Qz0URVnkAAAAA:C IHg GDjhmU7oY5yLSsLhJwZa RtwtfnQiACeCIjIfzNvmNcqTbbGifmLoR-BzWO9HKJW8iT8kmscYWD

- Krieger, M. (1999). Charting the fate of the 'good cholesterol': Identification and characterization of the high-density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 68, 523–558. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.BIOCHEM.68.1.523
- Kühnast, S., Van Der Hoorn, J. W. A., Pieterman, E. J., Van Den Hoek, A. M., Sasiela, W. J., Gusarova, V., Peyman, A., Schäfer, H. L., Schwahn, U., Jukema, J. W., & Princen, H. M. G. (2014). Alirocumab inhibits atherosclerosis, improves the plaque morphology, and enhances the effects of a statin. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 55(10), 2103–2112. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M051326
- Kühnast, S., van der Hoorn, J. W. A., Pieterman, E. J., van den Hoek, A. M., Sasiela, W. J., Gusarova, V., Peyman, A., Schäfer, H.-L., Schwahn, U., Jukema, J. W., & Princen, H. M. G. (2014). Alirocumab inhibits atherosclerosis, improves the plaque morphology, and enhances the effects of a statin. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 55(10), 2103–2112. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M051326
- Kuijpers, M. J. E., De Witt, S., Nergiz-Unal, R., Van Kruchten, R., Korporaal, S. J. A., Verhamme, P., Febbraio, M., Tjwa, M., Voshol, P. J., Hoylaerts, M. F., Cosemans, J. M. E. M., & Heemskerk, J. W. M. (2014). Supporting roles of platelet thrombospondin-1 and CD36 in thrombus formation on collagen. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *34*(6), 1187–1192. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.302917
- Kumari, A., Kristensen, K. K., Ploug, M., & Lund Winther, A. M. (2021). The importance of lipoprotein lipase regulation in atherosclerosis. *Biomedicines*, 9(7), 782. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines9070782
- Kysenius, K., Muggalla, P., Mätlik, K., Arumäe, U., & Huttunen, H. J. (2012). PCSK9 regulates neuronal apoptosis by adjusting ApoER2 levels and signaling. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences: CMLS*, 69(11), 1903–1916. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-012-0977-6
- Lagace, T. A., Curtis, D. E., Garuti, R., McNutt, M. C., Sahng, W. P., Prather, H. B., Anderson, N. N., Ho, Y. K., Hammer, R. E., & Horton, J. D. (2006). Secreted PCSK9 decreases the number of LDL receptors in hepatocytes and inlivers of parabiotic mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *116*(11), 2995. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI29383
- Landlinger, C., Pouwer, M. G., Juno, C., Van Der Hoorn, J. W. A., Pieterman, E. J., Jukema, J. W., Staffler, G., Princen, H. M. G., & Galabova, G. (2017). The AT04A vaccine against proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 reduces total cholesterol, vascular inflammation, and atherosclerosis in APOE*3Leiden.CETP mice. *European Heart Journal*, 38(32), 2499–2507. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehx260

- Lavandero, S., Troncoso, R., Rotherme, B. A., Martinet, W., Sadoshima, J., & Hill, J. A. (2013). Cardiovascular autophagy Concepts, controversies, and perspectives. *Autophagy*, 9(10), 1455–1466. https://doi.org/10.4161/AUTO.25969
- Leander, K., Mälarstig, A., Van'T Hooft, F. M., Hyde, C., Hellénius, M. L., Troutt, J. S., Konrad, R. J., Öhrvik, J., Hamsten, A., & De Faire, U. (2016). Circulating proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) predicts future risk of cardiovascular events independently of established risk factors. *Circulation*, 133(13), 1230–1239. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.018531
- Ley, K., Laudanna, C., Cybulsky, M. I., & Nourshargh, S. (2007). Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 7(9), 678–690. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRI2156
- Li, D. L., Wang, Z. V., Ding, G., Tan, W., Luo, X., Criollo, A., Xie, M., Jiang, N., May, H., Kyrychenko, V., Schneider, J. W., Gillette, T. G., & Hill, J. A. (2016). Doxorubicin Blocks Cardiomyocyte Autophagic Flux by Inhibiting Lysosome Acidification. *Circulation*, 133(17), 1668. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.017443
- Li, H., Horke, S., & Förstermann, U. (2014). Vascular oxidative stress, nitric oxide and atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis*, 237(1), 208–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ATHEROSCLEROSIS.2014.09.001
- Li, J., Brown, L. F., Hibberd, M. G., Grossman, J. D., Morgan, J. P., & Simons, M. (1996). VEGF, flk-1, and flt-1 expression in a rat myocardial infarction model of angiogenesis. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 270(5), H1803–H1811. https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPHEART.1996.270.5.H1803
- Li, J., Liang, X., Wang, Y., Xu, Z., & Li, G. (2017). Investigation of highly expressed PCSK9 in atherosclerotic plaques and ox-LDL-induced endothelial cell apoptosis. *Molecular Medicine Reports*, 16(2), 1817–1825. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2017.6803
- Libby, P. (2005). The forgotten majority: unfinished business in cardiovascular risk reduction. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *46*(7), 1225–1228. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACC.2005.07.006
- Libby, P. (2013). Mechanisms of Acute Coronary Syndromes and Their Implications for Therapy. New England Journal of Medicine, 368(21), 2004–2013. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMRA1216063/SUPPL_FILE/NEJMRA1216063_DISCL OSURES.PDF
- Lichtman, A. H., Clinton, S. K., Iiyama, K., Connelly, P. W., Libby, P., & Cybulsky, M. I. (1999). Hyperlipidemia and atherosclerotic lesion development in LDL receptordeficient mice fed defined semipurified diets with and without cholate. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 19(8), 1938–1944. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.19.8.1938

- Lievens, D., & von Hundelshausen, P. (2011). Platelets in atherosclerosis. *Thrombosis* and Haemostasis, 106(5), 827–838. https://doi.org/10.1160/TH11-08-0592
- Liu, A., & Frostegård, J. (2018). PCSK9 plays a novel immunological role in oxidized LDL-induced dendritic cell maturation and activation of T cells from human blood and atherosclerotic plaque. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, *284*(2), 193–210. https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.12758
- Liu, L.-S., XIE, M., JIANG, Z.-S., YANG, Q., PAN, L.-H., WU, C.-Y., TANG, Z.-H., TANG, C.-K., WEI, D.-H., & Wang, Z. (2009a). Effects of pcsk9 siRNA on THP-1 derived macrophages apoptosis induced by oxLDL. *Progress in Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 36, 323–330. https://doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1206.2008.00427
- Liu, L.-S., XIE, M., JIANG, Z.-S., YANG, Q., PAN, L.-H., WU, C.-Y., TANG, Z.-H., TANG, C.-K., WEI, D.-H., & Wang, Z. (2009b). Effects of pcsk9 siRNA on THP-1 derived macrophages apoptosis induced by oxLDL. *Progress in Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 36, 323–330. https://doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1206.2008.00427
- Liu, S., Deng, X., Zhang, P., Wang, X., Fan, Y., Zhou, S., Mu, S., Mehta, J. L., & Ding, Z. (2020). Blood flow patterns regulate PCSK9 secretion via MyD88-mediated proinflammatory cytokines. *Cardiovascular Research*, *116*(10), 1721–1732. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvz262
- Liu, X., Bao, X., Hu, M., Chang, H., Jiao, M., Cheng, J., Xie, L., Huang, Q., Li, F., & Li, C. Y. (2020). Inhibition of PCSK9 potentiates immune checkpoint therapy for cancer. *Nature*, 588(7839), 693–699. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41586-020-2911-7
- Livak, K. J., & Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Analysis of Relative Gene Expression Data Using Real-Time Quantitative PCR and the 2-ΔΔCT Method. *Methods*, 25(4), 402-408. https://doi.org/10.1006/METH.2001.1262
- Llodrá, J., Angeli, V., Liu, J., Trogan, E., Fisher, E. A., & Rendolph, G. J. (2004). Emigration of monocyte-derived cells from atherosclerotic lesions characterizes regressive, but not progressive, plaques. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(32), 11779–11784. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0403259101
- Long-Term Intervention with Pravastatin in Ischaemic Disease (LIPID) Study Group. (1998). Prevention of Cardiovascular Events and Death with Pravastatin in Patients with Coronary Heart Disease and a Broad Range of Initial Cholesterol Levels. New England Journal of Medicine, 339, 1349–1357.
- Lu-Shan, L., Min, X., Zhi-Sheng, J., Qiong, Y., Li-Hong, P., Chun-Yan, W., Zhi-Han, T., Chao-Ke, T., & Zuo, W. D.-H. and W. (2008). Effects of pcsk9 siRNA on THP-1 derived macrophages apoptosis induced by oxLDL. *Progress in Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 36(3), 323–330. https://doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1206.2008.00427

- Ma, K., Forte, T., Otvos, J. D., & Chan, L. (2005). Differential additive effects of endothelial lipase and scavenger receptor-class B type I on high-density lipoprotein metabolism in knockout mouse models. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 25(1), 149–154. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000150414.89591.6a
- Magwenzi, S., Woodward, C., Wraith, K. S., Aburima, A., Raslan, Z., Jones, H., McNeil, C., Wheatcroft, S., Yuldasheva, N., Febbriao, M., Kearney, M., & Naseem, K. M. (2015). Oxidized LDL activates blood platelets through CD36/NOX2-mediated inhibition of the cGMP/protein kinase G signaling cascade. *Blood*, 125(17), 2693– 2703. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-05-574491
- Maik, D., Johan, D., & Oliver, S. (2015). Chemokines Control Mobilization, Recruitment, and Fate of Monocytes in Atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 35(5), 1050–1055. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304649
- Mäkinen, P. I., Lappalainen, J. P., Heinonen, S. E., Leppänen, P., Lähteenvuo, M. T., Aarnio, J. V., Heikkilä, J., Turunen, M. P., & Ylä-Herttuala, S. (2010). Silencing of either SR-A or CD36 reduces atherosclerosis in hyperlipidaemic mice and reveals reciprocal upregulation of these receptors. *Cardiovascular Research*, 88(3), 530– 538. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvq235
- Malek, A. M., Alper, S. L., & Izumo, S. (1999). Hemodynamic shear stress and its role in atherosclerosis. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 282(21), 2035–2042. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.282.21.2035
- Matsui, Y., Takagi, H., Qu, X., Abdellatif, M., Sakoda, H., Asano, T., Levine, B., & Sadoshima, J. (2007a). Distinct Roles of Autophagy in the Heart During Ischemia and Reperfusion. *Circulation Research*, 100(6), 914–922. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000261924.76669.36
- Matsui, Y., Takagi, H., Qu, X., Abdellatif, M., Sakoda, H., Asano, T., Levine, B., & Sadoshima, J. (2007b). Distinct roles of autophagy in the heart during ischemia and reperfusion: Roles of AMP-activated protein kinase and beclin 1 in mediating autophagy. *Circulation Research*, 100(6), 914–922. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000261924.76669.36
- Maxwell, K. N., & Breslow, J. L. (2004). Adenoviral-mediated expression of Pcsk9 in mice results in a low-density lipoprotein receptor knockout phenotype. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 101(18), 7100– 7105. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0402133101

Maxwell, K. N., Fisher, E. A., & Breslow, J. L. (2005). Overexpression of PCSK9 accelerates the degradation of the LDLR in a post-endoplasmic reticulum compartment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 102(6), 2069–2074. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0409736102/SUPPL FILE/09736FIG6.PDF

- McGill, J., McMahan, C. A., Herderick, E. E., Malcom, G. T., Tracy, R. E., & Jack, P. (2000). Origin of atherosclerosis in childhood and adolescence. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 72(5), 1307–1315. https://doi.org/10.1093/AJCN/72.5.1307S
- Miñana, G., Núñez, J., Bayés-Genís, A., Revuelta-López, E., Ríos-Navarro, C., Núñez, E., Chorro, F. J., López-Lereu, M. P., Monmeneu, J. V., Lupón, J., Sanchis, J., & Bodí, V. (2020). Role of PCSK9 in the course of ejection fraction change after ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: a pilot study. *ESC Heart Failure*, 7(1), 117–122. https://doi.org/10.1002/ehf2.12533
- Mireille, O., J., B. T., & A., F. E. (2019). HDL and Reverse Cholesterol Transport. *Circulation Research*, 124(10), 1505–1518. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.119.312617
- Mittler, R., Vanderauwera, S., Suzuki, N., Miller, G., Tognetti, V. B., Vandepoele, K., Gollery, M., Shulaev, V., & Van Breusegem, F. (2011). ROS signaling: the new wave? *Trends in Plant Science*, *16*(6), 300–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2011.03.007
- MJ, L., R, H., JC, H., S, P., T, A., J, T., K, W., M, C., L, J., R, C., & J, A. (2014). Effects of extended-release niacin with laropiprant in high-risk patients. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *371*(3), 203–212. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1300955
- Monetti, M., Canavesi, M., Camera, M., Parente, R., Paoletti, R., Tremoli, E., Corsini, A., & Bellosta, S. (2007). Rosuvastatin displays anti-atherothrombotic and antiinflammatory properties in apoE-deficient mice. *Pharmacological Research*, 55(5), 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHRS.2007.02.001
- Moore, K. J., Sheedy, F. J., & Fisher, E. A. (2013). Macrophages in atherosclerosis: a dynamic balance. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 13(10), 709–721. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3520
- Nagendran, J., Pulinilkunnil, T., Kienesberger, P. C., Sung, M. M., Fung, D., Febbraio, M., & Dyck, J. R. B. (2013). Cardiomyocyte-specific ablation of CD36 improves post-ischemic functional recovery. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 63, 180–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.YJMCC.2013.07.020
- Nakamuta, M., Chang, B. H. J., Zsigmond, E., Kobayashi, K., Lei, H., Ishida, B. Y., Oka, K., Li, E., & Chan, L. (1996). Complete Phenotypic Characterization of apobec-1 Knockout Mice with a Wild-type Genetic Background and a Human Apolipoprotein B Transgenic Background, and Restoration of Apolipoprotein B mRNA Editing by Somatic Gene Transfer of Apobec-1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(42), 25981–25988. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.271.42.25981
- Nakashima, Y., Plump, A. S., Raines, E. W., Breslow, J. L., & Ross, R. (1994). ApoEdeficient mice develop lesions of all phases of atherosclerosis throughout the arterial

tree. *Arteriosclerosis and Thrombosis*, *14*(1), 133–140. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8274468

- Navarese, E. P., Kolodziejczak, M., Winter, M.-P., Alimohammadi, A., Lang, I. M., Buffon, A., Lip, G. Y., & Siller-Matula, J. M. (2017). Association of PCSK9 with platelet reactivity in patients with acute coronary syndrome treated with prasugrel or ticagrelor: The PCSK9-REACT study. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 227, 644–649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.10.084
- Neculai, D., Schwake, M., Ravichandran, M., Zunke, F., Collins, R. F., Peters, J., Neculai, M., Plumb, J., Loppnau, P., Pizarro, J. C., Seitova, A., Trimble, W. S., Saftig, P., Grinstein, S., & Dhe-Paganon, S. (2013). Structure of LIMP-2 provides functional insights with implications for SR-BI and CD36. *Nature*, 504(7478), 172–176. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12684
- Nicholls, S. J., Puri, R., Anderson, T., Ballantyne, C. M., Cho, L., Kastelein, J. J. P., Koenig, W., Somaratne, R., Kassahun, H., Yang, J., Wasserman, S. M., Scott, R., Ungi, I., Podolec, J., Ophuis, A. O., Cornel, J. H., Borgman, M., Brennan, D. M., & Nissen, S. E. (2016). Effect of Evolocumab on Progression of Coronary Disease in Statin-Treated Patients: The GLAGOV Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA*, *316*(22), 2373–2384. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.2016.16951
- Nissen, S. E., Nicholls, S. J., Sipahi, I., Libby, P., Raichlen, J. S., Ballantyne, C. M., Davignon, J., Erbel, R., Fruchart, J. C., Tardif, J. C., Schoenhagen, P., Crowe, T., Cain, V., Wolski, K., Goormastic, M., & Tuzcu, E. M. (2006). Effect of very highintensity statin therapy on regression of coronary atherosclerosis: the ASTEROID trial. JAMA, 295(13), 1556–1565. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.295.13.JPC60002
- Nissen, S. E., Tardif, J.-C., Nicholls, S. J., Revkin, J. H., Shear, C. L., Duggan, W. T., Ruzyllo, W., Bachinsky, W. B., Lasala, G. P., & Tuzcu, E. M. (2007). Effect of torcetrapib on the progression of coronary atherosclerosis. *The New England Journal* of Medicine, 356(13), 1304–1316. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA070635
- Nissen, S. E., Tuzcu, E. M., Schoenhagen, P., Brown, B. G., Ganz, P., Vogel, R. A., Crowe, T., Howard, G., Cooper, C. J., Brodie, B., Grines, C. L., & DeMaria, A. N. (2004). Effect of intensive compared with moderate lipid-lowering therapy on progression of coronary atherosclerosis: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 291(9), 1071–1080. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.291.9.1071
- Oesterle, A., Laufs, U., & Liao, J. K. (2017). Pleiotropic Effects of Statins on the Cardiovascular System. *Circulation Research*, *120*(1), 229–243. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.308537
- Oleaga, C., Shapiro, M. D., Hay, J., Mueller, P. A., Miles, J., Huang, C., Friz, E., Tavori, H., Toth, P. P., Wójcik, C., Warden, B. A., Purnell, J. Q., Duell, P. B., Pamir, N., & Fazio, S. (2021). Hepatic Sensing Loop Regulates PCSK9 Secretion in Response to

Inhibitory Antibodies. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 78(14), 1437–1449. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACC.2021.07.056

Olivecrona, G. (2016). Role of lipoprotein lipase in lipid metabolism. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 27(3), 233–241. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.0000000000297

- Ong, S.-B., Hernández-Reséndiz, S., Crespo-Avilan, G. E., Mukhametshina, R. T., Kwek, X.-Y., Cabrera-Fuentes, H. A., & Hausenloy, D. J. (2018). Inflammation following acute myocardial infarction: Multiple players, dynamic roles, and novel therapeutic opportunities. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 186, 73–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2018.01.001
- Pacher, P., Nagayama, T., Mukhopadhyay, P., Bátkai, S., & Kass, D. A. (2008). Measurement of cardiac function using pressure-volume conductance catheter technique in mice and rats. *Nature Protocols*, 3(9), 1422–1434. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2008.138
- Palinski, W., Tangirala, R. K., Miller, E., Young, S. G., & Witztum, J. L. (1995). Increased autoantibody titers against epitopes of oxidized LDL in LDL receptor-deficient mice with increased atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 15(10), 1569–1576. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.15.10.1569/FORMAT/EPUB
- Pastori, D., Nocella, C., Farcomeni, A., Bartimoccia, S., Santulli, M., Vasaturo, F., Carnevale, R., Menichelli, D., Violi, F., Pignatelli, P., Saliola, M., Casciaro, M. A., Ferro, D., Vicario, T., Albanese, F., Cribari, F., Paladino, A., Del Sole, F., Novo, M., ... Sabbatini, E. (2017). Relationship of PCSK9 and Urinary Thromboxane Excretion to Cardiovascular Events in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *70*(12), 1455–1462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.07.743
- Patel, S., Mastrogiacomo, L., Fulmer, M., Shi, Y., & Werstuck, G. H. (2022). Deletion of Macrophage-Specific Glycogen Synthase Kinase (GSK)-3α Promotes Atherosclerotic Regression in Ldlr–/– Mice. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(16), 9293. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS23169293/S1
- Pavanello, C., & Calabresi, L. (2020). Genetic, biochemical, and clinical features of LCAT deficiency: update for 2020. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 31(4), 232–237. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.00000000000697
- Pei, Y., Chen, X., Aboutouk, D., Fuller, M. T., Dadoo, O., Yu, P., White, E. J., Igdoura, S. A., & Trigatti, B. L. (2013). SR-BI in Bone Marrow Derived Cells Protects Mice from Diet Induced Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis and Myocardial Infarction. *PLOS ONE*, 8(8), e72492. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0072492
- Pekkanen, J., Linn, S., Heiss, G., Suchindran, C. M., Leon, A., Rifkind, B. M., & Tyroler, H. A. (1990). Ten-Year Mortality from Cardiovascular Disease in Relation to Cholesterol Level among Men with and without Preexisting Cardiovascular Disease.

New England Journal of Medicine, *322*(24), 1700–1707. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199006143222403

- Peled, M., Nishi, H., Weinstock, A., Barrett, T. J., Zhou, F., Quezada, A., & Fisher, E. A. (2017). A wild-type mouse-based model for the regression of inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Plos ONE*, *12*(3), e0173975. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0173975
- Peyot, M. L., Roubtsova, A., Lussier, R., Chamberland, A., Essalmani, R., Murthy Madiraju, S. R., Seidah, N. G., Prentki, M., & Prat, A. (2021). Substantial PCSK9 inactivation in β-cells does not modify glucose homeostasis or insulin secretion in mice. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, *1866*(8), 158968. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBALIP.2021.158968
- Phillips, M. C. (2014). Molecular Mechanisms of Cellular Cholesterol Efflux. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 289(35), 24020–24029. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.R114.583658
- Piedrahita, J. A., Zhang, S. H., Hagaman, J. R., Oliver, P. M., & Maeda, N. (1992). Generation of mice carrying a mutant apolipoprotein E gene inactivated by gene targeting in embryonic stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 89(10), 4471. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.89.10.4471
- Plump, A. S., Smith, J. D., Hayek, T., Aalto-Setälä, K., Walsh, A., Verstuyft, J. G., Rubin, E. M., & Breslow, J. L. (1992a). Severe hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice created by homologous recombination in ES cells. *Cell*, 71(2), 343–353. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(92)90362-G
- Plump, A. S., Smith, J. D., Hayek, T., Aalto-Setälä, K., Walsh, A., Verstuyft, J. G., Rubin, E. M., & Breslow, J. L. (1992b). Severe hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice created by homologous recombination in ES cells. *Cell*, 71(2), 343–353.
- Podrez, E. A., Byzova, T. V., Febbraio, M., Salomon, R. G., Ma, Y., Valiyaveettil, M., Poliakov, E., Sun, M., Finton, P. J., Curtis, B. R., Chen, J., Zhang, R., Silverstein, R. L., & Hazen, S. L. (2007). Platelet CD36 links hyperlipidemia, oxidant stress and a prothrombotic phenotype. *Nature Medicine*, 13(9), 1086–1095. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1626
- Podrez, E. A., Febbraio, M., Sheibani, N., Schmitt, D., Silverstein, R. L., Hajjar, D. P., Cohen, P. A., Frazier, W. A., Hoff, H. F., & Hazen, S. L. (2000). Macrophage scavenger receptor CD36 is the major receptor for LDL modified by monocytegenerated reactive nitrogen species. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 105(8), 1095– 1108. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI8574
- Poirier, S., Mayer, G., Benjannet, S., Bergeron, E., Marcinkiewicz, J., Nassoury, N., Mayer, H., Nimpf, J., Prat, A., & Seidah, N. G. (2008). The Proprotein Convertase

PCSK9 Induces the Degradation of Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor (LDLR) and Its Closest Family Members VLDLR and ApoER2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(4), 2363–2372. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M708098200

- Poirier, S., Mayer, G., Poupon, V., McPherson, P. S., Desjardins, R., Ly, K., Asselin, M.-C., Day, R., Duclos, F. J., Witmer, M., Parker, R., Prat, A., & Seidah, N. G. (2009). Dissection of the endogenous cellular pathways of PCSK9-induced low density lipoprotein receptor degradation: evidence for an intracellular route. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(42), 28856–28864. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.037085
- Prabhu, S. D., & Frangogiannis, N. G. (2016). The biological basis for cardiac repair after myocardial infarction. *Circulation Research*, 119(1), 91–112. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303577/FORMAT/EPUB
- Pryma, C. S., Ortega, C., Dubland, J. A., & Francis, G. A. (2019). Pathways of smooth muscle foam cell formation in atherosclerosis. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 30(2), 117–124. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.00000000000574
- Qi, Z., Hu, L., Zhang, J., Yang, W., Liu, X., Jia, D., Yao, Z., Chang, L., Pan, G., Zhong, H., Luo, X., Yao, K., Sun, A., Qian, J., Ding, Z., & Ge, J. (2021a). PCSK9 (Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin 9) Enhances Platelet Activation, Thrombosis, and Myocardial Infarct Expansion by Binding to Platelet CD36. *Circulation*, 143(1), 45–61. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.046290
- Qi, Z., Hu, L., Zhang, J., Yang, W., Liu, X., Jia, D., Yao, Z., Chang, L., Pan, G., Zhong, H., Luo, X., Yao, K., Sun, A., Qian, J., Ding, Z., & Ge, J. (2021b). PCSK9 (Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin 9) Enhances Platelet Activation, Thrombosis, and Myocardial Infarct Expansion by Binding to Platelet CD36. *Circulation*, 143(1), 45–61. https://www-ahajournals-org.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/doi/abs/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.046290
- Qian, Y. W., Schmidt, R. J., Zhang, Y., Chu, S., Lin, A., Wang, H., Wang, X., Beyer, T. P., Bensch, W. R., Li, W., Ehsani, M. E., Lu, D., Konrad, R. J., Eacho, P. I., Moller, D. E., Karathanasis, S. K., & Cao, G. (2007). Secreted PCSK9 downregulates low density lipoprotein receptor through receptor-mediated endocytosis. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 48(7), 1488–1498. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.M700071-JLR200
- Quan, Y., Xin, Y., Tian, G., Zhou, J., & Liu, X. (2020). Mitochondrial ROS-Modulated mtDNA: A Potential Target for Cardiac Aging. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2020, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/9423593
- Raal, F. J., Kallend, D., Ray, K. K., Turner, T., Koenig, W., Wright, R. S., Wijngaard, P. L. J., Curcio, D., Jaros, M. J., Leiter, L. A., & Kastelein, J. J. P. (2020). Inclisiran for the Treatment of Heterozygous Familial Hypercholesterolemia. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 382(16), 1520–1530.
https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1913805/SUPPL_FILE/NEJMOA1913805_DATA -SHARING.PDF

- Rahman, K., & Fisher, E. A. (2018). Insights From Pre-Clinical and Clinical Studies on the Role of Innate Inflammation in Atherosclerosis Regression. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2018.00032
- Rahman, K., Vengrenyuk, Y., Ramsey, S. A., Vila, N. R., Girgis, N. M., Liu, J., Gusarova, V., Gromada, J., Weinstock, A., Moore, K. J., Loke, P., & Fisher, E. A. (2017).
 Inflammatory Ly6Chi monocytes and their conversion to M2 macrophages drive atherosclerosis regression. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *127*(8), 2904–2915. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI75005
- Ray, K. K., Wright, R. S., Kallend, D., Koenig, W., Leiter, L. A., Raal, F. J., Bisch, J. A., Richardson, T., Jaros, M., Wijngaard, P. L. J., & Kastelein, J. J. P. (2020). Two Phase 3 Trials of Inclisiran in Patients with Elevated LDL Cholesterol. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 382(16), 1507–1519. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1912387/SUPPL_FILE/NEJMOA1912387_DATA -SHARING.PDF
- Rayner, K. J. (2017). Cell death in the vessel wall: The good, the bad, the ugly. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *37*(7), e75. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.309229
- Rayner, K. J., Sheedy, F. J., Esau, C. C., Hussain, F. N., Temel, R. E., Parathath, S., Van Gils, J. M., Rayner, A. J., Chang, A. N., Suarez, Y., Fernandez-Hernando, C., Fisher, E. A., & Moore, K. J. (2011). Antagonism of miR-33 in mice promotes reverse cholesterol transport and regression of atherosclerosis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *121*(7), 2921–2931. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI57275
- Reddick, R. L., Zhang, S. H., & Maeda, N. (1994). Atherosclerosis in mice lacking Apo E
 Evaluation of lesional development and progression. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis,* and Vascular Biology, 14(1), 141–147. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.14.1.141
- Reis, E. D., Li, J., Fayad, Z. A., Rong, J. X., Hansoty, D., Aguinaldo, J. G., Fallon, J. T., & Fisher, E. A. (2001). Dramatic remodeling of advanced atherosclerotic plaques of the apolipoprotein e-deficient mouse in a novel transplantation model. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, 34(3), 541–547. https://doi.org/10.1067/mva.2001.115963
- Ricci, C., Pastukh, V., Leonard, J., Turrens, J., Wilson, G., Schaffer, D., & Schaffer, S. W. (2008). Mitochondrial DNA damage triggers mitochondrial-superoxide generation and apoptosis. *American Journal of Physiology - Cell Physiology*, 294(2), 413–422. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00362.2007
- Ricci, C., Ruscica, M., Camera, M., Rossetti, L., Macchi, C., Colciago, A., Zanotti, I., Lupo, M. G., Adorni, M. P., Cicero, A. F. G., Fogacci, F., Corsini, A., & Ferri, N. (2018a). PCSK9 induces a pro-inflammatory response in macrophages. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 2267. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20425-x

- Ricci, C., Ruscica, M., Camera, M., Rossetti, L., Macchi, C., Colciago, A., Zanotti, I., Lupo, M. G., Adorni, M. P., Cicero, A. F. G., Fogacci, F., Corsini, A., & Ferri, N. (2018b). PCSK9 induces a pro-inflammatory response in macrophages. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 2267. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20425-x
- Ridker, P. M., Danielson, E., Fonseca, F. A. H., Genest, J., Gotto, A. M., Kastelein, J. J. P., Koenig, W., Libby, P., Lorenzatti, A. J., Macfadyen, J. G., Nordestgaard, B. G., Shepherd, J., Willerson, J. T., & Glynn, R. J. D. (2008). Rosuvastatin to Prevent Vascular Events in Men and Women with Elevated C-Reactive Protein. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *359*(21), 2195–2207. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0807646
- Ridker, P. M., Everett, B. M., Thuren, T., MacFadyen, J. G., Chang, W. H., Ballantyne, C., Fonseca, F., Nicolau, J., Koenig, W., Anker, S. D., Kastelein, J. J. P., Cornel, J. H., Pais, P., Pella, D., Genest, J., Cifkova, R., Lorenzatti, A., Forster, T., Kobalava, Z., ... Glynn, R. J. (2017). Antiinflammatory Therapy with Canakinumab for Atherosclerotic Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *377*(12), 1119–1131. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1707914
- Ridker, P. M., Tardif, J.-C., Amarenco, P., Duggan, W., Glynn, R. J., Jukema, J. W., Kastelein, J. J. P., Kim, A. M., Koenig, W., Nissen, S., Revkin, J., Rose, L. M., Santos, R. D., Schwartz, P. F., Shear, C. L., & Yunis, C. (2017). Lipid-Reduction Variability and Antidrug-Antibody Formation with Bococizumab. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 376(16), 1517–1526. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1614062
- Rigotti, A., Miettinen, H. E., & Krieger, M. (2003). The role of the high-density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI in the lipid metabolism of endocrine and other tissues. *Endocrine Reviews*, 24(3), 357–387. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2001-0037
- Rigotti, A., Trigatti, B. L., Penman, M., Rayburn, H., Herz, J., & Krieger, M. (1997a). A targeted mutation in the murine gene encoding the high density lipoprotein (HDL) receptor scavenger receptor class B type I reveals its key role in HDL metabolism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(23), 12610–12615. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.94.23.12610
- Rigotti, A., Trigatti, B. L., Penman, M., Rayburn, H., Herz, J., & Krieger, M. (1997b). A targeted mutation in the murine gene encoding the high density lipoprotein (HDL) receptor scavenger receptor class B type I reveals its key role in HDL metabolism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(23), 12610–12615.
- Robinson, J. G., Farnier, M., Krempf, M., Bergeron, J., Luc, G., Averna, M., Stroes, E. S., Langslet, G., Raal, F. J., El Shahawy, M., Koren, M. J., Lepor, N. E., Lorenzato, C., Pordy, R., Chaudhari, U., & Kastelein, J. J. P. (2015). Efficacy and Safety of Alirocumab in Reducing Lipids and Cardiovascular Events. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 372(16), 1489–1499. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1501031

- Roth, E. M., Mckenney, J. M., Hanotin, C., & Stein, E. A. (2012). Atorvastatin with or without an Antibody to PCSK9 in Primary Hypercholesterolemia A BS T R AC T. N Engl J Med, 367, 1891–1900. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1201832
- Roth, G. A., Abate, D., Abate, K. H., Abay, S. M., Abbafati, C., Abbasi, N., Abbastabar, H., Abd-Allah, F., Abdela, J., Abdelalim, A., Abdollahpour, I., Abdulkader, R. S., Abebe, H. T., Abebe, M., Abebe, Z., Abejie, A. N., Abera, S. F., Abil, O. Z., Abraha, H. N., ... Murray, C. J. L. (2018). Global, regional, and national age-sex-specific mortality for 282 causes of death in 195 countries and territories, 1980–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet (London, England)*, 392(10159), 1736. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32203-7
- Roubtsova, A., Munkonda, M. N., Awan, Z., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Lazure, C., Cianflone, K., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2011a). Circulating Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin 9 (PCSK9) Regulates VLDLR Protein and Triglyceride Accumulation in Visceral Adipose Tissue. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 31(4), 785–791. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.220988
- Roubtsova, A., Munkonda, M. N., Awan, Z., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Lazure, C., Cianflone, K., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2011b). Circulating proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 (PCSK9) regulates VLDLR protein and triglyceride accumulation in visceral adipose tissue. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 31(4), 785–791. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.220988
- Rye, K. A., & Barter, P. J. (2004). Formation and Metabolism of Prebeta-Migrating, Lipid-Poor Apolipoprotein A-I. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 24(3), 421–428. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000104029.74961.F5
- Sabatine, M. S., Giugliano, R. P., Keech, A. C., Honarpour, N., Wiviott, S. D., Murphy, S. A., Kuder, J. F., Wang, H., Liu, T., Wasserman, S. M., Sever, P. S., & Pedersen, T. R. (2017). Evolocumab and Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Cardiovascular Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 376(18), 1713–1722. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1615664
- Sabatine, M. S., Giugliano, R. P., Wiviott, S. D., Raal, F. J., Blom, D. J., Robinson, J., Ballantyne, C. M., Somaratne, R., Legg, J., Wasserman, S. M., Scott, R., Koren, M. J., & Stein, E. A. (2015). Efficacy and Safety of Evolocumab in Reducing Lipids and Cardiovascular Events. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 372(16), 1500–1509. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1500858
- Sacks, F. M., Acks, M. S., Feffer, A. A. P., Oye, E. A. M., Ean, J., Ouleau, L. R., Utherford, O. D. R., Ole, H. G. C., Rown, I. B., Ayne, J. W., Arnica, W., Alcolm, J. M., Rnold, O. A., Huan -C Huan, C., Un, W., Avis, A. R. D., Ugene, E., Raunwald, B., Ecurrent, R., ... Nvestigators, I. (1996). The Effect of Pravastatin on Coronary Events after Myocardial Infarction in Patients with Average Cholesterol Levels. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 335, 1001–1009.

- Sahng, W. P., Moon, Y. A., & Horton, J. D. (2004). Post-transcriptional regulation of low density lipoprotein receptor protein by proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9a in mouse liver. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(48), 50630–50638. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M410077200
- Saigusa, R., Winkels, H., & Ley, K. (2020a). T cell subsets and functions in atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 17(7), 387–401. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41569-020-0352-5
- Saigusa, R., Winkels, H., & Ley, K. (2020b). T cell subsets and functions in atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 17(7), 387–402. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41569-020-0352-5
- Sakurai, I., Tosaka, A., Yamada, T., & Masubuchi, K. (1978). HISTOCHEMICAL STUDY ON LIPID METABOLISM IN ACUTE MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION. *Pathology International*, 28(5), 669–675. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1440-1827.1978.TB00906.X
- Santos, R. D., Gidding, S. S., Hegele, R. A., Cuchel, M. A., Barter, P. J., Watts, G. F., Baum, S. J., Catapano, A. L., Chapman, M. J., Defesche, J. C., Folco, E., Freiberger, T., Genest, J., Hovingh, G. K., Harada-Shiba, M., Humphries, S. E., Jackson, A. S., Mata, P., Moriarty, P. M., ... Yamashita, S. (2016). Defining severe familial hypercholesterolaemia and the implications for clinical management: a consensus statement from the International Atherosclerosis Society Severe Familial Hypercholesterolemia Panel. *The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology*, 4(10), 850–861. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(16)30041-9
- Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study Group. (1994). Randomised trial of cholesterol lowering in 4444 patients with coronary heart disease: the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S). *The Lancet*, 344(8934), 1383–1389. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(94)90566-5
- Schlüter, K. D., Wolf, A., Weber, M., Schreckenberg, R., & Schulz, R. (2017). Oxidized low-density lipoprotein (oxLDL) affects load-free cell shortening of cardiomyocytes in a proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 (PCSK9)-dependent way. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, *112*(6), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00395-017-0650-1
- Schroeter, M. R., Humboldt, T., Schäfer, K., & Konstantinides, S. (2009). Rosuvastatin reduces atherosclerotic lesions and promotes progenitor cell mobilisation and recruitment in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. *Atherosclerosis*, 205(1), 63–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ATHEROSCLEROSIS.2008.11.013
- Schuster, S., Rubil, S., Endres, M., Princen, H. M. G., Boeckel, J.-N., Winter, K., Werner, C., & Laufs, U. (2019). Anti-PCSK9 antibodies inhibit pro-atherogenic mechanisms in APOE*3Leiden.CETP mice. *Scientific Reports*, 9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47242-0

- Schwartz, G. G., Steg, P. G., Szarek, M., Bhatt, D. L., Bittner, V. A., Diaz, R., Edelberg, J. M., Goodman, S. G., Hanotin, C., Harrington, R. A., Jukema, J. W., Lecorps, G., Mahaffey, K. W., Moryusef, A., Pordy, R., Quintero, K., Roe, M. T., Sasiela, W. J., Tamby, J.-F., ... Zeiher, A. M. (2018). Alirocumab and Cardiovascular Outcomes after Acute Coronary Syndrome. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *379*(22), 2097–2107. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1801174
- Schwenke, D. C., & Carew, T. E. (1989). Initiation of atherosclerotic lesions in cholesterol-fed rabbits. II. Selective retention of LDL vs. selective increases in LDL permeability in susceptible sites of arteries. *Arteriosclerosis*, 9(6), 908–918. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.9.6.908
- Seidah, N. G., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Marcinkiewicz, J., Bélanger Jasmin, S., Stifani, S., Basak, A., Prat, A., & Chrétien, M. (2003a). The secretory proprotein convertase neural apoptosis-regulated convertase 1 (NARC-1): Liver regeneration and neuronal differentiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(3), 928–933. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0335507100
- Seidah, N. G., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Marcinkiewicz, J., Bélanger Jasmin, S., Stifani, S., Basak, A., Prat, A., & Chrétien, M. (2003b). The secretory proprotein convertase neural apoptosis-regulated convertase 1 (NARC-1): Liver regeneration and neuronal differentiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(3), 928–933. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0335507100
- Seidah, N. G., & Garçon, D. (2022). Expanding Biology of PCSK9: Roles in Atherosclerosis and Beyond. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports*, 24(10), 821. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11883-022-01057-Z
- Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2022). The Multifaceted Biology of PCSK9. Endocrine Reviews, 43(3), 558–582. https://doi.org/10.1210/ENDREV/BNAB035
- Serhan, C. N., Chiang, N., & Van Dyke, T. E. (2008). Resolving inflammation: dual antiinflammatory and pro-resolution lipid mediators. *Nature Reviews Immunology 2008* 8:5, 8(5), 349–361. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2294
- Shah, P. K., Yano, J., Reyes, O., Chyu, K. Y., Kaul, S., Bisgaier, C. L., Drake, S., & Cercek, B. (2001). High-Dose Recombinant Apolipoprotein A-IMilano Mobilizes Tissue Cholesterol and Rapidly Reduces Plaque Lipid and Macrophage Content in Apolipoprotein E–Deficient Mice. *Circulation*, 103(25), 3047–3050. https://doi.org/10.1161/HC2501.092494
- Shankman, L. S., Gomez, D., Cherepanova, O. A., Salmon, M., Alencar, G. F., Haskins, R. M., Swiatlowska, P., Newman, A. A. C., Greene, E. S., Straub, A. C., Isakson, B., Randolph, G. J., & Owens, G. K. (2015). KLF4-dependent phenotypic modulation of

smooth muscle cells has a key role in atherosclerotic plaque pathogenesis. *Nature Medicine*, *21*(6), 628–637. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3866

- Shapiro, M. D., Miles, J., Tavori, H., & Fazio, S. (2018). Diagnosing resistance to a proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 inhibitor. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 168(5), 376–379. https://doi.org/10.7326/M17-2485
- Shen, W. J., Azhar, S., & Kraemer, F. B. (2018). SR-B1: A Unique Multifunctional Receptor for Cholesterol Influx and Efflux. *Annual Review of Physiology*, 80, 95– 116. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-PHYSIOL-021317-121550
- Silverman, M. G., Ference, B. A., Im, K., Wiviott, S. D., Giugliano, R. P., Grundy, S. M., Braunwald, E., & Sabatine, M. S. (2016). Association between lowering LDL-C and cardiovascular risk reduction among different therapeutic interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association*, *316*(12), 1289–1297. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.13985
- Silverstein, R. L., & Febbraio, M. (2009). CD36, a Scavenger Receptor Involved in Immunity, Metabolism, Angiogenesis, and Behavior. *Science Signaling*, 2(72), re3. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.272re3
- Soraya, T., Alain, T., & Ziad, M. (2015). IL-17 and Th17 Cells in Atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 35(2), 258–264. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.303567
- Sun, H., Krauss, R. M., Chang, J. T., & Teng, B. B. (2018). PCSK9 deficiency reduces atherosclerosis, apolipoprotein b secretion, and endothelial dysfunction. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 59(2), 207–223. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M078360
- Tabas, I., García-Cardeña, G., & Owens, G. K. (2015). Recent insights into the cellular biology of atherosclerosis. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 209(1), 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201412052
- Tabas, I., & Ron, D. (2011). Integrating the mechanisms of apoptosis induced by endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Nature Cell Biology*, 13(3), 184. https://doi.org/10.1038/NCB0311-184
- Tang, Z. H., Peng, J., Ren, Z., Yang, J., Li, T. T., Li, T. H., Wang, Z., Wei, D. H., Liu, L. S., Zheng, X. L., & Jiang, Z. S. (2017). New role of PCSK9 in atherosclerotic inflammation promotion involving the TLR4/NF-κB pathway. *Atherosclerosis*, 262, 113–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2017.04.023
- Tang, Z., Jiang, L., Peng, J., Ren, Z., Wei, D., Wu, C., Pan, L., Jiang, Z., & Liu, L. (2012). PCSK9 siRNA suppresses the inflammatory response induced by oxLDL through inhibition of NF-κB activation in THP-1-derived macrophages. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 30(4), 931–938. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2012.1072

- TANG, Z., JIANG, L., PENG, J., REN, Z., WEI, D., WU, C., PAN, L., JIANG, Z., LIU, L., Wei, D., Wu, C., Wu, C., Pan, L., Pan, L., Jiang, Z., Jiang, Z., Liu, L., & Liu, L. (2012). PCSK9 siRNA suppresses the inflammatory response induced by oxLDL through inhibition of NF-κB activation in THP-1-derived macrophages. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, *30*(4), 931–938. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2012.1072
- Tang, Z.-H., Peng, J., Ren, Z., Yang, J., Li, T.-T., Li, T.-H., Wang, Z., Wei, D.-H., Liu, L.-S., Zheng, X.-L., & Jiang, Z.-S. (2017). New role of PCSK9 in atherosclerotic inflammation promotion involving the TLR4/NF-κB pathway. *Atherosclerosis*, 262, 113–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2017.04.023
- Tangirala, R. K., Tsukamoto, K., Chun, S. H., Usher, D., Puré, E., & Rader, D. J. (1999). Regression of atherosclerosis induced by liver-directed gene transfer of apolipoprotein A-I in mice. *Circulation*, 100(17), 1816–1822. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.100.17.1816/FORMAT/EPUB
- Tantry, U. S., Mahla, E., & Gurbel, P. A. (2009). Aspirin Resistance. Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases, 52(2), 141–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2009.05.001
- Tao, H., Yancey, P. G., Babaev, V. R., Blakemore, J. L., Zhang, Y., Ding, L., Fazio, S., & Linton, M. F. (2015). Macrophage SR-BI mediates efferocytosis via Src/PI3K/Rac1 signaling and reduces atherosclerotic lesion necrosis. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 56(8), 1449–1460. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.M056689
- Tavori, H., Giunzioni, I., Predazzi, I. M., Plubell, D., Shivinsky, A., Miles, J., DeVay, R. M., Liang, H., Rashid, S., Linton, M. F., & Fazio, S. (2016). Human PCSK9 promotes hepatic lipogenesis and atherosclerosis development via apoE-and LDLR-mediated mechanisms. *Cardiovascular Research*, 110(2), 268–278. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvw053
- Taylor, B. A., & Thompson, P. D. (2016). Statins and Their Effect on PCSK9—Impact and Clinical Relevance. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports*, 18(8). https://doi.org/10.1007/S11883-016-0604-3
- Tikka, A., & Jauhiainen, M. (2020). The role of ANGPTL3 in controlling lipoprotein metabolism. *Endocrine*, *52*, 187–193. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-015-0838-9
- Townsend, D. W. (2016). Measuring pressure volume loops in the mouse. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, 2016(111), e53810. https://doi.org/10.3791/53810
- Trigatti, B. L. (2017). SR-B1 and PDZK1: Partners in HDL regulation. Current Opinion in Lipidology, 28(2), 201–208. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.00000000000396
- Trigatti, B. L., & Fuller, M. (2016a). HDL signaling and protection against coronary artery atherosclerosis in mice. *The Journal of Biomedical Research*, *30*(2), 94–100. https://doi.org/10.7555/JBR.30.20150079

- Trigatti, B. L., & Fuller, M. (2016b). HDL signaling and protection against coronary artery atherosclerosis in mice. *Journal of Biomedical Research*, *30*(2), 94–100. https://doi.org/10.7555/JBR.30.20150079
- Trigatti, B. L., Krieger, M., & Rigotti, A. (2003). Influence of the HDL receptor SR-BI on lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 23(10), 1732–1738. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000091363.28501.84
- Trigatti, B. L., Rigotti, A., & Braun, A. (2000). Cellular and physiological roles of SR-BI, a lipoprotein receptor which mediates selective lipid uptake. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, 1529(1–3), 276–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1388-1981(00)00154-2
- Trigatti, B., Rayburn, H., Vin^{als}, M. V., Braun, A., Miettinen, H., Penman, M., Hertz, M., Schrenzel, M., Amigo, L., Rigotti, A., & Krieger, M. (1999). Influence of the high density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI on reproductive and cardiovascular pathophysiology. *Medical Sciences*, 96, 9322–9327. www.pnas.org.
- Trigatti, B., Rigotti, A., & Krieger, M. (2000). The role of the high-density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI in cholesterol metabolism. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 11(2), 123–131. https://doi.org/10.1097/00041433-200004000-00004
- Trogan, E., Feig, J. E., Dogan, S., Rothblat, G. H., ronique Angeli, V., Tacke, F., Randolph, G. J., & Fisher, E. A. (2006). Gene expression changes in foam cells and the role of chemokine receptor CCR7 during atherosclerosis regression in ApoEdeficient mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103(10), 3781–3786. www.pnas.orgcgidoi10.1073pnas.0511043103
- Van Craeyveld, E., Gordts, S. C., Nefyodova, E., Jacobs, F., & De Geest, B. (2011). Regression and stabilization of advanced murine atherosclerotic lesions: a comparison of LDL lowering and HDL raising gene transfer strategies. *Journal of Molecular Medicine (Berlin, Germany)*, 89(6), 555. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00109-011-0722-X
- van den Maagdenberg, A. M. J. M., de Knijff, P., Stalenhoef, A. F. H., Gevers Leuven, J. A., Havekes, L. M., & Frants, R. R. (1989). Apolipoprotein E*3-Leiden allele results from a partial gene duplication in exon 4. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 165(2), 851–857. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-291X(89)80044-0
- Van den Maagdenberg, A. M. J. M., Hofker, M. H., Krimpenfort, P. J. A., De Bruijn, I., Van Vlijmen, B., Van der Boom, H., Havekes, L. M., & Frants, R. R. (1993). Transgenic mice carrying the apolipoprotein E3-Leiden gene exhibit hyperlipoproteinemia. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 268(14), 10540–10545. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(18)82232-3
- Van Der Laan, A. M., Ter Horst, E. N., Delewi, R., Begieneman, M. P. V., Krijnen, P. A. J., Hirsch, A., Lavaei, M., Nahrendorf, M., Horrevoets, A. J., Niessen, H. W. M., &

Piek, J. J. (2014). Monocyte subset accumulation in the human heart following acute myocardial infarction and the role of the spleen as monocyte reservoir. *European Heart Journal*, *35*(6), 376–385. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/eht331

- Van Eck, M., Twisk, J., Hoekstra, M., Van Rij, B. T., Van der Lans, C. A. C., Bos, I. S. T., Kruijt, J. K., Kuipers, F., & Van Berkel, T. J. C. (2003). Differential Effects of Scavenger Receptor BI Deficiency on Lipid Metabolism in Cells of the Arterial Wall and in the Liver. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(26), 23699–23705. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M211233200
- Virmani, R., Kolodgie, F. D., Burke, A. P., Farb, A., & Schwartz, S. M. (2000). Lessons From Sudden Coronary Death A Comprehensive Morphological Classification Scheme for Atherosclerotic Lesions. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 20, 1262–1275. http://www.atvbaha.org
- Von Eckardstein, A., Nofer, J.-R., & Assmann, G. (2001). High Density Lipoproteins and Arteriosclerosis Role of Cholesterol Efflux and Reverse Cholesterol Transport. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1, 20,* 13–27. http://atvb.ahajour-
- Waltmann, M. D., Basford, J. E., Konaniah, E. S., Weintraub, N. L., & Hui, D. Y. (2014a). Apolipoprotein E receptor-2 deficiency enhances macrophage susceptibility to lipid accumulation and cell death to augment atherosclerotic plaque progression and necrosis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1842(9), 1395–1405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.05.009
- Waltmann, M. D., Basford, J. E., Konaniah, E. S., Weintraub, N. L., & Hui, D. Y. (2014b). Apolipoprotein E receptor-2 deficiency enhances macrophage susceptibility to lipid accumulation and cell death to augment atherosclerotic plaque progression and necrosis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1842(9), 1395–1405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.05.009
- Wang, F., Li, M., Zhang, A., Li, H., Jiang, C., & Guo, J. (2022). PCSK9 Modulates Macrophage Polarization-Mediated Ventricular Remodeling after Myocardial Infarction. *Journal of Immunology Research*, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/7685796
- Wang, M., & Briggs, M. R. (2004). HDL: The Metabolism, Function, and Therapeutic Importance. *Chemical Reviews*, 104(1), 119–137. https://doi.org/10.1021/CR020466V
- Wang, N., & Tall, A. R. (2016). Cholesterol in platelet biogenesis and activation. *Blood*, *127*(16), 1949–1953. https://doi.org/10.1182/BLOOD-2016-01-631259
- Wang, Y., Dubland, J. A., Allahverdian, S., Asonye, E., Sahin, B., Jaw, J. E., Sin, D. D., Seidman, M. A., Leeper, N. J., & Francis, G. A. (2019). Smooth Muscle Cells Contribute the Majority of Foam Cells in ApoE (Apolipoprotein E)-Deficient Mouse Atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 39(5), 876– 887. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.312434

- Wardell, M. R., Weisgraber, K. H., Havekes, L. M., & Rall, S. C. (1989). Apolipoprotein E3-Leiden contains a seven-amino acid insertion that is a tandem repeat of residues 121–127. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264(35), 21205–21210. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(19)30067-5
- Weber, K. T., Sun, Y., Bhattacharya, S. K., Weber, K. T., Sun, Y., Bhattacharya, S. K., Ahokas, R. A., & Gerling, I. C. (2012). Myofibroblast-mediated mechanisms of pathological remodelling of the heart. *NATURE REVIEWS* | *CARDIOLOGY*, 10, 15– 26. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2012.158
- Westerterp, M., Van Der Hoogt, C. C., De Haan, W., Offerman, E. H., Dallinga-Thie, G. M., Jukema, J. W., Havekes, L. M., & Rensen, P. C. N. (2006). Cholesteryl ester transfer protein decreases high-density lipoprotein and severely aggravates atherosclerosis in APOE*3-Leiden mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *26*(11), 2552–2559. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000243925.65265.3C/FORMAT/EPUB
- Whitman, S. C. (2004). A Practical Approach to Using Mice in Atherosclerosis Research. *Clin Biochem Rev*, 25, 81–93.
- Wilson, P. W. F., Abbott, R. D., & Castelli, W. P. (1988). High density lipoprotein cholesterol and mortality. The Framingham Heart Study. *Arteriosclerosis*, 8(6), 737– 741. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.8.6.737
- Wolska, A., Dunbar, R. L., Freeman, L. A., Ueda, M., Amar, M. J., Sviridov, D. O., & Remaley, A. T. (2017). Apolipoprotein C-II: New findings related to genetics, biochemistry, and role in triglyceride metabolism. *Atherosclerosis*, 267, 49. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ATHEROSCLEROSIS.2017.10.025
- Wong, N. D., Zhao, Y., Quek, R. G. W., Blumenthal, R. S., Budoff, M. J., Cushman, M., Garg, P., Sandfort, V., Tsai, M., & Lopez, J. A. G. (2017). Residual Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease Risk in Statin-Treated Adults: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Journal of Clinical Lipidology*, *11*(5), 1223. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACL.2017.06.015
- Wood, C. D., Thornton, T. M., Sabio, G., Davis, R. A., & Rincon, M. (2009). Nuclear localization of p38 MAPK in response to DNA damage. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, 5(5), 428–437. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.5.428
- Wu, C.-Y., Tang, Z.-H., Jiang, L., Li, X.-F., Jiang, Z.-S., & Liu, L.-S. (2012). PCSK9 siRNA inhibits HUVEC apoptosis induced by ox-LDL via Bcl/Bax–caspase9– caspase3 pathway. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 359(1–2), 347–358. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-011-1028-6
- Wu, Z., Wagner, M. A., Zheng, L., Parks, J. S., Shy, J. M., Smith, J. D., Gogonea, V., & Hazen, S. L. (2007). The refined structure of nascent HDL reveals a key functional domain for particle maturation and dysfunction. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, 14(9), 861–868. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb1284

- Xiong, T., Qian, A. S., & Trigatti, B. L. (2021). The local effects of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) on the inflammatory atheroma: beyond LDL cholesterol lowering. *Vessel Plus*, 5. https://doi.org/10.20517/2574-1209.2020.71
- Xu, S., Ogura, S., Chen, J., Little, P. J., Moss, J., & Liu, P. (2013). LOX-1 in atherosclerosis: Biological functions and pharmacological modifiers. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 70(16), 2859–2872. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00018-012-1194-Z
- Yahagi, K., Kolodgie, F. D., Otsuka, F., Finn, A. V., Davis, H. R., Joner, M., & Virmani, R. (2016). Pathophysiology of native coronary, vein graft, and in-stent atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 13(2), 79–99. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRCARDIO.2015.164
- Yang, M., Cooley, B. C., Li, W., Chen, Y., Vasquez-Vivar, J., Scoggins, N. O., Cameron, S. J., Morrell, C. N., & Silverstein, R. L. (2017). Platelet CD36 promotes thrombosis by activating redox sensor ERK5 in hyperlipidemic conditions. *Blood*, 129(21), 2917–2927. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2016-11-750133
- Yano, T., Miura, T., Ikeda, Y., Matsuda, E., Saito, K., Miki, T., Kobayashi, H., Nishino, Y., Ohtani, S., & Shimamoto, K. (2005). Intracardiac fibroblasts, but not bone marrow derived cells, are the origin of myofibroblasts in myocardial infarct repair. *Cardiovascular Pathology*, 14(5), 241–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CARPATH.2005.05.004
- Yasojima, K., Schwab, C., McGeer, E. G., & McGeer, P. L. (1998). Human Heart Generates Complement Proteins That Are Upregulated and Activated After Myocardial Infarction. *Circulation Research*, 83(8), 860–869. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.83.8.860
- Yu, P., Xiong, T., Tenedero, C. B., Lebeau, P., Ni, R., Macdonald, M. E., Gross, P. L., Austin, R. C., & Trigatti, B. L. (2018). Rosuvastatin Reduces Aortic Sinus and Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis in SR-B1 (Scavenger Receptor Class B Type 1)/ApoE (Apolipoprotein E) Double Knockout Mice Independently of Plasma Cholesterol Lowering. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 38*(1), 26–39. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.305140
- Yurdagul, A., Doran, A. C., Cai, B., Fredman, G., & Tabas, I. A. (2018). Mechanisms and Consequences of Defective efferocytosis in Atherosclerosis. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2017.00086
- Yusuf, S., Reddy, S., Ounpuu, S., & Anand, S. (2001). Global burden of cardiovascular diseases. Part I: General considerations, the epidemiologic transition, risk factors, and impact of urbanization. *Circulation*, 104(22), 2746–2753. https://doi.org/10.1161/HC4601.099487/FORMAT/EPUB
- Yvan-Charvet, L., Wang, N., & Tall, A. R. (2010). ATVB In Focus HDL Structure, Function, Therapeutics and Imaging Role of HDL, ABCA1, and ABCG1

Transporters in Cholesterol Efflux and Immune Responses. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, *30*, 139–143. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.179283

- Zadelaar, S., Kleemann, R., Verschuren, L., De Vries-Van Der Weij, J., Van Der Hoorn, J., Princen, H. M., & Kooistra, T. (2007). Mouse Models for Atherosclerosis and Pharmaceutical Modifiers. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 27, 1706–1721. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.142570
- Zaid, A., Roubtsova, A., Essalmani, R., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Hamelin, J., Tremblay, M., Jacques, H., Jin, W., Davignon, J., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2008a).
 Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9): Hepatocyte-specific lowdensity lipoprotein receptor degradation and critical role in mouse liver regeneration. *Hepatology*, 48(2), 646–654. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.22354
- Zaid, A., Roubtsova, A., Essalmani, R., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Hamelin, J., Tremblay, M., Jacques, H., Jin, W., Davignon, J., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2008b).
 Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9): hepatocyte-specific lowdensity lipoprotein receptor degradation and critical role in mouse liver regeneration. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)*, 48(2), 646–654. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.22354
- Zannis, V. I., & Breslow, J. L. (1981). Human Very Low Density Lipoprotein Apolipoprotein E Isoprotein Polymorphism Is Explained by Genetic Variation and Posttranslational Modification. *Biochemistry*, 20(4), 1033–1041. https://doi.org/10.1021/BI00507A059/ASSET/BI00507A059.FP.PNG V03
- Zarubin, T., & Han, J. (2005). Activation and signaling of the p38 MAP kinase pathway. *Cell Research*, 15(1), 11–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cr.7290257
- Zernecke, A., Winkels, H., Cochain, C., Williams, J. W., Wolf, D., Soehnlein, O., Robbins, C. S., Monaco, C., Park, I., McNamara, C. A., Binder, C. J., Cybulsky, M. I., Scipione, C. A., Hedrick, C. C., Galkina, E. V., Kyaw, T., Ghosheh, Y., Dinh, H. Q., & Ley, K. (2020). Meta-analysis of leukocyte diversity in atherosclerotic mouse aortas. *Circulation Research*, *127*(3), 402–426. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.316903/FORMAT/EPUB
- Zhang, D. W., Lagace, T. A., Garuti, R., Zhao, Z., McDonald, M., Horton, J. D., Cohen, J. C., & Hobbs, H. H. (2007). Binding of Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9 to Epidermal Growth Factor-like Repeat A of Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor Decreases Receptor Recycling and Increases Degradation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(25), 18602–18612. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M702027200
- Zhang, L., McCabe, T., Condra, J. H., Ni, Y. G., Peterson, L. B., Wang, W., Strack, A. M., Wang, F., Pandit, S., Hammond, H., Wood, D., Lewis, D., Rosa, R., Mendoza, V., Cumiskey, A. M., Johns, D. G., Hansen, B. C., Shen, X., Geoghagen, N., ... Sitlani, A. (2012). An Anti-PCSK9 Antibody Reduces LDL-Cholesterol On Top Of A Statin And Suppresses Hepatocyte SREBP-Regulated Genes. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, 8(3), 310–327. https://doi.org/10.7150/IJBS.3524

- Zhang, L., McCabe, T., Condra, J. H., Ni, Y. G., Peterson, L. B., Wang, W., Strack, A. M., Wang, F., Pandit, S., Hammond, H., Wood, D., Lewis, D., Rosa, R., Mendoza, V., Marie Cumiskey, A., Johns, D. G., Hansen, B. C., Shen, X., Geoghagen, N., ... Lincoln, E. (2012). An Anti-PCSK9 Antibody Reduces LDL-Cholesterol On Top Of A Statin And Suppresses Hepatocyte SREBP-Regulated Genes. *Ivyspring International Publisher Int. J. Biol. Sci*, 8(3), 310–327. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.3524
- Zhang, S. H., Reddick, R. L., Burkey, B., & Maeda, N. (1994). Diet-induced atherosclerosis in mice heterozygous and homozygous for apolipoprotein E gene disruption. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 94(3), 937. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI117460
- Zhang, S. H., Reddick, R. L., Piedrahita, J. A., & Maeda, N. (1992a). Spontaneous hypercholesterolemia and arterial lesions in mice lacking apolipoprotein E. *Science*, 258(5081), 468–472. https://go-galecom.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/ps/i.do?p=AONE&sw=w&issn=00368075&v=2.1&it =r&id=GALE%7CA12710944&sid=googleScholar&linkaccess=fulltext
- Zhang, S. H., Reddick, R. L., Piedrahita, J. A., & Maeda, N. (1992b). Spontaneous hypercholesterolemia and arterial lesions in mice lacking apolipoprotein E. *Science* (*New York, N.Y.*), 258(5081), 468–471.
- Zhang, W., Yancey, P. G., Su, Y. R., Babaev, V. R., Zhang, Y., Fazio, S., & Linton, M. F. (2003). Inactivation of Macrophage Scavenger Receptor Class B Type I Promotes Atherosclerotic Lesion Development in Apolipoprotein E-Deficient Mice. *Circulation*, 108(18), 2258–2263. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000093189.97429.9D/FORMAT/EPUB
- Zhang, Y., Bao, M., Dai, M., Wang, X., He, W., Tan, T., Lin, D., Wang, W., Wen, Y., & Zhang, R. (2015). Cardiospecific CD36 suppression by lentivirus-mediated RNA interference prevents cardiac hypertrophy and systolic dysfunction in high-fat-diet induced obese mice. *Cardiovascular Diabetology*, 14(1), 69. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12933-015-0234-z
- Zhang, Y., Da Silva, J. R., Reilly, M., Billheimer, J. T., Rothblat, G. H., & Rader, D. J. (2005). Hepatic expression of scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) is a positive regulator of macrophage reverse cholesterol transport in vivo. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 115(10), 2870–2874. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI25327
- Zhang, Y., Qin, W., Zhang, L., Wu, X., Du, N., Hu, Y., Li, X., Shen, N., Xiao, D., Zhang, H., Li, Z., Zhang, Y., Yang, H., Gao, F., Du, Z., Xu, C., & Yang, B. (2015).
 MicroRNA-26a prevents endothelial cell apoptosis by directly targeting TRPC6 in the setting of atherosclerosis. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep09401

Zymek, P., Bujak, M., Chatila, K., Cieslak, A., Thakker, G., Entman, M. L., & Frangogiannis, N. G. (2006). The Role of Platelet-Derived Growth Factor Signaling in Healing Myocardial Infarcts. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 48(11), 2315–2323. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACC.2006.07.060

Chapter 4: General Discussion

4.1 Summary of Results in Chapters 2 and 3

This thesis focuses on studying the effects of PCSK9 inhibition on CAD in mouse models as well as the underlying mechanisms. In chapter 2, we examined the effects of PCSK9 antibody treatment on newly developing as well as continued development of preexisting CAD in HFCC diet fed one year old male Sr-b1 KO mice. One year old Sr-b1 KO mice were switched from a normal chow diet to an HFCC diet to induce atherosclerosis development. By initiating PCSK9 antibody treatment one week before an HFCC diet feeding (7 weeks in total), we examined the effects of weekly PCSK9 antibody treatment on plasma cholesterol levels and the newly developing atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries. More importantly, by initiating PCSK9 antibody treatment 7 weeks after the switch to HFCC diet (12 weeks in total), we examined the effects of PCSK9 antibody treatment (5 weeks in total) on plasma cholesterol levels and the continued growth of pre-existing atherosclerosis in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries as well as cardiac fibrosis and damage. In both cases, anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment consistently increased plasma PCSK9 and hepatic LDLR protein levels and reduced plasma total cholesterol and IL-6 levels in one year old Sr-b1 KO mice. Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment initiated one week before an HFCC diet feeding (7 weeks in total) in one year old Sr-b1 KO mice reduced the newly developing atherosclerosis in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries. Furthermore, anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment during the last 5 weeks of a total of 12 weeks of HFCC diet feeding reduced the

continued growth of established atherosclerosis in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries, and myocardial fibrosis and damage in one year old *Sr-b1 KO* mice. In conclusion, anti-PCSK9 antibody mediated plasma cholesterol lowering and reduced newly developing atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries as well as the continued development of established CAD induced by an HFCC diet in one year old *Sr-b1 KO* mice.

In chapter 3, the effects of whole body genetic *Pcsk9* deletion on CAD were examined in Sr-b1/ApoE dKO mice. Sr-b1/ApoE dKO mice rapidly and spontaneously develop a variety of characteristics reminiscent of human CAD, including occlusive coronary artery atherosclerosis and extensive myocardial fibrosis associated with cardiomegaly, cardiac damage and dysfunction, and premature death. Whole body genetic *Pcsk9* deletion in female and male *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice did not change plasma cholesterol levels despite increased hepatic LDLR protein levels. However, *Pcsk9* inactivation in both female and male Sr-b1/ApoE dKO mice reduced aortic sinus and coronary artery atherosclerosis, myocardial fibrosis and damage, cardiac enlargement and dysfunction, cardiac conduction abnormality and myocardial accumulation of macrophages and lipids. The plasma cholesterol independent protection against CAD by whole body *Pcsk9* inactivation in *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice appears to be also independent of the systemic inflammation levels. Macrophage and platelet accumulation in atherosclerotic plaques do not seem to contribute to the *Pcsk9* inactivation mediated reduction in coronary artery atherosclerosis. Restoring circulating PCSK9 by a

recombinant AAV8 vector containing a liver-specific promoter reversed the plasma cholesterol independent protection against atherosclerosis in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries, myocardial fibrosis and damage, and myocardial lipid accumulation in Pcsk9/Sr-b1/ApoE tKO mice. Disrupting the interaction between the LDLR and PCSK9 by anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment in both female and male Sr-b1/ApoE dKO mice increased circulating PCSK9 levels by ~10 fold and enhanced hepatic LDLR protein levels. However, it did not change plasma cholesterol levels consistent with previous results. Anti-PCSK9 treatment in Sr-b1/ApoE dKO mice reduced aortic sinus and coronary artery atherosclerosis in males but not females. Despite the reduction of coronary artery atherosclerosis in males, anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment did not affect myocardial fibrosis and damage, cardiac enlargement and cardiac dysfunction in either male or female Sr-b1/ApoE dKO mice. The surprisingly significant promotion in myocardial fibrosis despite the only modest increases in coronary artery atherosclerosis mediated by restoring circulating PCSK9 in Pcsk9/Sr-b1/ApoE tKO mice as well as the absence of effects on myocardial fibrosis despite reduced coronary artery atherosclerosis by anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment in male Sr-b1/ApoE dKO mice suggested a direct role of circulating PCSK9 on the myocardial fibrosis, potentially mediated by myocardial targets of circulating PCSK9. Nevertheless, the direct effects of circulating PCSK9 on the myocardium do not appear to involve cell surface CD36 in cardiac cells. In conclusion, circulating PCSK9 promotes coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis in Sr-b1/ApoE dKO mice independently of plasma cholesterol levels and these plasma cholesterol independent effects of circulating PCSK9 are largely independent of the

LDLR-PCSK9 interaction, particularly in females. The results from chapters 2 and 3 revealed the critical effects of circulating PCSK9 on coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis via affecting plasma cholesterol levels or a plasma cholesterol independent manner. Overall, this thesis provides a comprehensive investigation and understanding of PCSK9 inhibition on coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis in mouse models of CAD.

4.2 Implications from the Studies Detailed in Chapters 2-3

4.2.1 Role of PCSK9 Inhibition on Pre-existing Atherosclerosis

Clinical trials using intravascular ultrasound have shown that intensive plasma LDL cholesterol lowering mediated by statin therapy in human patients with pre-existing CAD reduced the progression of coronary atherosclerosis (Nissen et al., 2004) and even resulted in coronary atherosclerosis regression (Nicholls et al., 2011; Nissen et al., 2006). PCSK9 antibody (evolocumab) mediated reduction in plasma LDL cholesterol levels also led to the regression of coronary atherosclerotic plaques in patients treated with statin, however, the extent of plaque regression was less than 1.5% (Nicholls et al., 2016). Using a mouse model that develops an HFCC diet induced coronary artery atherosclerosis and has intact expression of both the LDLR and APOE, we have shown that PCSK9 antibody mediated plasma cholesterol lowering and reduced the progression of newly developing atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries in male *Sr-b1 KO* mice, consistent with the results from clinical studies. However, PCSK9 antibody intervention only slowed

down the progression of pre-existing atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries when Sr-b1 KO mice were continued with an HFCC diet and no plaque regression was observed in our study. Anti-PCSK9 antibody treatments reduced plasma total cholesterol levels by ~37% in one year old Sr-b1 KO mice fed the HFCC diet. However, anti-PCSK9 antibody in clinical trials reduced plasma LDL cholesterol levels by ~ 60% (Robinson et al., 2015; Sabatine et al., 2015). It is possible that the extent of plasma cholesterol lowering mediated by PCSK9 antibody in our study is not sufficient to induce atherosclerosis regression. On the other hand, atherosclerosis regression has not been tested in this mouse model previously. It could be that the absence of plaque regression may have been due to the mouse model used (Sr-b1 KO) or the experimental conditions employed (continued HFCC diet feeding rather than switching to normal chow diet). HDL plays an essential role in atherosclerotic plaque regression (Di Bartolo et al., 2018). Deficiency of SR-B1 impairs HDL mediated RCT and atheroprotective pathways mediated by HDL signaling (Trigatti & Fuller, 2016). Therefore, it is possible that atherosclerotic plaque regression may be impaired in mice lacking SR-B1. Atherosclerosis regression in mouse models is often induced by switching diets from a high fat, high cholesterol atherogenic diet to a normal diet (Feig et al., 2011; Peled et al., 2017; Raffai et al., 2005; Reis et al., 2001). Our experimental approach that mice were kept with the challenge of HFCC diet feeding may be also a factor contributing to the absence of plaque regression. If the switch from an atherogenic to a normal diet could be thought of as a model of lifestyle changes accompanying an intervention, the approach we used may model the intervention alone, without lifestyle changes. Further research is

required to determine if the addition of lifestyle changes in the form of reducing dietary fat and cholesterol consumption, in alone or in combination with the PCSK9 inhibition are able to achieve atherosclerotic plaque regression in *Sr-b1 KO* mice.

4.2.2 Role of Circulating PCSK9 on Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis Independent of its Plasma Cholesterol Lowering Effects

While some studies reported that inhibiting PCSK9 in ApoE KO mice did not affect atherosclerosis development with the absence of plasma cholesterol lowering, other studies have reported that inhibiting PCSK9 in ApoE KO mice reduced aortic atherosclerosis in a plasma cholesterol independent manner (Ason et al., 2014; Denis et al., 2012; Tang et al., 2017). However, it was not known whether the plasma cholesterol independent effects of PCSK9 on aortic atherosclerosis came from circulating PCSK9 derived from the liver or PCSK9 expressed locally in the vascular wall. Our study of genetic *Pcsk9* deletion in *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice in chapter 3 supports the idea that PCSK9 inhibition can reduce atherosclerosis development in a cholesterol independent manner. By restoring liver-derived, circulating PCSK9 in Pcsk9/Sr-b1/ApoE tKO mice, we demonstrated it was circulating PCSK9 that promoted coronary artery atherosclerosis development in a plasma cholesterol independent manner. This is consistent with another study reporting circulating PCSK9 promoted vein graft lesion development, the late stages of which exhibit similar characteristics with atherosclerosis, in a plasma cholesterol independent manner (Katsuki et al., 2022).

We further demonstrated that the plasma cholesterol independent effects of circulating PCSK9 on aortic sinus and coronary artery atherosclerosis were independent of the interaction between the LDLR and PCSK9 in female mice and in contrast primarily dependent of the PCSK9-LDLR interaction in male mice, indicated by the results from PCSK9 antibody treatment in Sr-b1/ApoE dKO mice. However, the effects of circulating PCSK9 on vein graft lesion was independent of the LDLR in male mice (Katsuki et al., 2022). Potentially, circulating PCSK9 might promote atherosclerosis and vein graft lesion development in a plasma cholesterol independent manner via different mechanisms in male mice. On the other hand, other studies suggested transgenic overexpression of PCSK9 promoted atherosclerosis development in a plasma cholesterol independent manner, mainly via a LDLR mediated mechanism in both sexes (Denis et al., 2012) or in females (Tavori et al., 2016). Our studies tested the inhibition and restoration of PCSK9 at physiological levels in mice. It is possible that overexpression of PCSK9 affected atherosclerosis progression via pathways that are not mediated by normal physiological levels of PCSK9 expression, and this may explain the differences in the LDLR dependence observed on our studies versus other studies (Denis et al., 2012; Tavori et al., 2016). On the other hand, while those studies used Ldlr KO mice to test the LDLR dependence (Denis et al., 2012; Tavori et al., 2016), our study used a PCSK9 antibody which disrupts the PCSK9-LDLR interaction (Ason et al., 2014; Chan et al., 2009) and increases circulating PCSK9 levels (Oleaga et al., 2021). The increased circulating PCSK9 bound by PCSK9 antibody in our study might target the degradation of other receptors, such as VLDLR in a sex-specific manner (Roubtsova et al., 2015). This might

have an influence on atherosclerosis development and mask the effects of the LDLR-PCSK9 interaction on atherosclerosis development.

PCSK9 interacts with the LDLR primarily through the catalytic domain of PCSK9 and the EGF-A domain of the LDLR (Hyock et al., 2008; Surdo et al., 2011; D. W. Zhang et al., 2007). In addition, there is a minor interaction between the prodomain of PCSK9 (Leu108) and the β -propeller domain of the LDLR (Leu626) (Abifadel et al., 2012; Surdo et al., 2011). Furthermore, it has also been suggested that the positively charged Cterminal region of PCSK9 interacts with the negatively charged ligand binding domain of the LDLR (Tveten et al., 2012; Yamamoto et al., 2011). Therefore, multiple domains of both PCSK9 and the LDLR contribute to the PCSK9-LDLR interaction. The PCSK9 antibody used in our study is thought to sterically hinder the binding between the EGF-A domain of the LDLR and the catalytic domain of PCSK9, therefore inhibiting LDLR degradation (Ason et al., 2014; Chan et al., 2009). Although PCSK9 antibody interacts with residues from both the catalytic domain and prodomain of PCSK9 (Ason et al., 2014; Chan et al., 2009), other residues of PCSK9 that are important for the PCSK9-LDLR interaction, such as Leu108 of PCSK9, might be still exposed for interacting with the LDLR. Therefore, our study of PCSK9 antibody treated Sr-b1/ApoE dKO mice might only reflect the effects of inhibiting interactions between PCSK9 and the LDLR at specific sites on atherosclerosis development, while the studies utilizing Ldlr KO mice reflected the effects of absence of all interactions between PCSK9 and the LDLR on atherosclerosis development.

4.2.3 Direct Role of Circulating PCSK9 on Myocardial Fibrosis and Cardiac Function

PCSK9 has been reported to reduce cardiomyocyte survival and function in vitro (Xiong et al., 2021). However, contradictory results have been reported about the effects of PCSK9 on myocardial fibrosis and cardiac function ex vivo or in vivo. Genetic Pcsk9 deletion in mice reduced infarct sizes and improved the recovery of cardiac function of hearts subjected to ischemia/reperfusion injury ex vivo (Schreckenberg et al., 2022). However, Pep2-8, a small peptide that mimics structural of the EGF-A domain of the LDLR and inhibits the PCSK9-LDLR interaction (Y. Zhang et al., 2014), did not have any effects on infarct sizes or cardiac function ex vivo when it was administrated both before ischemia and at the beginning of reperfusion (Schreckenberg et al., 2022). Furthermore, no effects on infarct sizes and cardiac function were observed by genetic *Pcsk9* deletion in mice subjected to ischemia/reperfusion injury in vivo (Schreckenberg et al., 2022). On the other hand, Pep2-8 administrated before ischemia, reduced infarct sizes and improved cardiac function in rats subjected to ischemia/reperfusion injury in vivo (Palee et al., 2019). It has also been reported that the PCSK9 antibody, evolocumab from Amgen Inc., which disrupts the interaction between the LDLR and PCSK9, reduced cardiac hypertrophy and improved cardiac function in C57BL/6J mice subjected to intraperitoneal injection of ox-LDL (Li et al., 2022). Another study reported that both genetic Pcsk9 deletion and pretreatment with Pep2-8 reduced the development of myocardial fibrosis and cardiac dysfunction induced by left coronary ligation (Ding et al., 2018). In contrast, it was reported that whole body *Pcsk9* deficiency, but not the absence

of circulating PCSK9, promoted heart failure with preserved ejection fraction independently of the LDLR, presumably via regulating myocardial CD36 levels and lipid metabolism in the heart (Da Dalt et al., 2021). The studies above, therefore, provide contradictory evidence for PCSK9's impact and the role of the LDLR-PCSK9 interaction on cardiac fibrosis/function. Furthermore, the role of circulating PCSK9 versus PCSK9 expressed in the heart in these processes remain unclear. Importantly, our study in chapter 3 indicated that liver-derived, circulating PCSK9 might promote myocardial fibrosis and cardiac dysfunction that is independent of the LDLR-PCSK9 interaction. We have also provided evidence that the direct impacts of PCSK9 on myocardial fibrosis are not due to its regulation of CD36 in the myocardium. Other reported targets of PCSK9, such as MHC-I, VLDLR, and ApoER2 in the heart remains to be tested for their involvement.

The absence of effects on myocardial fibrosis and damage and cardiac enlargement despite reduced coronary artery atherosclerosis in male *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice highlight the importance of utilizing mouse models that develop myocardial fibrosis and dysfunction instead of only focusing on traditional atherosclerosis mouse models (e.g. *ApoE KO* and *Ldlr KO* mice) for CAD research. Moreover, the absence of effects on myocardial fibrosis and damage, cardiac dysfunction and cardiac enlargement in both female and male *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice when treated with PCSK9 antibody suggest the beneficial outcomes of PCSK9 antibodies on reducing CVEs in clinical trials may be largely contributed by the significant plasma cholesterol lowering. It would be important to look forward to the phase 3 clinical outcomes of *PCSK9* siRNA (inclisiran) and to see whether it would provide greater beneficial effects on reducing CVEs compared to

PCSK9 antibodies, since the *PCSK9* siRNA diminishes PCSK9 production in the liver and circulating PCSK9.

4.2.4 Importance of Analyzing Atherosclerosis in Both Sexes

Clinical studies have shown that PCSK9 mAbs lowered plasma LDL cholesterol levels with a greater extent in men compared to women, although whether it leads to a significant difference in long term cardiovascular risk reduction is unclear (Cordero et al., 2022; Paquette et al., 2023; Robinson et al., 2015; Sever et al., 2021). Furthermore, studies in mice indicated that Pcsk9 deficiency resulted in a lower increase of hepatic cell surface LDLR levels in females compared to males, an effect attributed to estrogen (Roubtsova et al., 2015, 2022). Sex differences in humans are associated with the incidence of the modifiable risk factors for CVD, including smoking, dyslipidemia, hypertension, and diabetes mellitus, which might have an impact on atherogenesis (Man et al., 2020). In addition, sex hormones also contribute to modulate atherosclerosis development (Villablanca et al., 2010). Although sex is a critical biological variable for atherosclerosis development, preclinical studies on atherosclerosis that utilize both sexes of animal models are limited (Man et al., 2020). Ramirez and Hibbert examined 771 preclinical studies on atherosclerosis and other vascular disease that were published between 2006 and 2016 (Ramirez & Hibbert, 2018). Of those 771 studies, 18.8% did not specify the sex of animal models (Ramirez & Hibbert, 2018). Of those studies that specified the sex, only 24.1% used both sexes in their studies (Ramirez & Hibbert, 2018).

In chapter 3, anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment in *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice did not affect plasma cholesterol levels in either females or males. However, the extent of atherosclerosis was differently modulated by anti-PCSK9 antibody treatment between female and male *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice. Since *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice used in our studies were only 6.5 weeks of age, the sex-dependent effects of anti-PCSK9 antibody on atherosclerosis may not be mediated by sex hormones, because mice only likely reached sexual maturity at 6.5 weeks of age. Nevertheless, our results and previous studies highlight the importance of analyzing both sexes in atherosclerosis studies and studying the interactions between sex and therapeutic interventions for CVD.

4.3 Limitations and Future Directions

Due to the limited availability of one year old female *Sr-b1 KO* mice in our lab, we used one year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice for chapter 2 while simultaneously carrying out experiments for chapter 3. However, chapter 3 has indicated that treatment of PCSK9 antibody in *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice protected against atherosclerosis in both the aortic sinus and coronary arteries independently of plasma cholesterol levels in males but not females. Therefore, the protection against pre-existing atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries in male *Sr-b1 KO* mice by PCSK9 antibody could be driven by both plasma cholesterol lowering and factors independently of plasma cholesterol levels. If we had used one year old female *Sr-b1 KO* mice, we could evaluate the effects of PCSK9 antibody on pre-existing atherosclerosis mediated by plasma cholesterol lowering

exclusively. Furthermore, the majority of coronary artery occlusions was less than 50% and there was not substantial myocardial fibrosis development (only 0.4% to 2.9%) in one year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed an HFCC diet for 12 weeks. We could have examined the survival of male *Sr-b1 KO* mice switched to an HFCC diet at one year old of age. If the survival of male *Sr-b1 KO* mice allows, we could have maintained one year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice on an HFCC diet for a longer period than 12 weeks. This would probably allow one year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice to develop increased extents of more than 50% and/or fully occluded coronary artery atherosclerotic plaques and substantial myocardial fibrosis. Although atherosclerotic plaque sizes in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries were measured in chapter 2, indexes of plaque stability were not examined, such as the ratio of macrophage to SMCs in the plaque. Measurements of plaque stability would give a more comprehensive characterization of the effects of PCSK9 antibody on pre-existing atherosclerosis.

The treatment of rAAV8 vector expressing eGFP alone in *Pcsk9/Sr-b1/ApoE tKO* mice resulted in cardiomegaly and we were not able to evaluate the effects of restoring circulating PCSK9 on cardiomegaly in chapter3. rAAV8 exhibit tropism for the liver, skeletal and cardiac muscles, central nervous system, and pancreas (Nakai et al., 2005). However, recombinant AAV-DJ developed recently by using a gene shuffling method, has liver specific tropism (Grimm et al., 2008). Therefore, unlike AAV8, AAV-DJ vector may do not result in cardiomegaly in *Pcsk9/Sr-b1/ApoE tKO* mice and could be used with a liver-specific promoter to evaluate the effects of restoring circulating PCSK9 on cardiomegaly.

The naturally occurring mutations in *PCSK9* affect plasma LDL cholesterol levels via different mechanisms, including PCSK9 synthesis, PCSK9 processing, PCSK9 secretion, PCSK9 stability and the affinity of PCSK9 to the LDLR (Horton et al., 2007). Y142X and C679X, loss of function mutations in PCSK9, were associated with a 28% reduction in LDL cholesterol levels (absolute reduction in LDL cholesterol levels: 39 mg/dL (1 mmol/L)), however, they were associated with an 88% reduction in coronary heart disease (CHD) (Cohen et al., 2006). Another loss of function mutation in PCSK9, R46L, was associated with a 15% reduction in LDL cholesterol levels (absolute reduction in LDL cholesterol levels: 21 mg/dL (0.54 mmol/L)), and a 47% reduction in CHD (Cohen et al., 2006). These associations were striking as the Cholesterol Treatment Trialist has estimated that 1 mmol/L of LDL-C reduction by statin therapy was associated with a 21% reduction in cardiovascular risk (Mihaylova et al., 2012). However, life-long LDL cholesterol lowering (1 mmol/L) has been associated with a greater extent of reduction in CHD (54.5%) (Ference et al., 2012), which might partially explain the greater reduction in CHD in association with *PCSK9* variants (Y142X, C679X and R46L) that only results in a modest LDL cholesterol lowering. However, it is also possible that those *PCSK9* variants have an effect on CHD and MI independent of the LDL cholesterol levels.

The AAV-DJ mediated expression of *PCSK9* variants in the liver of *Pcsk9/Sr-b1/ApoE tKO* mice could be used to test the effects of those *PCSK9* variants on coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis in a plasma cholesterol independent manner. The Y142X variant occurs early in the transcript and results in no PCSK9 protein

produced and the C679X variant interferes with the secretion of PCSK9 (Zhao et al., 2006). On the other hand, R46L variant does not interfere with PCSK9 synthesis, processing or secretion (Zhao et al., 2006). Therefore, AAV-DJ could be used to express R46L variant in the liver of *Pcsk9/Sr-b1/ApoE tKO* mice to study the structural basis of circulating PCSK9 on coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis.

Our results in chapter 3 have indicated that PCSK9 might directly promote myocardial fibrosis. However, the downstream target(s) of circulating PCSK9 in the heart that might be involved in the myocardial fibrosis development is unclear. In the future, if VLDLR, ApoER2 or MHC-I are identified as potential downstream targets of PCSK9 in the heart, treatment of *Pcsk9/Sr-b1/ApoE tKO* mice with AAV-DJ expressing *Pcsk9* variants that disrupt the interaction between PCSK9 and the potential target could be used to test the effects of PCSK9 mediated degradation of the potential target on myocardial fibrosis development.

4.4 Conclusions

Chapter 2 of this thesis demonstrates that PCSK9 antibody mediated plasma cholesterol lowering protects against both newly developing and pre-existing atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries induced by an atherogenic HFCC diet in one year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice. Furthermore, PCSK9 antibody also protects against myocardial damage and fibrosis in one year old male *Sr-b1 KO* mice fed the HFCC diet. Chapter 3 of this thesis demonstrates that liver-derived, circulating PCSK9 promotes atherosclerosis in the aortic sinus and coronary arteries, myocardial damage and fibrosis, cardiac dysfunction and cardiomegaly in a plasma cholesterol independent manner in *Sr-b1/ApoE dKO* mice. Those plasma cholesterol independent effects of circulating PCSK9 are largely independent of the LDLR-PCSK9 interaction, especially in females. The results from this thesis highlight circulating PCSK9 promotes CAD development via both cholesterol-dependent and cholesterol-independent pathways. Future studies should focus on uncovering the downstream target of PCSK9 in the heart that might be involved in myocardial fibrosis development and also the structural basis of PCSK9 on affecting coronary artery atherosclerosis and myocardial fibrosis in a plasma cholesterol independent manner utilizing *Pcsk9/Sr-b1/ApoE tKO* mice with the treatment of AAV-DJ expressing different *PCSK9* variants.

4.5 References

- Abifadel, M., Guerin, M., Benjannet, S., Rabès, J. P., Le Goff, W., Julia, Z., Hamelin, J., Carreau, V., Varret, M., Bruckert, E., Tosolini, L., Meilhac, O., Couvert, P., Bonnefont-Rousselot, D., Chapman, J., Carrié, A., Michel, J. B., Prat, A., Seidah, N. G., & Boileau, C. (2012). Identification and characterization of new gain-of-function mutations in the PCSK9 gene responsible for autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. *Atherosclerosis*, 223(2), 394–400. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ATHEROSCLEROSIS.2012.04.006
- Ason, B., Van Der Hoorn, J. W. A., Chan, J., Lee, E., Pieterman, E. J., Nguyen, K. K., Di, M., Shetterly, S., Tang, J., Yeh, W. C., Schwarz, M., Jukema, J. W., Scott, R., Wasserman, S. M., Princen, H. M. G., & Jackson, S. (2014). PCSK9 inhibition fails to alter hepatic LDLR, circulating cholesterol, and atherosclerosis in the absence of ApoE. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 55(11), 2370–2379. https://doi.org/10.1194/JLR.M053207
- Chan, J. C. Y., Piper, D. E., Cao, Q., Liu, D., King, C., Wang, W., Tang, J., Liu, Q., Higbee, J., Xia, Z., Di, Y., Shetterly, S., Arimura, Z., Salomonis, H., Romanow, W. G., Thibault, S. T., Zhang, R., Cao, P., Yang, X. P., ... Jackson, S. M. (2009). A proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 neutralizing antibody reduces serum cholesterol in mice and

nonhuman primates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(24), 9820–9825. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0903849106

- Cohen, J. C., Boerwinkle, E., Mosley, T. H. Jr., & Hobbs, H. H. (2006). Sequence Variations in PCSK9, Low LDL, and Protection against Coronary Heart Disease. *Https://Doi-Org.Libaccess.Lib.Mcmaster.ca/10.1056/NEJMoa054013*, 354(12), 1264–1272. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA054013
- Cordero, A., Fernández Del Olmo, M. R., Cortez Quiroga, G. A., Romero-Menor, C., Fácila, L., Seijas-Amigo, J., Fornovi, A., Murillo, J. R., Rodríguez-Mañero, M., Bello Mora, M. C., Valle, A., Miriam, S., Pamias, R. F., Bañeras, J., García, P. B., Clemente Lorenzo, M. M., Sánchez-Alvarez, S., López-Rodríguez, L., & González-Juanatey, J. R. (2022). Sex Differences in Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Reduction with PCSK9 Inhibitors in Real-world Patients: The LIPID-REAL Registry. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology*, *79*(4), 523–529. https://doi.org/10.1097/FJC.000000000001205
- Da Dalt, L., Castiglioni, L., Baragetti, A., Audano, M., Svecla, M., Bonacina, F., Pedretti, S., Uboldi, P., Benzoni, P., Giannetti, F., Barbuti, A., Pellegatta, F., Indino, S., Donetti, E., Sironi, L., Mitro, N., Catapano, A. L., & Norata, G. D. (2021). PCSK9 deficiency rewires heart metabolism and drives heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *European Heart Journal*, 42(32), 3078–3090. https://doi.org/10.1093/EURHEARTJ/EHAB431
- Denis, M., Marcinkiewicz, J., Zaid, A., Gauthier, D., Poirier, S., Lazure, C., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2012). Gene Inactivation of Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9 Reduces Atherosclerosis in Mice. *Circulation*, 125(7), 894–901. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.057406
- Di Bartolo, B. A., Psaltis, P. J., Bursill, C. A., & Nicholls, S. J. (2018). Translating evidence of HDL and plaque regression. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *38*(9), 1961–1968. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.118.307026
- Ding, Z., Wang, X., Liu, S., Shahanawaz, J., Theus, S., Fan, Y., Deng, X., Zhou, S., & Mehta, J. L. (2018). PCSK9 expression in the ischaemic heart and its relationship to infarct size, cardiac function, and development of autophagy. *Cardiovascular Research*, 114(13), 1738–1751. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvy128
- Feig, J. E., Parathath, S., Rong, J. X., Mick, S. L., Vengrenyuk, Y., Grauer, L., Young, S. G., & Fisher, E. A. (2011). Reversal of hyperlipidemia with a genetic switch favorably affects the content and inflammatory state of macrophages in atherosclerotic plaques. *Circulation*, 123(9), 989–998. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.984146/FORMAT/EPUB
- Ference, B. A., Yoo, W., Alesh, I., Mahajan, N., Mirowska, K. K., Mewada, A., Kahn, J., Afonso, L., Williams, K. A., & M. Flack, J. (2012). Effect of Long-Term Exposure to Lower Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Beginning Early in Life on the Risk of Coronary Heart Disease: A Mendelian Randomization Analysis. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 9(1), 90–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACC.2012.09.017

- Grimm, D., Lee, J. S., Wang, L., Desai, T., Akache, B., Storm, T. A., & Kay, M. A. (2008). In Vitro and In Vivo Gene Therapy Vector Evolution via Multispecies Interbreeding and Retargeting of Adeno-Associated Viruses. *Journal of Virology*, 82(12), 5887–5911. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00254-08/SUPPL FILE/GRIMM SUPP.PDF
- Horton, J. D., Cohen, J. C., & Hobbs, H. H. (2007). Molecular biology of PCSK9: its role in LDL metabolism. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, *32*(2), 71–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2006.12.008
- Hyock, J. K., Lagace, T. A., McNutt, M. C., Horton, J. D., & Deisenhofer, J. (2008). Molecular basis for LDL receptor recognition by PCSK9. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105(6), 1820. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0712064105
- Katsuki, S., Jha, P. K., Lupieri, A., Nakano, T., Passos, L. S. A., Rogers, M. A., Becker-Greene, D., Le, T. D., Decano, J. L., Ho Lee, L., Guimaraes, G. C., Abdelhamid, I., Halu, A., Muscoloni, A., Cannistraci, C. V., Higashi, H., Zhang, H., Vromman, A., Libby, P., ... Aikawa, M. (2022). Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin 9 (PCSK9) Promotes Macrophage Activation via LDL Receptor-Independent Mechanisms. *Circulation Research*, *131*(11), 873–889. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.320056
- Li, X., Dai, F., Wang, H., Wei, G., Jiang, Q., Yin, P., Wang, S., Ge, J., Yang, C., Wu, J., & Zou, Y. (2022). PCSK9 participates in oxidized-low density lipoprotein-induced myocardial injury through mitochondrial oxidative stress and Drp1-mediated mitochondrial fission. *Clinical and Translational Medicine*, 12(2), NA-NA. https://doi.org/10.1002/CTM2.729
- Man, J. J., Beckman, J. A., & Jaffe, I. Z. (2020). Sex as a Biological Variable in Atherosclerosis. *Circulation Research*, 126(9), 1297–1319. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.315930
- Mihaylova, B., Emberson, J., Blackwell, L., Keech, A., Simes, J., Barnes, E. H., Voysey, M., Gray, A., Collins, R., Baigent, C., De Lemos, J., Braunwald, E., Blazing, M., Murphy, S., Downs, J. R., Gotto, A., Clearfield, M., Holdaas, H., Gordon, D., ... Sourjina, T. (2012). The effects of lowering LDL cholesterol with statin therapy in people at low risk of vascular disease: meta-analysis of individual data from 27 randomised trials. *The Lancet*, *380*(9841), 581–590. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60367-5
- Nakai, H., Fuess, S., Storm, T. A., Muramatsu, S.-I., Nara, Y., & Kay, M. A. (2005). Unrestricted Hepatocyte Transduction with Adeno-Associated Virus Serotype 8 Vectors in Mice. *JOURNAL OF VIROLOGY*, 79(1), 214–224. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.79.1.214-224.2005
- Nicholls, S. J., Ballantyne, C. M., Barter, P. J., Chapman, M. J., Erbel, R. M., Libby, P., Raichlen, J. S., Uno, K., Borgman, M., Wolski, K., & Nissen, S. E. (2011). Effect of Two Intensive Statin Regimens on Progression of Coronary Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 365(22), 2078–2087.

https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1110874/SUPPL_FILE/NEJMOA1110874_DISCLOSU RES.PDF

- Nicholls, S. J., Puri, R., Anderson, T., Ballantyne, C. M., Cho, L., Kastelein, J. J. P., Koenig, W., Somaratne, R., Kassahun, H., Yang, J., Wasserman, S. M., Scott, R., Ungi, I., Podolec, J., Ophuis, A. O., Cornel, J. H., Borgman, M., Brennan, D. M., & Nissen, S. E. (2016). Effect of Evolocumab on Progression of Coronary Disease in Statin-Treated Patients: The GLAGOV Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA*, *316*(22), 2373–2384. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.2016.16951
- Nissen, S. E., Nicholls, S. J., Sipahi, I., Libby, P., Raichlen, J. S., Ballantyne, C. M., Davignon, J., Erbel, R., Fruchart, J. C., Tardif, J. C., Schoenhagen, P., Crowe, T., Cain, V., Wolski, K., Goormastic, M., & Tuzcu, E. M. (2006). Effect of Very High-Intensity Statin Therapy on Regression of Coronary Atherosclerosis: The ASTEROID Trial. *JAMA*, 295(13), 1556–1565. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.295.13.JPC60002
- Nissen, S. E., Tuzcu, E. M., Schoenhagen, P., Brown, B. G., Ganz, P., Vogel, R. A., Crowe, T., Howard, G., Cooper, C. J., Brodie, B., Grines, C. L., & DeMaria, A. N. (2004). Effect of Intensive Compared With Moderate Lipid-Lowering Therapy on Progression of Coronary Atherosclerosis: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *JAMA*, 291(9), 1071–1080. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.291.9.1071
- Oleaga, C., Shapiro, M. D., Hay, J., Mueller, P. A., Miles, J., Huang, C., Friz, E., Tavori, H., Toth, P. P., Wójcik, C., Warden, B. A., Purnell, J. Q., Duell, P. B., Pamir, N., & Fazio, S. (2021). Hepatic Sensing Loop Regulates PCSK9 Secretion in Response to Inhibitory Antibodies. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 78(14), 1437–1449. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACC.2021.07.056
- Palee, S., McSweeney, C. M., Maneechote, C., Moisescu, D. M., Jaiwongkam, T., Kerdphoo, S., Chattipakorn, S. C., & Chattipakorn, N. (2019). PCSK9 inhibitor improves cardiac function and reduces infarct size in rats with ischaemia/reperfusion injury: Benefits beyond lipid-lowering effects. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 23(11), 7310–7319. https://doi.org/10.1111/JCMM.14586
- Paquette, M., Faubert, S., Saint-Pierre, N., Baass, A., & Bernard, S. (2023). Sex differences in LDL-C response to PCSK9 inhibitors: A real world experience. *Journal of Clinical Lipidology*, 17(1), 142–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACL.2022.12.002
- Peled, M., Nishi, H., Weinstock, A., Barrett, T. J., Zhou, F., Quezada, A., & Fisher, E. A. (2017). A wild-type mouse-based model for the regression of inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Plos ONE*, *12*(3), e0173975. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0173975
- Raffai, R. L., Loeb, S. M., & Weisgraber, K. H. (2005). Apolipoprotein E promotes the regression of atherosclerosis independently of lowering plasma cholesterol levels. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 25(2), 436–441. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000152613.83243.12

- Ramirez, F. D., & Hibbert, B. (2018). Letter by Ramirez and Hibbert Regarding Article, 'Consideration of Sex Differences in Design and Reporting of Experimental Arterial Pathology Studies: A Statement From the Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology Council'. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 38(6), e99–e100. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.118.310942
- Reis, E. D., Li, J., Fayad, Z. A., Rong, J. X., Hansoty, D., Aguinaldo, J. G., Fallon, J. T., & Fisher, E. A. (2001). Dramatic remodeling of advanced atherosclerotic plaques of the apolipoprotein e-deficient mouse in a novel transplantation model. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, 34(3), 541–547. https://doi.org/10.1067/mva.2001.115963
- Robinson, J. G., Farnier, M., Krempf, M., Bergeron, J., Luc, G., Averna, M., Stroes, E. S., Langslet, G., Raal, F. J., El Shahawy, M., Koren, M. J., Lepor, N. E., Lorenzato, C., Pordy, R., Chaudhari, U., & Kastelein, J. J. P. (2015). Efficacy and Safety of Alirocumab in Reducing Lipids and Cardiovascular Events. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *372*(16), 1489–1499. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1501031/SUPPL_FILE/NEJMOA1501031_DISCLOSU RES.PDF
- Roubtsova, A., Chamberland, A., Marcinkiewicz, J., Essalmani, R., Fazel, A., Bergeron, J. J., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2015). PCSK9 deficiency unmasks a sex- And tissue-specific subcellular distribution of the LDL and VLDL receptors in mice. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 56(11), 2133–2142. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M061952
- Roubtsova, A., Garçon, D., Lacoste, S., Chamberland, A., Marcinkiewicz, J., Métivier, R., Sotin, T., Paquette, M., Bernard, S., Cariou, B., Le May, C., Koschinsky, M. L., Seidah, N. G., & Prat, A. (2022). PCSK9 deficiency results in a specific shedding of excess LDLR in female mice only: Role of hepatic cholesterol. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, *1867*(12), 159217. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBALIP.2022.159217
- Sabatine, M. S., Giugliano, R. P., Wiviott, S. D., Raal, F. J., Blom, D. J., Robinson, J., Ballantyne, C. M., Somaratne, R., Legg, J., Wasserman, S. M., Scott, R., Koren, M. J., & Stein, E. A. (2015). Efficacy and Safety of Evolocumab in Reducing Lipids and Cardiovascular Events. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 372(16), 1500–1509. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1500858
- Schreckenberg, R., Wolf, A., Szabados, T., Gömöri, K., Szabó, I. A., Ágoston, G., Brenner, G., Bencsik, P., Ferdinandy, P., Schulz, R., & Schlüter, K. D. (2022). Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin Kexin Type 9 (PCSK9) Deletion but Not Inhibition of Extracellular PCSK9 Reduces Infarct Sizes Ex Vivo but Not In Vivo. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences 2022, Vol. 23, Page 6512, 23*(12), 6512. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS23126512
- Sever, P., Gouni-Berthold, I., Keech, A., Giugliano, R., Pedersen, T. R., Im, K., Wang, H., Sabatine, M. S., & O'donoghue, M. L. (2021). LDL-cholesterol lowering with evolocumab, and outcomes according to age and sex in patients in the FOURIER Trial.

European Journal of Preventive Cardiology, 28, 805–812. https://doi.org/10.1177/2047487320902750

- Surdo, P. Lo, Bottomley, M. J., Calzetta, A., Settembre, E. C., Cirillo, A., Pandit, S., Ni, Y. G., Hubbard, B., Sitlani, A., & Carfí, A. (2011). Mechanistic implications for LDL receptor degradation from the PCSK9/LDLR structure at neutral pH. *EMBO Reports*, 12(12), 1300. https://doi.org/10.1038/EMBOR.2011.205
- Tang, Z. H., Peng, J., Ren, Z., Yang, J., Li, T. T., Li, T. H., Wang, Z., Wei, D. H., Liu, L. S., Zheng, X. L., & Jiang, Z. S. (2017). New role of PCSK9 in atherosclerotic inflammation promotion involving the TLR4/NF-κB pathway. *Atherosclerosis*, 262, 113–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2017.04.023
- Tavori, H., Giunzioni, I., Predazzi, I. M., Plubell, D., Shivinsky, A., Miles, J., DeVay, R. M., Liang, H., Rashid, S., Linton, M. F., & Fazio, S. (2016). Human PCSK9 promotes hepatic lipogenesis and atherosclerosis development via apoE-and LDLR-mediated mechanisms. *Cardiovascular Research*, 110(2), 268–278. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvw053
- Trigatti, B. L., & Fuller, M. (2016). HDL signaling and protection against coronary artery atherosclerosis in mice. *The Journal of Biomedical Research*, *30*(2), 94–100. https://doi.org/10.7555/JBR.30.20150079
- Tveten, K., Holla, Ø. L., Cameron, J., Strøm, T. B., Berge, K. E., Laerdahl, J. K., & Leren, T. P. (2012). Interaction between the ligand-binding domain of the LDL receptor and the C-terminal domain of PCSK9 is required for PCSK9 to remain bound to the LDL receptor during endosomal acidification. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 21(6), 1402–1409. https://doi.org/10.1093/HMG/DDR578
- Villablanca, A. C., Jayachandran, M., & Banka, C. (2010). Atherosclerosis and sex hormones: current concepts. *Clinical Science*, 119(12), 493–513. https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20100248
- Xiong, T., Qian, A. S., & Trigatti, B. L. (2021). The local effects of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) on the inflammatory atheroma: beyond LDL cholesterol lowering. *Vessel Plus*, 5, 5. https://doi.org/10.20517/2574-1209.2020.71
- Yamamoto, T., Lu, C., & Ryan, R. O. (2011). A two-step binding model of PCSK9 interaction with the low density lipoprotein receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(7), 5464– 5470. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.199042
- Zhang, D. W., Lagace, T. A., Garuti, R., Zhao, Z., McDonald, M., Horton, J. D., Cohen, J. C., & Hobbs, H. H. (2007). Binding of Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9 to Epidermal Growth Factor-like Repeat A of Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor Decreases Receptor Recycling and Increases Degradation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(25), 18602–18612. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M702027200
- Zhang, Y., Eigenbrot, C., Zhou, L., Shia, S., Li, W., Quan, C., Tom, J., Moran, P., Lello, P. Di, Skelton, N. J., Kong-Beltran, M., Peterson, A., & Kirchhofer, D. (2014). Identification of

a Small Peptide That Inhibits PCSK9 Protein Binding to the Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 289(2), 942–955. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M113.514067

Zhao, Z., Tuakli-Wosornu, Y., Lagace, T. A., Kinch, L., Grishin, N. V., Horton, J. D., Cohen, J. C., & Hobbs, H. H. (2006). Molecular Characterization of Loss-of-Function Mutations in PCSK9 and Identification of a Compound Heterozygote. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 79(3), 514. https://doi.org/10.1086/507488